
Merton Council
Children and Young People Overview and 
Scrutiny Panel 

Date: 21 March 2017
Time: 7.15 pm

Venue: Committee rooms C, D & E - Merton Civic Centre, London Road, Morden 
SM4 5DX

AGENDA
Page Number

1 Apologies for absence 

2 Declarations of pecuniary interest 

3 Minutes of the previous meeting 1 - 10

4 Responsible Cabinet Member review
Updates against portfolio priorities will be provided by:
 The Cabinet Member for Education (Councillor Cooper-

Marbiah); and
 The Cabinet Member for Children’s Services (Councillor 

Neep).

5 Update report: corporate parenting 11 - 150

6 Update report: looked after children and care leavers strategy 151 - 
202

7 Performance monitoring 203 - 
210

8 Department update report 211 - 
216

9 Rapporteur scrutiny review of user voice: update
Councillor Neil will provide a verbal update at the meeting.

10 Scrutiny topic suggestions 217 - 
232

This is a public meeting – members of the public are very welcome to attend.
The meeting room will be open to members of the public from 7.00 p.m.



For more information about the work of this and other overview and scrutiny panels, 
please telephone 020 8545 4035 or e-mail scrutiny@merton.gov.uk. Alternatively, 
visit www.merton.gov.uk/scrutiny

Press enquiries: press@merton.gov.uk or telephone 020 8545 3483 or 4093

Email alerts: Get notified when agendas are published 
www.merton.gov.uk/council/committee.htm?view=emailer

http://www.merton.gov.uk/scrutiny
mailto:press@merton.gov.uk
http://www.merton.gov.uk/council/committee.htm?view=emailer


Children and Young People Overview and Scrutiny Panel membership

Councillors: 
Dennis Pearce (Chair)
Linda Taylor OBE (Vice-Chair)
Mike Brunt
Pauline Cowper
Charlie Chirico
Edward Foley
Joan Henry
James Holmes
Jerome Neil
Marsie Skeete
Substitute Members: 
Agatha Mary Akyigyina
Sally Kenny
Adam Bush
Jill West
Peter Southgate

Co-opted Representatives 
Mansoor Ahmad, Representing Primary 
Sector
Helen Forbes, Parent Governor 
Representative - Secondary and Special 
Sector
Colin Powell, Church of England diocese

Note on declarations of interest
Members are advised to declare any Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any matter to be 
considered at the meeting.  If a pecuniary interest is declared they should withdraw from 
the meeting room during the whole of the consideration of that mater and must not 
participate in any vote on that matter.  If  members consider they should not participate 
because of a non-pecuniary interest which may give rise to a perception of bias, they 
should declare this, .withdraw and not participate in consideration of the item.  For further 
advice please speak with the Assistant Director of Corporate Governance.
What is Overview and Scrutiny?
Overview and Scrutiny describes the way Merton’s scrutiny councillors hold the Council’s 
Executive (the Cabinet) to account to make sure that they take the right decisions for the 
Borough. Scrutiny panels also carry out reviews of Council services or issues to identify 
ways the Council can improve or develop new policy to meet the needs of local people.  
From May 2008, the Overview & Scrutiny Commission and Panels have been restructured 
and the Panels renamed to reflect the Local Area Agreement strategic themes.

Scrutiny’s work falls into four broad areas:

 Call-in: If three (non-executive) councillors feel that a decision made by the Cabinet is 
inappropriate they can ‘call the decision in’ after it has been made to prevent the 
decision taking immediate effect. They can then interview the Cabinet Member or 
Council Officers and make recommendations to the decision-maker suggesting 
improvements.

 Policy Reviews: The panels carry out detailed, evidence-based assessments of 
Council services or issues that affect the lives of local people. At the end of the review 
the panels issue a report setting out their findings and recommendations for 
improvement and present it to Cabinet and other partner agencies. During the reviews, 
panels will gather information, evidence and opinions from Council officers, external 
bodies and organisations and members of the public to help them understand the key 
issues relating to the review topic.

 One-Off Reviews: Panels often want to have a quick, one-off review of a topic and will 
ask Council officers to come and speak to them about a particular service or issue 
before making recommendations to the Cabinet. 

 Scrutiny of Council Documents: Panels also examine key Council documents, such 
as the budget, the Business Plan and the Best Value Performance Plan.



Scrutiny panels need the help of local people, partners and community groups to make 
sure that Merton delivers effective services. If you think there is something that scrutiny 
should look at, or have views on current reviews being carried out by scrutiny, let us know. 

For more information, please contact the Scrutiny Team on 020 8545 4035 or by e-mail on 
scrutiny@merton.gov.uk. Alternatively, visit www.merton.gov.uk/scrutiny

http://www.merton.gov.uk/scrutiny


All minutes are draft until agreed at the next meeting of the committee/panel.  To find out the date of the next 
meeting please check the calendar of events at your local library or online at www.merton.gov.uk/committee.

1

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PANEL
8 FEBRUARY 2017
(7.18 pm - 9.52 pm)
PRESENT: Councillors Dennis Pearce (in the Chair), Linda Taylor OBE, 

Mike Brunt, Pauline Cowper, Charlie Chirico, Edward Foley, 
Joan Henry, Jerome Neil and Marsie Skeete

Co-opted Members Mansoor Ahmad and Helen Forbes

ALSO PRESENT: Councillor Caroline Cooper-Marbiah (Cabinet Member for 
Education), Katy Neep (Cabinet Member for Children's 
Services), Paul Ballatt (Assistant Director Commissioning, 
Strategy and Performance, CSF), Elizabeth Fitzpatrick (Head of 
School Improvement), Jane McSherry (Assistant Director of 
Education), Keith Shipman (Head of Education Inclusion), Yvette 
Stanley (Director, Children, Schools & Families Department), 
Jane White (Headteacher, Priory Primary School) and Annette 
Wiles (Scrutiny Officer)

1 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE (Agenda Item 1)

Apologies were received from co-opted member Colin Powell and Councillor Holmes 
(for whom Councillor Bush was substituting).

2 DECLARATIONS OF PECUNIARY INTEREST (Agenda Item 2)

There were no declarations of pecuniary interest.

3 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (Agenda Item 3)

The minutes were approved as a true and accurate record of the meeting.

Matters arising
 Officers clarified that reductions in SEND transport costs are being achieved 

through the implementation of a new ‘dynamic purchasing system’.  This has 
resulted in a number of new taxi companies now being able to bid for contracts.  
Of those that meet the requirements, the cheapest is selected. Costs are also 
being managed through increasing the numbers of clients in receipt of direct 
payments. The impact of these measures is demonstrated through the reduction 
in the overspend; previously there had been a £350K overspend at the midpoint 
of the year but this has been reduced to £200K this year; and

 Work is on-going to provide the right placements for care leavers. Officers are 
reviewing use of semi-independent accommodation and the focus is on providing 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3

http://www.merton.gov.uk/committee


2

the right housing options with the department working with the housing team 
within the Council.  

4 RESPONSIBLE CABINET MEMBER REVIEW (Agenda Item 4)

The Cabinet Member for Education, (Councillor Cooper-Marbiah), highlighted the 
following:
 Harris Wimbledon admissions consultation: a consultation on admission 

arrangements for the new Harris Wimbledon School has been launched.  Due to 
demand for places, it is proposed the admissions policy will use nodal points to 
prioritise places.  The council intends to give its views on the proposed nodal 
points and members were encouraged to participate in the consultation which 
closes on 31 March 2017;

 School performance: this is strong as demonstrated by Merton’s results using the 
new Attainment and Progress 8 measures and local and national benchmarks.  
These are detailed in full in the schools annual report (Agenda Item 5); and

 Ofsted inspections: 91% of local authority schools in Merton are currently judged 
to be either good or outstanding.  The Cabinet Member reported that she visits 
schools weekly giving her the opportunity to explore the issues they face.

The Cabinet Member for Children Services, (Councillor Neep), highlighted the 
following:
 Focus on vulnerable cohorts: whilst the overall performance of Merton’s schools is 

strong, there is a need to focus on the attainment and attendance of more 
vulnerable cohorts such as those on SEN Support;

 Recruitment and retention of teachers (and other key workers such as social 
workers): Cllr Neep is concerned about the degree of change currently affecting 
schools (and Children’s Services) and if this is causing burnout amongst workers;

 Mental health: Cllr Neep is concerned about the impact of stress on young 
people; and

 Employment of vulnerable cohorts: Cllr Neep expressed keenness to learn more 
about the work of the task group and to look at alternative ways to support 
vulnerable cohorts into employment.

5 UPDATE REPORT: SCHOOLS ANNUAL REPORT (Agenda Item 5)

Jane White, Head at Priory Primary School
The Panel was addressed by Jane White, Headteacher at Priory Primary School, on 
issues around the recruitment and retention of teachers.  She highlighted:
 This is a generic issue for schools in Merton as well as for other groups of key 

workers in the borough such as social workers;
 NfER research published in September 2016 (Engaging Teachers) highlights that 

there has been a significant increase in the number of teachers considering 
leaving the profession (up from 17% to 23%).  Also, that teacher training targets 
have been missed for the last four years;

Page 2

https://www.nfer.ac.uk/publications/LFSB01/


3

 The extent of the issue was demonstrated last year, when five teaching staff were 
on maternity leave at Priory Primary.  This forced a reliance on expensive agency 
staff and teachers from overseas on two year visas.  The school had to make 
significant investment in their training in order that they were up-to-date despite 
the fact that they were agency staff or could only work in the UK for a limited time; 

 Given it is such a significant issue across a number of public sector positions, a 
corporate response from the Council was recommended including better 
promotion through the Council’s website, more creative approaches to temporary 
housing solutions etc; and

 Noted that NfER recommends engagement as the best route to retention and that 
Priory has established a wellbeing team looking at securing teacher retention for a 
minimum of five years.  This includes giving an extra day of leave in recognition of 
service of five or more years, sports packages etc.

In response to member questions, it was further clarified:
 Corporate marketing by the Council promoting the benefits of working in Merton 

generically would be advantageous;
 Merton’s Continuous Personal Development offer is known to be attractive.  

Providing teachers with parking (given carrying numerous pupil books) would also 
be beneficial;

 Difficulties around teacher recruitment isn’t a national issue but is concentrated in 
areas linked to housing supply; and

 There has been a growth in teachers applying for positions through agencies 
despite schools making it clear a direct approach is preferred.  It is thought that 
agencies provide enticements and that this generation of teachers like the benefit 
of making numerous applications through an agency as opposed to applying for 
each post individually.

RESOLVED: to consider the recruitment and retention of key workers as part of the 
topic selection process for 2017/2018.  It was suggested that this might be the focus 
of a task group or a deep dive by the Commission as an overarching subject.

Update report: schools annual report
The substantive item was introduced by Jane McSherry (Assistant Director of 
Education) who highlighted the report is for the academic year September 2015 to 
July 2016.  This period is characterised by changes in assessment methodologies 
making it difficult to provide trend information.  However, comparisons have been 
made throughout the report with national averages, London boroughs and outer 
London boroughs.  On this basis, Merton is performing better than national averages.  
For reading and maths progress at Key Stage 2, Merton is 10th and 11th nationally 
and Merton’s secondary schools are 10th nationally based on the new Progress 8 
measure (the level of progress made from the end of primary school to the end of 
secondary school).

Elizabeth Fitzpatrick, the Head of School Improvement, added that there has been a 
6% increase in the number of Merton school’s judged good or outstanding (now 

Page 3



4

accounting for 91% of all schools in Merton).  All Merton’s secondary schools are 
judged good or outstanding whilst there has been an increase in the number of 
Merton’s primary schools in these Ofsted categories.   Four primary schools remain 
to move from requires improvement to good.  These are the focus of support and 
challenge groups, local inspectors and focused work with governors.  The ambition is 
for all Merton’s schools to be good or better which is being supported through 
collaboration and cluster working.

Early Years Foundation Stage Profile
Elizabeth Fitzpatrick highlighted that it does remain possible to provide some 
comparison with previous years as assessment for this phase hasn’t changed.  From 
this it is possible to demonstrate strong improvement with a 3% increase in the 
number of children achieving a good level of development.  

It was noted that the piloted baseline assessment was withdrawn last year which was 
difficult for practitioners.

The achievement of the SEN Support cohort was highlighted as a focus.  The 
department is doing work to understand why the attainment of this group in Early 
Years isn’t improving as fast as anticipated.  Those on Pupil Premium in this phase of 
education are doing better than the same group nationally but not as well as those in 
London and there is a gap between those in the SEN Support group and average 
attainment in this phase of education in Merton.

In response to member questions, officers clarified:
 The Early Years service provides an annual full training programme including 

moderation of outcomes and observation of lessons.  This is working to ensure 
there is a common understanding of Early Years best practice; and

 Any initiative aimed at delivering school improvement has to be part of a whole 
school initiative and be adequately planned, implemented and evaluated.  If the 
evaluation shows this isn’t providing the improvement required, then the school 
should look at an alternative, more appropriate approach; nationally required 
changes have got to be delivered.

Key Stage 1
Elizabeth Fitzpatrick highlighted that it is possible to make a comparison with 
previous performance for this phase based on the phonics screening check which 
hasn’t changed.  Improvement has been made in both Year 1 and Year 2.  Those on 
Pupil Premium and SEN Support are now the focus to ensure improving outcomes.

However, it is not possible to make a comparison with previous Key Stage 1 SATs 
assessments due to the change in methodology.  The new expected standard that 
has to be reached by the end of Key Stage 1 is higher.  The new assessment 
methodology is beginning to bed in.  Merton’s results are broadly in line with those 
nationally, for London and outer London but better than these benchmarks at the 
higher level of ability and especially so for reading.  Areas of focus were again 
highlighted.  For Key Stage 1 these are Pupil Premium children and those from the 
Asian Pakistani cohort group.

Page 4



5

In response to member questions, officers clarified:
 The standard children are expected to reach by the end of Key Stage 1 has risen 

several times over the last 15 years and every time schools have responded.  
This rise in the standard has been exemplified in the introduction of the spelling, 
punctuation and grammar test;

 The Asian Pakistani cohort group is the lowest performing group at Key Stage 1 in 
Merton and is not performing as well as the same group nationally;

 Children on SEN Support are catching up with their peers to some extent by the 
end of secondary school.  SEN funding is allocated for interventions.  These are 
carefully planned and have their effectiveness reviewed every half term to a term.  
This approach to trialling and reviewing the effectiveness of interventions is being 
embedded more firmly in school business cycles; and

 Work is on-going to see if Merton has taken a more stringent approach to SEN 
definitions compared to other boroughs and whether or not this is skewing 
comparisons of attainment.

Key Stage 2
Again introduced by Elizabeth Fitzpatrick, it was highlighted that changes in 
assessment approaches means no comparison can again be made based on 
previous performance.  However, comparisons based on benchmarks for national, 
London and outer London show Merton’s performance to be strong especially in 
reading and maths but not so strong in writing.  It was noted that Merton has taken a 
particularly robust view of its moderation of writing which may make it difficult for valid 
comparisons to be made against other benchmark data.  It was noted that the 
Department for Education (DfE) is working to ensure the parity of moderation of 
outcomes across the country to address this difference.

The progress of Pupil Premium, SEN Support and Black Caribbean cohorts was 
identified as a focus at Key Stage 2, (the Black Caribbean cohort is achieving 10% 
below the average level of attainment in Merton but is outperforming the same group 
nationally). 

It was highlighted that all the assessment changes mean schools are less confident 
in monitoring progress generally and they need support to do this effectively for in 
year progress and not just at statutory assessment points.

In response to a member question, an officer clarified that the Black Caribbean 
cohort is a very vulnerable group in terms of attainment.  Lessons from the Black 
Children Achievement Project included how to address barriers and engage parents.  
Focused activity based on these successful strategies is now taking place in five 
schools where this cohort is most represented.

Key Stage 4
Elizabeth Fitzpatrick highlighted performance at Key Stage 4 is strong with Merton 
achieving 10th place nationally.  Ursuline High School achieved the 25th best 
performance at Key Stage 4 nationally.  Using the new attainment measure, 

Page 5



6

Attainment 8, Merton’s average (52.4) is well above the national average and in line 
with London.

Post 16
Again, new assessment methodologies mean it is not possible to provide a 
comparison based on previous performance.  Performance is split by type of 
qualification and compared again against available benchmarks.  Whilst this is on par 
for most types of qualification, it has been identified that academic students need to 
do better.  The department is undertaking a series of 6th form reviews and 
challenging to achieve better performance.

In response to a member question, officers clarified that separate SEN data is not 
provided because it is not available for this phase of education.

Not in Education, Employment or Training (NEET)
Keith Shipman, Education Inclusion Manager introduced the item noting this measure 
has been redefined nationally to exclusively include 16 – 17 year olds and exclude 18 
year olds (for whom there is no statutory requirement to be in education, employment 
or training).  Performance for this group is good with the numbers of those not in 
education, employment or training falling faster than nationally.  Merton is in the top 
quartile for its 16 – 17 year olds in training.  This is linked to the increase in 
participation being achieved through apprenticeships.  Whilst this is a small group it is 
having a big impact especially for those aged up to 18 years.

Additionally, the September Guarantee of a suitable place in education or training 
being offered for all 16 to 17 year olds has improved.

In response to member questions, officers clarified:
 Examples of poor behaviour by some young people in the borough are often 

related to unemployment.  ESF funding is being used to provide provision focused 
on getting into work and is provided across the locality and in partnership with 
other south London boroughs.  My futures is working closely with the most 
vulnerable groups of young people and importantly providing support for 
transitions.  Mental health support is also provided where needed to help young 
people into the work place;

 Merton’s 6th form provision in addition to improvements in the provision at South 
Thames College means that 62% of 16 – 17 year olds remain in the borough for 
their post 16 provision;

 Strategies aimed at reducing youth offending were highlighted including those 
focused on enabling inclusion.  For example, the training offer provided by South 
Thames College and the emphasis placed on staying within the borough for 
provision to enable diagnosis of SEN issues and for these to be addressed.  The 
ADSD strategy was highlighted along with the targeted approach taken by My 
Futures.  It was noted that offering a 6th form at Melrose Special School is being 
considered.  This would aim to provide more support into post 16 provision with 
the correlation between exclusion and offending being noted and the intention 
being to break the link;

Page 6



7

 All schools in Merton are working with London Ambitions which provides a 
minimum standard for careers guidance; and

 Access to governor training happens via two routes: either through buying into a 
Governor Service Level Agreement which gives free access to all training or by 
paying for individual training places.

Inclusion
Keith Shipman noted school attendance has increased and is above the benchmarks 
provided nationally, for London and outer London.  Additionally, persistent absence is 
declining with an improving three year trend.  However, there remains a focus on the 
Pupil Premium cohort for which absence is greater than the average in Merton 
although this is group is doing better in Merton than nationally.

Again there have been no permanent exclusions from primary schools in Merton.  
This has been the case for over a decade.  Permanent exclusions from secondary 
schools previously rose but have fallen in 2015/2016 in line with national trends.  
Permanent exclusions from special schools remain higher than nationally and are a 
focus with an on-going detailed examination of the contributory factors.

Fixed term exclusions are decreasing in primary schools meaning that there has 
been an increase in those that are reporting none in the academic year.  Research 
has found that five pupils account for 24% of all primary school fixed term exclusions 
over the period which is indicative of their complex needs.  

Similarly, there has been a fall in fixed term exclusions in secondary schools.  
However, there is a focus on children with Educational Health and Care Plans 
(ECHPs) who, for the first time, have received proportionally more fixed term 
exclusions than the average in Merton’s secondary schools.

In response to member questions, officers clarified:
 Disengaged students who may not be attending school are the focus of support 

and challenge.  Parents are reminded that it is their duty to ensure their child(ren) 
attends school and support offered to match the level of need.  Barriers to 
attendance are addressed which may result in different provision being required 
potentially necessitating work with alternative curriculum providers; and

 Work is on-going with the public health team to look at the reasons for the link 
between fixed term exclusions and children on EHCPs at secondary school.  This 
includes exploring the link to ADHD and whether on-going treatment for children 
in secondary schools meets their needs at this stage of their education;

 It was noted that there is no statistical prevalence of exclusions of children with 
EHCPs in Academies as opposed to local authority maintained schools; 

 Pupils with an EHCP are given some protection from permanent exclusion.  
However, this doesn’t prevent consideration of alternative provision where this is 
required including Pupil Referral Units; and

 Where individual pupil behaviour is an issue, schools will plan to minimise the 
impact potentially working with the whole class.

Page 7



8

Virtual School
The performance of looked after children isn’t as strong as that of all pupils in the 
Borough, but where comparisons are possible with the LAC cohort nationally at KS4, 
outcomes in Merton are in line.  However, it was also noted that the comparatively 
small size of this cohort makes comparisons very difficult.  There has been an 
increase in the number of looked after children achieving 5 GCSEs A* to C.  Planning 
of educational provision for this cohort is achieved through the Personal Education 
Plan process with the department providing challenge to schools to put in place 
appropriate interventions where required.

6 PERFORMANCE MONITORING (Agenda Item 6)

Councillor Brunt, as the performance lead for the Panel, noted the following:
 Indicator 8 (the percentage of quorate attendance at child protection 

conferences): noted that the percentage for the third quarter is incorrectly 
reported as 67% and should be stated as 83%. 

 Indicator 3 (the percentage of Education, Health and Care Plans (EHCPs) issued 
within statutory 20 week timescale): highlighted that this measure is showing a 
worrying trend.  This is a cumulative measure with 153 plans having been 
completed over the period but only 31 completed within the 20 week target (20% 
in total against a target of 85%).  Also, noted that the indicators do not provide an 
overall number for those plans newly requested in the period which would be a 
helpful context.  It was also noted, that whilst some comfort is taken from Merton’s 
performance on the completion of transfers from statements of SEN to EHCPs, 
being seventh in London, this data is from January 2016.  Officers noted that this 
measure, in focusing on reaching the 20 week target for new requests to have 
ECHPs, misses that there is also an existing 1,080 to be transitioned.  Merton has 
taken a thorough approach to this process which has resulted in positive feedback 
from parents and very few tribunals or the need for mediation;

 Indicator 15 (average number of weeks taken to complete care proceedings 
against a national target of 26 weeks): questioned why this is higher than the 
national target.  Officers highlighted that the average time taken for care 
proceedings is around 30/31 weeks, is routinely reviewed, can be skewed where 
proceedings are contested by parents through the courts and that any care 
proceeding taking longer than the average is reviewed in detail; and

 Indicators 29 and 30 (the percentage of reception year and year 7 surplus 
spaces): this is an annual measure, with data available for publication in February 
2017.  It was agreed that whilst this should be reported on the performance index 
in the month to which is refers (September 2016) as opposed to when it becomes 
available.  Additionally, it was requested that if it is possible, without causing 
officers more work, that termly estimates of surplus places be provided to give 
indicative information in year.  Officers agreed to look at this further.

RESOLVED: to look in greater depth at indicator 3 to understand:
1. the progress being made on transitioning existing plans (total numbers, average 

time taken to transfer, total completed to date); 

Page 8



9

2. by how much the 20 week target has been missed on issuing newly requested 
plans (for the remainder of the 80% of completed plans); and

3. The total number of new plans being requested.

It was suggested that this become the focus of a deep dive at the meeting in June.

7 TASK GROUP DRAFT REPORT: ROUTES INTO EMPLOYMENT FOR 
VULNERABLE COHORTS (Agenda Item 7)

RESOLVED: the Panel accepted the report of the routes into employment for 
vulnerable cohorts task group.  This will now go to Cabinet for a formal response to 
the Panel within two months.

8 WORK PROGRAMME (Agenda Item 8)

The Chair noted the motion to Full Council and its essence.  It was highlighted that it 
is the responsibility of the Panel for it to consider its work programme at every 
meeting.

Yvette Stanley, Director of Children, Schools and Families also noted that that there 
is a shared ambition for the Panel and what it aims to achieve.  

Paul Ballatt, Assistant Director for Commissioning, Strategy and Performance, 
highlighted the importance of the Panel scrutinising the work of the partner 
organisations, with which the department is working to deliver services.  For example, 
CLCH, its community health partner as achieved at the last meeting.

RESOLVED: to consider the points highlighted in the Full Council motion as part of 
the topic selection and work planning process for the next municipal year with 
specific focus on the use of external experts.

RESOLVED: the Panel took the opportunity on the occasion of his attendance at his 
last Panel meeting before retirement to thank Paul Ballatt for all his hard work on 
behalf of children and young people in Merton.  Councillors Pearce, Taylor and 
Cooper Marbiah also noted and thanked Paul for the support he provided to them 
personally.

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Committee:  Children and Young People Overview and 
Scrutiny Panel 
Date:   21st March 2017
Agenda item:   
Wards: All

Subject:  Corporate Parenting, Looked After Children (LAC) and Care Leavers
Lead officer:  Paul Angeli, Assistant Director of Children, Schools and Families
Lead member: Cllr Katy Neep, Cabinet Member for Children’s Services
Forward Plan reference number:   N/A 
Contact officers : Sarah Daly, Head of Permanency, LAC & Care Leavers

Recommendations: 
Members of the Panel discuss and consider the contents of the report as part of their 
scrutiny of Merton’s approach to corporate parenting and of support of and outcomes 
for Merton’s looked after children and care leavers. 

1 PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
1.1. The report provides members with an overview of our work to support and 

improve outcomes for Merton’s looked after children and care leavers and by 
way of appendices provides the Panel with information which is seen and 
scrutinised by the statutory Corporate Parenting Panel (CPP). The CPP is 
chaired by the Chief Executive and includes the partners who have a 
statutory duty to work together to ensure the championing of and better 
meeting the needs and aspirations of our LAC and care leavers. 

1.2. It should be noted that where necessary the information in appendices has 
been anonymised and redacted to ensure that children and young people 
cannot be identified and to enable the information to be published.  The CPP 
is provided with more detail but this would not be suitable for public 
discussion.

2 DETAILS

2.1 The Corporate Parenting Panel (CPP) is chaired by the Chief Executive and 
is attended by the administration lead member for children’s services and a 
representative from the opposition as well as officers from across the council 
and its partners in providing children’s services.

2.2 The terms of reference include:

 Understanding and championing the needs and ambitions of looked after 
children (LAC) and care leavers across the Merton Partnership.

Page 11

Agenda Item 5



 Ensuring joined up pathways in education, health, employability, leisure 
and recreation for Merton LAC, LAC children overseen by the Virtual 
School and Merton care leavers.

 Receiving direct feedback from Merton Children in Care Council and the 
wider looked after children and care leaver population, to improve council 
and partner service development and delivery.

 Providing mutual challenge within and across the partnership to prioritise 
continuous improvement for services and outcomes.

 Giving conspicuous care and attention to particularly vulnerable looked 
after children such as young offenders, substance misusers and pregnant 
teenagers, to ensure effective risk assessment and appropriate service 
support.

2.3 The CPP meets bi-monthly and routinely: reviews the LAC and care leavers 
and their outcomes; receives feedback from LAC and care leavers on 
participation; and throughout its annual work programme receives reports 
with a specific focus: health; education; housing; CAMHs etc.  Where 
performance or other intelligence indicates it the CPP can and does receive 
more detailed reports on specific issues.  Its role in summary is to both 
advocate for LAC and care leavers and to scrutinise and challenge all 
partners regarding LAC and care leaver outcomes.  This report summarises 
some of the context and key issues for our work with children in the court 
system, children who become LAC and our care leavers as reflected in the 
annual Corporate Parenting report.

3 THE EXPERIENCE AND PROGRESS OF OUR LOOKED AFTER 
CHILDREN AND CARE LEAVERS

3.1 In Merton we are ambitious for all our children and young people, particularly 
so for all children who become looked after by the authority. Our Children and 
Young People’s Plan sets out our ambitions for our looked after children and 
this is enhanced by our LAC Strategy 2015-18 and Care Leavers Strategy 
2015-18 both received by this Panel in March 2016 and which are monitored 
by the Corporate Parenting Panel with performance information also 
scrutinised by the Children’s Trust and Merton Safeguarding Children’s Board 
as well as through the CSF KPIs to this panel.

3.2 Rightly over the last decade national and local expectations have risen with 
regard to performance in relation to a number of key areas involving LAC and 
care leavers including a greater focus on adoption and a raft of changes 
arising out of the Children and Families Act 2014 including the rights of care 
leavers to “stay put” with their foster carers and to extend the duration of 
leaving care services. Attached as an appendix to this report is the 2015/16 
annual corporate parenting report. This report summarises key areas covered 
and presenting issues.

3.3 Care proceedings – During 2013, we redesigned our looked after children 
and permanency services to deliver care proceedings and permanency more 
quickly and to accommodate the requirements of the Family Justice Review 

Page 12



and Children and Families Act 2014.  Further structural changes were made 
in 2015 to ensure a stronger focus on long term care.  We reviewed key 
processes and procedures to ensure compliance with the Public Law Outline 
guidance.  These changes have ensured a more joined up approach with 
clearer accountability and effective working across services and teams.  
Management oversight continues to be maintained through monthly case 
tracking panels chaired by Heads of Service. As a result we have seen 
considerable improvements in the duration of care applications). It should be 
noted however that small cohorts of children can significantly impact quarterly 
performance figures. 

3.4 Our LAC Population: The annual corporate parenting report provides the 
Corporate Parenting Panel with an overview of the population, trends and key 
emerging issues from reviewing local and benchmarking data where 
available. Headlines include:

 Merton has improved the timeliness of care proceedings significantly from 
2014-15 when average case duration was 42 weeks;

 The number of Merton LAC remains stable after a period of increase 
reflecting demographic and other factors which have seen numbers rise 
nationally;

 Merton’s rate per 10,000 in March 2016 was 35 and in Jan 2017 was 34, 
this remains below statistical neighbours;

 Our LAC cohort is increasingly skewed towards adolescents reflecting our 
success in achieving permanency for younger children and reflecting a 
wider trend of vulnerable teenagers entering care;

 Our LAC population is slightly skewed to boys – this is particularly 
affected by our UASC cohort;

 The UASC cohort also affects our ethnic profile;
 The reasons for children becoming looked after remain relatively stable;
 The creation of the LAC permanence team has impacted positively on a 

range of PIs and young people’s experience

Page 13



3.5 Achieving permanency:  The report sets out the numbers of special 
guardianships 2012 to 2016. Merton’s relatively low numbers are consistent with 
similar sized authorities. With regard to adoption performance our low numbers 
mean that one complex child disproportionately skews our averages. We can 
update Panel on our most recent adoption performance below:

Numbers of adoptions made:
Year 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16

Number of 
children 
adopted

2 5 9 5 10 8 11

3.6 We believe that wherever we have decided that adoption is the plan for a 
child, we should aim to place the child as early as possible with the carers 
who are likely to become their adoptive parents.  We use a fostering to adopt 
approach when appropriate to ensure attachments are formed at the earliest 
opportunity and to reduce the number of placements experienced by a child.  
We recognise however that as only relatively small numbers of looked after 
children are adopted; any delay in even one case results in a disproportionate 
impact to our overall performance and distorts our reported figures.  Despite 
the challenges of small cohorts and complex cases year on year, we are able 
to demonstrate a trend of improvement in the average time it takes for a child 
who goes on to be adopted from entering care to moving in with his or her 
adoptive family.

3.7 In 2015/16, Merton had 11 children who were adopted.  The graph below sets 
out the timescales for each child in this cohort.  Factors which caused delays 
in the adoption processes for these children include: 

 Complexity of care proceedings
 Complexity of the child’s needs (e.g. disability, age)
 Sibling groups

 Time




Page 14



3.8 Year on year, we are also able to demonstrate some continued improvement 
in the average time from receiving court authority to place a child and 
matching with adoptive family (A2). 

3.9 Merton’s three year rolling average for this indicator is 167 (2013/16) - this is 
better than the average of 223 days (2012/15).

3.10 In 2015-16 we developed the LAC Permanence Team; a team designed to 
work with settled Looked After Children aged 6+ for whom we have 
responsibility for longer term as corporate parents.  The key driver behind the 
development of the team was to provide greater support for children with 
plans for permanency.  A recent feedback exercise completed with children 
and their carers highlighted that the children felt that they had a better 
understanding of their care plan and carers reported that they felt more 
informed about what was happening for the child.

3.11 Children ceasing care to return home to live with parents/relatives has 
remained stable in 2016 (39%).  Nationally a third of children ceasing care 
returned home.  In 2016, 19% of Merton’s looked after children moved to 
independent living, a reduction of 41% on 2015; this nevertheless remains 
above the national of 13% and reflects the higher proportion of older young 
people in our LAC cohort. 

3.12 Health outcomes: LAC health outcomes – Health outcomes for Merton 
looked after children are better than the national average with the exception 
of immunisations. Ninety one per cent of Merton LAC had an annual health 
assessment during 2015/16 compared to 90% nationally and in London 
(2014/15). Ninety three per cent of Merton LAC had a dental check during 
2015/16, compared to 93% nationally (2015/16). 81% of Merton LAC had 
immunisations that were up to date (2015/16), compared to 88% nationally 
and 85% in London in 2015/16. 

3.13 The Merton CAMHS Social Care Team (Child and Adolescent Mental Health 
Service) is now in place as part of the borough’s Children’s Social Care 
service. This adds a quality, integrated mental health component to the 
engagement, assessment, planning and support of our looked after children. 
Emotional and behavioural health is determined by the average score of 
children looked after for a Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire was 
completed.  Merton’s average score was 14.9 above the London (13.2) and 
national averages (13.9). Work has taken place to improve the scoring 

Page 15



through a mandatory training programme for practitioners. We are screening 
children through our CAMHs team if the scores are particularly high.

3.14 The CAMHS Social Care Team works as part of a multi-agency response to 
improve the quality of life for children and young people that have a wide 
range of presenting social, psychological and mental health needs. It 
provides effective evidence-based interventions as part of the clinical and 
social response to meeting the emotional and mental health needs of these

3.15 Education outcomes: The Head teacher of the Virtual School provides an 
annual report to the Corporate Parenting Board and information on LAC 
educational outcomes was reported to the CYP Panel as part of the annual 
Standards Report.  A copy of the Virtual Heads report is included as an 
appendix for ease of reference.  Key points for the panel include: 

 At the end of KS4, Merton LAC have improved their performance in all 
key indicators in comparison with the previous year.  The proportion 
achieving 5+ GCSE at Grade A*-G rose by thirteen percentage points to 
46%, and the proportion  achieving 5+ GCSEs at Grade A*-C including 
English and maths rose by seven percentage points to 15%.  This last 
figure is now just above the 2016 national average for LAC nationally.

 There were also successes in the Early Years Foundation Stage and for 
the Year 1 phonics screening check, where cohorts achieved above the 
national averages for all pupils.

 At Key Stages 1 and 2, where, although there are no national 
comparisons yet available for LAC, Merton LAC did not perform well 
against national attainment averages for all pupils with regard to 
attainment.  Average progress scores however, are strong in reading and 
writing at this key stage (above the LA averages, which are in turn above 
the national averages for all pupils).

 The proportion of Merton LAC attending good or better schools rose to 
90% in 2015/16 which is just below the national average.  Where Merton 
LAC were in schools judged to be less than good the decision was made 
very carefully that keeping them in these provisions was in their best 
interests, taking into account each LAC’s individual circumstances and 
ensuring that they make good progress notwithstanding the Ofsted 
judgement for the overall effectiveness of education provision.

 Average attendance for the whole school fell by just under one 
percentage point to 90.72%.  However, there was success at Key Stage 
3 where the average attendance rose by 7.8 percentage points to 93.9%.

 There were again no permanent exclusions for Merton LAC.  The 
proportion of Merton LAC experiencing fixed term exclusions fell by three 
percentage points to 14%.  However this remains above the national 
average for LAC, and so will remain a priority.  This is especially so in the 
secondary phase, where, although there were again successes this year 
(a drop of 2.2 percentage points) the rate is higher than nationally.

Page 16



3.16 Care leaver population and outcomes: Due to the requirements to support 
care leavers according to their needs to 21/25 years the number of care 
leavers we are supporting has been growing and will continue to increase. A 
considerable amount of work has taken place across CSF to improve our 
work with care leavers. As with our looked after child population the UASC 
cohort has an impact on our data in respect of gender and ethnicity. Key 
issues for this cohort include:

 In the SSD903 return for 2015/16 we reported that the % of care leavers 
aged 17- 21 years ‘in touch’ was 89%.  The January data indicates that 
we are in touch with 93% of our care leavers aged 17-21 (145/156 young 
people).  This performance improvement reflects a significant amount of 
work undertaken by the 14+ to build and maintain relationships with their 
young people.

 In the SSD903 return for 2015/16 we reported that the % of care leavers 
aged 17- 21years living in suitable accommodation was 94%.  The 
January figure is 89% (139/156 young people) which indicates a slight dip 
in performance  This dip mainly relates to a number of UASC young 
people who have left their official accommodation due to 
removal/repatriation concerns.

 In the Annual Care Leaver Survey all care leavers who responded said 
they felt safe or very safe in their placement.

 In the SSD903 return for 2015/16 we reported that the % of care leavers 
aged 17-21 years who were in education, employment and training was 
65.9%.  Due to the restrictions of the current IT system we are not able to 
produce comparative data for this age group for this period.  We can 
provide data for a reduced cohort aged 18-21 and this indicates that 62% 
were in education, employment and training.

3.17 Offending:  in July 2016 we undertook a review of all looked after children 
and care leavers who experienced being in custody or who were convicted in 
the year. In that cohort (of 92) 7.6%of our adolescent LAC population 
received a conviction in the year. Because of the small population and the 
ability to identify individuals we will provide only general comments, but 
headlines include:

 Neglect had an impact on the early lives of a number of the cohort

 Some had experienced significant loss

 Robbery and assault were the most common offences.

 This cohort are at particular risk of going missing

 A very small number had a gang affiliation or were at risk of CSE

3.18 CSE: we continue to pay close attention to CSE and risk of CSE in our LAC 
population. Including auditing relevant cases to ensure we take forward any 
learning and that young people’s plans and support are robust.  All cases 

Page 17



where CSE risks are identified are reviewed at the Multi Agency Sexual 
Exploitation Meeting (MASE).

3.19 Missing: In 2015-16 we updated the Children Missing from Care and Home 
Protocol and established a weekly multi agency missing meeting.  This has 
resulted in a timelier sharing of information in respect of the children reported 
as missing from home and care.  Strategy meetings are convened on children 
who go missing from care and there is embedded practice of escalation of 
cases to senior management.

3.20 Most missing incidents were short; 88% lasted two days or less (this is in line 
with the national figure of 89%).  27% of missing episodes related to a period 
of less than 24 hours. 

3.21 Listening to our LAC and Care Leavers – We are committed to listening 
and responding to our young people’s voices and there has been a 
longstanding commitment in Merton to investing in direct work skills training 
which equips social workers with high level engagement and communication 
skills.  In line with this commitment and with the recommendations of the 
Munro review, learning and development opportunities for both newly 
qualified and more experienced staff routinely have included:

 Keeping the child in focus - communicating with vulnerable children and 
young people.

 Direct work with children 
 Life Story Work and My Story (workshops delivered by the adoption team 

in partnership with CAMHS) Children’s rights
 Signs of Safety 
 Motivational interviewing 
 Commissioning of Theraplay
 Fostering Changes for our foster carers

3.22 Social workers are aware of the statutory requirements for the frequency of 
visits to children, and include seeing children alone.  95% of LAC reviews 
were completed within timescale as at January 2017.At the end of January 
2017, 96% had participated in all reviews during the financial year. This is a 
significant improvement and commitment to hearing the voices of children in 
the review process. In 2016/17, we have used a well evaluated model from 
Sheffield of engaging young people in their reviews which has been received 
very positively by the young people involved.

3.23 When things go wrong, Merton reviews feedback from children and young 
people as a central part of our drive for continuous improvement of services. 
All looked after young people have access to the complaints process. They 
can request an advocate through a service commissioned from Jigsaw4U. 
Young people are also provided with independent visitors through Jigsaw4U.

3.24 We facilitate young people’s forums and activities which link with and impact 
on the management of children’s services and the adult democratic process. 
These include the Children in Care Council, Youth Parliament, Young 
Advisors, Young Inspectors and Your Shout (specifically for older young 
people with disabilities). Feedback from children and young people across 

Page 18



these strands of work have informed strategies including the Children and 
Young People’s Plan, LAC Strategy, CSF service plans and discrete 
improvement plans as well as broader council services such as the borough’s 
regeneration plans.  We have recently appointed a very experienced 
practitioner to support the participation and engagement of our LAC and care 
Leavers. Representatives from the Children in Care Council played a 
significant role in the successful launch of the Looked After Children and 
Care Leaver’s Pledge in February 2014 and were involved in its review and 
refresh during 2016.  Young people from the Children in Care Council are 
involved in the recruitment to the Children’s Social Care Division and senior 
posts across CSF and the recruitment and training of foster carers.

3.25 Direct feedback from the Children in Care Council is obtained by the Director, 
Lead Member for Children’s Services and Head of LAC and Permanency who 
ensure a feedback loop to the Corporate Parenting Board, MSCB and the 
council’s administration.  Actions arising from this feedback are taken forward 
by relevant parties and fed back to the young people. 

3.26 Wider opportunities for LAC – Merton’s overall approach to working with 
children looked after incorporates a holistic understanding of the importance 
of life chances.  We not only support good health and educational outcomes 
but also see other elements of life as core to promoting good outcomes.  The 
care planning process identifies interests and hobbies of our children in care 
and funding is available to encourage our young people to participate in these 
interests.  This includes the creative use of corporate parenting budgets to 
encourage talents and special aptitudes of LAC and care leavers.  There is a 
delegated authority protocol in place that clarifies the decision making 
responsibility of foster carers in respect of access to recreational and leisure 
actives.  Following the withdrawal of the Personal Education Allowance 
(PEA), the Virtual School was allocated funding to support enrichment 
activities for Looked After Children.  

3.27 The Virtual School provides resources to foster carers which include books, 
puzzles, games, CDs and DVDs.  We have also secured e-safety training and 
on-going support for six Olympic Legacy Computers for foster carers in need 
of a PC.  We have secured additional DSG funding to ensure that all eligible 
looked after children have their own computer provided and maintained by 
the Virtual School. 

3.28 In recent times the authority has supported music lessons, bought sporting 
equipment and funded young people to attend events of interest.  In one 
instance, following music lessons funded by our Virtual School, one of our 
LAC has been awarded the London Mayor’s Music Scholarship.  Other 
examples of enrichment activities include: the Letterbox Project involving 
children receiving a parcel of books, maths activities and other materials 
monthly.  We also organise a number of cultural activities which include 
theatre trips for LAC, their carers and our care leavers.

3.29 We support a range of events and activities throughout the year including for 
example BBQs, Black History Month, and celebrating success events which 
the Director and Lead Member for Children’s Services attend.  We also hold a 

Page 19



monthly social event at a local coffee shop where young people and 
practitioners get together to play games and watch films.  

3.30 Elsewhere on the agenda Panel has the Annual Sufficiency Plan for looked 
after children and care leaver’s placements which will cover this area in more 
detail. Panel is also receiving a detailed report on partnership work to 
improve care leaver accommodation choices and opportunities.

3.31 When Panel last received this report they received copies of the LAC and 
Care Leaver Strategies 2015-18. Attached as appendices to the report are 
updated action plans for these two key areas of work.

4 CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN OR PROPOSED

4.1. None for the purposes of this report. 

5 TIMETABLE

5.1. N/A 

6 FINANCIAL, RESOURCE AND PROPERTY IMPLICATIONS

6.1. The increase in children in care is impacting on a range of budgets across the 
CSF department, most significantly on placements and staffing.  The 
pressures on placements alone amount to in excess of £1.5m, although these 
have been partially offset during 2016/17 by underspends elsewhere.  The 
majority of these underspends are one-off and will not reoccur in future years.

7 LEGAL AND STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS

7.1. The council has extensive legal duties with regard to LAC and care leavers 
and is the legal parent to these children and young people.

8 HUMAN RIGHTS, EQUALITIES AND COMMUNITY COHESION 
IMPLICATIONS

8.1. We are dedicated to narrowing the gaps in outcomes between our LAC and 
care leavers and their more advantaged peers. 

9 CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

9.1. Children entering the care system become looked after and can be eligible for 
leaving care services. 

10 RISK MANAGEMENT AND HEALTH AND SAFETY IMPLICATIONS

10.1. Social workers have to utilise a range of risk assessment and management 
tools both within child protection and looked after children’s work. 

11 APPENDICES – THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTS ARE TO BE 
PUBLISHED WITH THIS REPORT AND FORM PART OF THE REPORT

 Annual Corporate Parenting Report – November 2016
 Virtual School Annual report 2015-2016
 Care Leaver Strategy 2015-18   updated action plan

Page 20



 LAC Strategy 2015-18 – updated action plan

12 BACKGROUND PAPERS

12.1. None

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



1 | P a g e

Annual Corporate Parenting Report 
2015-2016

London Borough of Merton

Corporate Parenting Board
November 2016

Issue Date Author Date Of the Next 
Review 

Lead officer 

November 2016 Sarah Daly/Bianca Mills  November 2017 Paul Angeli

Page 23



2 | P a g e

Contents
Executive Summary 3
Priorities 2016-2017 4
1. Context 5
2. The Legal Framework 5
3. Merton Background 6
4. Corporate Parenting – Roles and Responsibilities 8
5. LAC and Care Leavers Pledge 9
6. Update on Priorities from 2015-2016 10
7. Corporate Parenting Performance Activity 2015-2016 (SSDA 903) 11

Section 1: Looked After Children Cohort Overview (Numbers and 
Characteristics) 11

Section 2: Care Processes 19

Section 3: Placements 21

Section 4: Permanency 26

Section 5: Health 27

Section 6: Offending 29

Section 7: Education 31

Section 8: Care Leavers aged 19-21 33
8. Children in Care Council 38
9. Voice of the Child in Care 39

Page 24



3 | P a g e

Executive Summary
We are committed to ensuring all our looked after children and young people are 
given every opportunity to experience a safe, healthy and happy life in which they 
achieve their potential. We will make every effort to ensure they are able to grow up 
in a stable and supportive environment with a sense of belonging. We will make 
available the widest range of placements in order to support the individual needs of 
our looked after children and where they can feel cared for and cared about.

Our role as corporate parents is significant and far reaching and we will exercise this 
with commitment and accountability across all areas of the council and partnership. 
Through this we will consistently ensure all our young people reach their potential, 
develop into independent, self-confident adults and enjoy their place in society. 

As a Corporate Parenting Panel we need to understand what we are doing well, what 
our areas of challenge are and the actions that we will take to address these 
challenges.  This report presents activity and performance data from 2015-16 and 
identifies the priorities for the year ahead.  

 We continue to have a LAC population that has a high proportion of 
adolescent young people.  The report sets out that whilst a high number of 
these are unaccompanied asylum seeking young people, factors such as 
housing and anti-social behaviour are also impacting.

 The improvement planning in place in our 14+ Team has seen a significant 
impact in outcomes for our care leavers in terms of ETE and housing.  We are 
also in touch with a greater number of care leavers and are able to evidence 
the benefits of relationship based practice.

 Our fostering recruitment campaign has been successful, but we are still 
facing a challenge to recruit carers for our adolescent cohort.

 We have seen an improvement in children’s participation in their reviews and 
the IRO Team is now working to embed a child centred model for LAC 
Reviews.

 Placement stability has seen significant improvement over the last year, and 
the development of the LAC Permanence Team has meant that our stable 
LAC now have the attention of a focused team who are working hard to 
develop relationships with children, carers and parents.

 Adoption performance continues to be a strength in terms of clear planning 
and management oversight of cases. As a result of embedded processes 
adoption placements are achieved in a timely manner.

 The CSC CAMH Team is now well embedded in the service and offering an 
excellent service to children, young people, carers and practitioners

 Good progress has been made to ensure that the voice of the child in care is 
heard, with the development of the LAC and Care Leaver Pledge, the Care 
Leavers Survey, and the involvement of young people in our foster carer 
training.

Page 25



4 | P a g e

Priorities 2016-2017
Based on the analysis in this annual report and our broader understanding of our 
looked after children and care leavers we have identified the following actions as our 
priorities for the year ahead;

Action Impact

Development of a Care Leaver Hub 

Care leavers are able to access a 
number of different services and 
resources in an accessible and young 
person friendly environment.

Development of a Care Leaver Forum
Care leavers are empowered to 
challenge their corporate parents on the 
progression of the Care Leaver Strategy.

Development of Participation for all ages

Children of all ages are engaged in 
regular participation events through an 
age appropriate Child in Care Council 
Group.

Development of a Placements Panel 

All residential placements are reviewed 
to ensure placements are addressing 
identified needs and provide value for 
money.

Signs of Safety Approach is incorporated 
into the work of the LAC Teams

Mapping exercises support practitioners 
to implement safety plans for our looked 
after children and care leavers.

Page 26



5 | P a g e

1. Context
1.1 This report sets out an annual update on the corporate parenting arrangements 

in Merton; focusing on activity and performance during 2015-16.  It advises 
members on key legislation and guidance alongside key performance indicators 
for Looked after Children and Care Leavers.

2. The Legal Framework
2.1 The Children Act 1989 and the Leaving Care Act 2000 place clear statutory 

duties upon the Council to protect children from suffering significant harm and to 
provide continued financial and transition support to care leavers aged up to 21 
(or 25 if in full time education).  Underpinning corporate parenting is a wide 
range of national policies, guidance, regulations and legislation, which are 
subject to change by High Court rulings, such as the Southwark ruling in 2009.

2.2 The revised care planning regulations and guidance, including The Children Act 
1989 Guidance and Regulations Volume 2: Care Planning, Placement and Case 
Review Volume 3: Planning Transition to Adulthood for Care Leavers and the 
Statutory Guidance on Securing Sufficient Accommodation for Looked After 
Children March 2010, place increased emphasis on effective care planning with 
a focus on the child, and are designed to improve the quality and consistency of 
care planning, placement and case review for looked after children. They also 
aim to improve the care and support provided to care leavers.

2.3 In 2014 the Children and Families Act 2014 was introduced.  The Act takes 
forward a commitment to improve services for vulnerable children.  It reforms the 
systems for adoption, Looked after Children, family justice and special 
educational needs.

2.4 The Volume 3:  Planning Transition to Adulthood for Care Leavers (Revised May 
2013) sets out expectations for local authorities in respect of planning and 
arranging suitable accommodation for the transition to independent living, 
including ‘accommodation with former foster carers (Staying Put) 
arrangements)’.  The Staying Put legislation places a legal duty on local 
authorities to support every care leaver who wants to stay with their foster carers 
until their 21st birthday.  The opportunity to ‘stay put’ should apply equally to 
young people that have been cared for by foster carers from the local authority 
or independent fostering services.

2.5 Effective corporate parenting requires knowledge and awareness of the needs of 
children and young people who are looked after and the services that they 
receive.  This is a shared responsibility for the Council as a whole.  The role of 
the corporate parent is:

a. To receive and consider accurate and timely management information reports 
on the numbers, characteristics and needs of looked after children and care 
leavers

Page 27



6 | P a g e

b. To receive and consider reports demonstrating how effectively Merton is 
serving it’s looked after population through the provision of services and targeted 
initiatives

c. To receive briefings on new national and local initiatives designed to improve 
children and young people’s life chances

d. To gain knowledge of services based on direct involvement and opportunities 
to meet and gain the views of stakeholders, especially listening to the views of 
children and young people looked after and members of the Children in Care 
Council

e. To monitor and review progress on the delivery of the Pledge to children 
looked after and care leavers

f. Ensure that decisive action is taken to address any shortcomings in the 
services provided to children and young people

3. Merton Background 
3.1 Merton is an outer London borough situated in south west London, covering 14.7 

square miles. Merton has a total population of 200,543 including 47,499 children 
and young people aged 0-19 (Census 2011). The number of 0-19 year olds is 
forecast to increase by 3,180 (7%) by 2017, within which we forecast a 20% 
increase of children aged 5 to 9 (2,270). 

  
3.2 Predominantly suburban in character, Merton is divided into 20 wards and has 

three main town centres; Wimbledon, Mitcham and Morden. A characteristic of 
the borough is the difference between the more deprived east (Mitcham/Morden) 
and the more affluent west (Wimbledon). There are a number of pockets of 
deprivation within the borough mainly in the eastern wards and some smaller 
pockets in the central wards. These wards have multiple deprivation, with high 
scores on income deprivation, unemployment and limited educational 
attainment.  

3.3 Thirty five per cent of Merton’s total population is Black, Asian or Minority ethnic 
(BAME) this is expected to increase further to 39% by 2017.  Pupils in Merton 
schools are more diverse still, with 67% from BAME communities, speaking over 
120 languages (2016). The borough has concentrations of Urdu speaking 
communities, Sri Lankan, South African and Polish residents. 

3.4 Looked After Children (LAC) are those children and young people aged 0-18 
years who cannot safely remain with their family and are cared for by the local 
authority.  The local authority has continuing legal and financial responsibilities to 
many of these children until they are 21 (or 25 if in full time education).  This 
includes all unaccompanied asylum seeking children (UASC) and children with 
disabilities who are receiving more than 75 days of respite care per year. 

Page 28



7 | P a g e

3.5 There are clear thresholds for admitting children into care and in all cases 
significant attempts should have been made to support the child or young person 
to remain with their family or within their community.  In Merton an Edge of Care 
and Rehabilitation Panel ensures management oversight of care planning in the 
decision making to accommodate a child or rehabilitate them home.

3.6  As at 31 March 2016 there were 163 Looked After Children in Merton which 
represents a 4.5% increase from 2015 (156 children).  In England and Wales 
there were 70,440 looked after children as at March 2016, an increase of 1.4% 
from 2015 (69,480).  In addition Merton has 144 young people aged 18-25 years 
accessing leaving care services, making Merton a corporate parent to over 307 
vulnerable children and young people.

3.7 The local Family Poverty Needs Assessment shows that Merton is a relatively 
affluent borough, ranking as the fourth least deprived authority of London’s 33 
boroughs.  

3.8 54% of the LAC population came from an area of deprivation (Indices of 
Deprivation Affecting Children Index 2015 bottom 30%), an increase of 5% from 
2015 but still 6% below the level reported in 2014. The majority of children 
looked after as at 31 March lived in wards, pre intervention, in the east and south 
of the borough.

Source: SSDA903

Page 29



8 | P a g e

4. Corporate Parenting – Roles and Responsibilities
4.1 The Children and Young Persons Act (2008) reinforces the message that all 

outcomes for children looked after by the local authority.   To ensure this council 
wide ownership Corporate Parenting Board is chaired by the Chief Executive 
London Borough Merton.

4.2 The Corporate Parenting Board is comprised of senior managers and officers 
from education, health, housing, social care and elected members and is chaired 
by the Chief Executive London Borough Merton, ensuring a high level of scrutiny 
and cross directorate responsibility for delivery of our priorities.

4.3 The Board meets 6 times each year.

4.4 Over the past year the Board has considered reports on topics including:

 Educational progress of looked after children
 Health outcomes of looked after children
 Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children
 Placement Stability
 Voice of the child
 LAC Sufficiency
 CAMHS
 Assessments of young people aged 16 & 17 years presenting as homeless
 Trends in the care population

Children Young People Plan

Looked After Children Strategy Care Leaver Strategy

MSCB

Corporate Parenting Board 

Children in Care Council

Children’s Trust Health & Wellbeing 
Board

LAC & Care Leavers Sufficiency Strategy

Page 30



9 | P a g e

5. LAC and Care Leavers Pledge

Page 31



10 | P a g e

6. Update on Priorities from 2015-2016

Action Update RAG

Review of the Care Leaver 
Strategy

A Care Leaver Task Force has been 
developed to support the ongoing review of 
the Care Leaver Strategy.  This has ensured 
regular focus on areas such as housing, EET 
and health.  The strategy is reviewed every 
six months to feed into the continuous 
improvement plan.

Establishment of a targeted 
NEET/ETE intervention for 
Care Leavers

A new NEET Practitioner post was 
developed within the Virtual School to work 
specifically with the Care Leaver cohort.  The 
Practitioner has undertaken 1:1 and group 
work with our young people.  There has 
been an improvement in the number of care 
leavers engaged in ETE.

Participation of children and 
young people in their LAC 
reviews

In improvement plan was put in place to 
ensure shared ownership in supporting the 
participation of all children in their LAC 
reviews.  We involved young people in 
sessions to establish how we might make 
the review process more child focused, and 
as a result of this a new model is being 
piloted by the IRO Team.  There has been 
an increase in the number of children and 
young people engaging in their LAC review.

Establishment of the LAC 
CAMH Team

The CAMH Team is now well established 
and there is a comprehensive offer in place.  
Further information on the Team and the 
work that they have undertaken will be 
referenced later in this report.
SDQ training has been delivered to all 
practitioners and there is an agreed process 
with CAMHS for ‘high scores’.

Looked After Children and 
Care Leavers Needs 
Assessment to be 
undertaken

The LAC Health Needs Assessment was 
undertaken to inform the development of 
strategies and services employed in health 
and social care. The needs assessment had 
a particular focus on: transitions into and out 
of care, out of borough placements, and 
CAMHS.

Page 32



11 | P a g e

7. Corporate Parenting Performance Activity 2015-2016 (SSDA 903)

Section 1: Looked After Children Cohort Overview (Numbers and 
Characteristics)

Numbers and rates of children looked after as at 31st March
2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

 
Number

Rate 
per 

10,000
Number

Rate 
per 

10,000
Number

Rate 
per 

10,000
Number

Rate 
per 

10,000
Number

Rate 
per 

10,000
Merton 129 30 140 31 150 34 157 34 163 35
London 10,260 57 10,080 54 10,110 54 9,980 52 9,860 51
National 67,070 59 68,060 60 68,810 60 69,480 60 70,440 60
England and London totals are rounded to the nearest 10.

7.1 The number of looked after children has continued to rise both locally and 
nationally.  There were 163 looked after children as at 31st March 2016, an 
increase of 3.8% compared to March 2015. Outer London has seen a 0.5% 
increase since March 2016.  The rise over time reflects the higher number of 
children starting to be looked after than ceasing.  In particular we have seen a 
rise in the number of unaccompanied asylum seeking children entering care 
since 2012 and this increase influences the characteristic of our overall looked 
after child population.  For example there has been a rise in the number of 
children aged 16 and over.

7.2 In the year 2015-16 there were 128 new admissions into care (relating to 122 
children).  57% of starters were still in care at the 31st March 2016, and a larger 
proportion of starters (36%) were aged 16 and over.  This is double the national 
proportion of starters in this age range.  Whilst Merton has seen a rise in its 
looked after child population in the past 4 years the rates per 10,000 population 
remains stable and we continue have one of the lowest LAC populations when 
compared to our statistical neighbours. Merton has the 3rd lowest rate amongst 
its Statistical Neighbours.  There are only five (four in London) local authorities 
with a rate per 10,000 less than Merton.  

Rate per 10,000 population of Children Looked After against Merton's Statistical 
Neighbours 2016

28 30
35 35

41 43 45 46 49 50

60

Redbridge Kingston 
Upon 

Thames

Barnet Merton Wandsworth Enfield Hounslow Ealing Hillingdon Sutton Reading
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

London: 51 

National : 60 

Outer London: 47

Page 33



12 | P a g e

Rate per 10,000 population of Children Looked After against Merton's Statistical 
Neighbours and all London Boroughs 2016

26 28 30 32 35 35 37 39 40 41 41 42 42 43 43 45 45 46 46 47 49 50 53
58 60

67 69 69 73 75 78
86 88

101

R
ic

hm
on

d 
U

po
n 

Th
am

es
R

ed
br

id
ge

K
in

gs
to

n 
U

po
n 

Th
am

es
H

ar
ro

w
B

ar
ne

t
M

er
to

n
K

en
si

ng
to

n 
an

d 
C

he
ls

ea
W

es
tm

in
st

er
B

ro
m

le
y

C
am

de
n

W
an

ds
w

or
th

H
av

er
in

g
N

ew
ha

m
E

nf
ie

ld
W

al
th

am
 F

or
es

t
B

re
nt

H
ou

ns
lo

w
B

ex
le

y
E

al
in

g
To

w
er

 H
am

le
ts

H
ill

in
gd

on
S

ut
to

n
H

ac
kn

ey
H

am
m

er
sm

ith
 a

nd
 F

ul
ha

m
R

ea
di

ng
H

ar
in

ge
y

B
ar

ki
ng

 a
nd

 D
ag

en
ha

m
Le

w
is

ha
m

La
m

be
th

S
ou

th
w

ar
k

G
re

en
w

ic
h

C
ro

yd
on

Is
lin

gt
on

C
ity

 O
f L

on
do

n

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

National: 60

London: 51

Outer London: 47

Merton's Statistical Neighbours

7.3 As set out in the bi-monthly LAC Cohort Corporate Parenting Reports the age 
profile of children looked after in Merton differs significantly from the national 
picture with Merton caring for a large number of older looked after children aged 
16 and over.  At 31 March 2016 40% of our looked after children were aged 16 
and 17 compared to 23% nationally.  The inverse trend is reflected in the 0 to 15 
year olds.

Percentage of children looked after as at 31st of March 2016 by age group compared 
to London 2015 and National 2016

2%

9%
12%

36%
40%

4%

10%

16%

38%
33%

5%

13%

20%

39%

23%

Under 1 yr 1 to 4 yrs 5 to 9 yrs 10 to 15 yrs 16+ yrs
0%
5%

10%
15%
20%
25%
30%
35%
40%
45% Merton 2016

London 2015
National 
2016

Page 34



13 | P a g e

Gender, Age and Ethnicity of Looked After Children
7.4 The table below shows the significant increase in the older population over the 

previous 5 years.  Review of the local information shows that of the forty-four 16 
and 17 year olds accommodated 15 were accommodated due to their UASC 
status, 10 were accommodated following a joint assessment under the homeless 
protocol and 9 due to concerns relating to anti-social behaviour.  5 had 
experienced neglect and abuse and 4 were at risk of CSE.  1 young person was 
accommodated due to their disability.

Age of children looked after by year as at the year end 2016
Age (in years)

(number of Children Looked After, as at 31st March)Merton
0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17

2012 7 4 3 4 4 1 3 7 5 2 7 2 9 8 15 13 16 19
2013 6 7 5 1 5 4 2 2 7 5 5 6 2 8 9 17 24 25
2014 8 6 4 5 0 2 5 3 2 7 5 6 8 1 15 12 22 39
2015 6 3 5 4 3 0 3 6 4 4 10 7 5 10 10 18 26 33
2016 4 5 4 3 3 3 2 4 7 4 7 9 10 7 11 15 30 35
Source: SSDA 903

Overall, 63% of the LAC    
population is male and 37% 
female.

The breakdown of the 
gender/age data highlights the 
fact that our older LAC cohort is 
significantly over-represented by 
males (the majority of UASC and 
LASPO referrals received relate 
to males).

7.5 The age profile has continued to change over the past four years, with a steady 
increase in the number and proportion of older children.  76% of children were 
aged 10 years and over in 2016 compared with 69% in 2012 (comparing with 
62% and 56% nationally).  There has been a reduction in the number and 
proportion of children aged 0-4 from 17% in 2012 to 12% in 2016 (comparing 
with 24% to 18% nationally).

Gender 
(percentage of Children Looked After)

Male Female
Merton 2016 63% 37%

London 2015 58% 42%

National 2016 56% 44%

1%
1%
1%
1%
0%

2%
0%
0%

3%
1%

2%
4%

2%
1%

4%
4%

7%
6%

1%
2%

1%
1%

2%
0%
1%

2%
1%

2%
2%
2%

4%
4%
3%

6%
12%

16%

20% 15% 10% 5% 0% 5% 10% 15% 20%

0
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17

Male

Percentage of Children Looked After at 31st 
March 2016 by Age and Gender

Age

Page 35



14 | P a g e

7.6 The majority of children looked after in Merton are from a white background.  
This is a lower proportion than the general resident population (by 13%).  There 
are fewer Asian or Asian British than the all persons Merton population. Children 
from Mixed ethnic backgrounds, Black or Black British heritage and ‘Other Ethnic 
Groups’ are over-represented in our looked after child population and this is 
likely to reflect the increase in the numbers of unaccompanied asylum seeking 
children.

Difference in Ethnic Group of Looked After Children as at 31st March 2016 from the 
Merton Resident Population 2011

-13%

8%

-12%

10%
7%

White Mixed Asian or Asian 
British

Black or Black 
British

Other Ethnic 
Groups 

-20%

-10%

0%

10%

20%

Note:  Other Ethnic Groups is a census defined category and represents a number of ethnic groups where ethnic heritage 
cannot be defined in the Asian, Black White or Mixed groups.  The category includes Afghanistani, Arab, Chinese, Egyptian, 
Filipino, Iranian, Iraqi, Japanese, Korean, Kurdish, Latin / South / Central American, Lebanese, Malay, Moroccan, Polynesian, 
Thai, Vietnamese, or Yemeni. 

7.7 The 5 year trend data indicates that the ethnic origin of our looked after children 
has remained relatively stable. Merton has however seen a decrease in the 
percentage of children in the ‘Mixed’ category from 18% in 2012 to 13% in 2016.

Percentage of Children Looked After by Ethnic Origin from 2012 to 2016

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

White Mixed Asian or Asian 
British

Black or Black 
British

Other Ethnic 
Groups 

2012 49% 16% 7% 21% 8%
2013 43% 18% 6% 20% 13%
2014 47% 13% 10% 21% 10%
2015 49% 15% 8% 19% 8%
2016 52% 13% 6% 20% 10%

2012 2013 2014 2015
2016

Page 36



15 | P a g e

121 122 135 140 141

8 17
15 16 22

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
0

20
40
60
80

100
120
140
160
180

All other looked 
after children

UASC

Number of Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking 
Children looked after at 31st of March

Number of Children who started to be Looked After during the year ending 31st March
 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

Merton 83 92 114 107 122
% increase / decrease year on year -2% 11% 24% -6% 14%
Source: SSDA 903. Only the first occasion on which a child started to be looked after in the year is counted.

7.8 The number of children starting to be looked after has been increasing locally 
and nationally since 2012, with a 14% increase in children starting care in 2015-
16 compared to 2014-15.  The key increase for us locally is in the 16-17 age 
group.  13% of those who started to be looked after in 2015-16 were UASC 
(16cyp: 1 aged 14, 8 aged 16 and 7 aged 17), a reduction from 16% in 2014-15 
(17cyp:1 aged 13, 11 aged 16 and 5 aged 17). It is the non-UASC starters aged 
16-17 which have increased substantially from 13 in 2015 to 29 in 2016, 
although this is still lower than the level reached in 2014 (32 non-UASC aged 16-
17).

Age of Children who started to be Looked After during the year ending 31st March
Age (in years)

(number of children who started to be Looked After; ages on entering care)Merton
0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17

2012 10 2 2 1 0 2 5 4 1 3 2 2 3 6 8 9 13 10
2013 10 2 1 1 1 3 0 3 1 0 5 1 1 5 9 10 24 15
2014 13 5 5 3 4 1 3 5 3 1 3 4 2 7 9 7 22 17
2015 8 3 4 3 2 2 3 2 5 7 2 1 4 4 15 13 17 12
2016 11 3 5 1 6 3 4 3 2 5 4 2 7 4 7 11 19 25

The graph on the left highlights the 
increase in LAC and UASC 
populations since 2012. In 2012 the 
UASC population was 6% of the 
overall LAC cohort.  In 2016 this has 
risen to 16%, which is significantly 
greater that the national figure of 6%.  
Two thirds of all unaccompanied 
asylum seeking children are located 
in London and the South East.

The ethnicity section of this report 
demonstrates a large proportion of 
LAC in the category of ‘Other Ethnic 
Groups’, this reflects the number of 
UASC within the overall cohort.
 
The majority of our UASC cohort are 
male young men from Albania.

12

3

3

4
Albanian
Eritrean
Vietnamese
Iranian

Nationality of UASC Population 
(as at 31st March 2016)

Page 37



16 | P a g e

Reason for being looked after
7.9 When a child becomes looked after their primary need is collected and the table 

below shows that the proportions of children in each group have remained fairly 
stable.  The significant difference between our local and the national data is the 
absent parenting category which reflects the number of UASC.

Category of Need

Merton Abuse or 
neglect

Child's 
disability 

Parent's 
illness 

or 
disability

Family 
in 

acute 
stress

Family 
dysfunction

Socially 
unacceptable 

behaviour
Low 

income
Absent 

parenting

2012 40% 6% 8% 9% 19% 3% 0% 14%
2013 37% 6% 6% 6% 23% 2% 0% 20%
2014 41% 5% 6% 7% 20% 3% 0% 17%
2015 42% 9% 4% 8% 19% 3% 0% 15%
2016 40% 9% 4% 10% 18% 2% 0% 17%
London 2015 47% 2% 4% 9% 13% 6% 1% 18%
National 
2016 60% 3% 3% 9% 16% 2% - 7%

Legal status of looked after children
7.10 In the period 2012-2016 we have seen a steady increase in the numbers and 

proportion of Looked After Children on a care order and this is in line with the 
national trend, however we have a significantly lower proportion of our looked 
after children subject to such orders than nationally (Merton data for 2016 was 
42% of children on ICO’s and Full Care Orders, National data was 65%).  In 
the London Borough of Merton we have seen a slight increase in Placement 
Orders over the period 2012-2016, and we currently have a higher proportion 
of children subject to such orders than London and National.  This suggests 
that we have been less impacted by two related court judgements known as 
Re B and Re B-S, which we believe is an impact of our improved Notice of 
Intent process for cases in the pre-proceedings cohort.

Team allocation of looked after children
7.11 In 2015-16 we developed the LAC Permanence Team; a team designed to 

work with settled Looked After Children aged 6+.  The key driver behind the 
development of the team was to provide greater support for children with 
plans for permanency. We had witnessed a decline in our performance in 
placement stability during the course of the last year and a half. While it is 
evident from the review of these cases that the factors involved in the lack of 
stability are multifarious, it is also clear that changes of social worker and 
manager have contributed to this difficulty. On the basis of national evidence it 
is also clear that stability of social work practitioner has an impact on the 
success of placement stability for children.

Page 38



17 | P a g e

7.12 The team has now been in place since October 2015, and a recent feedback 
exercise completed with children and their carers highlighted that the children 
felt that their social workers understood them and what they wanted. Carers 
reported that the communication with the team was excellent and that they felt 
more informed about what was happening for the child.  Further information is 
available in the full LAC Permanence Team Report.

The graph to the left shows the 
allocation of cases across the 
Children’s Social Care teams.  
As anticipated with the larger 
adolescent cohort the 14+ Team 
carries the largest number of 
LAC cases.

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17
0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

CHDIS

Safeguarding and Care Planning

14+

LAC

Team Allocation by Age of Looked After Child

Age of Looked After Child

Number of Children who ceased to be Looked After during the year ending 31st March
 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

Merton 92 85 107 105 117

% increase / decrease year on year -9% -8% 26% -2% 11%
Source: SSDA 903

7.13 The number of children who ceased to be looked after in 2015-16 has 
increased by 11% when compared to 2014-15. 117 care episodes ceased 
during the year ending 31 March 2016. The number of children who ceased to 
be looked after has increased across all but the 5-9 age group, which holds 
the same number of children as last year (10).

44, 27%

45, 28%

20, 12%

54, 33%

LAC Permanence

Safeguarding and 
Care Planning

Children with 
Disabilities

14+

Team Allocation

Page 39



18 | P a g e

7.14 The table below reflects the age related care pathways of the majority of the 
children and young people entering care.  The greatest number of children 
leaving care are those reaching adulthood at age 18 who are moving into the 
care leaver cohort.  For those aged 0-5 years permanence is found outside of 
the care system either through reunification, placement with relatives or 
adoption.  The age group most likely to remain in care is the 5-12 year cohort 
most of whom are subject to care orders and permanently matched with foster 
carers.

Age of Children who ceased to be Looked After during the year ending 31st March*
Age (in years)

(number of children who ceased to be Looked After; age on leaving care)Merton
0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18

2012 3 4 4 3 8 3 1 1 2 4 1 3 2 5 8 5 6 7 22
2013 3 1 4 1 2 1 0 4 1 1 2 1 1 4 11 10 9 5 24
2014 4 5 10 4 3 5 1 5 2 3 3 1 2 5 2 9 6 9 28
2015 3 5 8 1 5 0 4 1 2 3 2 2 1 2 7 7 2 8 42
2016 5 6 5 2 8 1 1 3 2 3 5 2 1 4 6 7 7 7 42
*by number of children not number of episodes 

7.15 Children ceasing care to return home to live with parents/relatives has 
remained stable in 2016 (39%).  Nationally a third of children ceasing care 
returned home.  In 2016, 19% of Merton’s looked after children moved to 
independent living, a reduction of 41% on 2015; this nevertheless remains 
above the national of 13% and reflects the higher proportion of older young 
people in our LAC cohort.

Reason for children leaving care*

M
er

to
n

A
do

pt
io

n 
(E

11
, E

12
)

D
ie

d 
(E

2)

C
ar

e 
ta

ke
n 

ov
er

 b
y 

an
ot

he
r L

A
 in

 U
K

 (E
3)

R
et

ur
ne

d 
ho

m
e 

to
 li

ve
 w

ith
 p

ar
en

ts
/re

la
tiv

es
**

(E
4)

R
et

ur
n 

ho
m

e 
to

 li
ve

 w
ith

 p
ar

en
ts

/re
la

tiv
es

 a
s 

pa
rt

 o
f t

he
 c

ar
e 

pl
an

ni
ng

 p
ro

ce
ss

 (E
4A

)

R
et

ur
n 

ho
m

e 
to

 li
ve

 w
ith

 p
ar

en
ts

/re
la

tiv
es

 w
hi

ch
 w

as
 

no
t p

ar
t o

f t
he

 c
ar

e 
pl

an
ni

ng
 p

ro
ce

ss
 (E

4B
)

Le
ft 

ca
re

 to
 li

ve
 w

ith
 p

er
so

n 
w

ith
 n

o 
pa

re
nt

al
 

re
sp

on
si

bi
lit

y 
(E

13
)

R
es

id
en

ce
 O

rd
er

 (o
r f

ro
m

 A
pr

il 
20

14
 a

 c
hi

ld
 

ar
ra

ng
em

en
ts

 o
rd

er
) G

ra
nt

ed
 (E

41
)

Sp
ec

ia
l G

ua
rd

ia
ns

hi
p 

O
rd

er
 (E

43
, E

44
)

M
ov

ed
 to

 in
de

pe
nd

en
t l

iv
in

g 
(E

5,
 E

6)

Tr
an

sf
er

re
d 

to
 re

si
de

nt
ia

l c
ar

e 
fu

nd
ed

 b
y 

A
du

lt 
So

ci
al

 
Se

rv
ic

es
 (E

7)

Se
nt

en
ce

d 
to

 c
us

to
dy

 (E
9)

A
cc

om
m

od
at

io
n 

on
 re

m
an

d 
en

de
d 

(E
14

)

A
ge

 a
ss

es
sm

en
t d

et
er

m
in

ed
 c

hi
ld

 a
ge

d 
18

 o
r o

ve
r

(E
15

)

C
hi

ld
 m

ov
ed

 a
br

oa
d 

(E
16

)

C
ar

e 
ce

as
ed

 fo
r a

ny
 o

th
er

 re
as

on
 (E

8)

2012 9 0 0 37   0 2 3 23 0 1 0 0 0 17
2013 5 0 0 43   0 0 3 21 2 4 0 0 0 7
2014 10 0 1 52   0 3 4 27 0 3 0 0 0 7
2015 8 1 0 40 33 7 3 1 4 37 2 1 0 1 0 7
2016 11 0 0 46 40 6 4 2 2 22 1 2 1 0 2 24
*by number of children not number of episodes
**from 2015 this reason for ceasing was replaced by E4A and E4B

Page 40



19 | P a g e

Staying Put (year ending 31st March)

7.16 ‘Staying Put’ relates to young people who have turned 18 and left care in the 
year ending the 31st March 2016, eligible for care leaver support and 
remaining with their former foster carers 3 months after their 18th birthday.   In 
2015-16, 6 young people entered into ‘Staying Put’ arrangements.

Section 2: Care Processes

Timeliness of care proceedings when taking children into care 

7.17 A revised Public Law Outline introduced in April 2014 set out streamlined case 
management procedures for dealing with public law children’s cases.  Under 
revised legislation care and supervision proceedings must be completed 
‘without delay and within twenty-six weeks’.  This places an increased 
emphasis on pre-proceedings work and the quality of assessments.

63

30

50

29

51

37 37

24
28

31

21

38

Q1
2013/14

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1
2014/15

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1
2015/16

Q2 Q3 Q4
0
5

10
15
20
25
30
35
40
45
50
55
60
65

Merton Quarterly performance (Cafcass)

Government Target  (26 weeks)

26 week time  limit for care proceedings - CAFCASS data

7.18 In 2015-16, 24 Sets of Care Proceedings (38 children) were concluded 
compared to 26 sets of Care Proceedings (43 children) in 2014-15. 

7.19 As indicated in the above graph there continues to be progress made in 
improving the timeliness of Care Proceedings.  Merton’s average case 
duration for 2015-16 was 30 weeks compared to 2014-15 where the average 
case duration was 42 weeks. This is compared to the national average of 28 
weeks and London wide average of 32 weeks.

7.20 41% of cases were completed within 26 weeks. This is slightly below the 
London wide average of 49%. Non-standard track cases have a significant 
impact on our figures. Of the 24 cases where proceedings concluded, 10 were 
on the non-standard track. These are cases where the Court has agreed that 
elements of the case are exceptional and are unable to conclude within 26 
weeks. These cases have bespoke timetables set by the Court.

Page 41



20 | P a g e

7.21 Over the past year, there has been a strong focus on Pre- Proceedings cases 
and this has contributed to reducing the overall duration of Care Proceedings 
cases.  There are also system improvements in place which include a review 
of all court related cases, and an increased focus on the interface between 
key teams and partners e.g. MASH & First Response, Safeguarding & Care 
Planning Teams, Bond Road, and the Adoption Team.

Looked After Children reviews 

Percentage of Children Looked After as at 31st March reviewed on time 
Merton 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
Timely Reviews 95.9% 95.9% 96.5% 95.8% 98.7%
Source: SSDA 903
Notes:  The DfE do not publish national comparisons for this indicator. The indicator only includes children who 
had been in care continuously for 4 weeks as at 31st March.

7.22  In order to ensure that LAC reviews are held in a timely manner we 
established a clear understanding of the practice standard and introduced an 
escalation process for all reviews going outside of timescales.  This has 
resulted in the improvement in performance noted in the past year.

Percentage of reviews participated in during the year
Merton 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
No. of reviews 372 328 407 450 446
No. of reviews 
participated in 343 303 356 391 430

% Participation 92.2% 92.4% 87.5% 86.9% 96.4%
Source: SSDA 903
Notes:  The DfE do not publish national comparisons for this indicator. Excludes reviews with a participation 
method of 'Child aged under 4 at the time of the review'.

7.23 Participation in LAC reviews was identified as a priority area in 2015-16 due to 
the year on year decline in performance that had been noted.  An 
improvement plan was put in place that focused on the following areas:

 Consultation with children and young people to get their views on 
participation in LAC reviews

 Affirming practice standards

 Training for practitioners working with non-verbal children

 Guidance on promoting participation

 Improved data quality

The success of this improvement plan and the commitment from practitioners is 
evidenced in the improved performance data for this year.
.

Page 42



21 | P a g e

Section 3: Placements

7.24 Children are looked after in a variety of settings; foster care, children’s homes, 
residential special schools, Youth Offending Institutes, and a small number 
are in hospital settings.  At 31 March 2016, 66% of looked after children (108 
children) were placed in foster care. This is below the national figure of 74%.  
57 children (59% of our looked after children) were placed with in house foster 
carers; this remains stable from the previous year.  This continues to be an 
area of scrutiny for us due to the impact on budget, but also due the fact that 
agency placements are often outside of the borough.  The most common use 
of agency placements is for adolescents, as a number of our in house carers 
are only approved to take foster children up to the age of 10 years.  The 
Access to Resources Service is committed to targeted recruitment of teenage 
carers; however there is a Pan London issue with many agencies and Local 
Authorities competing for a small number of carers. 

Fostered* Looked After Children as at 31st March 2016

51% 56% 49%
60% 59%

49% 44% 51%
40% 41%

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

LA Foster Carer

Agency Foster Carer

*Excludes children placed with family or friends

Placement Type for Looked After Children as at 31st March 2016
Placement Type

Merton Foster 
Placement

Placed 
for 

Adoption

Placement 
with 

Parents

Other 
Placement 

in the 
Community

Secure 
Units, 

Children’s 
Homes & 
Hostels

Other 
Residential 

Settings
Residential 

Schools
Other 

Placement

2012 81 3 5 0 25 1 4 10
2013 89 5 5 8 22 8 1 1
2014 104 5 1 1 34 3 2 0
2015 108 7 2 0 34 3 2 0
2016 108 7 0 1 43 2 2 0
London 
2015 7,480 310 160 560 1,090 260 140 0

National 
2016 51,850 2,940 3,810 3,040 7,600 960 140 100

Source: SSDA903
Note:  ‘Secure units, children's homes and hostels’ – Secure units, homes and hostels subject to Children’s Homes regulations 
and homes and hostels not subject to Children’s Homes regulations (this includes supported lodgings).
2012 and 2013 only- ‘Other Placement' includes children missing from their placement.

7.25 Merton has a greater proportion of children placed under the category ‘secure 
units, children’s homes and hostels’ than nationally.  A large proportion of this 
cohort are young people living in supported lodgings (37%) which are 
classified within this group.

Page 43



22 | P a g e

Percentage of Children Looked After as at 31st March placed outside the Local 
Authority boundary and more than 20 miles from where they used to live; Merton 2016 
and Statistical Neighbours 2015

12%
13% 14%

16% 16%
18%

20% 20%
23%

28%

36%

Wandsworth Sutton Hillingdon Enfield Kingston Merton 
(2016)

Redbridge Hounslow Barnet Ealing Reading
0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%
London 2015: 18%

England 2015: 14%

7.26 18% of Merton’s looked after children are placed outside the local authority 
boundary and more than 20 miles from where they used to live, compared to 
14% nationally (2015).  Merton is 6th amongst its 11 statistical neighbours 
(2015).  77% of all new LAC placements made in 2014-15 were within a 10 
mile radius of Merton and 62% of all LAC placements were within a 5 mile 
radius. 

7.27 For some young people placements away from their home community are a 
key part of the care plan as a result of anti-social behaviour/risk management.  
For some the needs of the young people are such that they require specialist 
placements which are not available in Merton or surrounding boroughs.  For 
all children being placed outside of the borough the Head of Service and DCS 
is required to sign off agreement for the placement.  Care plans for these 
children and young people are reviewed to ensure that where possible young 
people are supported to return to their home community at the earliest 
opportunity.  A more detailed analysis of these placements will be available in 
Merton’s ‘Securing Sufficient Accommodation Statement for Looked After 
Children and Care Leavers’ refresh autumn 2016.

The percentage of Children Looked After at 31st March with three or more placements 
during the year ending 31st March

 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
Merton 15% 16% 17% 14% 10%

National 11% 11% 11% 11% 10%
Source: SSDA 903
Note: Missing episodes are included in figures for 2012 to 2014. From 2016 if a child and their carer move to a 
new address this is no longer counted as a placement move. If a child is placed for adoption with their existing 
foster carer this is also not counted as a placement move.

7.28 10% of Merton looked after children in care as at 31st of March had three or 
more placement moves during 2015-16. This is the same proportion as 
reported nationally. 

7.29 68% of Merton’s looked after children are in stable placements; the technical 
definition of stability is defined by the DfE as the percentage of children looked 
after as at 31st March aged under 16 who have been looked after continuously 

Page 44



23 | P a g e

for at least 2.5 years who were living in the same placement for at least 2 
years.

Percentage of Looked After Children with stability in their placement
 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

Merton 68% 64% 58% 46% 68%

National 68% 67% 67% Not available Not available

Source: SSDA 903
Note: The percentage of Children Looked After aged under 16 at 31st March who had been looked after 
continuously for at least 2½ yrs, who were living in the same placement for at least 2 yrs, or are placed for 
adoption and their adoptive placement together with their previous placement last for at least 2 yrs

7.30 We have seen a significant improvement in placement stability over the past 
year following the implementation of an improvement plan informed by the 
Placement Stability Analysis Report completed in April 2015.  The 
improvement plan focused on the following areas:

 All requests for placement moves in the 14+ Team to be approved by the 
Head of Service

 Development of a Permanence Team to have case management 
responsibility for children on Care Orders

 The LAC CAMHS Team to be established

 Analysis of risk factors supports placement planning and results in early 
identification of placement instability

Children accommodated under an agreed series of short-term breaks
Short-term breaks, also referred to as respite care, must include at least one night away from home 
but cannot exceed 17 days of continuous care, or 75 days within a 12 month period.

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

Number of children 30 5 3 26 19

Number of episodes 358 21 34 673 483

7.31 Nineteen children were accommodated under an agreed series of short-term 
breaks during 2015-16, a decrease from 26 in 2014-15. One child previously 
receiving respite care became a looked after child.

Missing and absent from placement

 Number of 
children

Number 
of 

episodes/ 
periods

Number missing from placement as at 31/03/2016 2  

Number of 'away from placement' instances during 2015-16 17 48

Number of 'missing' instances during 2015-16 43 102

Number of 'missing' and ‘away from placement’ instances during 2015-16 48 150
Source: SSDA 903

Page 45



24 | P a g e

7.32 In 2015-16 we updated the Children Missing from Care and Home Protocol 
and established a weekly multi agency missing meeting.  This has resulted in 
a timelier sharing of information in respect of the children reported as missing 
from home and care.  Strategy meetings are convened on children who go 
missing from care and there is embedded practice of escalation of cases to 
senior management.

7.33 Most missing incidents were short; 88% lasted two days or less (this is in line 
with the national figure of 89%).  27% of missing episodes related to a period 
of less than 24 hours. 

 2 children were missing or absent from placement 10 or more times 
throughout the year and were accountable for 14% of all absences

 9 children were missing or absent from placement more than 5 times 
throughout the year and were accountable for 26% of all absences.

 20 children were missing or absent from placement more than once 
throughout the year and were accountable for 75% of all absence.

7.34 Four young people were missing for extended periods (98 days+), 3 young 
people have been located and have returned to our care but one continues to 
be missing.  In these instances regular strategy meetings are convened to 
ensure sharing of intelligence between professionals.  One young person 
within this cohort has been referred to the National Referral Mechanism due to 
concerns relating to trafficking. 

Missing and absent by age at start of period of absence
Age at start of absence

Numbers Percentages 
7 12 13 14 15 16 17 7 12 13 14 15 16 17

All episodes 2 25 1 22 27 36 37 1% 17% 1% 15% 18% 24% 25%

Missing 0 4 1 18 19 31 29 0% 4% 1% 18% 19% 30% 28%

Absent 2 21 0 4 8 5 8 4% 44% 0% 8% 17% 10% 17%
Source: SSDA 903

Additional information on our missing cohort is available in the Missing from Home 
and Care Annual Report 2015-16.

Page 46



25 | P a g e

Children at risk of CSE

For the year 2015-16 there were 10 looked after child cases reviewed at the multi 
Agency Sexual Exploitation Meeting,  9 female and 1 male.

7.35 The CSE lead tracked the progress of the 8 LAC cases where there were 
known or suspected concerns for sexual exploitation. 

7.36 The audit of Care Planning documentation showed that in all of the cases 
specific reference to the issue of CSE and how this needed to be monitored 
by the placement and allocated social worker was evidenced.

7.37 In all the cases there was evidence of the involvement and support from the 
specialist services delivered by Jigsaw4U, Barnardo’s, MOPAC and CAMHS; 
providing direct work and consultation to address concerns as young people 
were reported missing, through to detailed relationship based work to address 
self-esteem and risk awareness.

Section 4: Permanency

7.38 The Government continues to monitor timeliness through review of quarterly 
and annual returns and the adoption scorecard process.  The initial focus of 
the adoption scorecard is on Local authorities and the adoption process for 
children. As a result of the increased scrutiny in the monitoring of cases, we 
have seen a steady improvement in the timeliness of the child’s journey 
through to adoption.

7.39 In the year 2015-16, eleven looked after children were adopted and two were 
made subject of a Special Guardianship Order.  Whilst children ceasing care 
through this permanency route (11%) is below the national rate (17%), 
performance is good when considered against the age cohort of our looked 
after children.

2

3
1

4 13 years
14 years
15 years
16 years

Age of young people at risk of CSE 
2015-16

Page 47



26 | P a g e

Number of Looked After Children Who Were Adopted or Made Subject of a Special 
Guardianship Order During the Year ending 31st March
 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

Adoptions 9 5 10 8 11

Special Guardianship Orders 3 3 4 4 2

Merton Total 12 8 14 12 13
Source: Children in Care and Adoption Performance Tables and SSDA 903

7.40 For children who have been adopted, the projected three year rolling (2013-
16) average time between a child entering care and moving in with its 
adoptive family is 548 days, which is lower than the 2012-15 national average 
of 593 days.  Additional information on this cohort of children is available in 
the Adoption and Permanence 6 Monthly Reports.

National adoption scorecard A1 indicator which presents the three year rolling 
average during which children enter and moving in with their permanent carers

775
685 689

507 548

2009-2012 2010-2013 2011-2014 2012-2015 2013-2016 Provisional
0

200

400

600

800

1000

A1: Average time (days) between entering care and moving in with adoptive family, for children 
who have been adopted

Three year rolling average performance

National  average 2012-15 
(593 days)

 2015-16 data is provisional therefore the three year average for 2013-16 is estimated and not yet published. 

7.41 Additional information on this cohort of children is available in the Adoption 
and Permanence 6 Monthly Reports.

Page 48



27 | P a g e

Section 5: Health

7.42 Health outcomes in 2016 for dental checks and annual health assessments 
are above national average (2015).  Immunisations are slightly below national 
(2015) and this is likely to reflect the large proportion of unaccompanied 
asylum seeking children within the cohort.

7.43 The LAC Health Team is situated within the LAC Service and this supports 
communication between practitioners.  The team regularly attend participation 
events and work hard to build relationships with our looked after children.  
Following the LAC Health JSNA additional capacity has been created in the 
team in recognition of the increase in LAC numbers in recent years.

7.44 The LAC Health Strategic Group meets on a bi-monthly basis. The purpose of 
this group is to understand and champion the health needs of Children looked 
after and Care Leavers in Merton and respond to the Merton Health Needs 
Assessment for Looked After Children.  In the year 2015-16 we have focused 
on the following areas:

 LAC Health Action Plan

 Quarterly performance relating to health assessments

 Care Leaver health passports

Health Care of Children Looked After 
(LAC continuously for at least 12 months, ending 31 March)

Merton
Looked After for 

at least 12 
months

Children whose 
Immunisations 
were up-to-date

Children who 
had their Teeth 
Checked by a 

Dentist

Children who 
had their Annual 

Health 
Assessment

2012 74 89% 93% 97%

2013 84 90% 99% 83%

2014 83 95% 83% 95%

2015 87 86% 95% 94%

2016 94 81% 93% 91%

London 2015 6,410 85% 89% 90%

National 2015 48,090 88% 86% 90%
Source: SSDA903  

7.45 Research shows that more than one in four children who have been in care 
has significant levels of maladjustment1 (Buchanan and Ten Brinke, 1997), 
with over 67% of those in the care system and 96% in children’s homes 

1 Buchanan, A. & Ten Brinke, J-A (1998) Recovery from Emotional and Behavioural Problems. NHS Executive, Anglia and 
Oxford. University of Oxford

Page 49



28 | P a g e

having clinical level of psychiatric illness2 (McCann, James, Wilson, and 
Dunn, 1996).

7.46 Emotional and behavioural health is determined by the average score of 
children looked after children for whom a Strengths and Difficulties 
Questionnaire was completed. The average score for 2016 was 14.9, which is 
higher than the 2014 national average of 14.9.   A low average score is 
deemed ‘good’.

7.47 To promote practice improvement in the use of SDQ tools we have run 
training sessions for practitioners and agreed a process for the escalation of 
scores over 17.

Emotional and Behavioural Health of Looked After Children
As at 31st March (Merton 2016, Statistical Neighbours, London and 

National 2015)

Statistical Neighbours Percentage of 
Eligible Children for 
whom an SDQ score 

was submitted

Average Score 
(a low average score 
represents the best)

Average Score Rank 
(1st=Lowest, 10th= 

Highest) 

Barnet 98% 13.7 7th

Ealing 88% 12.6 3rd

Enfield 86% 12.9 5th

Hillingdon 67% 12.7 4th

Hounslow 92% 13 6th

Kingston Upon Thames 81% 12.4 2nd

Merton 2016 74% 14.9 9th

Reading 94% 17.3 11th

Redbridge 99% 11 1st

Sutton 59% 15.4 10th

Wandsworth 80% 14.1 8th

London 82% 13.2 -
National 72% 13.9 -
Source: SSDA 903
Average Score of Children Looked After for whom a Strengths & Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ) was completed.

7.48 The Merton CAMHS in Social Care was re-established in June 2015.  The 
service provides an integrated mental health service within Children’s Social 
Care, as part of the engagement, assessment, planning and interventions 
alongside Social Care professionals. 

7.49 The Service works as part of a multi-agency response to improve the quality 
of life for children and young people who have a wide range of presenting 
social, psychological and mental health needs.  The Service provides 
effective, evidence-based interventions as part of the clinical and social 
response to meeting the emotional and mental health needs of these 

2 McCann, J., James, A., Wilson, S., & Dunn, G. (1996) Prevalence of psychiatric disorders in young people in the care system. 
British Medical Journal 313, 1529-30

Page 50



29 | P a g e

vulnerable children and young people. The Service also assists and supports 
Social Workers to implement new approaches to their work. 

7.50 Additionally, the service provides Reflective Practice to Social Workers and 
their managers, as well as consultation and training in a systemic approach to 
working. 

7.51 At its inception, the CAMHS in Social Care provision was a specialist CAMHS 
for children who are looked after by the local authority. However, the service is 
now expanding to provide a service for children who are subject to a Child 
Protection or Children in Need Plan.

Emotional and behavioural health of looked after children by age group and gender
Age at 31st March 2016 Gender

Merton
4 - 9 10 - 15 16+ Male Female

0-13 (normal) 5 12 10 15 12

14-16 (borderline cause for concern) 1 8 4 9 4

17+ (cause for concern) 6 12 7 19 6

No Score Submitted 1 5 17 16 7

Total 13 37 38 59 29
Source: SSDA 903

Section 6: Offending

Offending by children who had been looked after continuously for at least 12 months 
at 31st March

Merton

Number of children looked after for 
at least 12 months and aged 10 or 

older at 31 March

Number and percentage convicted 
or subject to a final warning or 

reprimand during the year

2012 55 10 18%

2013 54 6 11%

2014 62 6 10%

2015 68 3 4%

2016 75 2 3%

London 2015 31,820 1,650 5%

National 2015 4,840 280 6%
Source: SSDA 903

7.52 Looked after children are nearly twice as likely to be cautioned for or 
convicted of an offence than their peers3 and, although estimates vary, it is 
thought that nearly a third of children in custody have been looked after4.  It is 
therefore important that local strategies are in place to encourage positive 

3Outcomes for looked after children by local authorities in England as at 31 March 2012
4 HM Prisons Inspectorate thematic inspection of children and young people in custody

Page 51



30 | P a g e

behaviour amongst looked after children who may be at risk of offending and 
that measures that will divert them from involvement with the youth justice 
system are clearly identified. Fostering services and children’s homes should 
have an approach to care that manages children’s behaviour and minimises 
any police involvement. 

7.53 For all looked after child and care leavers where there is an identified risk of 
offending or re-offending, both the care/pathway plan and placement plan 
should include details about the support that will be provided to prevent this. 
The Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) should ensure that care plans 
adequately address this aspect of the child’s needs, and should raise a 
challenge where a young person’s needs are not being adequately assessed, 
resulting in the possibility of their becoming, or continuing to be, involved in 
offending behaviour.

7.54 A review of looked after children and care leavers who have been in custody 
or convicted in the year 2015-16 has been undertaken by the HoS LAC.  This 
review found that the majority of young people in this cohort had experienced 
neglect, physical abuse and parental mental health during their childhoods, 
but had not been accommodated until they reached adolescence when their 
own behaviours became the presenting issue.  

7.55 The most common offences for this cohort of young people related to robbery 
and assault.  Alongside the more serious offences there was evidence to 
suggest that several of the young people had been arrested for causing 
criminal damage in their placements.  

7.56 The review identified good partnership working between the YOT and 14+ 
Team, which was benefitting risk assessment and care planning for these 
young people.

Page 52



31 | P a g e

Section 7: Education

7.57 The education indicators represented are calculated for all the school age 
children looked after continuously for 12 months in the year ending the 31 
March.  For a complete picture of Education outcomes of Merton’s Looked 
After Children population please refer to ‘The Virtual School Annual Report’.

Key Stage 1 (KS1)
The number of Children Looked After who were eligible to sit their Key Stage 1 assessments 
(at the end of Year 2) and the percentage of these children achieving at least the expected 
level (Level 2+)

Year
Number eligible 
to sit Key Stage 

1 tasks and 
tests

Achieving Level 
2+ in 

Reading

Achieving Level 
2+ in 

Writing

Achieving Level 
2+ in 

Mathematics

2015 6 83% 83% 83%
2014 1 100% 100% 100%
2013 1 100% 100% 100%
2012 1 100% 100% 100%
2011 4 75% 100% 100%
National (2015) 71% 63% 73%
All Merton Pupils (2015) 90% 87% 92%
Source: SSDA903 matched to the National Pupil Database

Key Stage 2 (KS2)
The number of Children Looked After who were eligible to sit their Key Stage 2 assessments 
(at the end of Year 6) and the percentage of these children achieving at least the expected 
level (Level 4+). 

Please note that national measures were changed in 2013 to report Reading, Mathematics 
and Writing rather than as previously English, Mathematics and Science. 

Year

Number eligible 
to sit Key Stage 

2 tasks and 
tests

Achieving 
Level 4+ in 

Reading

Achieving 
Level 4+ in 

Mathematics

Achieving 
Level 4+ in 

Writing

Achieving 
Level 4+ in 
Grammar, 

Spelling and 
Punctuation

2015 2 100% 100% 100% 100%
2014 3 100% 100% 100% 100%
2013 3 67% 67% 67% 33%
National (2015) 71% 64% 61% 54%
All Merton Pupils (2015) 91% 89% 89% 83%

Year
Number eligible 
to sit Key Stage 

2 tasks and 
tests

National 
Indicator 99: 

Achieving 
Level 4+ in 

English 

National 
Indicator 

100: 
Achieving 
Level 4+ in 

Mathematics

Achieving 
Level 4+ in 

Science

Achieving 
Level 4+ in 

both English 
and

Mathematics

2012 1 100% 100% 100% 100%
2011 5 40% 20% 40% 20%
Source: SSDA903 matched to the national pupil database

Page 53



32 | P a g e

GCSEs or Equivalent
The number of Children Looked After who were eligible to sit their GCSEs (at the end of 
Year 11) and the percentage of these children achieving GCSEs. Methodology changes in 
2014 and 2015.

Percentage who obtained

Year
Number 
in Year 

11

Number 
who sat 
at least 

one 
GCSE

Percentage 
eligible 

who sat at 
least one 
GCSE or 

equivalent

Any 
passes

5+ GCSEs 
at 

Grade A*-G 
or 

equivalent

5+ GCSEs 
at 

Grade A*-C 
or 

equivalent

5+ GCSEs 
Grade A*-C 
including 

English and 
mathematics

2015 12 10 83% 75% 33% 8% 8%
2014 5 4 80% 60% 60% 40% 0%
2013 13 11 85% 85% 54% 23% 23%
2012 9 8 89% 89% 67% 44% 22%
2011 3 2 67% 67% 67% 33% 0%
2010 12 10 83% 67% 50% 17% 0%
National (2015) not available not available 18% 14%
All Merton Pupils (2015) 98% 94% 71% 60%
Source: SSDA903 matched to the National Pupil Database

Exclusions from School
The Children Looked After who had been looked after for at least 12 months.

2011 2012 2013 2014

Merton - Percentage of children 
permanently excluded 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

National - Percentage of children 
permanently excluded 0.24% 0.15% 0.11% 0.13%

Merton - Percentage of children with 
at least one fixed term exclusion Suppressed 20.93% 15.69% Suppressed

National - Percentage of children 
with at least one fixed term exclusion 11.81% 11.36% 9.78% 10.25%

Suppressed: number less than or equal to 5 or percentage where the numerator is less than or equal to 5 or the denominator is 
less than or equal to 10. 

Absence from School
The Children Looked After who had been looked after for at least 12 months

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 

A
bs

en
ce

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 

cl
as

se
d 

as
 

Pe
rs

is
te

nt
 

A
bs

en
ce

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 

A
bs

en
ce

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 

cl
as

se
d 

as
 

Pe
rs

is
te

nt
 

A
bs

en
ce

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 

A
bs

en
ce

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 

cl
as

se
d 

as
 

Pe
rs

is
te

nt
 

A
bs

en
ce

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 

A
bs

en
ce

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 

cl
as

se
d 

as
 

Pe
rs

is
te

nt
 

A
bs

en
ce

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 

A
bs

en
ce

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 

cl
as

se
d 

as
 

Pe
rs

is
te

nt
 

A
bs

en
ce

Merton 3.6% 0.0% 5.5% Suppressed 4.1% Suppressed 2.9% Suppressed 3.9% Suppressed

National 5.5% 7.3% 4.7% 6.0% 4.4% 5.0% 3.9% 4.7% 4.0% 4.9%
Suppressed: number less than or equal to 5 or percentage where the numerator is less than or equal to 5 or the denominator is 
less than or equal to 10.

Page 54



33 | P a g e

Section 8: Care Leavers aged 19-21
7.58 Children’s Social Care has a range of duties and powers to provide after care 

advice and assistance to these young people, and to those who have been 
accommodated by other specified agencies.  Good corporate parents will 
provide young people with help and support to access education, employment 
and training opportunities and to find accommodation suitable to meet their 
needs.

7.59 Merton has 106 care leavers aged 19, 20 and 21 years old.  This increase has 
a direct relationship with the increasing number profile of 16 and 17 year old 
looked after children in previous years

7.60 In 2013-14 the DfE amended the cohort of Care Leavers considered in the 
SSD903 to include young people aged 20 and 21 (from the traditional care 
leavers aged 19), and this should be taken into account when considering the 
year on year comparator data. 

Numbers of care leavers
 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

19-21 year olds 17 20 93 93 106
Source: SSDA 903

Age and gender of Care Leavers
 Age (as at 31st March) Gender
 (percentage of Care Leavers) (percentage of Care Leavers)

 19 20 21 Male Female

Merton 2016 42% 32% 25% 64% 36%

London 2015 32% 34% 34% not 
available

not 
available

National 2016 34% 32% 33% 58% 42%
Source: SSDA 903

Ethnic Group Difference of Care Leavers from the Merton Resident Population

-31%

5%

-12%

15%
22%

White Mixed Asian or Asian British Black or Black British Other Ethnic Groups 
-40%
-30%
-20%
-10%

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%

Source: SSDA 903
Note:  Other Ethnic Groups is a census defined category and represents a number of ethnic groups where ethnic 
heritage cannot be defined in the Asian, Black White or Mixed groups.  The category includes Afghanistani, Arab, 
Egyptian, Filipino, Iranian, Iraqi, Japanese, Korean, Kurdish, Latin / South / Central American, Lebanese, Malay, 
Moroccan, Polynesian, Thai, Vietnamese, or Yemeni.

Page 55



34 | P a g e

7.61 The DfE SSD903 return gathers ‘in touch’ information for all care leavers aged 
19, 20 and 21 years.  For this return the definition is that there is ‘contact’ 
between your local authority and the young person eligible for care leaver 
support around 3 months before and one month after the young person’s 
birthday.

Care Leavers in Touch
Merton Number % National

Yes 87 82% 87%

No 3 3% 8%

Service No Longer Required 7 7% 3%

Young Person Refuses Contact 6 6% 2%

Young Person Returned Home 3 3% Not 
available

Source: SSDA 903

7.62 In addition to this performance measure the ‘Care Leaver Regulations’ set out 
that the practitioner must visit the care leavers at no less than 2 monthly 
intervals.  Due to the current reporting limitations of the CSC information 
system (Carefirst) we are not able to provide a report detailing the regularity of 
care leaver visits undertaken by the 14+ Team.  In order to ensure worker and 
management oversight of the scheduling of visits each individual practitioner 
maintains a tracking sheet which is reviewed on a monthly basis.  As a result 
of this increased scrutiny we have already noted an in year improvement in 
this area of performance.

7.63 The legal framework for care leavers aims to make sure that they receive the 
right support and services in their transition to adulthood, including access to 
accommodation. General homelessness legislation also provides a safety net 
for young care leavers experiencing homelessness.

7.64 The legislation most relevant to care leavers' accommodation needs is the 
Children (Leaving Care) Act 2000, which imposes accommodation duties on 
local authorities to support certain categories of looked-after children and care 
leavers.

7.65 Accommodation is to be regarded as suitable if it provides safe, secure and 
affordable provision for young people.

Percentage of Care Leavers in Suitable Accommodation 2012-2016
 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

Merton 88% 85% 66% 76% 94%

London 91% 88% 82% 83% Not Yet 
Available

National 88% 88% 77% 81% 83%
Source: SSDA 903
Note: In 2014 the DfE extended the care leaver cohort to include 20 and 21 year olds. As a result the figures for 2011-2013 
include only to 19 year olds whilst the figures for 2014 and 2015 include Care Leavers aged 19-21.

Page 56



35 | P a g e

7.66 With an increased focus on improving outcomes for care leavers we have 
seen a significant improvement in this area of performance.  An aspect of this 
improvement relates to our improved ‘in touch’ performance which means that 
we have a better knowledge of where our young people are living.  It also 
reflects the collaborative working arrangements between Children’s Social 
Care and Housing.

7.67 Housing and Children’s Social Care managers meet on a monthly basis to 
review placements for all 18+ care leavers to ensure the early identification of 
young people who are ready to be nominated for their own housing.  

7.68 To ensure that young people are prepared to manage their own tenancy we 
run ‘Independent Living Skills Workshops’ in the following areas:

 My Bank

 Cooking

 DIY

 My Drive 

7.69 The success of these workshops and the support offered to our young people 
is evidenced by the fact that we have had no tenancy disruptions in the past 2 
years.

7.70 To improve our understanding of our care leavers’ experience of 
accommodation issues we asked a series of questions in our annual survey.  
The majority of the young people who responded to the survey were living in 
Semi-Independent placements and this reflects the overall care leaver 
population.

7.71 93% of respondents stated that they felt they got an appropriate level of 
support from the 14+ Team in respect of their housing needs, and only 20% 
stated that they lacked clarity in respect of the housing offer in Merton.

7.72 A previous concern raised by young people attending the Child in Care 
Council has been that they are not offered a choice in location of housing.  
Whilst this was an issue for some respondents it is positive to note that 68% 
felt that had been offered choice in terms of accommodation.

7.73 4 young people reported that the condition of the tenancy that they were given 
was poor.  Whilst this is a low number, it is of concern that any of our young 
people are living in accommodation that they do not feel is of a good enough 
standard.  

7.74 35 out of 40 young people who had moved into new accommodation reported 
that they had been visited by their social worker within the first week.  The 
remaining 5 young people were all visited within a 2 week period.

Page 57



36 | P a g e

7.75 Frequent feedback from care leavers is that they do not always feel safe in 
their accommodation and so it was reassuring for us that none of care leavers 
felt unsafe and the majority felt very safe in their accommodation.   

Do you feel safe in the place where you live?

Very unsafe Not safe Fairly safe Very safe
0
5

10
15
20
25
30
35

7.76 Merton has a high number of care leavers living in suitable accommodation 
(94%) compared to the national figure (83%).  Of the 7 deemed to be living in 
unsuitable accommodation, 2 were serving custodial sentences and 5 were 
living in ‘other accommodation’ (these young people were all staying with 
friends).

Accommodation by Type
Accommodation

Merton

N
o 

A
cc

om
m

od
at

io
n 

re
co

rd
ed

*

W
ith

 p
ar

en
ts

 o
r r

el
at

iv
es

C
om

m
un

ity
 h

om
e 

or
 o

th
er

 
fo

rm
 o

f r
es

id
en

tia
l c

ar
e

Se
m

i-i
nd

ep
en

de
nt

, t
ra

ns
iti

on
al

 
ac

co
m

m
od

at
io

n

Su
pp

or
te

d 
lo

dg
in

gs

G
on

e 
ab

ro
ad

D
ep

or
te

d

O
rd

in
ar

y 
lo

dg
in

gs
 w

ith
ou

t 
fo

rm
al

 s
up

po
rt

R
es

id
en

ce
 n

ot
 k

no
w

n

N
o 

fix
ed

 a
bo

de
 / 

ho
m

el
es

s

Fo
ye

rs
 a

nd
 s

im
ila

r 
ac

co
m

m
od

at
io

n 
w

ith
 o

pp
or

tu
ni

tie
s 

fo
r E

ET

In
de

pe
nd

en
t l

iv
in

g

Em
er

ge
nc

y 
ac

co
m

m
od

at
io

n

B
ed

 a
nd

 b
re

ak
fa

st

In
 c

us
to

dy

O
th

er
 a

cc
om

m
od

at
io

n

W
ith

 fo
rm

er
 fo

st
er

 c
ar

er
s

2012 2 1 0 2 4 0 0 1 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 1 1
2013 3 2 0 7 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 1 0 0 1 1
2014 27 1 1 5 15 0 0 0 0 0 0 33 0 2 4 0 5
2015 14 11 0 26 5 0 4 6 3 1 1 17 1 0 3 0 1
2016 7 9 4 42 2 0 5 2 5 1 0 20 0 0 2 5 2

*In line with DfE guidance, ‘No accommodation recorded’ includes care leavers who are not in touch or have 
refused contact, those who have died and those who have returned home.

Percentage of Care Leavers in Education, Employment or Training
The percentage of care leavers who were in education, employment or training

 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
Merton 70.6% 60.0% 47.0% 44.1% 58.3%

Source: SSDA 903
Note: In 2014 the DfE extended the care leaver cohort to include 20 and 21 year olds. As a result the figures for 2011-2013 
include only to 19 year olds whilst the figures for 2014 and 2015 include Care Leavers aged 19-21.

Page 58



37 | P a g e

7.77 A good standard of education is a key driver towards achieving positive 
employment outcomes in adulthood. However, there remains a significant gap 
between the educational achievements of care leavers and their peers.

Percentage of Care Leavers in Education, Employment or Training; Merton Compared 
to National
 19 yr olds 20 yr olds 21 yr olds
 Merton National Merton National Merton National

In higher education i.e. studies beyond A level 12% 6% 6% 7% 4% 8%
In education other than higher education 26% 26% 12% 17% 15% 12%
In training or employment 26% 22% 45% 25% 26% 26%
Not in education, training or employment 35% 38% 33% 41% 26% 40%
Information not known 2% 8% 3% 10% 30% 15%

7.78 In the past year we have made significant progress with our care leavers 
cohort engaged in education, however it is important to note that this relates 
to a broader cohort and further work is being undertaken to consider the 
performance of different age cohorts.  This area continues as a priority focus 
for us as a significant impact outcome for our young people.  A deeper 
analysis of this data identifies that 10% (14 young people) are NEET due to 
illness/disability and pregnancy/parenthood and it is likely that this has 
impacted in their capacity to take up an ETE opportunity. 

7.79   An ETE worker was recruited to in November 2015 and worked as part of the 
Virtual School to support a targeted group of care leavers both on 1:1 and 
group work basis.  

Page 59



38 | P a g e

8 Children in Care Council
8.1 The role of the Merton Child in Care Council is as follows:

 Provide a voice for the wider population of children looked after and care 
leavers

 Help to monitor and implement the Merton Pledge

 Bring together service users and senior managers to influence positive 
change

 Develop skills and confidence building

8.2 The Children in Care Council directly supports the Corporate Parenting Board 
to measure and monitor the effectiveness and quality of ‘Corporate Parenting’ 
in Merton.  

8.3 The Child in Care Council meets at the Civic Centre on a monthly basis and 
there is an established core membership of 6 young people.  This year in 
response to the feedback received from the care leaver survey we have held 
themed meetings on housing, health, e-safety and the Child in Care website.  
We extend the membership to themed meetings to ensure that all young 
people have the opportunity to participate.  In 2015-16 we have also used the 
Child in Care Council meetings to consult on the following developments 
within the service:

 Participation in LAC Reviews

 Financial Provision for Care Leavers

 LAC and Care Leaver Pledge

 JSNA LAC Health Review
.

Page 60



39 | P a g e

9 Voice of the Child in Care
9.1 Whilst we have been without a Participation Officer in 2015-16, the role played 

by the Participation Apprentice has been key in supporting the work of the 
Child in Care Council, improving the engagement of young people in their 
reviews and developing opportunities to ensure that young people's voices 
are heard through the Corporate Parenting Board. 

9.2 Successes over the past year include:

10. LAC Health Study as part of Health Needs Assessment

10. The aim of this piece of work was to capture the voices of Looked After 
Children and Care Leavers in the care of Merton about three key issues: 
young people’s health care needs; accessing the child and adolescent mental 
health service (CAMHS); and how young people are supported through 
transitions.

  
10.2 The consultation undertaken with a number of Looked after Children and Care 

Leavers reported the following: 

 Looked after Children, Care Leavers their parents and/or guardians are 
very much aware of who and where to go to if they need any support or 
advice to access any health care services, in relation to having their 
health care needs met. Findings from the responses were that there were 
no barriers to accessing services to meet their health needs. Many 
children and young people commented on going to either their social 
worker, family or friends for support and advice.

 Those placed out of the borough reported that they require more support 
and involvement to receive a more inclusive and participatory service, 
especially when they move between different areas for placements.  The 
data collected from this study also shows that there is a need for greater 
consistency in making sure that children and young people in care, who 
are placed out of the area, have access to key services that support their 
health, education, well-being and development. 

 Some young people`s responses indicated that child and adolescent 
mental health workers do not understand their needs or situation, as a 
result some children and young people do not want to liaise with them. On 
the other hand the child and adolescent mental health service helped one 
young person to manage their anger by informing them of techniques, and 
providing someone to talk to. 

10.3 The overall needs assessment report made a number of recommendations 
relating to overall findings to be monitored by the Merton Clinical 
Commissioning Group and London Borough of Merton.

Page 61



40 | P a g e

11. Celebrating Success Events

11.1 We have held 2 Celebrating Success Events in the year 2015-16 for 5-12 and 
13+ young people.  Both events were well attended by children, young people 
and their carers. All children and young people were presented with 
certificates celebrating their individual achievements.

12. Bi-monthly drop-in sessions

12.1 Since 2015 the 14 Plus Team has been running monthly sessions at a local 
coffee shop between 5-8pm. These sessions alternate between social events 
and workshops attended and facilitated by different organisations. The 
sessions provide the opportunity for young people to meet other young people 
from different cultures and backgrounds who have had similar experiences. 
The purpose of the group is to allow them to experience a sense of belonging 
and familiarity and also to build social networks and a sense of being part of a 
community.  These sessions strengthen the relationship between the young 
person and their social workers and helps built trust with the 14+ Team. The 
activities provide them with the opportunity to improve their independent living 
skills and gain insight from other organisations.  These sessions have a good 
regular attendance of up to 15 young people.

13. Review of children and young people’s participation in LAC Reviews

13.1 The key messages being fed back from these consultations were that children 
and young people wanted to be able to choose the venue for their LAC review 
and for the meeting to be held at a time convenient to them.  There was also a 
request for children and young people to be more involved in the planning for 
the meetings so that they were child centred and strengths focused.

13.2 The children and young people stated that:

 They often don’t know who is coming to the review and would like to be 
more involved in agreeing who should attend.

 They wanted to meet the IRO prior to the LAC review meeting so that the 
ITO could get to know the young people rather than judge them on what 
they had read; ‘we aren’t always as we appear on paper’.

 They wanted more forward looking reviews; they felt that all too often the 
reviews focused on the past.

13.3 The IRO Team are now looking to adopt a good practice model which has 
been successfully piloted by the Participation Service in Sheffield.  This model 
will support children and young people to feel that they are at the centre of the 
review meeting and have a strong influence in the shaping of their care plan.

Page 62



41 | P a g e

14. Communication with children and young people
14.1 The Participation Apprentice completed the first CICC Newsletter in 

December 2015 and this was circulated to all LAC and Care Leavers.  This 
newsletter provided information on recent events and also gave details of 
future CICC Meetings.  The plan is for this Newsletter to be a quarterly 
publication in 2016-17 and will be provided in hard copy and in e-form once 
the website is up and running.

14.2 We currently commission an independent advocacy service from Jigsaw 4U to 
provide support to Looked After Children to ensure that their voice is heard 
and is central to decisions made about their care. We receive feedback from 
the advocacy service when there are specific issues or areas that need 
addressing.  Examples of specific issues raised are:

 The number of social workers allocated to a looked after child.  This 
complaint was upheld.  The case is now allocated to a Senior Social 
Worker in the LAC Permanence Team and the child has recently provided 
positive feedback to her LAC review stating that her social worker is one 
of the best that she has ever had and that she ‘always listens to me 
carefully and always takes it on board’.

 The standard of care provided by an in house foster carer.  This complaint 
was partially upheld following a Standards of Care Review being 
undertaken by the Fostering IRO.  The carer has received feedback from 
the young person relating to his experience and a learning and 
development programme was identified as an outcome of the review.

 The need to supervise contact.  This complaint was not upheld due to the 
nature of the concerns in the individual case.  We did however ensure that 
the young person fully understood the reason that contact was 
supervised.

14.3 Where issues are raised by individual children the advocate will liaise with the 
relevant social work team to seek resolution.

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank



1 | P a g e
Page 65



2 | P a g e

Contents Page

1.  Introduction

2.  Executive summary

3

4

3.  Context for the Virtual School 6

4.  The Achievement of pupils in the Virtual School 9

Early Years Foundation Stage 9

Key Stage 1 10

Key Stage 2 12

Key Stage 4

Post 16 Outcomes

14

14

5.  Actions undertaken by the Virtual School to secure improved outcomes 15

6.  Supporting learning at home and enrichment 20

7.  Attendance 22

8.  Exclusions 25

9. Review of priorities for 2015-16 

10. Priorities for 2016-17

27

29

Front cover:  Room 13 collaborative work: Nature Study

Page 66



3 | P a g e

1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1 This is the annual report of work of the Virtual School for Looked After Children (LAC) and Care Leavers for 
the academic year 2015-2016.

1.2 It draws together the work of all LA officers involved in securing the best outcomes for LAC and Care Leavers 
seeking support to continue in education or training.

1.3 The needs of individual LAC are kept at the centre of the Council’s work, and the importance of closing the 
gap between the outcomes for LAC, and their non looked after peers, remains both a national and local 
priority.  Ensuring the best educational experiences and outcomes for LAC provides them with the best 
opportunity to develop into active and emotionally secure adults who are able to play a full and productive 
role in our communities.

1.4 The report and its findings enable us to identify future priorities to ensure we provide the best service for all 
those working to improve the educational outcomes for Merton’s LAC and Care Leavers.  These priorities can 
be found in section 10 of the report.

1.5 The core purpose of The Virtual School, Merton is to ensure that there are high aspirations for all children 
and young people in public care and to support and challenge all those who work with them to promote 
their educational achievement and make sure they reach their potential. This includes children looked after 
by Merton wherever they access education but also those children looked after by other boroughs attending 
schools and educational settings in Merton .Whilst the majority of the data included in this report focuses on 
the outcomes of children looked after by Merton, the Virtual School’s support for those children looked after 
by other boroughs is considerable and includes:

 work with the Designated Leads for LAC in Merton schools to ensure their work with all LAC is 
as strong as possible;

 Work with the Merton School Improvement Team to ensure that Merton Schools are working 
to narrow the gap between the educational attainment of all Looked After Children and their 
non-looked after peers

 Ensuring that continuity of education for looked after children from other boroughs is 
achieved by prompt admission to Merton Schools.

1.6 In addition, The Virtual School has responsibility for the distribution of the Pupil Premium Grant for LAC to 
remove barriers to learning and ensure that pupils make accelerated progress.

1.7 The Department for Education (DfE) collects information on the educational outcomes of LAC in Annex A of 
the SSDA903 return. This information is collected annually on the basis of children who have been 
continuously looked after for at least 12 months on 31st March.  It is the data for this cohort of LAC, 
identified as the 903 cohort, that is used in the achievement and other relevant sections to allow valid 
comparisons with the national dataset. 

1.8 The Virtual School Merton collects, analyses and evaluates data but cohort sizes can be very small and so 
trends in such data should be viewed with caution.  It is therefore important to note that a personalised 
approach to ensuring that each and every child and young person, in every year group, succeeds, underpins 
the strategies and actions of the Virtual School. 

Page 67



4 | P a g e

2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

2.1 During 2015/16 the academic outcomes for Merton LAC were still much below the national outcomes for all 
pupils nationally at each key stage, as they are for LAC across the whole country.   However, there were 
some significant points where the Virtual School achieved success in comparison with the national 
benchmarks available for LAC.  Importantly, the Virtual School has achieved successes at the individual pupil 
level, often where very challenging circumstances mean that the successes cannot be measured against 
national benchmarks, and which are harder to capture in a summary report.  These successes were achieved 
as a result of individual interventions by Virtual School staff and other officers, including the use of the 
Personal Education Plan (PEP) process.

2.2 The Virtual School is ambitious to ensure that all its pupils achieve the best possible outcomes, and that 
these are reflected in improved outcomes against the national benchmarks.  In order to achieve these ever 
improving outcomes the school will robustly and energetically address the priorities identified at the end of 
this report through the School’s Improvement Plan: in the coming year, these priorities will focus in 
particular on outcomes at Key Stages 1 and 2, where, although there are no national comparisons yet 
available for LAC, Merton LAC did not perform well against national averages for all pupils with regard to 
attainment.  Average progress scores however, are strong in reading and writing at this key stage (above the 
LA averages, which are in turn above the national averages for all pupils).

2.3 At the end of KS4, Merton LAC have improved their performance in all key indicators in comparison with the 
previous year.  The proportion achieving 5+ GCSE at Grade A*-G rose by thirteen percentage points to 46%, 
and the proportion  achieving 5+ GCSEs at Grade A*-C including English and maths rose by seven percentage 
points to 15%.  This last figure is now just above the national average for LAC nationally.

2.4 There were also successes in the Early Years Foundation Stage and for the Year 1 phonics screening check, 
where cohorts achieved above the national averages for all pupils.

2.5 The proportion of Merton LAC attending good or better schools rose to 90% in 2015/16 which is just below 
the national average.  Where Merton LAC were in schools judged to be less than good the decision was 
made very carefully that keeping them in these provisions was in their best interests, taking into account 
each LAC’s individual circumstances and ensuring that they make good progress notwithstanding the Ofsted 
judgement for the overall effectiveness of education provision.

2.6 Average attendance for the whole school fell by just under one percentage point to 90.72%.  However, there 
was success at Key Stage 3 where the average attendance rose by 7.8 percentage points to 93.9%.

2.7 There were again no permanent exclusions for Merton LAC.  The proportion of Merton LAC experiencing 
fixed term exclusions fell by three percentage points to 14%.  However this remains above the national 
average for LAC, and so will remain a priority.  This is especially so in the secondary phase, where, although 
there were again successes this year ( a drop of 2.2 percentage points) the rate is higher than nationally.

2.8 The Virtual School took part in a peer review process with the virtual schools in Hounslow and Barking local 
authorities.  Merton and Hounslow visited Barnet in the summer term of 2016, with a focus on the issues of 
LAC school attendance in that LA.  Merton drew lessons from that part of the review for itself, despite the 
fact that the focus was Barnet: these are reflected in the school’s improvement plan for 2016/17.

2.9 Although not strictly falling within the remit of this report, (which covers the academic year 2015/16), 
Merton hosted Barnet and Hounslow in the early autumn term of 2016.  The focus of the review was on 
improving outcomes for LAC at KS4.  The outcomes identified that following strengths of the Virtual School in 
general:

Page 68



5 | P a g e

 The Virtual School is a highly visible part of the services provided for young people in Merton, and is seen 
as an important service by others in the LA. It creates the impression of a ‘hub’ that links together 
services around the education of LAC, and manages to keep education as a very high priority for social 
workers, foster carers, YOT staff, and others. It ensures that the focus of the support for LAC is on their 
education as much as their other needs. 

 The Virtual School Headteacher is able to work constructively to draw the necessary strands together and 
link colleagues from different LA services and other agencies. Relationships are such that other services 
want to engage with the school. There is a high degree of trust in the Virtual School’s leadership and staff 
by other providers and partners. Those who work with the Virtual School consistently report that they 
find the staff of the school both accessible and approachable. Foster carers, in particular, reported that 
the school is very responsive to their immediate concerns and the needs of those in their care.

 The aspirations and priorities of the Virtual School are relevant and appropriate to the needs of LAC in the 
borough – and there are clear strategies of support to achieve them. The school takes a flexible and 
innovative approach to what is required for LAC, and effectively establishes provision that meets these 
needs. 

 The Virtual School uses tutors effectively, and the school’s partnership with St Mark’s and the SMART 
Choice ESOL Provision is also making a significant difference to LAC – both in terms of the environment it 
can provide and the outcomes at KS4 (whether GCSE or other qualifications).

 The Virtual School advisory teachers are clearly very influential in their work – whether it is their ability to 
source appropriate tuition, challenge providers about quality of teaching, develop effective PEPs or advise 
foster carers about schools and the education system in general.

 The Virtual School monitors and analyses outcomes data for LAC, and the school’s leadership is actively 
exploring ways to gauge impact of their work at KS4 that goes beyond progress data, or numbers of GCSE 
or other qualifications, and includes wider successes such as destinations, attendance, or improved 
engagement with education by LAC.

2.10 The review also provided a number of specific actions that could be considered by the Virtual School to 
further improve outcomes.  In summary these are listed below, and actions are either already being 
addressed or are included within the Virtual School’s improvement plan for 2016/17:
 Investigate ways in which the Virtual School can be more closely involved with edge-of-care services, 

early enough to develop an education presence before the young person moves into care.
 Include more specific targets for whole cohorts (at key stage level) and individual LAC in the Virtual 

School’s medium to long term plans and documentation.
 Develop methods for how and when to record, report and celebrate all successes.  
 Improve guidance for Foster Carers that covers (e.g.) educational options and pathways from KS4, raising 

the aspirations of LAC around their futures, and providing an improved learning environment in the home
 Develop a protocol for handling late new-into-care children, which involves the use of baseline 

assessments.
 Explore ways of giving PPG for tuition directly to school providers, where appropriate, so that they are 

able to commission the most appropriate tutors for LAC, based on their understanding of what is likely to 
be most effective.

 Consider methods of ‘frontloading’ the PPG ensuring that the strategies providers use are based on 
agreed standards of quality.

 Investigate options for providing tuition for LAC at venues outside the Foster Carer’s home – to avoid 
possible distractions within the home; and to keep separate from the Foster Carer the fine details of the 
conversation between tutor and child about their learning.

 As already planned, widen the membership of its Steering Group to include Foster Carers and care-
leavers.

 Provide and improve SLAs, or similar agreements, with all external providers, not just St Mark’s – 
especially where the care provided is linked with educational provision.

 Further develop the use of ‘voice of the child’ in improving provision.

Page 69



6 | P a g e

3. CONTEXT FOR THE VIRTUAL SCHOOL

3.1 Merton Looked After Children
3.1.1 Any child or young person of statutory school age who is, or becomes, looked after by Merton during an 

academic year is added to the Virtual School roll.  During 2015-2016 a total of 149 school aged children were, 
or became looked after.  This is an increase of 20 children and continues an upward trend

3.1.2 Table - Merton statutory school age pupil numbers by key stage 

Reception KS1 KS2 KS3 KS4 Total

In borough school or 
education setting 2 (1) 5 (7) 13 (6) 9 (11) 15(18) 44 (43)

Out of borough school 
or education setting 0 (0) 2 (5) 15 (16) 17 (13) 22 (24) 56 (58)

Total 2 (1) 7 (12) 28 (22) 26 (24) 37 (42) 100(101)

As of 24th June 2016, point of reference for year on year comparative purposes for the Virtual School role.  2015 
numbers in brackets.

There were 100 pupils on role from Reception to year 11. This represents a decrease of one pupil when 
compared with the number for the previous academic year as on the last Friday of June. 

3.1.3 The Virtual School also keeps a roll of pre-school children (0-4); those aged 16 -18 whose education, 
employment and training provision is recorded under the Raising of Participation Age requirement; and the 
number of young care leavers aged 19 plus that may continue to require support from the Virtual School.   
During 2015-2016:

 there were 71 young people young people between the ages of 16 and 18 during the academic year 
2015-2016 eligible for services and support for education or training from the Virtual School;

 there were 97 care leavers aged 19 + on 31st March 2016.  

Although some involvement from the Virtual School may continue, children and young people are removed 
from the school roll once they cease to be looked after. 

3.1.4 Children with Special Educational Needs
Looked After Children are four times more likely to have special education need than all children and are 
almost ten times more likely to have a statement of educational need or educational health and care plan. 
During 2015-16, 62% of Merton LAC had some form of Special Educational Need. This is slightly higher than 
the national statistic of 60.5% for Looked After Children.1  This is much higher than in the Merton school 
population as a whole.  Nationally, in the 2015 census, 2.8% of all children and 27.6% % of LAC had a 
Statement of Educational Need.

3.1.5 From September 2014, in line with the new legislation detailed in Part 3 of the Children and Families Act 
2014 and associated regulations, and the Statutory Guidance, Special Educational Needs and Disability Code 
of Practice: 0 to 25 years, arrangements have been put in place to support the transition for relevant pupils 
from Statements of Educational Need to Education, Health and Care Plans (EHCPs). The Virtual School has 
continued to work with Merton and other authorities where pupils are placed to ensure a smooth transition. 

 

1DfE SFR 11/206: Outcomes for Looked After Children by local authorities in England, 31 March 2015

Page 70



7 | P a g e

3.1.6 Table - Merton LAC with Statement of Educational Need or EHCP (all pupils on roll June16)
   

Numbers in brackets indicate the whole cohort for the Virtual School at each key stage.

34% of Merton LAC have a Statement of Educational Need or EHCP.

3.1.7 Types of School attended by Merton LAC
Merton LAC attend a variety of maintained and independent schools. Many Alternative Education Providers 
are now registered as independent schools. The Virtual School recognises the variety of schools and 
education settings now available to children and young people and seeks to ensure the setting that best 
meets their needs. 

3.1.8 Pupils can be registered and attend more than one school or setting. Where this is the case, the Virtual 
School records all settings attended but the information in the table below shows the type of school or 
setting which is the child or young person’s main provision of registration. In other words, it records the 
school which is responsible for the pupil’s education, even if as part of this it has arranged some alternative 
provision. 

3.1.9 The Virtual School expects to be consulted when any change to timetable or provision is proposed and this 
would normally be by way of a review of the child’s personal education plan. 

 
3.1.10 Table - Types of education provision attended by Merton LAC 

LA
 m

ai
ns

tr
ea

m

LA
 sp

ec
ia

l

LA
 A

lte
rn

at
iv

e 
Pr

ov
id

er

Ac
ad

em
y

Fr
ee

 S
ch

oo
l

In
de

pe
nd

en
t

In
de

pe
nd

en
t 

Sp
ec

ia
l

N
on

 
M

ai
nt

ai
ne

d 
Sc

ho
ol

 S
pe

ci
al

O
th

er
 

Al
te

rn
at

iv
e 

Pr
ov

id
er

To
ta

l

EYs/Primary 28 0 0 6 0 2 1 0 0 37

Secondary 20 8 5 11 0 9 4 2 4 63

Total 48 8 5 17 0 11 5 2 4 100

The vast majority of Merton LAC continue to attend LA maintained, mainstream schools.

3.2. Other Borough Looked After Children attending Merton schools
3.2.1 The Virtual School strives to keep an accurate register of other borough LAC in Merton Schools so that 

support for them and the schools they attend is the best it can possibly be.  Each term the Virtual School 
sends a proforma to all schools requesting details of any LAC on their roll.

Reception
(2)

KS1
(7)

KS2
(28)

KS3
(26)

KS4
(37)

Total
100

In borough school or 
education setting 0 0 2 4 6 12

Out of borough school or 
education setting 0 0 5 6 11 22

Total 0 0 7 10 17 34

Page 71



8 | P a g e

3.2.2 Table - Other Borough Looked After Pupils 

Other Borough LAC in Merton Schools 2015-16 2014-15 2013-14

Primary 27 22 -

Secondary 44 33 -

Special 6

Total 78 55 61

3.2.3 There are 78 other borough LAC attending Merton schools. This appears to be an increase on the previous 
year. This compares with 44 Merton LAC attending Merton Schools. St Mark’s Academy has consistently 
been the school with the highest number of LAC, including other borough LAC, on roll.

3.3 Looked After Children applying for schools in Merton 
3.3.1 Merton School Admissions Team advises the Virtual School of applications and admissions from non-Merton 

LAC, which may require a follow up discussion with the headteacher of the child’s ‘home’ Virtual School 
and/or carers to ensure child’s need will be best matched by the school of preference.  In order to discharge 
responsibility to all LAC within the borough, the Virtual School Head works with the Admissions Team at 
Merton to ensure applications to Merton Schools and Academies are processed as quickly as possible.  If the 
School Admissions Team note any delay or concerns regarding school placement then the children’s details 
are referred to the Children Missing Education Panel.

3.3.2  Table - time, in days, between receipt of application for a school place and the child going on school roll. 

No of days 0-10 11-20 21-30 31-40
Primary ( 9 children ) 6 - 1 2
Secondary  (12children) 6 3 2 1

In year applications for primary aged pupils reduced from 12 to 9 over the previous academic year and from 
17 to 12 for secondary school places.

The gap between the application being received and a child joining a school roll does not necessarily mean 
that the child has not been in school/on a school roll. Particularly for primary aged pupils it is likely that the 
application to a school is part of a planned placement move. 

Page 72



9 | P a g e

4. The Achievement of Pupils in the Virtual School

4.1 Overview
4.1.1 The Department for Education (DfE) collects information on the educational outcomes of Looked After 

Children (LAC) in Annexe A of the SSDA903 return. This information is collected annually on the basis of 
children who have been continuously looked after for at least 12 months on 31st March. There were 57 such 
children of statutory school age identified and it is their achievements which are reported here, allowing 
comparisons with national datasets that are collected at the same time. 

Table: Numbers of children in the Virtual School in the SSDA903 return (31/3/16)

Reception KS1 KS2 KS3 KS4 Total

In borough school or 
education setting 0 0 5 4 6 15

Out of borough school 
or education setting 0 2 15 13 12 42

Total 0 2 20 17 18 57

4.1.2 The small numbers of pupils represented in each key stage (particularly in the Early Years Foundation Stage, 
at Year 1 and at the end of Key Stage 1) means that comparisons with national and local averages with such 
small numbers must be viewed with caution.  Where data for LAC pupils nationally are not yet available this 
is recorded as NYA.

4.1.3 The national dataset regarding the achievement of LAC for 2016 is not yet available.  The latest national 
comparisons that appear in this report are from 2015.

4.1.4 It should also be noted that, although their achievement is not noted in this report, the Virtual School 
supports all Merton LAC, however long they have been registered as such, and whether or not they are 
included in the SSDA903 return.   

4.1.5 When a child or young person becomes looked after, the Virtual School strives to complete a retrospective 
chronology which includes details of schools attended and educational attainment and progress to date. This 
data is used to track individual and cohort performance and allows analysis against local and national 
indicators.

4.2 Early Years Foundation Stage (EYFSP)
4.2.1 The EYFSP is an assessment against the 17 Early Learning Goals (ELG). These assessments are completed and 

reported for each child by the end of the academic year in which they reach the age of 5 i.e. Reception Year.

4.2.2 The ELGs are grouped into the following ‘prime’ areas: Communication and Language; Physical 
Development; Personal, Social and Emotional Development; and Literacy and Mathematics.  Achievement at 
least at the expected level in all these ‘prime’ areas would mean that a child has achieved a Good Level of 
Development (GLD).   Assessments are also made in the areas of Understanding the World, and Expressive 
Arts and Design. 

Page 73



10 | P a g e

Table: EYFSP outcomes
 

 There were no 903 children in this cohort.
 Of the two children on roll as of 24th June 2016, both (100%) achieved  the Good Level of Development.
 This performance is above the national and Merton averages for this year.
 No national LAC cohort information is available for comparison at this key stage.

4.2.3 The tiny number of children in this cohort mean that all data, especially when comparing with national 
averages, should be viewed with caution.  However, this tiny number is also indicative of the success of the 
Borough’s Early Help strategies that have either prevented children becoming looked after, or have achieved 
permanency for children through adoption.

4.3 Key Stage 1 (KS1)
4.3.1 The Phonics Screening Check is a reading test based on pupils’ ability to recognise words and sounds using 

phonic decoding strategies. Pupils’ performance is reported on the basis of whether they have achieved the 
expected standard or not. There are no grades.  All pupils in Year 1 are expected to be checked unless they 
have no phoneme/grapheme correspondence (ie they are unable to link letters on the page to the sound 
they make).  The small numbers of pupils that do not achieve the expected standard in Year 1 are rechecked 
at the end of Year 2.

Table: Year 1 Phonics Screening Check outcomes
2014 2015 2016

Phonics Screening 
Check (Year 1) %achieving 

standard
No. of 

Children
%achieving 

standard
No. of 

Children
%achieving 

standard
No. of 

Children
Merton LAC 20% 5 n/a 0 100% 1

Merton 903 Pupils 76% 77% 80%

National All Pupils 74% 77% 81%

 100% of 903 pupils achieved the expected standard.
 All pupils (three) on roll as of 24th June 2016 also achieved the expected standards. 
 This performance is above the national and local averages.
 The performance of LAC children nationally is not released by the DfE.

4.3.2 This year changes were made to assessment at the end of Key Stage One (Year 2) at a national level, which 
means that pupils are assessed relative to new ‘expected standards’, in reading, writing and mathematics. 
 Those working below the expected standards  are  recorded as follows:

o Working Towards Standard = WTS; or
o Pre Key Stage Foundation = PKF; or
o Below standard, including achieving at P-Scales = BLW

 Where pupils are working at or above the expected standard it is recorded as EXS+.
 Where pupils are working above age related expectations it is recorded as Greater Depth Standard (GDS).

2014 2015 2016
EYFSP Good Level of 
Development (GLD)

Percentage 
GLD

No. of 
Children

Percentage 
GLD

No. of 
Children

Percentage 
GLD

No. of 
Children

Merton LAC 0% 0 50% 2 N/A 0
Merton All Pupils 60% 68% 71%
National All Pupils 60% 66% 69%

Page 74



11 | P a g e

4.3.3 Please note that there is no direct comparison between 2015 and 2016 outcomes because of the changes to 
the assessment system nationally.

Table: KS1 outcomes READING
2014 2015 2016

Key Stage 1 - READING
2c+ 2b+ 3+ No. 2c+ 2b+ 3+ No.

WTS/
PKF/ 
BLW

EXS+ GDS No.

Merton LAC 100% 100% 0% 1 83% 50% 0% 6 100% 0% 0% 1

Merton All Pupils 89% 80% 29% 90% 81% 29% 31% 74% 27%

National LAC 71%  67% NYA

National All Pupils 90% 81% 31% 90% 82% 32% 33% 74% 24%

 There was only one 903 pupil this year: that pupil did not achieve the expected standard because he has a 
special educational need.  He is currently receiving intensive support to bring him back up to standard.

 Of the four pupils on roll as of 24th June, 50% achieved the expected standard.
 This performance is above the national and local averages for all pupils.  

Table: KS1 outcomes WRITING
2014 2015 2016

Key Stage 1 - WRITING
2c+ 2b+ 3+ No. 2c+ 2b+ 3+ No.

WTS/
PKF/ 
BLW

EXS+ GDS No.

Merton LAC 100% 100% 0% 1 83% 33% 0% 6 100% 0% 0% 1

Merton All Pupils 84% 65% 14% 87% 69% 16% 36% 64% 16%

National LAC 61% TBC NYA

National All Pupils 86% 70% 16% 88% 72% 18% 35% 65% 13%

 There was only one 903 pupil this year. That pupil did not achieve the expected standard because he has 
a special educational need.  He is currently receiving intensive support to bring him back up to standard.

 Of the four pupils on roll as of 24th June 25% achieved the expected standard.
 This performance is below that of the national and local averages for all pupils.  

Table: KS1 outcomes MATHEMATICS
2014 2015 2016

Key Stage 1 - MATHS
2c+ 2b+ 3+ No. 2c+ 2b+ 3+ No.

WTS/
PKF/ 
BLW

EXS+ GDS No.

Merton LAC 100% 0% 0% 1 83% 33% 0% 6 100% 0% 0% 1

Merton Schools All 
Pupils 92% 79% 24% 92% 78% 26% 27% 73% 20%

National LAC 72% TBC NYA

National All Pupils 92% 80% 24% 93% 82% 26% 27% 73% 18%

Page 75



12 | P a g e

 There was only one 903 pupil this year. That pupil did not achieve the expected standard because he has 
a special educational need.  He is currently receiving intensive support to bring him back up to standard.

 Of the four pupils on roll as of 24th June 25% achieved the expected standard.
 This performance is below that of the national and local averages for all pupils.  

4.4 KS2 OUTCOMES 
4.4.1 This year changes were made to assessment at the end of Key Stage Two (Year 6) at a national level, which 

means that pupils are assessed relative to new ‘expected standards’, in reading, writing, mathematics, and 
Grammar Punctuation and Spelling. 
 Where pupils are working below the expected standards it is recorded as follows:

o Working Towards Standard = WTS; or
o Not Achieved Standard  = NS; or
o Below standard, including achieving at P-Scales = BLW

 Where pupils are working at or above the expected standard it is recorded as follows:
o Working at the expected standard = EXS+; or
o Achieved Standard = AS+

 Where pupils are working above age related expectations it is recorded as follows:
o Greater Depth Standard = GDS; or
o High Score = HS

4.4.2 Changes were also made to the process in which pupils’ progress across KS2 is measured.  The national 
average progress score for all pupils is 0.

4.4.3 Where pupils were disapplied from the assessments because they had not yet finished the key stage it is 
recorded as DIS.  Please note that there is no direct comparison between 2015 and 2016 outcomes because 
the assessment system nationally has changed.

Table: KS2 READING
2014 2015 2016Key Stage 2 – 

READING 4c+ 4b+ 5+ No. 4c+ 4b+ 5+ No. NS DIS AS+ HS No.

Merton LAC 100% 100% 60% 3 100% 100% 0% 2 74% 13% 13% 13% 8

Merton All Pupils 91% 80% 52% 91% 82% 52% 32% 68% 21%

National LAC 68% 71% NYA

National All Pupils 89% 78% 50% 89% 80% 49% 34% 66% 19%

 13% of pupils achieved at or above age related expectations.
 50% of the cohort had a Statement of Educational Need or an Education Health and Care Plan. 
 Of the nine pupils on roll as of 24th June 2016:

o 11% were disapplied;
o 38% achieved at or above age related expectations.
o 45% had Statements of Educational Need or Education, Health and Care Plans. One of the pupils did sit 

the tests and although he did not achieve the expected standard it is commendable that he was 
entered.

 This performance is below that of the national and local averages for all pupils.

Page 76



13 | P a g e

Table: KS2 WRITING

 26% of pupils achieved at or above age related expectations.
 50% of the cohort had a Statement of Educational Need or an Education Health and Care Plan. 
 Of the nine pupils on roll as of 24th June 2016:

o 11% were disapplied;
o 38% achieved at or above age related expectations;
o 45% had Statements of Educational Need or Education, Health and Care Plans. One of the pupils did sit 

the tests and although he did not achieve the expected standard it is commendable that he was 
entered.

 This performance is below that of the national and local averages for all pupils.  

Table 5c KS2 MATHEMATICS
2014 2015 2016

Key Stage 2 - 
MATHS 4c+ 4b+ 5+ No. 4c+ 4b+ 5+ No. NS DIS AS+ HS No.

Merton LAC 100% 50% 0% 3 100% 50% 50% 2 74% 13% 13% 0 8

Merton All Pupils 88% 78% 46
% 89% 79% 45% 25% 75% 24%

National LAC 61% 64% NYA

National All Pupils 86% 76% 42
% 89% 80% 49% 30% 70% 17%

 13% of pupils achieved at or above age related expectations.
 50% of the cohort had a Statement of Educational Need or an Education Health and Care Plan. 
 Of the nine pupils on roll as of 24th June 2016:

o 30% were disapplied;
o 22% achieved at or above age related expectations;
o 45% had Statements of Educational Need or Education, Health and Care Plans. One of the pupils did sit 

the tests and although he did not achieve the expected standard it is commendable that he was 
entered.

 This performance is below that of the national and local averages for all pupils, and below the 2015 
national average for LAC.  

2014 2015 2016Key Stage 2 –
WRITING 4+ 5+ No. 4+ 5+ No. WTS DIS EXS+ GDS No.

Merton LAC 100% 0% 3 100% 50% 2 62% 13% 26% 13% 8

Merton All Pupils 86% 36% 89% 38% 29% 71% 16%

National LAC 59% 61% NYA

National All Pupils 76% 52% 89% 43% 26% 74% 15%

Page 77



14 | P a g e

4.5 KS4 OUTCOMES
4.5.1 The data collected uses the headings from the 2015 performance tables, allowing comparison with previous 

years.  

Table: GCSE  outcomes

 15% of Merton LAC achieved 5+ GCSEs A*-C or equivalent: this is an improvement on 2015 performance 
and just below the national average (2015) for LAC of 18%.

 15% of Merton LAC achieved 5+GCSEs A*-C including English or maths: this is an improvement on 2015 
performance and just above the national average (2015) for LAC of 14%.

 This is a strong performance in the context of these students SEN needs: five students had 
statements/EHCP, and in addition, four had Special Educational Needs

 Performance is not so strong for all 24 LAC students on roll as of the 24th June:
o 13% achieved 5+ GCSEs A*-C or equivalent – below the national average (2015);
o 8% LAC achieved 5+GCSEs A*-C including English or maths – below the national average (2015).

Table: Progression to education or training  in Year 12 (September 2016)
Academic 
Year

No of young 
people 

No of young people in 
education/training at 
the start of the academic 
year  (Sept)

Proportion of young people 
in education/training at the 
start of the academic year  
(Sept)

15-16 13 12 92.3%
14-15 12 12 100%
13-14 5 4 80%

 One young person removed himself from care, with the result that the Virtual School was unable to track 
his destination.

4.6 POST 16 OUTCOMES
4.6.1 There were no ‘A’ Level students during the academic year 15-16. 59 of 62 young people aged 16 or above 

have pursued and were successful in a range of courses, from Entry Level to Level 3. 

4.6.2 12 young people studied for degrees.  Whilst 10 continue their studies into the new academic year, two 
graduated: one with a first class honours degree In pharmacology, and the other with a social work degree. 
Both are now in employment in their chosen field.  

4.6.3 There will be eight Care Leavers starting at university in September 16. This includes two students who have 
received the Sanctuary Award at Kingston University. This award is for students who are seeking asylum and 
cannot access student finance. It funds university fees and provides an annual bursary of £3000.

2015 2016

GCSE
A

ny
 p

as
se

s

5+
 G

C
SE

s 
at

 
G

ra
de

 A
*-

G
 o

r 
eq

ui
va

le
nt

5+
 G

C
SE

s 
at

 
G

ra
de

 A
*-

C
 o

r 
eq

ui
va

le
nt

5+
 G

C
SE

s 
 G

ra
de

 
A

*-
C

 in
cl

 
En

/m
at

hs

N
o.

 o
f C

hi
ld

re
n

A
ny

 p
as

se
s

5+
 G

C
SE

s 
at

 
G

ra
de

 A
*-

G
 o

r 
eq

ui
va

le
nt

5+
 G

C
SE

s 
at

 
G

ra
de

 A
*-

C
 o

r 
eq

ui
va

le
nt

5+
 G

C
SE

s 
 G

ra
de

 
A

*-
C

 in
cl

 
En

/m
at

hs

N
o.

 o
f C

hi
ld

re
n

Merton LAC 75% 33% 8% 8% 12 77% 46% 15% 15% 13
Merton Schools 

All Pupils 94% 69% 58%

National LAC 18% 14%

Page 78



15 | P a g e

5 Actions undertaken by the Virtual School to secure improved outcomes

5.1 Quality of Schools-Ofsted
5.1.2 The Virtual School continued to strive to ensure that all children and young people attend good or 

outstanding schools. Where a LAC remained in a school judged to be less than good in its most recent 
inspection, very careful consideration was given to the child’s situation, and it was decided that a move 
would not be in the child’s best interest, and monitoring of the pupil’s progress increased through the PEP 
process. 

5.1.3 During 2015 – 2016, 90% of statutory school aged LAC attended schools, where a grade was known, that are 
good or better.  This is a greater proportion than in the previous academic year.

5.1.4 In the primary phase 84% of pupils attended schools, where a grade was known, that are good or better. This 
is higher than in the previous year but remains lower than the LA average for all pupils.  Of those attending 
other borough schools 76% attend good or better schools. This is an increase of 5 percentage points in 
comparison with the previous year.

5.1.5 In the secondary phase 93% of students attended schools, where a grade was known, that are good or 
better. Of those students attending in borough schools where a grade was known,100% attended schools 
that are good or better.   One student had a bespoke timetable provided by quality assured Alternative 
Education.  Of those pupils attending other borough schools, 89% attended good or better schools.  This 
difference reflects the current high standards in Merton secondary and special (with secondary age students) 
schools where 100% are judged good or better by Ofsted.

5.1.6 Table – Quality of schools attended by Merton Looked After Children

At school in Outstanding Good Satisfactory/
RI

No 
school 
roll/no
current 

category

Total

EY/Primary Merton 2 12 1 5 20

Other borough 4 9 4 0 17

Secondary Merton 6 17 0 1 24

Other borough 12 20 4 3 39

Total 24 58 9 9 100

% of Merton 
LAC 24% 58% 9% 9%

5.2 Personal Education Plans (PEPs)
5.2.1 All LAC must have a care plan, of which the Personal Education Plan (PEP) is an integral part.  The PEP is an 

evolving record of what needs to happen to ensure each child or young person makes expected progress and 
fulfils his or her potential.  During the PEP process, the achievement of LAC is carefully tracked, and where 
they are falling behind, schools are challenged to identify how they might be supported to make accelerated 
progress, including how the Pupil Premium Grant for LAC might be best used to secure improved outcomes.

5.2.2 The Virtual School worked in close partnership with social workers to coordinate meetings and record and 
administer PEPs.

Page 79



16 | P a g e

5.2.3 Statutory guidance requires that a child’s PEP is reviewed each term. In order to meet this requirement the 
Virtual School normally attends at least two meetings and consults for the third. During 2015-2016, 254 
initial and review PEPs were completed.   The Virtual School has robust systems and processes to track, 
monitor and report on their timeliness and quality.  Equal regard is paid to the education of children who are 
placed out of borough as well as those who live in Merton and the Virtual School ensures the challenges of 
distant placements are met, including attendance at Personal Education Planning Meetings.

5.2.4 Work has continued during the academic year to ensure that the PEP embedded within the new Social Care 
Information System meets developing needs for planning and tracking progress.  

5.2.5  Table – Timescale of PEP Completion

Autumn  15 Spring 16 Summer 16 Academic Year 
15-16

No. who became LAC 28 14 27 69 (64)

Ceased being LAC before PEP 10 5 7 22 (8)

PEP completed within 20 days 14 6 16 36 (47)

PEP completed after 20 days 4
 (one by two days)

3
(one by one day)

4 
(one by two days) 11 (9)

Numbers in brackets indicate numbers from 2014 -2015.

5.2.6 There is a statutory requirement for Personal Education Planning meetings to take place within 20 days of a 
child becoming looked after, or after a change in school placement.  69 initial PEPs for children new into care 
were required during the academic year but twenty two children ceased to be LAC before the PEP due date.  
36 of the required 47 initial Personal Education Planning meetings (77%) were completed within 20 days of a 
child becoming Looked After.  This is 7% fewer than in the previous year. Reasons for the remaining initial 
PEPs not being completed within the specified time scales were:

 no school place available but tuition provided whilst school being sourced;
 children becoming LAC during or very near the school holiday period;
 Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children arriving very late in school year in Year 11.

5.2.7   Table – Timescale of PEP Review

Autumn 15 Spring 16 Summer 16 Academic Year 
15-16

No of PEPS to be reviewed 72 70 65 207 (228)

Completed within 6 months of 
previous PEP 59 70 65 194 (218)

% reviewed within time scales 82% (93.5%) 100% 100% 94% (95.6%)

Numbers in brackets indicate numbers from 2014 -2015.

5.2.8 94% of PEP reviews were completed within six months of the previous PEP which meant that they were 
updated in time for the child’s Care Plan Review. This was a slight reduction over the previous academic 
year, attributable to staff sickness during the autumn term.

5.3 Pupil Premium
5.3.1 For each Looked After Child, the government allocated a pupil premium grant of £1900. This grant was 

passed to schools in the maintained sector and non-maintained special schools attended by LAC, to remove 
barriers to learning and to accelerate progress.  Qualifying schools received £600 per LAC per term during 

Page 80



17 | P a g e

2015-2016. This allowed for the grant to follow the child if a school move occurred. Payment of the grant 
was dependent on the implementation of interventions to support the child’s education plan, which were 
detailed in the PEP.  The PEP document includes a finance sheet to track provision available to and accessed 
by our pupils, and funded by Pupil Premium.   The Virtual School monitors the impact of pupil premium 
funded interventions on pupils’ academic progress via the Pupil’s Education Plan.

5.3.2 The grant was used for:

• Academic intervention programmes
• Behavioural, emotional, mental health Interventions
• Additional 1:1 support
 Learning Resources
• Out of school learning including educational visits
• Technology – hardware/software
• Specialist tuition/equipment e.g. music lessons
• Subject tuition 
• Clubs and activities 

5.3.3 Analysis of pupil premium expenditure in school s shows that the grant was used for behavioural, emotional 
and mental health support for nearly 50% of pupils in eligible schools.  40% of pupils received academic 
interventions funded by pupil premium and just over 30% of pupils received additional one to one support or 
access to clubs and activities via the grant. 

5.3.4 The grant was also used to fund requests for additional resources for exceptional need and in several 
instances has helped a pupil to retain a mainstream school place during particularly difficult times.

5.4 One to One Tuition 
5.4.1 The Sutton Trust research data shows that One to One Tuition is particularly effective in accelerating 

progress for children, particularly at KS2, and particularly in English and mathematics. Short, regular sessions 
of about 30 minutes, 3-5 times each week, and over a period of time (6-12 weeks) has optimum impact.  In 
order to secure the best educational outcome for all Merton’s LAC 1:1 tuition was considered as part of each 
child’s or young person’s Personal Education, or Pathway, Plan. 

5.4.2 Tuition funded by The Virtual School was provided in the majority of cases by two key agencies: Harrison 
Allen Tutors and Fleet Tutors, and normally delivered in the care setting. Occasionally, but increasingly, 
schools are also providing  1:1 tuition outside the school day, delivered by school staff or their own 
commissioned tutors. 

5.4.3 Table - Number of LAC accessing 1:1 tuition 

Key Stage

Total students 
recorded as having 

tuition
2015-16

Tuition for less 
than one term

Tuition for one 
to two terms

Tuition for more than two 
terms and ongoing

KS1 1 (1) 1 (0) 0 (0) 0 (1)

KS2 6 (5) 3 (0) 3 (0) 0 (5)

KS3 8 (10) 2 (0) 3 (1) 3 (9)

KS4 17 (19) 11 (1) 4 (0) 2 (18)

Post 16 16 (30) 5 (0) 5 (2) 6 (28)

Total 48 (65) 22 (1) 15 (3) 11 (61)

Numbers in brackets indicate numbers from 2014 -2015.

Page 81



18 | P a g e

5.4.4 48 Merton LAC received 1:1 tuition over the course of 2015/16.  Generally the focus for tuition in Key Stages 
1, 2 and 3 was English and mathematics. The range of subjects broadened at KS4 to include GCSE 
examination subjects.  The focus for post 16 pupils was generally for additional sessions for English for 
Speakers of Other Languages although there have been some requests for tuition to improve grades in 
English and Maths.

5.5 Pupil Voice
5.5.1     The Virtual School continued to seek to develop a relationship with all its pupils and students and 

encouraged them to participate in their Personal Educational Planning meetings either by attending for 
some or all of the meeting, or by completing a view sheet. 

5.5.2 An analysis of pupils’ and students’ contribution to PEP meetings indicated the following:

 They were aware that the purpose of school is to learn academically and socially. 
 45% of primary pupils and 76% of secondary students had no worries at school.
 All were able to identify at least one adult who could help them at school, and all but one could identify 

friends. 
 Children’s concerns for bullying were much reduced with only one secondary pupil for whom bullying 

was an issue and one primary child reporting feeling bullied sometimes.  In all incidences of reported 
bullying the Virtual School followed up concerns to ensure the physical and emotional safety of our 
pupils. 

5.5.3  This year, in addition to undertaking a detailed analysis of children’s responses in the pupil view sheet 
completed as part of the PEP process, the Virtual School asked pupils from Year 6 to Year 11 to complete a 
questionnaire in order to seek their views on Personal Education Plans and the work of the Virtual School. In 
summary the findings were that the majority of pupils agreed that having a PEP helped: 

 to overcome problems at school;
 teachers to understand them;
 focus on their learning;
 carers to help with learning;
 support out of school learning and activities. 

Although a significant part of the PEP process is the setting of targets, interestingly, pupils told us that that 
although they discuss their target with teachers, carers and social workers , only a fifth said that they 
remembered them . While 46% indicated they were happy to have targets on display at home or in their 
diaries or journals, they were not happy to save these to their phone or media device. 

5.6 Development & Training of the Workforce
5.6.1   The Virtual School continued to contribute to the development and training of education workers, including 

school governors, social care, youth justice workers and foster carers. 

5.6.2 The Virtual School gave a presentation at the bi-monthly meetings for a newly appointed children’s social 
care and youth justice staff and six monthly refresher courses for those wishing to update their knowledge of 
developments  in education.

5.6.3 The Virtual School gave a brief presentation on the role of the Virtual School for newly qualified teachers 
annually at their Induction Day.

Page 82



19 | P a g e

5.6.4    During 2015-16, 41 Merton schools and academies had LAC on their roll.  This included LAC from other 
boroughs, as well as Merton LAC. To ensure that all schools (whether they currently host LAC or not) were 
prepared to support LAC, the Virtual School supported the designated teachers for LAC in all Merton schools, 
academies, independent schools and alternative providers.   A particular success this year was the inclusion 
of Alternative Providers and Independent schools in the network meetings.  The network and training 
sessions across 2015/16 for the designated leads focused on the following:

 the statutory responsibility of the Designated Teacher for Looked After Children and the introduction of 
a tool kit for self review; 

 the use of pupil premium and measuring its impact. 

5.6.5 The Virtual School Headteachers for Merton and Sutton worked collaboratively to deliver a training session 
for Governors with responsibility for LAC. The training included understanding their statutory responsibilities 
and how to support and challenge schools to meet children’s needs.

5.6.6   The Virtual School led training for all new foster carers and those requiring updates on how they can support 
their young people to achieve in education.  This training was extended to include a contribution from the 
Early Years Team. 

5.6.7 In addition to support for learning at home, foster carers also used the Virtual School as a resource for 
advice, guidance and support for educational matters. This means that Advisory Teachers provided 
telephone support; gave advice with regard to the choice of school; and accompanied carers to school 
meetings. 

5.7 The Virtual School Newsletter & Young Merton Together
5.7.1     The Virtual School kept partners informed via news letter and regular contributions to Young Merton 

Together, an e-magazine that features key aspects of the work of the Children’s Schools and Families 
Department and Children’s Trust partners.

Page 83



20 | P a g e

6. SUPPORTING LEARNING AT HOME AND ENRICHMENT 

6.1 The Virtual School believes that all children should be given the best opportunity to achieve their potential. 
Schools and education settings need foster carers, key workers and all professionals to encourage the 
children and young people to aspire to, make progress and achieve academic success.  As we also believe 
that education is more than academic performance alone the Virtual School encourages pupils to participate 
fully in school life and to develop extra curricular hobbies and interests.  The Virtual School discusses and 
records these as part of the PEP. 

6.2 Enrichment support
6.2.1 To support out of learning at home the Virtual School has:

 funded participation in the Letterbox project for16 pupils from Key Stages 1 & 2  pupils. Each child 
enrolled received a parcel of books, mathematics activities, games and puzzles once each month 
from May to October;

 funded a pilot project to extend the Letterbox project to nursery and reception children (five  
children);

 supplied resources for learning including puzzles, games CDs, DVDs and art materials;
 encouraged library membership for all LAC and actively promoted Merton Library’s summer 

challenge the “Big Friendly Read”; and
 funded laptop computers for secondary aged pupils who have been in care for 6 months (14 

students).   This was with exceptions for some young people generally related to safeguarding 
concerns.

6.3 Aim Higher/Raising Aspirations
6.3.1 The Virtual School supported the widening participation agenda promoted by a range of universities, and 

contributed to the continuation of the local Aim Higher Project which organised and ran visits to local 
universities specifically for looked after young people.  Three university visits were arranged during the year.  
The themes were Film Making (at Kingston University), Art (at St Mary’s University) and Clinical Skills (at St 
Georges Medical School).  

6.3.2 Three Merton looked after young people attended these visits.  Their evaluation of the visits showed that 
they would be more likely to aspire to university as a result of the visits, and that the visits had motivated 
them to work harder to achieve the grades they would require.

6.3.3 One young person attended the post 16 conference and one took up the opportunity for coaching by an 
undergraduate ambassador. 

6.4 Art 
6.4.1 The Virtual School held an exhibition of work completed by children and carers at the Room 13 art project. 

The exhibition featured individual and collaborative pieces. One particularly bold and colourful piece now 
hangs in the office of the Director of Children Schools and Families. 

6.4.2  Children’s art work was featured in the Virtual School Christmas card and notelets. 

6.5 Theatre 
6.5.1 The Virtual School organised a trip to the Polka Theatre in Wimbledon for a performance of Beauty and the 

Beast.  It was attended by eleven children and nine  carers. 

Page 84



21 | P a g e

6.6 Music 
6.6.1 The Virtual School continued to fund out of school music lessons for three children who express an interest 

in learning the keyboard, guitar and drums.

6.7 Dance
6.7.1 One student continued to attend out of school dance lessons funded by the Virtual School.

6.8 Sports
6.8.1 The Virtual School encourages all LAC to develop healthy lifestyles and participate in sport or other physical 

exercise.  In particular we have set ourselves the challenge to ensure that all pupils of the Virtual School have 
the opportunity to learn to swim. We are pleased that the take up this year has seen 23 pupils attended 
swimming lessons. 

6.9 Educational Visits
6.9.1 The Virtual School assists with funding for looked after children to participate in residential educational visits 

organised by their school. 

6.9.2 This year the Virtual School supported a Year 11 unaccompanied asylum seeking young person to spend a 
weekend at an activity center in Portsmouth. The trip included a visit to Portsmouth University and raised 
this young man’s aspiration to be a student there. 

6.9.3 We were fortunate to secure a mentor supported place for one of our students on The National Citizens 
Service programme. The programme is a government funded scheme that offers 15 and 16 year olds the 
opportunity to try new things, learn new skills and meet new people. 

Page 85



22 | P a g e

7. ATTENDANCE

7.1 Overview
7.1.1 Good school attendance is essential for children and young people to make academic progress. Regular 

school attendance is also linked to effective safeguarding, and a reduced risk of anti-social behaviour and 
crime.  Children whose attendance falls below 90% are identified as persistent non-attenders. 

7.1.2 The Virtual School has robust and rigorous processes to track and monitor pupil attendance via a 
commissioned service.  After a rigorous commissioning process, this service transferred from Welfare Call to 
Contact Group: Looked After Call, at the beginning of the financial year 2016-2017. The significant difference 
between the two companies is that information about pupil attendance is collected from schools via a data 
extractor rather than by telephone call. With access via a secure portal, the Virtual School is able to see in 
real time whether the student has registered at school and the attendance codes being used, and therefore 
to intervene in a very timely manner when attendance is an issue. Where the school does not have an 
electronic system for recording attendance or a child is educated off site, a telephone call is made to check 
attendance. Welfare Call and Looked After Call collaborated to ensure transfer of data so that the Virtual 
School could report on attendance for Merton Looked After Children across the academic year.

7.1.3 Children who do not value learning or find the learning they receive inaccessible, will often absent 
themselves from school. The Virtual School Advisory Teachers monitored their attendance and addressed 
any emergency or emerging issues. This included working with education welfare officers, carers, schools, 
social workers and other professionals to develop a plan to improve engagement, attendance and 
punctuality. Where pupils’ attendance was below 90%, this was then monitored strategically by members of 
the Virtual School Steering Group.

7.1.4 The Virtual School celebrates 100% attendance, or a significant improvement in attendance, with personal 
letters and vouchers to spend at W.H. Smith.

7.2 Whole School Attendance Data
7.2.1 The Virtual School roll changes frequently as children become, or cease to be, looked after. Statistics for 

previous years are included to help identify any trends.

7.2.2 During the year, there were two school refusers with very low attendance scores (less that 10%) whilst they 
were in care. As such, these figures are statistical outliers and have been excluded from the data set when 
calculating average attendance. The next lowest score for attendance was 22%.

7.2.3 Of the two school refusers:

 One student came into care as a school refuser in the summer term of 2016.  She had a mental 
health condition which prevented her attending school.  The Virtual School tried to secure 
attendance at the medical SMART provision, but this was refused as well. She is no longer in care.

 One student, in Year 11, had two care placements during the year (following significant disruption in 
previous years) and a number of missing episodes.  The Virtual School liaised regularly with carers 
and the settings he was placed in, as well as directly with the student himself, but the multiple 
interventions were unfortunately not successful.

Page 86



23 | P a g e

7.2.4 Table - Attendance Data 

Academic Year 2015-16 2014-15 2013-14 2012-13

Total Pupils number of pupils 100 101 88 98

Average attendance 90.72% 91.7% 90.67% 87.14%

Pupils with 25+ days absence 14% (14) 12% (12) 17% (15) 21.4% (21)

Pupils with attendance >90% 72% (72) 75% (75) 70.4% (62) 67.3% (66)

Pupils with attendance >95% 63% (63) 55% (55) 55.6% (49) 54% (53)

School roll as at last Friday in June.  Pupil numbers are identified in brackets after the proportions.  There are no national 
comparators for this cohort.

7.2.5 Average attendance is calculated as the number of sessions actually attended as a percentage of the sessions 
available during pupils’ time in care. This year the average attendance dropped by less than one percentage 
point, with out of borough attendance just under 3% higher than for in borough schools. 

7.2.6 There was a two percentage increase in the number of pupils with absences of more than 25 days. 28% of 
the cohort would be described as persistent absentees and a reduction in this figures needs to be a priority 
for action. However, the increase by 8% percentage points of pupils with attendance greater than 95% is 
very pleasing. 

7.3 Attendance by Age Phase/Key Stage
EYFS KS1 KS2 KS3 Yr 10 Yr 11

Total number of pupils  100 2 7 28 26 13 24

Average attendance 15-16
 (14-15 figures in brackets )

98.9% 
(98.2%)

91.8% 
(98.7%)

96.3% 
(96.5%)

93.9% 
(86.1%)

80.8% 
(79.5%)

84.6% 
(87%)

Pupils 25 day absence as a 
%age of cohort (cohort size in 
brackets)

0%    
(0) 

0%      
(0)

0%         
(0)

15.3%  
(4)

23%     
(3)

29%     
(7)

Pupils attendance > 90% 
as a %age of cohort

100% 
(2)

71.4% 
(5)

89.2%  
(25)

84.6% 
(22)

53.8% 
(7)

45.8% 
(11)

Pupils attendance > 95%
 as a %age of cohort 

100%
(2)

71.4%
(5)

82.1%
(23)

69.2%
(18)

46.1%
(6)

37.5%
(9)

Pupil numbers are identified in brackets after the proportions.

7.3.1 The average rate of attendance in the Primary Age Phase is 94%. This is 3.6 percentage points less than the 
previous academic year and below the national average for all pupils in this phase.  The falls in attendance at 
KS1 were attributable to illness and days out of school at the end of the summer term when three children 
were placed for permanence/adoption. Unusually in this age phase one child received fixed term exclusion 
at the point of becoming looked after.

7.3.2 The increase of 7.8 percentage points in KS3 attendance and the increase in the average rate of attendance 
to 86.4% in the Secondary Age Phase is pleasing but this has not yet returned to the 2013-2014 rate of 
87.3%.  However, there has been a significant increase in the percentage of pupils achieving above 95% in 

Page 87



24 | P a g e

the secondary phase, which is notable. Attendance for all phases will be a focus for improvement in the 
coming year.

7.3.4 Absences at KS4 were attributable to:

 a challenging and mobile cohort prone to absconding;
 mental health based school refusal behaviours among a small group;
 days out of school waiting for a new school place to be found when the school has advised that they are 

no longer able to meet need.

While tuition is always offered where a search for a school is being undertaken in such circumstances, there 
can be a delay in finding a tutor with the appropriate skills to match the child’s learning or behavioural need. 

7.4 Change of schools 
7.4.1 It is well established that for many children school provides a consistent structure to their daily lives. Apart 

from the expectation of academic learning it is where they develop their sense of self, their social skills and 
make friendships.  Wherever possible, a child becoming looked after should retain his or her place at school 
or college. During 2015 – 2016 LA officers across a range of departments worked in partnership to ensure 
continuity of schooling wherever possible. The Virtual School worked to ensure that where changes to 
schooling became necessary as a result of care placement move, the best school or setting was identified to 
meet the child’s needs. 

7.4.2 During 2015-2016, 21 children and young people changed school as a result of becoming looked after or of 
changes in care placement. This represents 14% of the total of school aged children on the roll of the Virtual 
School and an increase of 3.2 percentage points over the previous academic year. Nine children (6%), 
changed care placements without disruption to school place: this is a small reduction in comparison with the 
proportion in 2014-15.

Page 88



25 | P a g e

8. EXCLUSIONS

8.1 Overview
8.1.1 The Virtual School works with Merton’s Educational Psychologists, the Virtual Behaviour Service and the 

School Inclusion Coordinator to reduce the need for fixed term and permanent exclusions for LAC, seeking to 
minimize the negative impact such sanctions can have on this particularly vulnerable group of pupils.  

8.1.2 The Virtual School’s Advisory Teachers encourage schools and foster carers to contact the Virtual School if a 
pupil is at risk of exclusion and exclusions are always followed up by the Virtual School. 

8.2 Exclusions for Merton Looked After Children 
8.2.1 The following tables include any Merton LAC who was excluded during their time in care in 2015 -2016, who 

was on roll as of 24th June 2016. The national averages however refer only to those children who have been 
in care for at least 12 months. 

8.2.2 Table - number of exclusions

2015-16 2014-15 2013-14
No on roll (Merton) 100 101 88
Permanent Exclusions (Merton) 0% 0% 0%
Permanent Exclusion (National) Not yet available 0.13% 0.11%
Fixed Term & Lunchtime Exclusions (Merton) 14% (14) 17% (17) 11% (10)
Fixed Term Exclusion Rate (National) Not yet available 10.25% 9.77%

8.2.3 Table - patterns of exclusion per pupil with one or more fixed term exclusion 

2015-16 2014-15 2013-14
I fixed term exclusion 4%(4) 7%(7) 6%(5)
2 fixed term exclusions 5%(5) 3%(3) 3%(3)
3 fixed term exclusions 5%(5) 2%(2) 2%(2)
4 fixed term exclusions 0%(0) 3%(3) 0%(0)
5 or more fixed term exclusions 0%(0) 2%(2)* 0%(0)

Proportions expressed as a percentage of the total Virtual School.  
* Each with 7 fixed term exclusions

8.2.4 The most recent DfE Statistical First Release: Permanent and Fixed Period Exclusions in England 2014 to 
2015(SRF26/2016) reports that 0.07% of the school population were permanently excluded and suggests 
that LAC are twice as likely to be excluded, In this context, it is very pleasing that the LA has sustained the 
record for eight years of no Merton LAC child being permanently excluded. 

8.2.5 Since the number of children on roll is very small, each exclusion features significantly as a percentage. This 
year, it is pleasing that not only did the percentage of children receiving fixed term exclusions decrease, but 
the frequency and duration of these exclusions were reduced. 

 
 5% of primary age LAC were given fixed term exclusions. However, unusually, this included one child in a 

Merton Primary School who was excluded at the point at which he became looked after. Subsequently 
the child’s timetable and curriculum were changed in order for him to access more nurture support.

 19% of secondary age LAC received a fixed term exclusion during the academic year: this is a reduction 
of 2.2 percentage in comparison with the previous year. 

 Five of the 24 LAC attending Merton secondary provision (21%)were excluded which is a reduction of 
13% over 2014-15

8.2.6 Among the school population in general, the most common reason for fixed term inclusion is persistent 
disruptive behaviour. Others are as a consequence of physical assault, fire setting, damage to property, 

Page 89



26 | P a g e

possession and use of illegal substances and suggests schools’ understanding of the need to keep the use of 
exclusion to a minimum.

8.2.7 Of the children receiving a fixed term exclusion:

 43% had been in care for less than a year;
 50% had at least one change of change of care placement during the academic year;
 57%had statements of educational need; and 
 71% were attending special schools or alternative education.  
The continued reduction in the need for and use of fixed term exclusions is to be a priority for The Virtual 
School.

Page 90



27 | P a g e

9. REVIEW OF PRIORITIES FOR 2015-16 

9.1 The purpose of The Virtual School is to improve the educational outcomes for Merton’s Looked After 
Children and Care Leavers and sits within the overall strategy of the Children, Schools and Families 
Directorate. Such improvement is a continuing process. 

9.2 Performance data is collected and analysed, much of which is included in this report, and In order to secure 
the best outcomes for Looked After Children and Care Leavers, priorities for improvement are identified. 
These priorities, as set out below, form the basis for the Virtual School Improvement Plan for the coming 
year. Each priority in the plan describes and identifies a lead officer and links within the Directorate and 
beyond.   Progress, in terms of actions to be taken and outcomes sought and achieved is monitored through 
both the line management structures within the Directorate and the Virtual School Steering Group.  Impact 
and outcomes with regard to each priority for 2015 -2016 are summarised below.

9.3 Priority 1 - To review the membership and terms of reference of the Virtual School Steering 
Group/Governing Body to ensure strategic and operational decisions and processes support good 
educational outcomes for Looked After Children and Care Leavers.

Outcomes - Membership now reflects the wide variety of officers involved in the CSF overall strategy for LAC 
& Care Leavers. Terms of Reference have been agreed and an annual cycle of review and development is in 
place, allowing close cooperation and scrutiny of outcomes and provision for LAC.

9.4 Priority 2 - To improve the educational outcomes for Looked After Children and reduce vulnerability to 
spending time not in employment, education or training (NEET).

Outcomes (educational outcomes) - These outcomes have been summarised in Chapter 3 in this report (the 
Achievement of pupils in the Virtual School).  Particular successes include improvements at KS4; and all 
pupils achieving the expected standard in the Year 1 Phonics Screening Check.  A key area for improvement 
for the Virtual School will be about improving outcomes at the end of KS2, although progress across KS2 for 
this year’s cohort was strong in reading and writing. 

Outcomes (NEET) -The Virtual School staffing complement now includes a designated keyworker for NEETs 
whose role is to support Looked After Children and Care Leavers to access Education, Training or 
Employment (ETE). The Virtual School has worked closely with Children’s Social Care to ensure systems and 
processes for tracking and reporting are strong. Work has been undertaken with individuals and there is an 
underlying trend of reduced numbers of care leavers who are NEET. This work will be ongoing and needs to 
be developed to ensure all available support is accessed. 

9.5 Priority 3 - To improve understanding of progress made by LAC by further developing the PEP and education 
section of Pathway plans to ensure that all LAC and Care Leavers achieve their potential.

Outcomes - This has been the first year of assessing the attainment and progress for pupils in KS1, 2 & 3 
without the requirement to use National Curriculum levels.  The PEP template has been revised in order to 
capture each school’s approach to assessment and to ensure a focus on progress during the meetings with 
schools.  The forms have also been adapted to capture more closely the use and impact of the Pupil 
Premium Grant.  A subcommittee of the steering group has been established to monitor and report on the 
quality of plans and their effectiveness, in addition to the quality assurance carried out by the Virtual School 
Headteacher. For older children there is now an agreed format for completing the Education and Training 
section of the Pathway Plan. This practice now needs to be embedded and quality assurance processes 
agreed.

Page 91



28 | P a g e

9.6 Priority 4 - To extend partnerships with the Early Years and Social Work and Intervention Services to ensure 
quality Personal Education Plans for children aged two and above, including registration at Children’s 
Centres where appropriate.

Outcomes - There is now a designated early years officer working in partnership with the Virtual School. 
Monitoring shows an improvement in the quality of PEPs for our younger children.  Processes for ensuring 
payment of the Early Years Pupil Premium to Early Years providers are in place. There is further work to be 
done to extend relationships with the Private and Voluntary Sector to understand and meet the needs of 
Looked After Children. The Early Years team now provides training for Merton Foster Carers and their 
contribution to children’s learning needs to be incorporated into the PEP. This work needs to extend to 
include children with disabilities. 

9.7 Priority 5 - To further improve the attendance of LAC and Care Leavers, especially in the secondary phase.

Outcomes - Chapter 6 gives an overview of attendance for 2015-16 and notes some improvements including 
an increase in the proportion of pupils attaining 95% attendance or above. The Virtual School participated in 
a peer review of Barnet Virtual School, which focused on attendance, particularly at KS4. The outcomes of 
the process gave Merton some ideas for improvement and actions will be incorporated into the 
improvement plan for 2016-17.  A peer review of Merton Virtual School took place in early 2016 – 17, and 
will be reported on in the next annual report.

As also noted in Chapter 6, the newly commissioned service for monitoring pupil attendance is becoming 
embedded into the Virtual School systems and processes.  Information sharing agreements are being sought 
from post 16 providers and students in preparation for extending this service to include 17 and 18 year olds. 

9.8 Priority 6 - To improve the ability of care givers to support children’s learning and development.

Outcomes - The Early Years team has delivered training to Merton Carers, and the Virtual School has 
delivered training to foster carers on developments in education for statutory school aged children.   Actions 
for carers are specified on PEPs and the Virtual School signposts and provides resources. Details are included 
in chapter 5. When foster carers are evaluated (as part of their regular reviews by Social Care), their 
engagement with schools is a key part of the process.  There is scope to develop this work further and so this 
priority will be on going. 

9.9 Priority 7 - To reduce fixed term exclusion rates for all LAC.

Outcomes - The expectation of the Virtual School, and one that is clearly communicated, is that 
understanding the child’s needs and triggers, seeking appropriate referrals and developing alternative 
strategies reduces the need for the use of exclusion. During this past year, schools and settings have become 
increasingly aware of this expectation and consult with the Virtual School to try and avoid exclusion where 
possible. Also the newly commissioned attendance monitoring service gives prompt alerts to the Virtual 
School about exclusions and allows for immediate discussion.  Chapter 7 gives an overview of exclusions for 
2015-16 which shows fixed term exclusions to have reduced in frequency and duration, as a result of the 
tenacious activity of the Virtual School. This work will continue to be a priority, as LAC are more vulnerable 
toe exclusion than the general population. 

Page 92



29 | P a g e

10. PRIORITIES FOR 2016-17

10.1 Priority 1 - To continue to strengthen governance of the Virtual School, ensuring increased membership (to 
include a care leaver, foster carer and headteachers) and developing ever deeper understanding of the aims 
and impact of the Virtual School. 

10.2 Priority 2 – To embed the PEP process and processes for supporting LAC achievement so that strong 
educational outcomes for Looked After Children are secured, especially at KS2 and building on the 
improvements at KS4 using the outcomes from the peer review. 

10.3 Priority 3 – To reduce vulnerability to spending time not in employment, education or training (NEET), by 
ensuring the Education Pathway Plans identify clear next steps for all young people, so that the proportion of 
NEETs reduces amongst the 16/17 year old LA population, and post 18.

10.4 Priority 4 – Drawing on the learning from the recent peer review, to further improve the attendance of LAC 
and Care Leavers, especially in the secondary phase.

10.5 Priority 5 - To improve the ability of care givers to support children’s learning and development. 

10.6 Priority 6 – Building on the strengths of the advisory and business support teams, further develop its 
capacity to ensure sustained impact with regard to the analysis and use of data.

Annual Report 2015-2016

Page 93



This page is intentionally left blank



1 | P a g e

 Care Leaver Strategy Update
London Borough of Merton

Issue Date Author Date Of the Next 
Review

Lead officer

October 2016 Sarah Daly January 2017 HoS

Page 95



2 | P a g e

1. Introduction

1.1 The Care leaver Strategy 2015-18 was launched in January 2015 and has been 
supported by the strategic oversight of the Care Leavers Task Force.  Monthly 
themed meetings have been held to agree actions and review progress.

1.2 The report highlights areas where progress has been made in this first 12 
months, such as housing and ongoing support, but also identifies areas where 
we are still facing some challenges such as ETE and health.  In both these areas 
we have identified additional resource which we are confident will have an 
impact on the service we deliver and the outcomes that we achieve.  We will be 
convening regular challenge meetings to monitor progress in these areas.

1.3 To support an understanding of our current performance in 10 key areas we 
have completed the Baker and Dixon Leaving Care Services Self Assessment 
Framework.  It is anticipated that this will be reviewed as part of the Care Leaver 
Task Force Meetings and will inform the future work plan of the group. This is 
attached as Appendix A.

2. Education

2.1 A good standard of education is a key driver towards achieving positive 
employment outcomes in adulthood. However, there remains a significant gap 
between the educational achievements of care leavers and their peers.

2.2  As part of the SSDA 903 return local authorities provide the DfE with information 
about the cohort of children who have turned 17-21 this year who were 
previously looked after.  

2.3 Table 1 shows that in the past year we have made significant progress with our 
care leavers cohort engaged in education, however it is important to note that 
this relates to a broader cohort and further work is being undertaken to consider 
the performance of different age cohorts.  This area continues as a priority focus 
for us as a significant impact outcome for our young people.  A deeper analysis 
of this data identifies that 10% (14 young people) are NEET due to 
illness/disability and pregnancy/parenthood and therefore may not be in a 
position to take up an ETE opportunity.   

2.4 An ETE worker was recruited to in November  2015 and worked as part of the 
Virtual School to support a targeted group of care leavers on a one to one basis.  
Unfortunately the worker left the LA in the summer 2016 and the post still 
remains unfilled at this time.  Once a worker is identified we will be seeking to 
undertake more detailed analysis to ensure targeted interventions are meeting 
the needs of all young people. 

2.5 The Assistant Director has been holding monthly meetings to review the 
progress of the NEET/ETE work and these meetings will continue as this 
continues to be an area of focus for all.  

Page 96



3 | P a g e

Table 1:  The percentage of care leavers who were in education, employment or training
2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

 (31st 
March)

(31st 
March)

(31st 
March)

(31st 
March)

(31st 
March)

Merton 70.6% 60.0% 47.0% 44.1% 65%

Merton’s Ranking Against 
Statistical Neighbours (out 
of 11)

4th 8th 10th not 
available

not 
available

London 59% 64% 54% not 
available

not 
available

National 58% 58% 45% 48%

All Merton Young People 96.0% 95.4% 95.7% not 
available

not 
available

Source: SSDA 903
Note: In 2014 the DfE extended the care leaver cohort to include 20 and 21 year olds. As a result the 
figures for 2012-2013 include only to 19 year olds whilst the figures for 2014 and 2015 include Care 
Leavers of all ages and in 2016 this extended to 17-21 year olds.

2.6 To better support the planned intervention with this cohort of young people we 
will need to undertake a needs assessment of the young people who are NEET 
and at risk of becoming NEET.  This will identify groups of young people who 
will be offered targeted support from an agreed local offer (this should include 
employability programmes, work experience and apprenticeships).  

2.7 A small cohort of the young people who are NEET are not work/education 
ready and 1:1 support will be one area for development in 2016-17 when we 
have the NEET/ETE worker in post. 

2.8 Table 2 below sets out the ETE activity that young people are engaged in and 
also identifies the category of non engagement.  

Page 97



4 | P a g e

Table 2:  EET/NEET Activity (17-21- years) 

8, 5%1, 1%

44, 30%

2, 1%

26, 18%
10, 7%

8, 6%

33, 23%

6, 4%
7, 5%

F1:  Young person engaged full 
time in higher education (ie 
studies beyond A level)
P1:  Young person engaged part 
time in higher education (ie 
studies beyond A level
F2:  Young person engaged full 
time education other than higher 
education
P2:  Young person engaged part 
time education other than higher 
education
F3:  Young person engaged in 
fuLl time training or employment
P3:  Young person engaged in 
part time training or 
employment
G4:  Young person not in 
education, employment or 
training  because of illness or 
disability
G5:  Young person not in 
education, employment or 
training: other circumstances
G6:  Young person not in 
education, employment or 
training  due to pregnancy or 
parenting 
0:  Activity unknown

EET/NEET Activity - 17-21 years 

Source:  SSDA903 2015-16

Page 98



5 | P a g e

What will we do?

Action Update RAG
Develop a mentoring 
scheme for care leavers 
thinking about going into 
higher education.

This has not yet been progressed, but it is 
hoped that the new ETE worker based in the 
Virtual School will have capacity to develop 
this scheme later in 2016-17.

Develop planning pathway 
for SEN/EHCP 

This is being developed as part of the SEN 
Strategy

Work with the Virtual School 
and to develop an  ETE 
Pathways and Entitlements 
document

3. Employment 

3.1 The Social Justice Strategy, Social Justice: Transforming Lives sets out the 
importance of work not just as the best route out of poverty, but as a means of 
delivering positive change for individuals and for whole communities. The 
benefits of work are far wider than just remunerative and we know work 
provides structure, a sense of purpose, progress, achievement, self-confidence 
and personal responsibility. 

3.2 As set out in the previous section it is evident that too many of our care leavers 
are not in education, employment or training (NEET) or are long term 
unemployed. There are currently significant challenges for many young people 
taking their first steps into the world of work. However, some local authorities 
and charitable organisations – working independently and with Jobcentre Plus - 
have nonetheless increased the number of care leavers they have supported 
into employment, education and training through focused action and support.  

What will we do?

Action Update RAG
Develop and deliver 
workshops on employability 
skills, the world of work and 
what employees are looking 
for

We are linked with local providers who are 
delivering targeted programmes.  In the 
coming year we would want to look to 
improve how measure impact and outcomes 
in respect of these programmes.

Local Work Programme 
Providers will promote the 
Day 1 Work Programme for 
Care Leavers.

This has not yet been progressed

Local Work Programme An agreement is in place with Mitcham Job 

Page 99



6 | P a g e

Providers will record referrals 
and data relating to Care 
Leavers as a specific group 
to support future analysis 
and understanding of service 
demand.  This will also 
support us to track outcomes 
for our care leavers.

Centre to add a care leaver marker against all 
our young people who present.  We have not 
yet had any data provided in respect of 
outcomes for our care leavers.  It is also of 
note that many of our care leavers present at 
Croydon where resource pressures are 
impacting on the progress that we can make 
in this area. 

Work with the Virtual School 
and to develop an  ETE 
Pathways and Entitlements 
document

4. Financial Assistance 

4.1 When you do not have the support of family to fall back on, particularly when 
having to meet the challenge of independent living at a much younger age than your 
peers, having access to timely financial help is crucial. 

4.2 The London Borough Merton is committed to ensuring that care leavers are 
adequately supported financially in their transition from care to adulthood to enable 
young people leaving care to have the same opportunities to fulfil their potential as 
their peers.

4.3  As part of the Independent Living Skills Workshop programme we run regular 
My Bnk training (money management sessions) to support young people.  We have 
also developed the Pathway Planning tool to support the development of budgeting 
skills.

4.4  For those young people who would benefit from additional support referrals can 
be made to the Benefits Maximisation Officers who are based in the 14+ Team.  The 
BMO’s can offer support re budgeting and also advice and guidance to young people 
and practitioners in respect of benefits.  

4.5  In 2016-17 one of our care leavers has worked to review the ‘My Guide to 
Independence’ a resource tool given to all care leavers to aid their transition to 
independence.

4.6  In August 2016 the Child in Care Council reviewed the Financial Provision 
document and SUHA offer.  It was felt that the offer was fair and that it supported 
young people to continue in education and training.  The SUHA was also considered 
to be reasonable (minimum of £2000).

What will we do?

Action Update RAG
Complete the review of 
‘pocket money and 
savings’.

The initial review has been completed and a 
paper is being produced.  At this stage there 
has been no consultation with young people 

Page 100



7 | P a g e

about their experiences and views regarding 
pocket money and savings

We will undertake an 
annual review of the Setting 
Up Home Allowance with 
our Child in Care Council

This process has been started and young 
people were consulted at the CICC meeting in 
August.

We will undertake an 
annual review of the 
Financial Provision 
document.

This process has been started and young 
people were consulted at the CICC meeting in 
August.

5.  Health

5.1 Children often enter the care system with a poorer level of physical and mental 
health than their peers, and their longer-term outcomes remain worse. Two 
thirds of looked after children have at least one physical health complaint, and 
nearly half have a mental health disorder. Care leavers frequently tell us that 
they encounter a lack of support in accessing appropriate services. They often 
feel that the professionals working close to them do not have an understanding 
of their needs, particularly in respect of mental health. Care leavers also face 
difficulties around the transition from Child and Adolescent Mental Health 
Services (CAMHS) to adult services.

5.2 Additional LAC Nurse capacity has been created to support the sharing of 
health summaries with care leavers at the time of their final LAC review.  To 
support the monitoring of this we be seeking to put in place a tracking process.

5.3 A draft health leaflet for care leavers and practitioners has been developed by 
health colleagues and will be considered by care leavers at the CICC meeting 
in October.

What will we do?

Action Update RAG
Review protocol  and 
guidance for transitions to 
adult mental health

This has yet to be undertaken.

Consider specific mental 
health provision for care 
leavers

We are still working to identify an offer for our 
care population in respect of their emotional 
wellbeing (where they do not meet threshold 
to access adult mental health services).   

Develop a health leaflet for 
care leavers that provides 
signposting information on 
services

This has been developed in draft and has 
been shared with members of the Child in 
Care Council.  This can now be printed and 
distributed to young people.

Page 101



8 | P a g e

6. Housing

6.1 Care leavers are a vulnerable group of young adults who have particular needs 
in relation to housing and homelessness. Around a quarter of those living on 
the streets have a background in care.1 The majority of care leavers leave care 
by the age of 18 and rising demands on social housing and other 
accommodation is making it increasingly difficult for young people to find 
suitable accommodation as they enter adulthood.

6.2 Merton now has a much larger proportion of care leavers in suitable 
accommodation (94%) than national (81%), and this is an area which has seen 
significant improvement over the past 2 years.  The improvement in data 
reflects a focus on the housing offer to our young people and improved 
partnership working with ART and Housing colleagues.  It is also a reflection of 
the fact that we have remained in touch with a greater number of our care 
leavers and therefore have a better understanding of their housing situations. 
Of the 8 young people not living in suitable accommodation 6 were in custody 
and 2 were not in contact and we were therefore not able to comment on the 
suitability of their accommodation.  

Table 3: The percentage of care leavers who were in suitable accommodation
2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

 (31st 
March)

(31st 
March)

(31st 
March)

(31st 
March)

(31st 
March)

Merton 88% 85% 66% 76% 94%

Merton’s Ranking Against 
Statistical Neighbours (out of 
11)

6th (joint) 8th 10th not 
available

not 
available

London 91% 88% 82% not 
available

not 
available

National 88% 88% 78% 81%

Source: SSDA 903
Note: The figures for 2012-2013 include only to 19 year olds whilst the figures for 2014 and 2015 
include Care Leavers aged 19-21 and for 2016 contains data on 17-21 year olds.

6.3 To ensure that young people are prepared to manage their own tenancy we run 
‘Independent Living Skills Workshops’ covering areas such as budgeting, 
cooking on a budget and DIY.  Evidence of the success of these workshops 
and the support offered to care leavers is reflected in the fact that none have 
faced eviction from their tenancies in recent years.  

6.4 We have developed processes to ensure the monitoring of care leavers 
nominated for tenancies and the designated quota is being utilised.  

1 Source: CRISIS:  The hidden truth about homelessness:  Experiences of single homelessness in England

Page 102



9 | P a g e

6.5 We regularly review the accommodation offer to all care leavers aged 18+ to 
ensure that their placement continues to meet their needs.  Support packages 
are reviewed and increased and decreased as required.  Young people have 
access to a range of accommodation options and an increasing number are 
involved in choosing their accommodation.

6.6 We hold an accommodation themed CICC meeting on an annual basis which is 
attended by housing and ART colleagues and this supports young people to 
give feedback on their experiences.

6.7 Care leavers attended a provider forum in May where they answered questions 
and set out what they would want/expect when first moving into a semi 
independence unit.

What will we do?

Action Update RAG
Develop information for care 
leavers re housing options 
and how to access support 

This is still in progress and we are awaiting a 
full offer information sheet covering both ART 
and Housing.

Review the implementation 
of ‘Staying Put’.

A review of the Staying Put arrangements 
remains outstanding.

Involve care leavers in the 
quality assurance of 
placements

This will be set up once the Participation 
Manager is in post

Confirm the ‘suit of 
support/offer’ for care 
leavers who return home
Engage young people in the 
delivery of the ILS 
Workshops

7. Justice System

7.1 The Ministry of Justice (MoJ) and Home Office (HO) recognise that young 
adults who have been in care can be particularly vulnerable as they transition 
into adulthood, particularly if they are in the criminal justice system. They are 
also a particularly vulnerable group that are at risk of being drawn into crime. 
Equally we know that care leavers can be particularly vulnerable to becoming a 
victim of crime, including in some cases falling victim to grooming and 
exploitation online or offline.

7.2 On 31 March 2015 we had 3 care leavers in custody.  In March 2016 we had 6 
care leavers in custody (4% of our care leaver cohort).

Page 103



10 | P a g e

7.3 We have undertaken a review of the cohort of children and care leavers who 
were in custody in 2015-16.  Overall in the year we had 8 young people who 
were in custody, 4 were under 18 and therefore became looked after children 
and the remaining 4 were aged 18-20 years and are open to the LAC service 
as Care Leavers.

What will we do?

Action Update RAG
Engage with the local 
probation agency to develop 
a working protocol for 
partnership working with 
care leavers 

We are in the process of working with our 
YOT and local probation to establish whether 
there recording system can be developed to 
support the identification of care leavers.  

8. Ongoing Support and Voice of the Care Leaver

8.1 Care leavers require support and guidance before and after they turn 18.  Care 
leavers unlike their peers may not have networks of support outside of their 
local authority.  We know that young people leaving care frequently feel 
isolated, lonely and lacking the safety net of someone to talk to and advise 
them in a crisis.   

8.2 The DfE SSD903 return currently gathers ‘in touch’ information for all care 
leavers aged 17-21 years.  For this return the definition is that there is ‘contact’ 
between your local authority and the young person eligible for care leaver 
support around 3 months before and one month after the young person’s 
birthday.

Table 4:  Care Leavers in Touch (17-21 years)

Merton Number
(2014-15)

Percentage
(2014-15)

Number
(2015-16)

Percentage
(2015-16)

Yes 72 77% 132 89%
No 9 10% 3 2%
Service No 
Longer 
Required

7 8% 3 2%

Young Person 
Refuses 
Contact

3 3% 7 5%

Young Person 
Returned 
Home

2 2% 3 2%

Source: SSDA 903

Page 104



11 | P a g e

8.3 In addition to this performance measure the ‘Care Leaver Regulations’ set out 
that the practitioner must visit the care leavers at no less than 2 monthly 
intervals.  Due to the current reporting limitations of the CSC information 
system (Carefirst) we are not able to provide a report detailing the regularity of 
care leaver visits undertaken by the 14+ Team.  In order to ensure worker and 
management oversight of the scheduling of visits each individual practitioner 
maintains a tracking sheet which is reviewed on a monthly basis.  As a result of 
this increased scrutiny we have already noted an in year improvement in this 
area of performance.

8.4 In 2016-17 we have undertaken the care leaver survey and have held an event 
to review the LAC and Care Leaver pledge.  Both activities have provided our 
care leavers with the opportunity to give feedback on their experiences and to 
influence the continuous improvement plan for the 14+ Team.  

8.5 A Care Leaver Task Force has met regularly to review the progress made on 
the improvement plan and this will now be supported by the development of a 
Care Leaver Forum.

8.6 We have had a Care Leaver Apprentice based in the team over the past 2 
years and this role will continue with a specific focus on establishing the Care 
Leaver Forum.

8.7 Care leavers are involved in recruitment of social care practitioners and the 
training of foster carers.

          
What will we do?

Action Update RAG
A Care Leaver Forum is 
established to support the 
continuous improvement 
plan

This will be taken forward now that the 
Participation Manager is in post.

Ensure all care leavers 
have signed their 
Pathway Plan and have a 
copy of the plan.

This is an expected practice standard.  There is 
still work required to ensure that signed copies 
of pathway plans are uploaded onto the CSC 
Information System.

Care leavers are involved 
in the induction 
workshops for new 
members of staff

This will be taken forward now that the 
Participation Manager is in post.

Care leavers to be 
involved in the 
development of 
information sessions for 

This will be taken forward now that the 
Participation Manager is in post.

Page 105



12 | P a g e

elected  members
Identify a ‘drop in/hub’ 
venue that can be used in 
addition to Tariro

Visits are planned to potential venues in 
November 2016.

Review information on 
what it means to be a 
care leaver and consider 
accessibility of this 
information

This will be taken forward by the HoS LAC in 
consultation with young people.

Write to all LAC and Care 
Leavers to circulate a 
copy of the Pledge.  
Clarify the role of all in 
ensuring that the pledge 
is implemented and 
challenge from young 
people is encouraged

The Pledge document has been circulated to all 
LAC and Care Leavers.
The Pledge has also been recirculated to all 
practitioners with a request for this to be 
discussed during statutory visits and LAC 
reviews

Review the care leaver 
mentoring idea

This will be taken forward now that the 
Participation Manager is in post.

Print further copies of the 
complaints leaflet to be 
given out at every PP 
review

The complaints leaflet has been sent to all LAC 
and Care Leavers.
Copies have also been circulated to all 
practitioners 

Ask for update on the 
LAC/Care Leaver website

The HoS LAC has continued to request 
meetings regarding the development of a LAC 
and Care Leaver website.  This has been 
escalated.

Review information for 
Care Leavers on 
volunteering

We will ensure that all young people have 
information on volunteering opportunities and 
that this is discussed as part of the pathway 
plan review

Review advocacy offer We have had some discussions with a local 
provider and need to agree whether there is 
funding to run a care leaver pilot.  The review 
service specification sets out some provision for 
care leavers

Page 106



13 | P a g e

Appendix a

Baker and Dixon – Leaving Care Services Self Assessment Framework

Services respond to the views of Care Leavers:
What do we do What we will do Who is responsible and timescale

There is a clear commitment 
from strategic leaders to 
improving leaving care 
services

There is a Care Leaver Task 
Force to review the Care 
Leaver Strategy

Need to evidence a more effective 
response form partners

Sarah Daly/Paul Angeli

Care leavers are pivotal in 
shaping services and 
influencing how support is 
delivered

Apprentice previously in post 
in the service contributed to 
service delivery review

Development of care leaver forum
Recruitment to apprentice

Sarah Daly/Stuart Barker

We have various mechanisms 
for seeking feedback from 
care leavers about the 
support they receive.

CICC
Annual Care Leavers Survey
Pledge event

Development of a care leaver forum
Develop a feedback process

Sarah Daly/Stuart Barker

There are opportunities for 
elected members to meet, 
listen to and work alongside 
care leavers

CICC
Events

We need to formalise arrangements for 
elected members
Development of a care leaver forum 
could assist with this

Sarah Daly/Stuart Barker/Yvette Stanley

Our children in care council 
(or similar) has a strong care 
leaver representation and we 
have examples of the impact 
they have made.

We have a small but regular 
group of care leavers 
attending the CICC.
They have supported the 
review of the Finance Offer

Development of a care leaver forum
Develop a feedback process

Sarah Daly/Stuart Barker

Our local authority has ways 
to celebrate care leavers’ 
achievements

We have an annual event to 
celebrate the success of our 
care leavers

Where complaints have 
identified deficiencies or gaps 
in services this has led to 
positive changes in delivery of 
service.

Complaints have been dealt 
with in a sensitive manner 
and in the majority of cases 
the Team Manager has met 
with the young person

We need to ensure that we are collating 
information and learning from complaints

Sarah Daly/Jigsaw4U

Care leavers are involved in 
the recruitment, selection and 

Care leavers have been 
trained in interviewing 

Need to ensure that we promote the 
involvement of young people in 

Sarah Daly/HR

P
age 107



14 | P a g e

training of staff and carers. techniques and have been 
involved in some interviews
Care leavers are involved in 
foster carer training

interviews where possible
Participation Manager will review how 
care leavers are involved in training

We have robust management 
information which meets 
Annex A (Ofsted) and 
SSDA903 return 
requirements and allows 
managers to track individual 
young people and also 
identify collective needs and 
concerns

We have reports in place to 
support the management 
oversight of the care leaver 
cohort
We can identify trends re 
housing, NEET ETE.

Ensure that Mosaic reports are 
developed to support ongoing review of 
care leavers

Being informed and supported:
We have information (in a 
range of formats)on what it 
means to be a care leaver 
available to young people, 
staff and carers

Paper only Seeking to develop a website to promote 
e-communication

Sarah Daly/Stuart Barker/Carol Cammiss

Care leavers are aware of the 
charter/pledge and involved in 
the design, updating and 
scrutiny of it

An event for all LAC and 
care leavers was held in 
May to review the pledge.
Care leavers were agreed 
in the sign off of the pledge 
document
All LAC and care leavers 
have been sent a copy of 
the pledge (Oct 2016)

The Pledge will be reviewed and updated 
in 2017-18.
We will monitor the ‘good to have’ 
promises which we are unable to deliver at 
this time.

Sarah Daly/Stuart Barker

Care leavers have 
opportunities to get support 
from, and give support to other 
care leavers

At this time we have not 
had capacity to develop a 
peer mentoring 

We will look at good practice models in 
other local authorities and consider the 
capacity to take this forward in 2017-18

Sarah Daly/Stuart Barker

Care leavers have clear 
information on how to make a 
complaint

Complaints leaflets have 
been sent to all LAC and 
care leavers in October 
2016

P
age 108



15 | P a g e

Care leavers have access 
to the advocacy service

We have developed a range of 
social media platforms to 
engage and inform care 
leavers

Meetings have been held 
to consider a LAC/Care 
leaver website but this has 
not been progressed due 
to external factors

We will continue to work towards the 
development of the targeted website.

Sarah Daly/Stuart Barker/Carol Cammiss

We support care leavers to 
build networks so that they do 
not feel alone and experience 
loneliness

We have a monthly drop in 
for our UASC care leavers 
and have organised events 
for this cohort of young 
people

We will look towards developing a hub 
which will offer targeted support to 
vulnerable cohorts of young people 
including care leavers.  

Sarah Daly/Keith Shipman

Care leavers are given and 
take up opportunities for 
volunteering in the local 
authority and community

Care leavers have had this 
opportunity, but we need 
to ensure that information 
is readily available

Ensure leaflets and information is shared 
with young people
Invite Volunteer agencies to support the 
Hub development

Sarah Daly/Management Team

We have a high quality 
advocacy service accessible 
to all care leavers

There is capacity for a 
limited number of care 
leavers to access the 
advocacy service run by 
Jigsaw4U

Review has agreed that there will now be a 
limited offer to care leavers within the 
advocacy specification.  38 LAC and Care 
Leavers will be able to access advocacy 
from the commissioned service from April 
2017.
SD to establish whether funding can be 
identified for a small pilot to be run by 
Jigsaw4u with care leavers.
Consider whether we want to apply for 
funding to promote a pilot in this area

Sarah Daly/Stuart Barker/Jigsaw4u

All of our care leavers are 
provided with all the key 
documents they need to begin 
their lives as young adults, 
e.g. national insurance 
numbers, birth certificates and 
passports

Need to check how we 
monitor this in Merton – 
meeting booked 9.11.16

Sarah Daly/Management Team

We help care leavers to 
understand why they were in 
care

Need to check how we 
evidence this in Merton – 
meeting booked 9.11.16

Look at developing the life story work for 
our older cohort of young people

Sarah Daly/Management Team

Care leavers report that they The care leaver survey set Develop offer information on the following Sarah Daly

P
age 109



16 | P a g e

are happy with the information 
that they receive about 
services and their entitlements

out areas where care 
leavers would like to have 
more information/clarity re 
offer
There is clear information 
on financial entitlements 
that is being reviewed

areas:
ETE, Housing
Complete the financial entitlement review

Educated to their potential:
What do we do What will we do Who is responsible and timescale

All care leavers are 
encouraged, supported and 
funded to achieve their 
potential in education

A good quality service is 
offered by the Virtual 
School, but we need to 
ensure that all young 
people are aware of the 
offer and services available

Develop a document that outlines the offer 
in terms of educational support
Embed the use of the care leaver PEP as 
part of the pathway plan review

Kathy Goodman/Virtual School

Evidence shows that the local 
authority education 
performance data for care 
leavers improves year on year

Need to discuss with Kathy

Our Virtual School  head takes 
responsibility for maximising 
the learning opportunities for 
all care leavers up to 25

There is support in place 
for care leavers engaged in 
education up to 25 and 
beyond.

I think that this is an area for further 
development in terms of aspirations – 
consider how to word

We are confident that all of our 
care leavers understand the 
support (including financial) 
available to them in regards to 
help with education

This was an area for 
improvement identified in 
the care leaver survey
There is a finance 
entitlement document in 
place that was reviewed in 
2016

Virtual School to produce an education offer 
document for care leavers

Kathy Goodman/Virtual School

We have protocols with local 
colleges/key colleges where 
care leavers attend and have 
named lead contacts

The Virtual School has 
named lead contacts with 
local colleges.

Protocols to be developed Kathy Goodman/Virtual School

All care leavers are given 
information on how to request 

Whilst this is explained to 
Care Leavers in their 

Virtual School to produce an education offer 
document for care leavers

Kathy Goodman/Virtual School

P
age 110



17 | P a g e

support if they wish to return 
for support with education or 
training after 21 (PA to 25 
duties)

Pathway Plans it would be 
good to ensure this is 
explicit with the offer 
document

We gave a clear finance policy 
outlining the support we offer 
care leavers attending FE and 
HE

There is a finance 
entitlement document in 
place that was reviewed in 
2016

Education professionals 
contribute to the Pathway 
Planning process 
(assessment, review and 
actions)

A care leaver PEP has 
been developed

Thematic audit to be undertaken o check 
the quality and use of the CL PEP

Kathy Goodman/Virtual School

Feedback from care leavers 
shows that they are satisfied 
with the support that they 
receive for education.

This was not a specific 
question in the CL survey 
but 95% confirmed that 
they had a discussion 
relation to ETE as part of 
the pathway plan review

Themed discussion on the ETE offer to be 
planned with the CICC/Care leaver cohort

Kathy Goodman/Virtual School/Stuart 
Barker

Helped into work (employability):
Our local authority provides 
care leavers with  in house 
opportunities for work 
experience, training and 
employment and find 
opportunities with partners 
and local employers

There have been a small 
number of work experience 
and apprentice 
opportunities within the 
council.  None are current.

Work with colleagues and partners to 
develop a local offer in this area

Sarah Daly/Keith Shipman

There are processes in place 
to ensure all care leavers 
receive career planning and 
support

This is discussed in the 
pathway plan review.
The NEET/ETE worker has 
started this process

Recruitment to the NEET ETE Practitioner 
post

Kathy Goodman/Keith Shipman

Employability professionals 
contribute to Pathway Plans 
We track and monitor the 
needs of our care leaver 
cohort and actively seek out 

This work has started but 
will need to be picked up 
through the NEET ETE 

Recruitment to the NEET ETE Practitioner 
post

Virtual School/Keith Shipman

P
age 111



18 | P a g e

opportunities to match the 
needs and aspirations of the 
group

Post

We have approaches and 
services to support young 
people who are less 
academically able or lacking in 
motivation

We have the ETE/NEET 
post but this is currently 
vacant
We have local employability 
projects who target the care 
leaver cohort

Recruitment to the NEET ETE Practitioner 
post
Information is shared with practitioners so 
that they have an awareness of the local 
offer and targeted provision

Virtual School/Keith Shipman

Care leavers, staff and carers 
understand the support 
(including financial) available 
to them in regards to help with 
employment

ETE/NEET post (currently 
vacant)
Benefits Maximisation 
Officers (both currently on 
sick leave)
There is information 
relating to this in the 
finance entitlement 
document

This will be reviewed and a clear offer 
agreed once the NEET/ETE post and 
BMO’s are back at work

Sarah Daly/14+ Management Team

We have effective local 
partnership arrangements with 
Job Centre Plus colleagues

Need an update on this 
area

Feedback from care leavers 
shows that they are satisfied 
with the support that they 
receive for education.

The care leaver survey was 
on the whole positive, but 
we need to ensure that 
there is a good awareness 
of the local offer

Work with colleagues and partners to 
develop a local offer in this area

Virtual School

Having good health and wellbeing:

Support is given to care 
leavers about promoting 
healthy lifestyles and to take 
part in health activities

The finance offer includes a 
small allowance to promote 
leisure activities

Need to review the current offer and look at 
good practice examples being implemented 
by other LA’s

Sarah Daly

Effective partnership 
agreements and protocols 
have been established 
between health services and 

We have a LAC protocol 
but nothing specific for care 
leavers

Identify and address gaps in protocols Health/Sarah Daly

P
age 112



19 | P a g e

our local authority
Care leavers have access to 
services to help with 
substance misuse, sexual 
health and teenage pregnancy

Catch 22 offer substance 
misuse service
Leaflet to signpost health 
services developed
TP pathway in place

Links are established with 
CAMHS and community 
mental health services to 
ensure care leavers are given 
priority access to targeted 
services

This an area for future 
development

Look at other LA’s for best practice models Health/Sarah Daly

Health professionals 
contribute to Pathway Plans

This ceases at 18 Health

Care leavers have access to 
and understand their full 
health history

This is an area for 
improvement and we need 
to agree the process to 
ensure all young people 
have access to their health 
history

The additional LAC Health capacity that will 
be in place from November will support this 
area.
Need to agree local practice guidance on 
how this will be delivered

Health/Sarah Daly

We have robust systems in 
place to help care leavers to 
recover and heal from past 
harm and to promote 
resilience and emotional 
wellbeing

This is an area for future 
development

Look at other LA’s for best practice models Health

Care leavers have access to a 
designated nurse (or 
equivalent)

This has been discussed 
with health colleagues and 
will be revisited when the 
new LAC nurse starts in 
post in Nov 2016

We need to agree what the local offer will 
be to care leavers aged 18+

Health

Joint protocols are in place to 
provide support for those care 
leavers transitioning to adult 
services

This is being worked on by 
Karla Finikin and Joy Lees

Karla Finikin/Joy Lees

Feedback from care leavers 
shows that they are satisfied 
with the support that they 

The care leaver survey was  
positive, but we need to 
ensure that there is a good 

Look at other LA’s for best practice models Health

P
age 113



20 | P a g e

receive to meet their health 
and wellbeing needs

awareness of the local offer
The pledge event identified 
gaps regarding emotional 
wellbeing and mental 
health

Being in safe and settled accommodation:
Care leavers tell us they have 
enough information about 
where they will be living, the 
options available to them and 
how they will get help in the 
future

This was identified in the 
care leaver survey and 
strategy and is a piece of 
work that remains 
outstanding

The offer/pathway document to be completed Liz Broughton/Steve Langley

Structures and processes are 
in place to ensure that all 
accommodation offered to 
care leavers is safe and 
suitable including risk 
assessments conducted on 
unregulated accommodation

We need to have agreed 
QA processes in place.

Develop a QA framework for the monitoring of 
such placements (to include young people).

Liz Broughton/Stuart Barker

We offer a range of 
accommodation to our care 
leavers matched to the needs 
of our care leaver population

Our offer is limited for care 
leavers 

We need to look at good practice models being 
implemented by other La’S.

Liz Broughton/Sarah Daly

All relevant services and 
stakeholders (inc young 
people) have contributed to a 
detailed accommodation 
needs analysis

We have the sufficiency 
strategy 

Need to involve young people in the sufficiency 
strategy

Liz Broughton/Stuart Barker

Our housing allocation policy 
prioritises care leavers

We have 15 priority noms 
per year.

Liz Broughton/Steve Langley/Sarah 
Daly

Joint protocols and 
agreements are in place 
between children’s services 
and housing partners

Homeless protocol in place Need to review whether other protocols are 
required.

Liz Broughton/Steve Langley/Sarah 
Daly

We never use B&B 
accommodation

This is a practice standard

P
age 114



21 | P a g e

Strategies to identify and 
address risks of tenancy 
breakdown are in place

We are robust in supporting 
young people to ensure 
that they are prepared for 
their tenancies and there 
have been no breakdowns 
in recent years
This is supported by regular 
visits and pathway plan 
reviews

Where we are seeking to nominate more young 
people we need to ensure that they can access 
support when needed.

Sarah Daly/Liz Broughton/Steve 
Langley

Accommodation is financially 
sustainable for young people

Review of accommodation costs would be 
beneficial

Housing professionals 
contribute to Pathway Plans

There is evidence in 
pathway planning of liaison 
with housing colleagues

Our Staying Put policy is 
working well and embedded 
across our authority

The Staying Put policy 
needs to be reviewed as it 
has been in place for 
approx. 18 months.
The take up of SP has not 
been as high as we would 
have liked

Review needed to ascertain views of young 
people and carers
Awareness sessions to be run at Team Meetings

Liz Broughton/Team Managers

Staying Put in residential care 
is available in our LA

We no not have in house 
residential provision.  
We are considering this on 
a case by case basis and 
for one care leaver it may 
be agreed to support his 
transition plan

Agree a process for agreement for this. Liz Broughton

Services work together to 
avoid care leavers becoming 
‘intentionally’ homeless

We work closely with 
housing and ART 
colleagues to prevent this 
happening and have had 
no cases in recent years.

P
age 115



22 | P a g e

Having an adequate level of income:
Our local authority has in 
place clear written policies and 
procedures on the financial 
assistance available to care 
leavers

We have a financial 
entitlement guidance 
document that is in the 
process of being reviewed

Review to be completed.  The views of young 
people have been sought through the CICC

Sarah Daly/Stuart Barker

Care leavers pathway 
assessments and plans 
include comprehensive 
assessment of financial needs 
and how these needs will be 
met

The pathway plan has a 
detailed finance element.  
My Bnk training is available 
as part of the Independent 
Living Skills programme
Benefits Maximisation 
Officers support young 
people and practitioners

Care leavers, staff and carers 
are aware of the financial 
support policies

The guidance has been 
circulated to all however 
30% of young people in the 
survey stated that they 
were not aware of their 
entitlements.
Once the review has been 
completed the document 
will be re-sent and will be 
discussed at practitioners 
meetings

Ensure that information circulated is revisited by 
practitioners on visits

Care leavers receive a setting 
up home allowance that is 
sufficient to ensure they have 
all the essentials they need

Current SUHA is £2000 per 
care leaver with additional 
contribution for carpets and 
curtains

Care leavers have choice and 
flexibility in how and when 
they receive and spend their 
SUHA

Whilst there is some 
flexibility care leavers are 
supported to ensure that 
they are purchasing what 
they require at good value

Sarah Daly/14+ Management Team

We open savings accounts for 
children in care and 
encourage use of these as the 
child grows

This is not consistent for all 
LAC

A review of pocket money and savings is 
currently being undertaken and a paper will be 
presented to CSMT.
Junior ISA’s are overseen by HoS LAC

Judy Walsh

P
age 116



23 | P a g e

Consideration needs to be given to whether we 
have the resource to support this

Young people have access to 
expert advice to help 
maximise income and financial 
support

Benefits maximisation 
officers are based in the 
team (both on sick leave)

Need to look at other areas of good practice Sarah Daly/14+ Management Team

Young people leaving care 
receive support to manage 
their money (e.g.to develop 
their budgeting and financial 
management skills)

My Bank sessions offered 
to all care leavers
Benefits Maximisation 
Officers support young 
people and practitioners

Need to look at other areas of good practice

Financial assistance is 
provided to young people 
when they are in a crisis

Provided on a case by case 
basis

Care leavers say they are 
happy with the support they 
receive with managing their 
finances

Feedback from the CICC 
was positive in terms of the 
offer.
We need to ensure that all 
information circulated is 
revisited by practitioners.

Having people to count on for emotional support:
Care leavers are supported to 
maintain relationships that are 
significant to them (e.g birth 
parents, siblings, former 
carers)

This is evidenced through 
pathway plans and the 
work that is undertaken 
with birth families.
Care leavers maintain 
relationships with carers 
and practitioners.

All care leavers have a named 
allocated worker

No unallocated cases 
within the team

Our local authority is more 
than the resource we provide, 
we are a source of social and 
emotional support for care 
leavers

Stable team and 
relationship based practice 
means that care leavers 
within the service are well 
supported.
There is an excellent team 

P
age 117



24 | P a g e

response to the needs of 
individual young people.

We have good support in 
place for care leavers who 
return home

This is arranged on a case 
by case basis

Need to look at a more consistent offer Sarah Daly/Roberta Evans

We visit care leavers regularly 
and when they ask

Visits take place at least 8 
weekly and workers will 
visit more regularly when 
required/requested

We value the expertise of 
older care leavers who may 
act as peer supporters/role 
models

We need to consider good practice models and 
establish whether we have capacity to develop 
this.

Stuart Barker/Sarah Daly

Elected members, staff and 
carers are trained and 
supported to carry out their 
roles as corporate parents

We need to look at care leavers and looked after 
children delivering training to elected members 
and practitioners

Sarah Daly/Stuart Barker/Yvette 
Stanley

Care leavers report that they 
find it easy to get in touch with 
their worker and we have a 
very low proportion with whom 
we are not in touch

We have worked hard to 
ensure that we are in touch 
with all of our care leaver 
cohort and have a good 
understanding of those with 
whom we are not in touch
We run a robust duty 
system that ensures young 
people have someone to 
contact when their sw is 
away from the office

Our leaving care service 
operates from a venue that 
encourages care leavers to 
drop in and attend activities

We do meet in Tariro on a 
monthly basis

We are looking to identify a ‘hub’ venue Sarah Daly/Paul Angeli

We monitor worker ‘case 
loads’ to ensure staff have 
capacity to develop 
meaningful relationships

Confirm current caseloads 
of PA’s

Young people have someone 
to call out of hours

EDT is available but at a 
recent CICC meeting this 

Look at models in place in other LA’s. Sarah Daly

P
age 118



25 | P a g e

was raised
Care leavers tell us that they 
trust our staff and feel they 
care for them and know them 
well.

Lift information from the 
care leaver survey

Being able to manage day to day life:

Young people are supported 
to develop the skills and 
confidence they need to 
maximise their chances of 
successful maturity to 
adulthood whilst in foster care, 
children’s homes or supported 
accommodation

ILS workshops are run
Pathway plans are focused on 
development of ILS.

An independence passport has been 
developed and will be used with all 
16+ LAC and care leavers moving 
forward – this will be launched 
following consultation at the CICC 
meeting in November.

We are confident that by the 
time they leave care our care 
leavers are well prepared in a 
way that reflects their needs

Care leavers report that they feel well 
supported.  We review cases on an 
individual basis (through tracking 
meetings and supervision) to gauge 
readiness for independence

Trainer flats (or equivalent are 
available to provide a 
supportive environment to ‘test 
out’ independence and skills

Liz Broughton/Steve Langley

Our preparation support is 
designed and run either by, or 
with young people who have 
experience of leaving care

Our ILS programme is currently 
delivered by the Benefits Maximisation 
Officers 

We will consider good practice models 
and look at the involvement of young 
people in the delivery and content of 
these sessions

Stuart Barker/Sarah Daly

Young people have a pathway 
plan that complies with 
regulations and that is 
regularly reviewed and quality 
assured

Managers are now chairing all 
Pathway Plan review meetings
All Pathway Plans are signed off by 
managers
Pathway Plan audit completed 
annually

Generally young people report 
that they find pathway 

P
age 119



26 | P a g e

planning helpful in supporting 
them day to day
Young people can return to a 
more supportive environment 
if they wish

Considered on a case by case basis

Services that are used by the more vulnerable care leavers:
Every care leaver receives a 
service that values diversity, 
promotes fairness and 
challenges discrimination
We work with young people to 
actively mitigate discrimination 
and dispel myths about being 
in care

This is done on an individual level but 
we need to look at how we take this 
forward with a more consistent 
approach.

Look at good practice models. 
Development of a Care Leaver 
Forum can support this area of work 
and look at development of guidance.

Stuart Barker/Sarah Daly

We have strategies in place to 
ensure that we offer the same 
level of support to care leavers 
living out of the authority

Review current strategies an and 
look at gaps/areas for development

Sarah Daly/14+ Management Team

We have policies and 
procedures which specifically 
address the particular needs 
of ‘vulnerable groups’.

Review current policies and 
procedures and look at gaps/areas 
for development

Sarah Daly/14+ Management Team

Our staff receive appropriate 
training and support to 
recognise and engage with 
care leavers with complex 
needs

Motivational Interviewing Programme
Signs of Safety & Tightrope training 
UASC
Benefits
PRSH

Need to review training undertaken in 
the team

14+ Management Team

We have information on the 
number and experiences of 
care leavers who run away, go 
missing or are at risk of CSE

We hold a central record re Care 
Leavers at MASE
Care leavers receive input from local 
providers 
We locally monitor missing care 
leavers 

Look at extended use of ‘my story’ 
work with young people at risk of 
CSE and missing.

Emma Bradley/Sarah Daly

We undertake multi agency 
risk assessments on all care 
leavers, involving all agencies 

Risk assessments are undertaken 
along with safety plans but this model 
is not applied consistently.  Managers 

Look at development and guidance 
on use of risk assessment tool for 
care leavers

Sarah Daly/14+ Management Team

P
age 120



27 | P a g e

where necessary and have 
arrangements to escalate to 
senior managers and DCS

escalate cases of concern via the top 5 
template and through case discussion.  

P
age 121



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Looked After Children Strategy 2015-18
London Borough of Merton

Issue Date Author Date Of the Next 
Review 

Lead Officer

March 2015 Naheed Chaudhry/Sarah 
Daly

March 2018 Paul Angeli

Page 123



Page 2 of 27

Content
1. Our Mission Statement ………………………………………………………………
    Merton’s looked after children and care levers pledge...………………………… 

3
4

2. The National and Local Context………………………………………………….. 5

3. Merton’s Strategic Framework……………………………………………………. 9

Our strategic priorities 
4. Timeliness of care proceedings…………………………………………………… 11

5. Placement stability and choice…………………………………………………….
a) Planned return home…………………………………………………………. 
b) Staying put……………………………………………………………………... 
c) Out of borough placements…………………………………………………..
d) Children missing from care……………………………………………………
e) Those at risk of CSE…………………………………………………………..

13

6. Education of Looked After Children………………………………………………. 16

7. Health of Looked After Children…………………………………………………… 18

8. Participation and positive activities………………………………………………..
a) Voice of the child………………………………………………………………
b) Improving access to positive activities ………………………………………

20

9. Looked after children of particular circumstance…………………………………
a) Legal Aid, Sentencing and Punishment of Offenders……………………… 
b) Special Educational Needs and Disabilities………………………………….

22

10. Achieving permanency…………………………………………………………… 25

11. Care leavers……………………………………………………………………….. 27

Page 124



Page 3 of 27

Our Mission Statement
We have a longstanding approach to preventing children becoming looked after. When 
children do need to come into care we seek to ensure that care proceedings are timely and 
our care plans appropriately safeguard children and support decisions around permanency 
which are in the best interest of each child.

We are committed to ensuring all our looked after children and young people are given every 
opportunity to experience a safe, healthy and happy life in which they achieve their potential. 
We will make every effort to ensure they are able to grow up in a stable and supportive 
environment with a sense of belonging. We will make available the widest range of placements 
in order to support the individual needs of our looked after children and where they can feel 
cared for and cared about.

Our role as corporate parents is significant and far reaching and we will exercise this with 
commitment and accountability across all areas of the council and partnership. Through this 
we will consistently ensure all our young people reach their potential, develop into 
independent, self-confident adults and enjoy their place in society. 

We will ensure high expectations for our looked after children are shared widely and 
wholeheartedly. By involving our partners we will ensure coordinated wrap-around services are 
provided so that our children maintain healthy development, are safe both in and out of the 
home, achieving at school, involved in out-of school activities, whilst developing their sense of 
independence.

Our looked after children are the best experts we have and we value their experiences. At 
every stage of planning, service delivery or change we will listen to what looked after children 
and young people say and act accordingly.

Merton’s services for looked after children form part of a comprehensive continuum of support 
for children and young people who may be facing difficulties at home. These range from family 
support to intensive community interventions or seeking permanence through permanent 
alternative care. In taking this approach we will remain committed to ensuring that the right 
children enter care and that their experiences are positive and their opportunities many. 

Our strategic priorities 
1. Improving the timeliness of care proceedings
2. Improving placement stability and choice 
3. Improving educational outcomes for Looked After Children 
4. Supporting good health outcomes for Looked After Children 
5. Encouraging participation and positive activities 
6. Understanding the needs of and supporting LAC in particular circumstance
7. Achieving permanency
8. Supporting our Care leavers  

Page 125



Page 4 of 27

LAC and Care Leavers Pledge

Page 126



Page 5 of 27

The National and Local Context
Under the Children Act 1989, a child is legally defined as ‘looked after’ by a local authority if 
he or she: 

 is provided with accommodation for a continuous period for more than 24 hours 
 is subject to a care order; or 
 is subject to a placement order 

A looked after child ceases to be looked after when he or she turns 18 years old. On reaching 
his or her 18th birthday, the status of the child changes from being looked after to being a 
young adult eligible for help and assistance from the local authority as a care leaver. 

Children and young people achieve their best outcomes when provided with security, stability 
and love throughout their childhood and beyond.  The majority of looked after children return 
home to their families after a short period of time in the care of the local authority.  The 
underpinning principle of the Children Act 1989 places a legal duty on local authorities to 
support families to stay together when this is a safe and realistic option.

The National Context 
Nationally there were 68,840 looked after children as at 31 March 2014, an increase of 7% 
compared to 31 March 2010. The number of looked after children has increased steadily over 
the past five years and it is now higher than at any point since 1985. Nationally the rate of 
looked after children per 10,000 is 60. At local authority level the rate varies significantly. 

The majority of looked after children – 62% in 2014 - are provided with a service due to abuse 
or neglect. The reasons why looked after children are provided with a service have been 
relatively stable since 2010. The age profile of children looked after has been relatively stable 
since 2010. The largest age group is 10 to 15 year olds, which made up 37% of looked after 
children at 31 March 2014. There has been a slight increase in the percentage of 5 to 9 year 
olds, from 17% in 2010, to 20% in 2014. These trends are in line with the age breakdown of all 
children. The majority of children looked after at 31 March 2014 (74%) are from a White British 
background, the same proportion as the general population of all children. The ethnic 
breakdown for children looked after has varied little since 2010

The Government has been clear in its drive to improve services and outcomes for looked after 
children in all types of permanence care, with revised statutory guidance that clearly sets out 
the need to address the problem of delays for example within the adoption system. It is 
apparent for all professionals working within children’s social care that the current court 
processes are contributing to the delays encountered by children and as a result the Family 
Justice Review has reviewed the Public Law Outline with a programme that aims to 
dramatically speed up care proceedings, including a time limit of 26 weeks within which all bar 
exceptional cases must be completed. 

The Local Context – ‘Merton the place’
Merton is an outer London borough situated in south west London, covering 14.7 square 
miles. Merton has a total population of 200,543 including 47,499 children and young people 
aged 0-19 (Census 2011). The number of 0-19 year olds is forecast to increase by 3,180 (7%) 
by 2017, within which we forecast a 20% increase of children aged 5 to 9 (2,270). We have a 
younger population than the England average and have seen a 39% net increase of births 
over the last ten years (2,535 births in 2002 rising to 3,521 in 2010).  The birth rate reduced in 
2012/13 and again slightly in 2013/14 suggesting that the rate is stabilising. However the last 
ten years alongside other demographic factors has placed additional demand on all children’s 
services.  

Page 127



Page 6 of 27

Predominantly suburban in character, Merton is divided into 20 wards and has three main 
town centres; Wimbledon, Mitcham and Morden. A characteristic of the borough is the 
difference between the more deprived east (Mitcham/Morden) and the more affluent west 
(Wimbledon). There are a number of pockets of deprivation within the borough mainly in the 
eastern wards and some smaller pockets in the central wards. These wards have multiple 
deprivation, with high scores on income deprivation, unemployment and limited educational 
attainment.  Merton has 39 Super Output Areas which are amongst the 30% most deprived 
areas across England for children. This means 45% of Merton school pupils are living in an 
area of deprivation (30% most deprived, IDACI 2010). Since 2010 we have seen an increase 
of  23% of children who are eligible for free school meals (2010, 2881 FSM children, 2014, 
3548 FSM children). 

Thirty five per cent of Merton’s total population is Black, Asian or Minority ethnic (BAME) this 
is expected to increase further to 39% by 2017.  Pupils in Merton schools are more diverse 
still, with 66% from BAME communities, speaking over 120 languages (2014). The borough 
has concentrations of Urdu speaking communities, Sri Lankan, South African and Polish 
residents.  

The number of children with Statements and School Action Plus pupils in Merton schools is 
also rising. Numbers of SEN Statements in Primary schools has risen from 255 in Jan 2011 to 
310 in Jan 2014 (+22%), numbers of SEN Statements in Secondary schools has risen from 
212 in Jan 2011 to 224 in Jan 2014 (+6%) and the number of SEN Statements in Special 
schools has risen from 249 in Jan 2011 to 321 in Jan 2014 (+29%).

Page 128



Page 7 of 27

Merton’s Looked After Children 
Merton’s looked after children population in the last ten years has ranged from a low of 96 
(2006/7) to 150 (2013/14). This increase has been reviewed and audited to establish what is 
behind this trend. There are a number of reasons for this increase including increased national 
awareness of children’s safeguarding, an increasing birth rate, more general demographic 
changes and a change in legislation in relation to children coming into care through remand 
placements. Merton has a higher than average profile of looked after children at the older age 
range, including a significant increase in the numbers of Unaccompanied Asylum Seekers and 
an increase in  young people coming into care through the Southwark Judgement. 

2008-09 2009-10 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 
70

90

110

130

150

Looked after children
Merton actual numbers

 

Merton’s LAC rate per 10,000 in March 2014 was 33, this remains within the range of our 
statistical neighbours statistical neighbours (Redbridge, Sutton, Barnet, Kingston, Enfield, 
Ealing). London’s LAC rate per 10,000 ranges from the low 40s to the high 60s.

Merton’s LAC gender distributions are similar to national averages; we have more LAC boys 
than girls. The age profile of children looked after at 31 March in Merton varies from the 
national norm with Merton caring for a large number of older looked after children aged 16 and 
over.  In Merton 41% of our looked after children are aged 16 and 17 compared to 21% 
nationally.   

Lamming Report Mar 2009Baby Peter 
Connolly Aug 
2007 Global Financial Crisis 2008

Outer London change in UASC 
(2010/11)

Merton’s SCR Sept 2012

20
25
30
35
40
45
50
55
60
65

2008-09 2009-10 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14

Looked after children
Rate per 10,000 children aged under 18 years

National London Merton

Page 129



Page 8 of 27

Merton has a changing profile of ethnic groups for LAC.  The majority of children looked after 
in Merton are from a white background, this is lower than the general resident population 
(18%).  There are fewer Asian or Asian British than the all persons Merton population also.  
Mixed ethnic backgrounds, Black or Black British heritage and ‘other ethnic groups’ have 
looked after children proportions greater than the resident population. We continue to report 
an increase in the category of ‘other ethnic groups’ in 2013 and 2014 circa 80% were known 
to the authority as Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children.

The borough map below represents our looked after children’s residents prior to being looked 
after, 60% of the 2014 LAC population came from an area of deprivation (Indices of 
Deprivation Affecting Children Index bottom 30%), an increase of 9% from 2013.  The majority 
of children looked after as at 31 March 2014 lived in wards, pre intervention, in the east and 
south of the borough.

This map shows by ward the home address of Children Looked After at the 31st March 2014

Our children have a range of complex needs at the point they become looked after 19% 
(2014) have SEN statements. Significant numbers of our LAC have experienced mental health 
and drugs or alcohol abuse issues within their families. 

Clearly the decision to accommodate a child or young person is a momentous and life 
changing event and should only happen with due consideration of all the alternatives and with 
the needs of the child or young person at the forefront of our consideration.  We support the 
view that children’s needs are best met within their own families.  To support such reflection 
and decision making Merton has set up an ‘Edge of Care’ Panel to ensure that the any 
decision to accommodate a child or young person between the ages of 0-16 is rigorously 
reviewed.

Page 130



Page 9 of 27

Merton’s Strategic Framework and Governance
This Looked After Childrens Strategy is not a stand-alone publication.  Our Children and 
Young People’s Plan sets out our ambitions  for our looked after children and this is enhanced 
by this LAC Strategy and our Care Leavers strategy, which are both  endorsed and by the 
Children’s Trust, the Merton Safeguarding Children’s Board and the Corporate Parenting 
Board.  

The Corporate Parenting Board is comprised of senior managers and officers from education, 
health, housing, social care and elected members this chaired by the Chief Executive London 
Borough Merton, ensuring a high level of scrutiny and cross directorate responsibility for 
delivery of our priorities.

Our Corporate Parenting responsibilities
The Children Act 1989 and the Leaving Care Act 2000 place clear statutory duties upon the 
Council to protect children from suffering significant harm and to provide continued financial 
and transition support to care leavers aged up to 21 (or 25 if in full time education).  

When a child comes into care, the council becomes the Corporate Parent. Put simply, the 
term ‘Corporate Parent’ means the collective responsibility of the council, elected members, 
employees, and partner agencies, for providing the best possible care and safeguarding for 
the children who are looked after by the council. A child in the care of the council looks to the 
whole council to be the best parent it can be to that child. Every member and employee of the 
council has the statutory responsibility to act for and for that child in the same way that a good 
parent would act for and for their child.

Effective corporate parenting requires knowledge and awareness of the needs of children and 
young people who are looked after and the services that they receive.  This is a shared 
responsibility for the Council as a whole.  The role of the corporate parent is to, 

a. To receive and consider accurate and timely management information reports on the 
numbers, characteristics and needs of looked after children and care leavers

b. To receive and consider reports demonstrating how effectively Merton is serving it’s 
looked after population through the provision of services and targeted initiatives

Children Young People Plan

Looked After Children Strategy Care Leaver Strategy

MSCB

Corporate Parenting Board 

Children in Care Council

Childrens Trust Health & Wellbeing 
Board

Page 131



Page 10 of 27

c. To receive briefings on new national and local initiatives designed to improve children 
and young people’s life chances

d. To gain knowledge of services based on direct involvement and opportunities to meet 
and gain the views of stakeholders, especially listening to the views of children and 
young people looked after and members of the Children in Care Council

e. To monitor and review progress on the delivery of the Pledge to children looked after and 
care leavers

f. Ensure that decisive action is taken to address any shortcomings in the services provided 
to children and young people

The Children in Care Council directly supports the Corporate Parenting Board to measure and 
monitor the effectiveness and quality of ‘Corporate Parenting’ in Merton.  The group meet on a 
monthly basis, they have a Chair and each member of the CICC has a lead area (e.g. 
complaints and housing).  The group meet regularly with senior managers to discuss 
important issues affecting children and young people in care.  The CICC have a standing 
agenda item at Corporate Parenting Board Meetings and a young person attends the 
Corporate Parenting Board.

Page 132



Page 11 of 27

Priority 1: Timeliness of care proceedings
The National context 
A revised Public Law Outline introduced in April 2014 set out streamlined case management 
procedures for dealing with public law children's cases. Its aim was to identify and focus on 
the key issues for children to making the best decisions for them within the timetable set by 
the Court, and avoiding the need for unnecessary evidence or hearings. Under the revised 
section 32(1) (a) of the Children Act 1989 (introduced by section 14 of the Children and 
Families Act 2014), care and supervision proceedings must be completed ‘without delay, and, 
in any event, within twenty-six weeks beginning with the day on which the application was 
issued’. This places an increased emphasis on pre-proceedings work and the quality of 
assessments. The national average performance benchmark as at the end of 2013/14 is 33 
weeks (National annual average 2013/14, CAFCASS).

Merton’s track record 
During 2013 we redesigned our looked after children and permanency services to deliver 
permanency more quickly and accommodate the requirements of the Family Justice Review 
and Children and Families Bill. 

Merton’s Case Progression Team was formed in June 2013 which aimed to reduce delay and 
establish a timescale for care proceedings cases to conclude in 26 weeks. There are clear 
thresholds for admitting children into care, in all cases significant attempts are made to 
support our children or young people to remain within their family or community.   

72

0

67 66

80 81

53
49

63

45
51

29

53

32

Q1
2011
/12

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1
2012
/13

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1
2013
/14

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1
2014
/15

Q2
0
5

10
15
20
25
30
35
40
45
50
55
60
65
70
75
80
85 Merton Quarterly 

performance (Cafcass)

Linear (Merton Quarterly 
performance (Cafcass))

Merton 2014/15 YTD Q1 
and Q2

2013/14 National Outturn

2013/14 West London 
Outturn

Government Target

Merton Care application - Quarterly performance average duration (Cafcass)

We have seen progress in the timeliness of our court proceedings from 72 weeks in 2011/12 
to 32 weeks in 2014/15 (Merton 2014/15 Q2, CAFCASS). It should be noted however that 
small cohorts of children can significantly impact performance. 

Page 133



Page 12 of 27

Merton’s commitment moving forward 
1. We will retain a dedicated ‘Case progression function’ within the department to pre-

empt challenges and thus supports the timeliness of court proceedings. 
2. We will shift our focus to pre-proceedings by developing clear processes which ensure 

that as much activity as possible is front loaded. This includes robust care planning, 
the coordination of viability assessments, expert assessments and parenting 
assessments. The challenge is to ensure services are joined up and there is close, 
integrated working across key teams.

3. We will continue to track cases from the ‘notice of intention’ stage to avoid 
unnecessary drift.

4. We will continue to review cases which go over 26 weeks to ensure that lessons are 
learnt and practice improved.

Impact measure
A. Care application average duration (national target 26 weeks) (CAFCASS). (32 weeks 

in Q2 2014/15)

Page 134



Page 13 of 27

Priority 2: Placement stability and choice 
The National context 
Providing stability relies on identifying the right placement for a child early in their care journey 
whilst ensuring that individual and family needs are properly assessed and support services 
provided in order to achieve early permanence. 

Local authorities should provide a range of placement options to ensure that the right 
placement is available for every child. For many children returning home to their family after a 
period in care will be the route to permanence and stability. For others, returning to other 
family or friends under a formal or informal arrangement will be the setting they need in order 
to thrive. Remaining in care with a long term foster family or finding a new permanent family 
through adoption, special guardianship or residence orders are other routes to permanence. 

While it is evident that achieving timely permanence is desirable, nationally annual data 
returns show that a small but substantial number of children still experience multiple 
placements each year. 

Merton’s track record 
The decision to accommodate a child or young person is a life changing event and should only 
happen with due consideration of all the alternatives and with the needs of the child or young 
person at the forefront of our consideration.  We support the view that children’s needs are 
best met within their own families.  To support such reflection and decision making Merton has 
an Edge of Care and Rehabilitation Panel to ensure that the any decision to accommodate a 
child or young person between the ages of 0-16 is reviewed and a robust care plan is put in 
place that has a focus on short and long term care planning.

In addition to decisions relating to accommodation the panel also considers the suitability of a 
rehabilitation plan.  National data shows that children who return home from care are the 
largest single group of children who cease to be looked after in any one year. Research shows 
that positive experiences of reunification which last are preceded by careful assessment of 
needs, improvements in parenting capacity, slow and well managed returns home and the 
provision of services to support children and their families.  The role of the panel is to ensure 
timely and effective decision-making and purposeful social work with children and their 
families to prepare and support the return, underpinning long term stability and good 
outcomes for individual children.

Merton’s Fostering agency was rated Good by Ofsted in November 2012, inspectors noted 
that “Children and young people are able to make good progress in relation to their starting 
points across all aspects of their care and effective arrangements are in place to support this. 
Children and young people have positive views about their care and their relationships with 
foster carers”. 

All placements for looked after children are made by our dedicated Access to Resources 
(ART) service. Our placement stability performance of 12.7% (3 moves or more) is line with 
the national average of 11% (2013/14). Similarly our placement length performance (2 years 
or more) on a three year rolling average is 66% this is also in line with the national average of 
68% (2011 – 2013).  While our placement stability is broadly in line with national averages we 
continue to review the children who have undergone 2 and 3 moves or more during the year.

We are determined to find the most appropriate care for our looked after children, using family 
and friends; in-house foster carers; carers from the South West London consortium or a 
number of Independent Fostering Agencies (IFAs). 

Page 135



Page 14 of 27

We are placing more children with in house carers and therefore relying less on IFAs. Our 
annual LAC Sufficiency Strategy supports us to target our placement needs and procure 
appropriate care for our children. Since the establishment of a dedicated Access to Resources 
team in October 2011 we have approved 29 foster carers (as at September 2014), in recent 
years we have targeted the recruitment of in-house fosters towards our known deficits; 
including carers for sibling groups and teenagers. 

When we are required to use independent settings we use those rated Good or Outstanding 
by Ofsted only, in exceptional circumstances we seek senior management authorisation to 
place children in settings which are rated adequate. Where we have children placed in IFA 
placements and the placement is identified as meeting their long term needs and in the best 
interest of the child, we committed to funding these placements long term. 

Any young person who is reported as missing is referred to our commissioned service who 
undertakes a ‘return to home’ interview to support on-going risk management. For older young 
people pathway planning processes are used to agree a temporary absence from placement, 
through pre-arranged agreement. Merton has a child sexual exploitation strategy which 
provides clear and practical guidance for social workers and other practitioners dealing with 
cases where there is suspected child/young person sexual exploitation. 

As at 31 March 2014 17% of our Looked After Children live more than 20 miles away from 
their home address.  For some young people placements away from their home community 
are a key part of the care plan as a result of anti-social behaviour/risk taking behaviours.  For 
some the needs of the young people are such that they require specialist placements which 
are not available in Merton or surrounding boroughs.  For all children being placed outside of 
the borough the Director of Childrens Services is required to sign off agreement for the 
placement.  

Merton’s involvement in the Staying Put (2012/13) and Right2Bcared4 (2012/13) pilots has 
resulted in successful transition for a number of young people into greater independence at a 
pace that was appropriate to them. 

Merton has small but well established supported lodgings/placements service for those aged 
16 and above. These placements provide a helpful step to independence for those young 
people who choose this option. Supported lodgings carers are supported and guided by an 
accommodation officer working in the Fostering Team. Supported lodging placements enable 
our young people to develop their independent living skills within a family environment. Our 
young people and their carers are supported by the function from aged 16 to 21 depending on 
need. 

Page 136



Page 15 of 27

Merton’s commitment moving forward 
1. We will develop our approach to care planning for rehabilitation cases in line with 

national best practice. 
2. We will continue to undertake work to understand our looked after children, this work 

will continue to inform our commissioning activity of suitable and sufficient places. 
3. We will maintain conspicuous management oversight of ‘two moves’ cohort so that 

vulnerable placements can be identified and greater support interventions put in place.
4. We will reduce the use of independent fostering agencies.  
5. We will reduce our of Borough placements which are greater than 20 miles
6. We will increase the number of in house foster carers for targeted groups 
7. We will increase our focus on the rehabilitation of children and support to individual 

families.
8. We will carry out an ‘At a distance review’ as per the DfE publication to ensure our 

offer is the best it can be.

Impact measures
A. Placement stability performance (3 moves or more) in line with national average or 

better (Merton12.7%, national average 11% (2013/14). 
B. Placement length (2 years or more) in line with national average or better  (Merton 

three year rolling average 66%, national average 68% (2011 to 2013))
C. Percentage of looked after children placed more than 20 miles away from home in line 

with national average or better (Merton 17%, national average 17% (2013/14))
D. Number of in house foster carers recruited ART Team, (Since the establishment of a 

dedicated Access to Resources team in October 2011 we have assess and approved 
29 foster carers (as at September 2014).)

E. Percentage of children in foster care placed with IFA (independent fostering agencies) 
F. Percentage of children who more than one LAC episode 

Page 137



Page 16 of 27

Priority 3: Education of Looked After Children
The National context 
Local authorities are required to discharge their statutory duty under 22(3A) of the Children 
Act 1989 to promote the educational achievement of looked after children. That includes those 
children placed out-of-authority. The Children and Families Act 2014 amends section 22 of the 
Children Act 1989 to require every local authority in England to appoint an officer employed by 
the authority, or another authority, to make sure that its duty to promote the educational 
achievement of its looked after children is properly discharged (Virtual School Heads). Social 
workers, Virtual School Heads (VSH)s and IROs, school admission officers and special 
educational needs departments should work together to ensure that - except in an emergency 
- appropriate education provision for a child is arranged at the same time as a care placement. 

All looked after children should have a Personal Education Plan (PEP) which should form a 
part of the child’s care plan or detention placement plan. 

Merton’s track record 
Our Virtual School provides a dedicated service for Merton’s Looked After Children and Care 
Leavers wherever they live or are educated. The school’s specialist Advisory Teachers in 
primary, secondary and post sixteen phases of education work to champion the need for all 
Looked After Children and Care Leavers. This is to ensure that they all have access to high 
quality schooling or education and training provision.  The Virtual School also liaises with The 
Early Years Team to promote quality provision for younger children.

For children of statutory school age, The Virtual School closely monitors school attendance, 
progress and attainment. The Personal Education Plan is used to challenge and support 
schools and settings, social workers and carers to accelerate pupil progress and ensure good 
educational outcomes. The Virtual School distributes Pupil Premium funding according to the 
grant’s terms and conditions and contributes to the funding of interventions to meet identified 
needs. Through effective advocacy, negotiation, improved SEN provision and inclusive 
practice, no Merton Looked After Child has been permanently excluded for the last five years

Carers, social workers, school staff, and young care leavers have direct access to The Virtual 
School for advice and guidance to ensure that education and training is integral to and 
supported as part of a child’s care or pathway plan. 

As part of our children’s social care restructure the 16+ team became the 14+ team and a 
dedicated worker for Looked After Children was  identified within the ‘My Futures’ team  to 
enable earlier planning and support for young people during their GCSE years and transition 
to post 16 opportunities.  Although The Statutory Guidance on the role of the Virtual School 
Head makes reference to Personal Education Plans being extended to include 16 and 17 year 
olds, we have focused more on ensuring robust pathway plans for all older Looked After 
Children which is reflected in increasing numbers of our young people entering further and 
higher education and relatively low number of young people who are Not in Education 
Employment or Training (NEET). 

The Virtual School Headteacher provides an annual report to The Corporate Parenting Board 
and to the CYP Scrutiny Panel as part of the annual School Standards panel report. The 
report currently covers all aspects of education for Looked After Children and the engagement 
in education and training for Care Leavers.

Page 138



Page 17 of 27

Merton’s commitment moving forward 
1. We will continue to work with Early Years Specialists, Carers and setting to develop 

robust Early Years PEPs for 2, 3 and 4 year olds.  
2. We will continue to support Looked After Children’s pathway plans by ensuring earlier 

support for transition to education, training or employment at the end of Year 11 and 
beyond. 

3. We will extend the Designated Teacher  network to include all schools,  colleges and 
commissioned Alternative Providers to enhance support for Merton Looked After 
Children and Care Leavers 

4. We will build on our ‘Celebrating Success’ events for all age groups.
5. We will continue to support the local ‘Aim Higher’ project encouraging children to 

aspire to a university education. 
6. We will continue to deliver apprenticeships specifically for our Looked After Children 

each year.
7. We will continue the five year track record to ensure that no Merton Looked After Child 

is excluded from school. 

Impact measures
A. Percentage of initial Personal Education Plans (PEP) completed within timescale.
B. LAC primary attendance 94.8% (2012/13)
C. 44% of LAC at Key Stage 2 achieved expected level of progress (National 31%)
D. LAC secondary attendance 91.5% (2012/13)
E. 21% LAC achieved 5 GCSEs including maths and English (2012/13), better than 

National 15.3%
F. Number of Looked After Children excluded from school 
G. Number of Looked After Children in apprenticeships funded by Merton Council 
H. Number of Looked After Children further education 
I. Number of Care leavers in higher education 
J. Percentage of Care Leavers who are NEET
K. Foster carers satisfaction on support provided in relation to education issues (Foster 

Carers survey)

Page 139



Page 18 of 27

Priority 4: Health of Looked After Children 
The National context 
Children often enter the care system with a poorer level of physical and mental health than 
their peers, and their longer-term outcomes remain worse. Nationally two thirds of looked after 
children have at least one physical health complaint, and nearly half have a mental health 
disorder. 

Merton’s track record 
Health outcomes for Merton looked after children are better than the national average, these 
are supported by good support from NHS Trusts with good levels of routine health surveillance 
and access to specialist provision where necessary e.g. CAMHs. 

Ninety five per cent of Merton LAC had an annual health assessment during 2013/14, 
compared to 87% nationally. Eighty three per cent of Merton LAC had their dental checks up 
to date during 2013/14, compared to 82% nationally. Ninety five per cent of Merton LAC had 
immunisations that were up to date during 2013/14, this is also better than the national 
average of 83%. 

Eight per cent of Merton LAC (approximately 14 to 16 young people) were identified as having 
a substance misuse problem during 2013/14, compared to 3.5% nationally. Our higher 
percentage of substance misuse identification is representative of a proactive campaign to get 
social workers to make referrals for substance misuse assessment and intervention and partly 
due to our larger number of older YP in care as a proportion of the total cohort. Specialist 
substance misuse services are commissioned which provide a full range of support and 
therapeutic interventions for young people under the age of 25, using substances at a level 
affecting their ability to live a healthy, functioning life. Over the last year the services have 
engaged young people referred for targeted interventions via schools, the youth justice service 
and other voluntary and statutory agencies by providing structured programmes of support 
and education to reduce and cease drug/alcohol use. 

Our annual strengths and difficulties questionnaire which measures the emotional wellbeing of 
our children in care puts us in line with the national average (Merton 12.3 average score, 
national average 13.9, 2013/14). A report is presented to our corporate parenting board 
annual the findings of which influence service improvement. 

Merton’s commitment moving forward 
1. Health outcomes remain positive for our looked after children, we will ensure that we 

retain a good practice focus on dental appointments and LAC health appointments.  
2. We will continue to use LAC review to ensure that the child’s health needs are being 

met and escalate matters of concern to appropriate services.   
3. We will continue to work with partners to ensure that we meet the needs of our LAC 

cohort when they are identified as having a substance misuse problem.  We are 
confident that we have a good rate of successful identification, but need to improve 
performance in engaging young people with interventions.  

4. For those children where mental health concerns are identified liaison takes place with 
CAMHS to ensure that needs are met.  In some cases where children are not in settled 
placements the provision of support can prove challenging we will continue to find 
solutions to support these children.   

5. We will continue to commission an independent advocacy service for Looked After 
Children 

Page 140



Page 19 of 27

6. We will maintain effective challenge and accountability of services thought the LAC 
Health Strategy group.

Impact measures
A. Annual dental checks: 83% of Merton LAC have had their dental checks on time, this is 

in line with national 82% (2013/14)
B. Annual health checks: 95% have annual health check, this is better than national  

87%(2013/14)
C. Annual immunisation: 95% have up to date immunisations, this is better than national 

83% (2013/14)
D. 8% of Merton LAC (approximately 14-16 young people) were identified as having a 

substance misuse problem during 2013/14, compared to 3.5% nationally
E. Emotional and behavioural health SDQ score (strengths and difficulties questionnaire) 

Merton’s average score 12.3, national benchmark 13.9
F. Number of Looked After Children accessing the independent advocacy service.

Page 141



Page 20 of 27

Priority 5: Participation and positive activities 
The National context 
We all want our looked after children and care leavers to shape and influence the parenting 
they receive, and to see their views reflected in our strategies and commissioning plans. The 
council should facilitate Children in Care Council which encourages and supports children 
and young people to participate in decisions that affect their lives. 

Social workers and carers are expected to support looked after children to access and benefit 
from hobbies, leisure, cultural and sporting activities. Social care staff should work with other 
professionals to maximise LAC access to local services. 

Merton’s track record 
A central component of Merton’s User Voice Strategy is a commitment to encouraging and 
supporting Looked After Children to give us feedback and to ensure that their views are key to 
informing decisions about care planning as well as informing wider service planning and 
delivery. 

We listens to the views of children and young people, carers, parents and other service users 
through four key avenues. These are: 

 An approach expected of all practitioners and managers which puts children’s wishes 
and feelings at the centre of decision making and planning

 Merton’s youth participation promise
 Targeted user feedback
 Complaints and compliments. 

We have commissioned an independent advocacy service for many years to provide support 
to Looked After Children to ensure that their voice is heard and is central to decisions made 
about their care, since 2013 this has been delivered as an opt out service. We receive 
feedback from the advocacy service which has influenced practice and service strategy. For 
example young people have reported that any change in social worker causes them anxiety. 
We understand that having to build new relationships is difficult, so when we restructured our 
children’s social care division in 2013 we minimised the transition points for children and 
young people moving through our services.

We have supported looked after young people to be involved in fostering preparation training 
and foster carer support group meetings, in order to share their experiences of being looked 
after. Feedback from potential/ current foster carers suggested that the training increased their 
understanding of the needs and experiences of looked after children; the aim is that this will 
have a positive impact on their practice:

 “it was good to understand the foster child’s views”
 “It was good to think about the situation from a child’s perspective” 
 “it was nice to hear the view of other foster children”
 “I have learnt about how to welcome a child. Let the child know you are there for him”

All our in-house foster cares are required to regularly complete a “Let’s Talk” update with all 
children in their care, these are fed back to social workers to take forward any concerns or 
actions identified. 

Our Independent Reviewing Officer Service (IRO) is growing stronger to support and monitor 
how we the local authority ensures that every child’s view and wish is heard in decisions about 
their care plans.  

Page 142



Page 21 of 27

We facilitate young people’s forums and activities which link with and impact on the 
management of children’s services and the adult democratic process. These include the 
Children in Care council, Youth Parliament, Young Advisors, Young Inspectors and Your 
Shout (specifically for older young people with disabilities). Feedback from CYP across these 
strands of work have informed strategies including the Children and Young People’s Plan, this 
LAC Strategy, the Care Leavers Strategy, children’s services departmental service plans and 
discrete improvement plans. 

The membership of and interest in our Children in Care Council has grown steadily throughout 
recent years. The appointment of a full time co-ordinator during 2012/13 enhanced this 
function which has been further supported by two Care Leaving apprentices during 2014/15. 
Representatives from the Children in Care Council played a significant role in the successful 
launch of the Children in Care Pledge in 2014. Young people from the Children in Care council 
are involved in the recruitment of senior Children Schools and Families staff including the 
Children Social Care Assistant Director in 2013 and the Education Assistant Director in 2014. 
Feedback from the Children in Care council is obtained by the Director and Lead Member for 
Children’s Services who ensure a feedback loop to the Corporate Parenting Board, MSCB and 
the council’s Administration.  Actions arising from this feedback are taken forward by relevant 
parties and fed back to the young people. An example of this is a recent request for gym 
membership for looked after children following this request as at September 2014, 20 LAC 
have received free membership to our local gyms.

When things go wrong, Merton reviews feedback from children and young people as a central 
part of our drive for continuous improvement of services. Complaints are resolved quickly 
through resolution meetings at stage one, and are seen as an opportunity to improve services. 
Looked after young people also have access to independent advocates. 

Merton’s commitment moving forward 
1. We will continue to ensure an independent advocacy service is available for children 

looked after by the local authority
2. We will continue to support our IRO service to deliver robust challenge to practice
3. We will continue to encourage participation in the Children in Care council, and our 

young people to take on leadership roles in areas of interest. 
4. We will continue to resolve complaints quickly and if possible through resolution 

meetings before the need for formal complaints arise.  
5. We will continue to identify interests and hobbies through our care planning process 
6. We will continue to create a range of opportunities for appropriate formal and informal 

‘participation’ and engagement for our looked after children, including for example 
coffee meetings, fun activities and surveys.

Impact measures
A. Percentage of LAC satisfied with the service received (IRO survey)
B. Percentage of LAC participating in there reviews 
C. Maintain a range of at least 8 to 15 children and young people regularly participating in 

the Children in Care Council events 
D. Number of complaints made by children in care 
E. Percentage of children supported by the independent advocacy service 
F. Numbers of young people involved in task and finish service develop groups. 

Page 143



Page 22 of 27

Priority 6: Looked after Children of particular 
circumstance
The National context 

Legal Aid, Sentencing and Punishment of Offenders Act 2012 
The Ministry of Justice (MoJ) and Home Office (HO) recognise that young adults who have 
been in care can be particularly vulnerable as they transition into adulthood, particularly if they 
are in the criminal justice system. They are also a particularly vulnerable group that are at risk 
of being drawn into crime. Equally we know that care leavers can be particularly vulnerable to 
becoming a victim of crime, including in some cases falling victim to grooming and exploitation 
online or offline.

Despite the recent reduction in the number of first time entrants to the criminal justice system, 
and a welcome drop in the number of children imprisoned in England and Wales, looked after 
children are vastly over-represented in the youth justice system: children in care and care 
leavers account for less than one per cent of the population (The Care Leavers Association, 
2013) yet almost a third of children in prison have been looked after by a local authority at 
some point (HMIP, 2012).

 Children in care and care leavers account for less than 1% of the population.
 Over 25% of the adult prison population has previously been in care.
 49% of young men under the age of 21 in the Criminal Justice System have spent time 

in care.
 27% of young men in custody have spent time in care.
 40% of girls in the 15-18 age group in custody have spent some time in local care1.

Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SENDIS)
Short breaks
Short breaks are part of a continuum of services which support children in need and their 
families.  They include the provision of day, evening, overnight and weekend activities for the 
child and can take place in the child’s own home, the home of an approved carer, or in a 
residential setting. The decision to provide a short break under Section 17 or under Section 20 
of the Childrens Act 1989 should be informed by the assessment of the child’s needs and 
should take account of parenting capacity and wider family and environmental factors, the 
wishes and feelings of the child and his/her parents and the nature of the service to be 
provided. 

Residential educational placements 
The issue of residential school placements is a more complex matter and will depend on the 
individual circumstances of each case. A reference point for such decisions is case law dated 
2011:  R (O) v East Riding of Yorkshire Council (2011) EWCA CIV 196. 

In the majority of cases the decision to place a child in a residential school setting will be 
informed by a statutory assessment under the terms of the Children and Families Act 2014. 
The statutory assessment involves following a specific set of legal procedures, and draws 
together evidence from educational, medical, social care and other staff.

In relation to 38 week residential school placements there will also need to be consideration 
given to individual case circumstances, and whilst a the majority of children with not become 

1 Source:  Contact:  Care Leavers, LAC and the Criminal Justice System

Page 144



Page 23 of 27

looked after, there will be circumstances where some will.  This is particularly the case when 
they have respite in addition and the Section 20 criteria are met. 

Merton’s track record 
Legal Aid, Sentencing and Punishment of Offenders 
To support and embed the Legal Aid and Sentencing/Punishment of Offenders Act 2012 
(LASPO) in Merton, a LASPO Operational Group was established in January 2014 to monitor 
the arrangements and process in place when young people are place on remand.  

During 2014 Merton’s LASPO Operational group has developed a LASPO policy and process. 
Our Youth Offender Management Panel regularly reviews young people up to the age of 19 
this allows local partners to come together to ensure that risk management of young offenders 
is managed in a co-ordinated way.

Special Educational Needs and Disabilities
Short breaks
Disabled children assessed as needing short breaks to support them remaining within their 
families are offered a variety of services, including direct payments, day care provision and 
overnight stays. Merton’s disabled children have a choice of day care and weekend provision 
and access to mainstream holiday schemes, depending on their individual needs and 
requirements. Some of these services are commissioned from external providers and offer a 
range of services including weekday, after school, holiday and weekend activities. 

Merton continues to run a children’s respite home (Brightwell) that offers both day care and 
overnight short breaks for disabled children, which was graded Good by Ofsted in 2015. 
Inspectors noted that we are “very focussed on outcomes, partnerships and goals” and we 
have a clear idea of what to prioritise to maintain a good care environment. There remains a 
small group of young people who have been unable to access the overnight provision at 
Brightwell due to their specific needs. The two main groups in this area are children with 
specific medical needs, requiring more specialist medical intervention and children with 
extreme challenging behaviour which could put others at risk of injury. These children have 
their needs meet through external services. 

Any decision to place a child under a Section 20 short breaks arrangement is authorised by a 
Service Manager and presented to the Edge of Care and Rehab Panel.

Residential educational placements 
Children and young people who have complex special needs and educational requirements 
are supported into appropriate residential educational placements. These residential 
placements offer children and young people the assistances to purse their academic 
achievements, develop independence and living skills. 

Merton only places in educational residential placements which are graded good or 
Outstanding, in exceptional circumstances if a school is rated as adequate and meets a very 
specific need senior management authorisation is sought. 

The quality of placement for these most complex children have been well matched, no child or 
young person has needed to be transfer to an alternative provision. 

Page 145



Page 24 of 27

Merton’s commitment moving forward 
Legal Aid, Sentencing and Punishment of Offenders 

1. We will ensure robust multi-agency exit plans are in place for all LAC at point of 
discharge from custody

2. We will ensure that the voice of the young person in custody is heard
3. We will ensure the robust tracking of multi-agency involvement on all LASPO cases to 

promote practice standards

Special Educational Needs and Disabilities 
1. We will ensure that Merton continues to facilitate diverse ranges of communication 

methods to enable children with disabilities to influence their plans and placements. 
2. We will continue to improve multi agency coordination to meet the complex needs of 

these children and young people 
3. We will continue to ensure that our children and young have access to the appropriate 

provision based and a robust needs assessment  
4. We will continue to seek the consult of children and parents when developing services

Short breaks
1. We will continue to ensure that good quality suitable short break provision made 

available
2. We will ensure that for those children who are fostered and require respite that this 

need is met  

Residential educational placements 
3. We will continue to ensure that only good or outstanding residential educational 

placements are procured, except in exceptional circumstances when senior 
management authorisation will be sought. 

4. We will ensure that where children are placed at a distance we will maintain a full 
service offer. 

Impact measures
A. Legal Aid, Sentencing and Punishment of Offenders 

a. Percentage and number of looked after children in custody. 

B. Special Educational Needs and Disabilities 
a. Percentage and number of residential educational placement moves (expected 

polarity low)

Page 146



Page 25 of 27

Priority 7: Permanency
The National context 
The best possible care involves giving children security, stability and love through their 
childhood and beyond. There are a range of permanent care options which can do this. Many 
looked after children are looked after by local authorities for short periods and then return 
home to live with their families. Local authorities are under a legal duty to support families to 
stay together when that is a realistic prospect. Nationally three quarters of looked after 
children are in foster placements. For some this is a temporary arrangement, but for many 
children, particularly older children with a link to their birth parents, long-term foster care, often 
with family or friends, is the best permanent care option. 

Special guardianship was introduced in 2005 as a way of giving foster carers, a relative or 
family friend parental responsibility for a child without severing the child's ties with his or her 
birth family. Residence orders were introduced in 1989 and are usually used by relatives. 
Residence orders are made for some children who are in children’s homes – when this 
environment can provide the best for children with particularly complex and specialist needs. 
Each of these options can offer the best possible care to an individual child. 

In some cases adoption is the best option – particularly for younger children, but also for some 
older children. Adoption gives vulnerable children, including many with complex needs and a 
history of ill-treatment, the greatest possible stability, in a permanent home with a permanent 
family. The Government continues to monitor the timeliness of adoption through annual 
returns and the adoption scorecard process.  The adoption scorecard focuses on local 
authorities and the adoption process for children; this has developed to include data on 
timeliness for prospective adopters from 2014.  

Merton’s track record 
We have a longstanding approach to preventing children becoming looked after. If we 
understand that it is in the best interest of the child to become looked after we seek to ensure 
that our care plans appropriately safeguard our children and support decisions around 
permanency. As such we pursue permanency in the form of returning home, placements with 
friends and family as connected persons, long term fostering, residential care, special 
guardianship orders and adoption. 

We have worked with the British Association for Adoption and Fostering (BAAF) to review and 
support our permanency improvement plans. Recommendations have been followed through 
and we have completed significant work around Family and Friends care across the service 
and embedded a greater understanding about Connected Persons and the processes to be 
followed.

Permanence planning for children aged 0-5 years has seen a great deal of focus over the past 
18 months and as a result we have seen an increase in the number of Special Guardianship 
and Adoption Orders made (Ten looked after children were adopted and four made subject of 
a Special Guardianship Order during 2013/14 year). We ensure that we track each child’s 
progress to permanency so that we can understand their journey and learn from any delay 
that may have been experienced.  

Merton’s Adoption agency was inspected in January 2013, Ofsted found that we provided an 
effective service to all affected by adoption and gave an overall judgement of Good. 
Inspectors noted that the DfE adoption scorecard published in 2012 highlighted historical poor 
timeliness issues but found that the authority had worked hard to improve. They recognised 
that  subsequent year on year performance showed substantial improvements across all areas 

Page 147



Page 26 of 27

albeit that the impact of the rolling three year data would continue to impact on published 
performance tables for some time. We recognise the need to maintain our improvement 
trajectory and continue to act more quickly in our family finding and deliver our action plans to 
improve permanency and speed up care proceedings. Ofsted noted that Adoption is viewed 
as a positive option for all children needing permanency, whatever their needs or 
characteristics and that “the lifelong implications of adoption are fully understood and people’s 
needs are catered for, whatever their age”.   Since our inspection we have also strengthened 
our sub regional working, launching a South West London Adoption Consortium Adoption 
website in November 2014. This aims to improve information and guidance published for 
those interested in adopting, improve our recruitment processes delivering a south west 
London approach to application interest and assessment.  

Merton’s commitment moving forward 
1. We will remain committed to considering all options of permanency for all our children 

requiring a placement outside of their own family; this includes for those with the most 
complex needs, regardless of the impact on our performance scorecard

2. We will continue to work closely with the South West London Adoption Consortium 
(SWLAC) to ensure that we are pooling resources and subsequently securing best 
matches.  

3. We will maintain an effective publicity campaign to ensure that we are targeting carers 
who are prepared and able to meet the complex needs of the children for whom 
adoption is the plan.  

4. We will continue to improve the timeliness of good quality matches for children for 
whom permanency is the plan. 

5. We will improve permanency planning for children aged 6+.

Impact measures
A. Placement length (2 years or more) in line with national average or better  (Merton 

three year rolling average 66%, national average 68% (2011 – 2013))
B. Number of adoptions made (2013/14, 10 CYP)
C. Average time (days) between entering care and moving in with adoptive family, for 

children who have been adopted’ indicator shows improvement (Adoption Scorecard 
indicator A1). Merton’s current A1 performance is 689 days (2011-2014), the national 
average is 647 days (2010-2013) 

D. Number of adult adopters recruited (2013/14, 7 adopters (5 couples and 2 singles))
E. Numbers of Special Guardianship Orders granted (2013/14, 4 CYP)
F. Number (and percentage) of 6 to 14 year old children with Full Care Orders (Section 

31) who have been permanently matched. 

Page 148



Page 27 of 27

Priority 8: Care Leavers 
The National context 
The duty to promote the educational achievement of a looked-after child extends to looked-
after young people aged 16 or 17 preparing to leave care. These are referred to in the 
Children Act 1989 as ‘eligible children’. 

Merton’s track record 

In 2014 Merton launched a Care Leavers strategy based on the DfE best practice paper. 
Priority 8 should therefore be read in conjunction with the Care Leavers strategy in 
which all of our priorities and commitments to our Care leavers are presented. 

Merton has maintained and strengthened services for care leavers to support their successful 
transition to adulthood.  The outcomes achieved by our care leavers often depend on the age 
they become looked after, however our ambitions for all looked after children and care leavers 
remain high.  In addition to a targeted Care Leavers strategy we also formalised our  
commitment to all Care Leaver’s by signing up to a co-developed Charter in February 2013. 

Our organisational structure (14+ Team) supports the delivery of our ambitions and ensures 
that we develop long lasting proactive relationships with our young people. A number of our 
Care leavers choose to continue to support the Children in Care Council and more informally 
choose to keep in touch with us when they have leave care for advice, guidance and kinship.

Merton’s commitment moving forward 
1. Performance in the Care Leaver area is challenging and we have therefore worked 

with partners to develop a Care Leaver Strategy which targets issues relating to 
housing, employment and health.  Please refer to the Care Leavers strategy for more 
information about our service and support commitments. 

Impact measures
A. A range of impact measures relating to Care Leavers education; attainment and 

housing amongst other things are addressed in our Care Leavers Strategy.

Page 149



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Committee: Children and Young People’s Scrutiny Panel
Date: 21st March 2017
Wards: All

Subject:  Looked After Children and Care Leavers Sufficiency Strategy 2017-18
Lead officer: Liz Broughton, Head of Access to Resources
Lead member: Cllr Katy Neep, Cabinet Member for Children’s Services
Contact officer: Liz Broughton, Head of Access to Resources

Recommendations: 
A. For the Children and Young People’s Scrutiny Panel to discuss and comment on 

issues relating to sufficiency of placements for Care Leavers and Young People.

1 PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
1.1. To inform a discussion with members in regards to the LA’s statutory duty to 

ensure sufficient placement availability for children looked after and care 
leavers. 

1.2. The authority is required to produce a sufficiency statement. This is 
presented in full in Appendix A. A key summary of the pertinent details are in 
section 2 below

2 DETAILS
2.1. The London Borough of Merton is the Corporate Parent for the children and 

young people that are placed in its care by means of care orders or 
voluntary accommodation. The term Corporate Parent, put simply, means 
that Merton wants everything that a good parent wants for their child for the 
children in its care, and commits the resources and efforts of the council to 
achieving the very best that can be achieved for each child. This includes 
supporting our looked after young people into independence as they become 
Care Leavers. Being a good Corporate Parent requires a whole systems 
approach across the council and all of its elected members and employees, 
in partnership with education, health, police and other agencies and 
individuals with responsibility for the safety and wellbeing of Children Looked 
After and Care Leavers. The delivery of services to children and young 
people in care requires procedures, processes and systems to ensure that 
their needs are met to a high standard, but alongside this organisational 
activity, and underpinning this activity, the Corporate Parent must 
demonstrate to each child in its care that they are loved and cherished. 
Merton aspires to nothing less, and requires this standard of Corporate 
Parenting from every member and employee of the council.

2.2. One area of importance is to ensure that all of our looked after children and 
young people are provided with good quality, safe placements appropriate to 
their needs that allows them to develop the skills necessary to move into 
adulthood when they are ready to do so. The Sufficiency Statement sets out 

Page 151

Agenda Item 6



2

Merton’s strategic approach to securing sufficient accommodation to meet 
the needs of our looked after children. The council has a duty, as stated in 
section 22G of the Children Act 1989, to take steps to secure, as far as 
reasonably practicable, sufficient accommodation for looked after children 
within their local authority area. The 2010 guidance on the ‘sufficiency duty’ 
states that local authorities should have embedded plans, as part of their 
commissioning processes and through partnership working, to meet the 
duty.

2.3. In Merton we undertake a needs analysis and review our Sufficiency 
Strategy on an annual basis. The 2017/18 statement reflects information on 
children, young people and care leavers looked after during 2015/16.
General Demographics- Key Findings

2.4. In 2015/16, we commissioned 410 placements (used by 273 children) 
2.5. 163 children remained in placements open at 31 March 2016
2.6. One-third of placements were for children aged 16 years and over at 

placement start date (140 out of 410 placements; 34%) 
2.7. More females entered care (16 more females than previous year) – there 

was an additional 26 placements for females (up three percentage points 
from 2014-15)

2.8. Nearly half of all placements used by children who are eligible for Pupil 
Premium (190 out of 410 placements; 46%) 

2.9. One in six placements are used by children with either a Statement of SEN 
or an EHC Plan (68 out of 410 placements; 17%) – 44 children with a 
Statement of SEN or an EHC Plan

2.10. Of the 68 placements used by children with either a Statement of SEN or an 
EHC Plan, nearly half related to children with a primary SEN need of Social, 
Emotional and Mental Health (32 out of 68 placements; 47%) 

2.11. Three-quarters of placements during 2015-16 located within 10 miles of 
child’s home address (270 out of 367 placements matched; 74%) 

2.12. One-third of placements during 2015-16 located in Merton (130 out of 410 
placements; 32%)

2.13. 37% children placed as at 31 March 2016 had been in the same placement 
for 1 year or longer (61 out of 163 children)  

2.14. One-third of placements ceasing during 2015-16 lasted for less than 1 month 
(83 out of 247 placements ceased; 34%) 

2.15. During 2015/16, of the 273 children looked after, 80 belonged to 33 siblings 
groups. 

2.16. 67% of the sibling groups were placed together (22 out of 33 sibling groups). 
2.17. 17 children in care (as at 31 March 2016) using three or more placements 

during 2015-16
2.18. A variety of different placements are commissioned for our looked after 

children and young people, depending on their specific needs. In this period 
the significant majority of children were placed with in-house foster carers in 

Page 152



3

keeping with Merton’s values and the needs of the children. The second 
greatest numbers of children were placed with foster carers from private 
agencies. Fostering is overwhelmingly the environment most closely 
matched to the needs of the greatest number of children and young people. 
The increase of children placed in children’s homes has been under review 
to ensure that children are appropriately placed, and that their plans for 
transition to fostering or other types of accommodation are being progressed 
appropriate to their assessed needs.
Key Findings: Foster Care 

2.19. 163 In-House foster care placements were made during 2015-16 (40% of  all 
placements during 2015-16) 

2.20. 69 children in In-House foster care placements remain open at 31 March 
2016

2.21. 40% of In-House foster care placements were for children aged over 12 
years old at placement start date (65 out of 163 placements) 

2.22. 53% of In-House foster placements were used by children eligible for Pupil 
Premium (87 out of 163 placements) 

2.23. 7% of In-House foster placements were used by children with either a 
Statement of SEN or an EHC Plan (11 out of 163 placements)

2.24. 96% of In-House foster care placements during 2015-16 were located within 
10 miles of child’s home address (136 out of 141 placements matched) 

2.25. Two-thirds of In-House foster care placements during 2015-16 were located 
in Merton (103 out of 163 placements; 63%)

2.26. 41% Looked After Children placed in an In-House foster placement as at 31 
March 2016 had been in the same placement for 1 year or longer (28 out  of  
69 children)  

2.27. One-third of In-House foster care placements ceasing during 2015-16 lasted 
for less than 1 month (33 out of 94 placements ceased; 35%) 

2.28. 12 sibling groups were placed together in In-House foster care placements 
during 2015-16 

2.29. 18 (26%)children were placed with in house carers were in permanent 
placements
What we will do in 2017/18

2.30. We will continue to target our recruitment of foster carers to provide more 
carers for teenagers aged 12+ of either gender to meet the increased need 
for in house carers for this age group. The recruitment target for 2016/17 
target is 15 carers with at least 7 for target groups of teenagers. Recruiting 
foster carers for teenagers is a challenge as there is a competitive market 
with IFAs and other local authorities also trying to build up their own 
provision. 

2.31. Although we are confident that we are able to promote Merton as the local 
authority of choice for prospective foster carers, we will continue to 
benchmark this by offering:

a) quick, well managed recruitment processes and assessments 

Page 153



4

b) good quality support to our carers 
c) regular review to ensure competitive fostering rates in relation to 

local neighbours 
2.32. We will be proactive in working in consortium arrangements to consider 

smarter ways of commissioning placements
2.33. We will maximise the use of our in house placements for all of our looked 

after children and young people by ensuring that as part of the annual review 
processes for foster carers, we will continue to ensure that we are have 
carers with as wide an approval range as possible to provide flexibility and 
opportunities when placement finding.
Key Findings: Children’s Homes 

2.34. 46 Children’s Home placements were commissioned during 2015-16  (11% 
of all placements during 2015-16) 

2.35. 27 Children were placed in Children’s Home placements as at 31 March 
2016 

2.36. Nearly two-thirds of Children’s Homes placements during 2015-16 were for 
children aged 12 to15 years old at start of placement (27 out of 46 
placements; 59%) 

2.37. 72% of Children’s Homes placements during 2015-16 were for males (33 out 
of 46 placements) 

2.38. Two-thirds of Children’s Home placements during 2015-16 were for disabled 
children (31 out of 46 placements; 67%) 

2.39. The majority of Children’s Homes placements during 2015-16 were located 
20 miles or further from home address (31out of 46 placements; 67%)
What we will do in 2017/18

2.40. We will explore the reasons for our increase in the use of Children’s Homes
2.41. We will review all existing young people placed in Children’s Homes with a 

view to considering step down arrangements through our new Placements 
Panel

2.42. We will work with existing and new providers within 5 miles of Merton to 
develop closer commissioning relationships. 

2.43. We will continue to work with providers to ensure quality and best value of 
placements though regular quality assurance visits and robust fee 
negotiations both on placement and at key points during changes in service 
delivery.

2.44. We will be proactive in working in consortium arrangements to consider 
smarter ways of commissioning placements.

2.45. Merton is represented on the London Care Placements Fee negotiations 
panel and will continue to drive to maintain standard, costs and to identify 
new possible providers near to the borough.

2.46. We will develop new consortium working arrangements with colleagues to 
ensure best practice in the field of commissioning residential children’s 
homes placements.

Page 154



5

Key Findings: 16+ Semi-Independent Provision for 16/17 year olds 
2.47. 61 Semi-Independent placements were commissioned during 2015-16 (15% 

of all placements during 2015-16).
2.48. 16 Children were placed in Semi-Independent placements as at 31 March 

2016.
2.49. The majority of 16+ Semi-Independent placements during 2015-16 were for 

children aged 17 years old at start of placement (49 out of 61 placements; 
80%). 

2.50. 97% of 16+ Semi-Independent placements during 2015-16 were located 
outside of Merton local authority boundary (59 out of 61 placements) 
although 82% were located within 10 miles of their home address (40 out of 
49 placements matched). 

2.51. Three-quarters of Looked After Children in 16+ Semi-Independent Provision 
as at 31 March 2016 had been in the same placement for less than six 
months (12 out of 16 children; 75%). 
What we will do 

2.52. We will review our use of the semi-independent market for our looked after 
young people and care leaver to ensure that use of this provision is time-
limited and is used as a step into independent living.

2.53. We will continue to work closely with well-developed semi-independent and 
housing providers to enable them to support young people remaining within 
Merton including Grenfell who has recently (September 2016) opened a 
semi-independent unit in Merton for young people aged 16+

2.54. We will continue to embed our financial framework with providers to ensure 
that we are getting best value for placements made.
Key Findings: Care Leavers 2015-16 

2.55. Merton had responsibility for 150 Care Leavers aged 18 to 21 years old 
during 2015-16

2.56. 66 young people are using semi-independent provision (44% 66 out of 150)
2.57. 87% of Care Leavers aged 18 to 21 were ‘in touch’ with Merton CSF (130 

out of 150 Care Leavers)
2.58. 93% of ‘In-touch’ Care Leavers aged 18 to 21 were residing in suitable 

accommodation at point of contact (121 out of 130 In-touch Care Leavers)
2.59. Majority of In-touch 18 and 19 year old care leavers were residing in 16+ 

Semi-Independent provision at point of contact.
What we will do 

2.60. We will continue to embed our financial framework with providers to ensure 
that we are getting best value for placements made.

2.61. We will work closely with providers who can offer temporary housing for our 
young people 

Page 155



6

2.62. We will work more closely with colleagues in C&H to access the Shared 
Lives Scheme where appropriate for our most vulnerable young people and 
care leavers

3 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS
3.1. Options to deliver sufficiency are within the report.
4 CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN OR PROPOSED
4.1. This report has been considered at the Corporate Parenting Board.
5 TIMETABLE
5.1. This report is refreshed annually.
6 FINANCIAL, RESOURCE AND PROPERTY IMPLICATIONS
6.1. Financial implications are referenced within the report in Appendix A.
7 LEGAL AND STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS
7.1. The council has a duty, as stated in section 22G of the Children Act 1989, to 

take steps to secure, as far as reasonably practicable, sufficient 
accommodation for looked after children within their local authority area. The 
2010 guidance on the ‘sufficiency duty’ states that local authorities should 
have embedded plans, as part of their commissioning processes and 
through partnership working, to meet the duty.

8 HUMAN RIGHTS, EQUALITIES AND COMMUNITY COHESION 
IMPLICATIONS

8.1. Analysis of the children and their needs takes full account of equalities 
implications.

9 CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS
9.1. Not relevant for this report.
10 RISK MANAGEMENT AND HEALTH AND SAFETY IMPLICATIONS
10.1. Not relevant for this report.
11 APPENDICES – THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTS ARE TO BE 

PUBLISHED WITH THIS REPORT AND FORM PART OF THE REPORT
APPENDIX A: SECURING SUFFICIENT ACCOMMODATION FOR 
LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN AND CARE LEAVERS 2017 – 2018 LONDON 
BOROUGH OF MERTON

12 BACKGROUND PAPERS
12.1. None

Page 156



1

Securing Sufficient Accommodation for Looked 
After Children and Care Leavers 2017 - 2018

London Borough of Merton

Issue Date Data & Policy Analysis Date Of the 
Next Review 

Lead Head of 
Service 

Naheed Chaudhry , Head of 
Policy Planning and Performance 
Martin Clarke, Strategic 
Performance Analyst 

Liz Broughton, 
Head of Access to 
Resources

Page 157



2

Contents
1. Introduction ............................................................................................................3

2. Values Approach to Placement Commissioning ................................................4

3. Policy context .........................................................................................................5

4. Needs Analysis and Sufficiency review 2015/16.................................................7

5. Fostering.................................................................................................................9

6. Development of Merton’s fostering service - In House Fostering...................13

7. Children’s homes .................................................................................................18

8. 16+ years of age semi-independent accommodation (SIA) .............................23

9. Care Leavers.........................................................................................................26

10. Placements and what we do well......................................................................28

11 Budget Information .............................................................................................34

Appendix A - All Placements during 2014-15 and 2015-16 by key factors .........36
Appendix B - Background information ..................................................................37
Appendix C - Merton’s Strategic Framework and Governance ...........................38
Appendix D - Our Corporate Parenting responsibilities ......................................39
Appendix E - User Voice..........................................................................................41
Appendix F - Budget Outturn 2015-16....................................................................45

Page 158



3

1. Introduction

The London Borough of Merton is the Corporate Parent for the children and young people 
that are placed in its care by means of care orders or voluntary accommodation. The term 
Corporate Parent, put simply, means that Merton wants everything that a good parent wants 
for their child for the children in its care, and commits the resources and efforts of the council 
to achieving the very best that can be achieved for each child. Being a good Corporate 
Parent requires a whole systems approach across the council and all of its elected members 
and employees, in partnership with education, health, police and other agencies and 
individuals with responsibility for the safety and wellbeing of Children Looked After. The 
delivery of services to children and young people in care requires procedures, processes and 
systems to ensure that their needs are met to a high standard, but alongside this 
organisational activity, and underpinning this activity, the Corporate Parent must demonstrate 
to each child in its care that they are loved and cherished. Merton aspires to nothing less, 
and requires this standard of Corporate Parenting from every member and employee of the 
council.

Accommodating children and young people in the type and range of placements that are best 
able to meet their needs now and into their futures is crucial to helping children to achieve 
improved outcomes and to shaping their adult lives and opportunities. This document sets 
out the strategy by which Merton will plan to secure the types and sufficiency of placements it 
needs now and in the year ahead. The strategy is informed by needs analysis, good practice, 
experience to date, and provides a framework for the activity that will be undertaken to obtain 
high quality placements for our children and young people. This ‘Sufficiency Statement’ is not 
a stand alone strategy or approach because it is intersected by, and shares, the purposes, 
objectives, and actions, of cross-cutting plans, including the Merton Children and Young 
People’s Plan, the Corporate Parenting Reports, the Looked After Children Strategy, and the 
Care Leavers Strategy. It should be read in conjunction with these documents. The 
Sufficiency Strategy is also informed by the Placement Quality and Improvement Plan which 
was initiated by Children’s Services in September 2016 in response to an independent 
review of placement quality, range, and cost.

As shown in this document, there is much to celebrate in the performance of the council in 
the care of it’s looked after children, young people and care leavers. Achievements include 
better performance than national performance in maintaining placement stability, so crucial to 
improved outcomes for the child, keeping siblings together, and placing children within, or 
close to, their local communities. The recruitment of foster carers is good and there is a high 
rate of retention. The fostering service performs well at ensuring younger children are placed 
with Merton’s own foster carers. However, more needs to be done because Merton aspires 
to placing more of its children, and older children especially, with its own foster carers and 
being less reliant on the private fostering sector, and to enabling children in residential 
children’s homes to transition to fostering placements, or to returning home to their families, 
whenever safe and appropriate. 

There are 32 boroughs in London recruiting foster carers and placing children with private 
fostering agencies. In addition, some local authorities from outside London are also placing 
children in London, so that the local ‘economy’ of placements presents complex challenges 
to sufficiency.  The Placement Quality and Improvement Plan will ensure that Merton can 
provide strong leadership in the management of placement resources in South London in the 
coming year. Merton also aspires to enabling care leavers to transition to independent living 
in the range and types of accommodation best suited to their needs; a challenge in the 
context of Merton’s local social and private housing market.  This document is a 
demonstration both of Merton’s leadership and commitment to managing the complexities of 
the placements economy in South London to achieve sufficiency and quality of placements 
for it’s looked after children, and of the values that informs Merton’s approach. 

Page 159



4

2. Values Approach to Placement Commissioning

Our values inform our placement commissioning and matching processes and this can be 
stated, simply, by the following:

 Children in the care of Merton will be placed in the accommodation that best meets 
their safety, health, education, emotional, behavioural, self-identity, family, and 
contact needs

 Fostering most closely replicates a family environment, and Merton believes that 
children are best cared for in a family environment because relationships with care 
givers sustain a child now and in their future lives

 Some children reject fostering because they have been hurt or let down by their own 
families or perhaps, because they find close relationships difficult to maintain, but 
Merton believes that all children in its care should be enabled to grow up in a family 
environment whenever this is achievable 

 Children’s homes can be a valuable service in meeting a child’s needs, but Merton 
believes that children should be placed in a home only in exceptional circumstances, 
where there is a clearly assessed need, and as a transitional step to placing  the child 
with a foster family whenever appropriate

 Children in the care of Merton will be cared for in or near Merton unless this is unsafe 
for them. Exceptionally a child may be placed at some distance from Merton to meet 
their specific and unique needs

 Merton has a preference for placing children with its own foster carers because it has 
approved its own foster carers and knows them well, having in many cases, a long 
relationship with them. In addition the cost of placing a child with a foster carer 
employed by a private agency is very much higher and the council has a duty of 
stewardship for public funds

 Care leavers should be enabled to transition from their fostering placements to a 
range of accommodation types best suited to their individual needs, including Staying 
Put Arrangements with their former foster carers where possible

Page 160



5

3. Policy context

3.1 Sufficiency Duty

The Sufficiency Statement sets out Merton’s strategic approach to securing sufficient 
accommodation to meet the needs of our looked after children. The council has a duty, as 
stated in section 22G of the Children Act 1989, to take steps to secure, as far as reasonably 
practicable, sufficient accommodation for looked after children within their local authority 
area. The 2010 guidance on the ‘sufficiency duty’ states that local authorities should have 
embedded plans, as part of their commissioning processes and through partnership working, 
to meet the duty. 

The sufficiency duty must take account of the requirement, under section 22C (5) of the 
Children Act 1989, that the overriding consideration for placing a child is that the placement 
must be the most appropriate available to meet the child’s needs. Next, preference must be 
given to a placement with a friend, relative or other person connected with the child and who 
is a local authority foster carer. Failing that, a placement must be found, as far as is 
reasonably practicable in all circumstances, that:

 Is near the child's home; 
 Is within the local authority's area, unless that is not reasonably practicable. 
 Enables the child to live with an accommodated sibling; 
 Where the child is disabled, is suitable to meet the needs of that child; and 
 Does not disrupt his/her education or training; 

3.2 Government guidance on supporting looked after children and care leavers

3.2.1 Putting Children First (DfE Strategy July 2016) 

Putting Children First sets out the Government’s transformation agenda for children’s social 
care and social work based around reform of the ‘three pillars’ of the system: ‘people and 
leadership’, ‘practice and systems’ and ‘governance and accountability’. The key proposals 
for improvements for looked after children are:

A Safe and Stable Home – this includes legislating to set out in law1 a set of corporate 
parenting principles which apply to looked after children and care leavers up to the age of 25, 
and which guide the way in which the local authority ‘acts as any good parent would for 
children in care and care leavers’. The principles include a focus on safety and stability in 
home lives, relationships, education or work; preparation for independence; promotion of 
health and well-being; access to and use of services; and participation in decisions about 
their lives.

Foster Placements that Work – this includes using learning from a number of ‘Innovation 
Programmes’ which have started to show how stable placement can be achieved for even 
challenging children when carers are properly trained and supported and young people have 
access to respite and therapy.

3.2.2 The Role of Residential Care (July 2016) – this includes recommendations from a 
recent review of residential care by Sir Martin Narey2 that residential care is the right place 
for some children – to manage a crisis, to provide intensive support to prepare for a foster 
placements, and in some cases as a long term option.

1 Children and Social Work Bill 2016 pp. 1&2 – Corporate Parenting Principles.
2 Residential Care in England: Report of Sir Martin Narey’s independent review of children’s residential care, July 2016

Page 161



6

3.2.3 Keep on Caring: supporting young people from care to independence (Cross 
Government Guidance July 2016) sets out how the state, as corporate parents will support 
care leavers to achieve 5 key outcomes: 

 Living independently – this includes a number of the provisions to be set out in law3: 
the new ‘corporate parenting principles’; the duty to publish a ‘local offer’ of services 
for care leavers; and access to a local authority Personal Adviser up to the age of 25. 
In addition there will be a new ‘care leaver covenant’ for other organizations to sign 
up to voluntarily.

 Access to education, employment and training – this includes improved access to 
supported internships, apprenticeships (including meeting training costs), further and 
higher education, and employment.

 Stability: feeling safe and secure – this includes continued funding for the ‘Staying 
Put’ Duty4, introduction of the ‘Staying Close’ recommendations5, and increased 
funding to support UASC children.

 Access to health support - this includes improved pathways and models of support for 
children and young people with mental health problems, and improved accountability 
for services via the CQC and JTAI.

 Financial stability – this includes allowing a number of exemptions, for care leavers, 
from changes to eligibility for housing support, and ensures access to money 
management support through the Personal Adviser role.

3.3 Equalities

Under the Equalities Duty 2010, all local authorities have a statutory duty to consider and 
mitigate any potential negative impact of services, policies, and procedures on people with 
‘protected characteristics’. The ‘Sufficiency Statement’ includes analysis of data segmented 
by gender, disability, ethnicity and age as an impact assessment for these groups.

3.4. User Voice

The Sufficiency Statement includes an overview of the user voice activity, undertaken by the 
Children, Schools and Families Department, with looked after children and care leavers, 
which has impacted on service developments and delivery. 

Our ‘user voice’ work is in line with the requirements of the Children Act 1989 and 2004 
which recognises children as citizens with the right to be heard and requires that when 
working with children in need, their wishes and feelings should be ascertained and used to 
inform making decisions. It also reflect the Children and Families Act 2014 section 19 which 
requires that children, young people and families should be involved in decision making at 
every level of the system, and meets the requirements of the new corporate parenting 
principles6 which state that in the provision of services for looked after children and care 
leavers their views, wishes and feelings should be taken into account.

4. Needs Analysis and Sufficiency review 2015/16
 

3 Children and Social Work Bill 2016 pp. 1&2 – Corporate Parenting Principles.
4 Children and Families Act 2014
5 Residential Care in England (as above)
6 Children and Social Work Bill (as above)

Page 162



7

4.1 Placement types and numbers

The types of placements required for CLA in the previous two years is shown in Table 1. This 
shows that of the wide range of placement types the significant majority of children were 
accommodated with in-house foster carers in keeping with Merton’s values and the needs of 
the children. The second greatest number of children were accommodated with foster carers 
from private agencies. Fostering is overwhelmingly the environment most closely matched to 
the needs of the greatest number of children and young people. The increase of children 
being placed in children’s homes is under review at this time to ensure that children are 
appropriately placed, and that their plans for transition to fostering or other types of 
accommodation are being progressed appropriate to their assessed needs.

Table 1: Number of placements by placement type 2015-16 with 2014-15 benchmark7

No. of 
children

No. of 
placements

% of 
placements

No. of 
children

No. of 
placements

% of 
placements

No. of 
children

No. of 
placements

In-House foster care 131 149 40% 139 163 40% 8 14

Agency foster care 79 90 24% 75 93 23% -4 3

16+ Semi-Independent Provision 43 53 14% 46 61 15% 3 8

Children's Homes 26 41 11% 38 46 11% 12 5

Adoption 15 15 4% 17 17 4% 2 2

Young Offender Institution or Prison 2 2 1% 7 7 2% 5 5

NHS/Health Trust or other 
establishment providing medical or 
nursing care

5 5 1% 5 6 1% 0 1

Placed w ith ow n parents or other 
person w ith parental responsibility 8 8 2% 3 5 1% -5 -3

Independent Living 1 1 0% 5 5 1% 4 4

Family Centre or mother and baby 
unit 3 3 1% 3 3 1% 0 0

All Residential Schools, except 
w here dual-registered as a school 
and children's home

4 4 1% 2 2 0% -2 -2

Secure Unit 3 5 1% 1 1 0% -2 -4

Residential care home 1 1 0% 1 1 0% 0 0

Total 255 377 100% 273 410 100% 18 33

Type of placement 

2014-15
Difference (2014-15 to 

2015-16)2015-16

Source: SSDA903 2014-15 & 2015-16

7 Excludes short break and missing episodes

Key Findings: All Placements 2015-16

 410 placements during 2015-16 (used by 273 children) 

 163 children in placements open at 31 March 2016

 One-third of placements for children aged 16 years and over at placement start date (140 
out of 410 placements; 34%) 

 More females entering care (16 more females than previous year) – an additional 26 
placements for females (up three percentage points from 2014-15)

 Nearly half of all placements used by children eligible for Pupil Premium (190 out of 410 
placements; 46%) 

 One in six placements used by children with either a Statement of SEN or an EHC Plan 
(68 out of 410 placements; 17%) – 44 children with a Statement of SEN or an EHC Plan

 Of the 68 placements used by children with either a Statement of SEN or an EHC Plan, 
nearly half related to children with a primary SEN need of Social, Emotional and Mental 
Health (32 out of 68 placements; 47%) 

 Three-quarters of placements during 2015-16 located within 10 miles of child’s home 
address (270 out of 367 placements matched; 74%) 

 One-third of placements during 2015-16 located in Merton (130 out of 410 placements; 
32%)

 37% children placed as at 31 March 2016 had been in the same placement for 1 year or 
longer (61 out of 163 children)  

 One-third of placements ceasing during 2015-16 lasted for less than 1 month (83 out of 
247 placements ceased; 34%) 

 During 2015/16, of the 273 children looked after, 80 belonged to 33 siblings groups. 

 67% of the sibling groups were placed together (22 out of 33 sibling groups). 

 17 children in care (as at 31 March 2016) using three or more placements during 2015-16

Page 163



8

5. Fostering

Page 164



9

5.1. Age, gender and distance of foster care placements

The number of children placed in agency foster care has remained largely stable. However 
Table 2 (showing the age profile of these children) demonstrates that children aged 12-15 
years are more likely to be placed with private fostering agencies than with in-house foster 
carers. Whilst it is an achievement that younger children are cared for by in-house foster 
carers, it is recognised that greater capacity is required in-house to care for older children. 
This age group now accounts for a third of admissions into care, whereas in past years they 
were proportionately a smaller number.

Table 2: Percentage of In-House and Agency placements by age range (2015-16)

10%
18%

32%
20% 20%

5% 2%

27%

45%

20%

Under 1 year 1 to 4 years 5 to 11 years 12 to 15 years 16 years and over
0%

10%
20%
30%
40%
50%

All Placements 2015-16 In-House 2015-16 Agency 2015-16

Source: SSDA903 2015-16

There are more girls than boys placed with private fostering agencies, as Table 3 shows, in 
comparison with in-house foster care.

Table 3: Number and percentage of In-House and Agency placements by gender (2015-16)
In-House Foster Care (2015-16) Agency foster care (2015-16)

Placement Demographics
No. of 

children
No. of 

placements
% of 

placements
No. of 

children
No. of 

placements
% of 

placements

Male 79 93 57% 37 46 49%
Gender

Female 60 70 43% 38 47 51%

Total 139 163 100% 75 93 100%
 Source: SSDA903 2015-16

Merton performs well at placing the overwhelming majority of its children within or close to 
the borough as Table 4 shows; 86% are within five miles of their family home. Placements 
with private fostering agencies are less likely to be close to the child’s home because of the 
areas in which these agencies recruit their foster carers, and this is particularly true for 
children’s homes which may be placed some distance from London.

Table 4: Percentage of In-House and Agency placements by distance from home (2015-16)

19%

67%

10% 1% 0% 3%7%

39%
25%

7% 7% 14%

Under 1 mile 1 to 5 miles 5 to 10 miles 10 to 15 miles 15 to 20 miles 20 miles and 
over

0%
20%

50%

80%
100%

All Placements 2015-16 In-House 2015-16 Agency 2015-16

Source: SSDA903 2015-16
5.2. Length of fostering placements

Page 165



10

As should be anticipated, Table 5 shows that placements with the private fostering agencies 
are usually for longer length of duration than in-house foster care and this is attributable to 
the younger ages of children cared for in-house, with greater likelihood of returning home or 
achieving permanence through Adoption, Special Guardianship, or other means. At 31 
March 2016, a higher proportion of agency foster placements were open for a period of two 
years or more than the In-House foster placements. Additionally, a high number of young 
people accommodated by means of Police Protection are only in care for a short period of 
time before returning home. It should be noted, that the national statistical return shows that 
for those children remaining in the care of Merton, their placement stability is better than local 
and national comparators. Merton is committed to creating permanence for children in their 
fostering placements, and where appropriate to the child’s needs, Merton matches children 
to their private fostering agencies carers. 

Table 5: Number and percentage of In-House and Agency placements by placement length 
(open as 31 March 2016 and those ceased during 2015-16)

In-House Foster Care (2015-16) Agency foster care (2015-16)
Placement Demographics No. of 

children
No. of 

placements
% of 

placements
No. of 

children
No. of 

placements
% of 

placements

Less than 1 month 7 7 10% 2 2 5%

1 to 3 months 10 10 14% 5 5 13%

3 to 6 months 12 12 17% 4 4 10%

6 to 12 months 12 12 17% 7 7 18%

1 to 2 years 16 16 23% 5 5 13%

Placement 
length 
(Open 
placement
s as at 31 
March)

2 years or more 12 12 17% 16 16 41%

Total 69 69 100% 39 39 100%

Less than 1 month 28 33 35% 19 22 41%

1 to 3 months 16 16 17% 6 6 11%

3 to 6 months 12 12 13% 8 9 17%

6 to 12 months 15 15 16% 6 6 11%

1 to 2 years 14 14 15% 4 4 7%

Placement 
length 
(Ceased 
placement
s during 
year)

2 years or more 4 4 4% 7 7 13%

Total (no duplicates) 87 94 100% 45 54 100%
Source: SSDA 903 2015-16

5.3. What this data tells us

Page 166



11

Use of foster placements has increased during 2015/16 with 3 additional young people and 
17 additional foster placements being used throughout the year compared with 2014/15 data. 
It is a particular strength to note that 14 of those additional placements were provided 
through Merton in house foster carers. As agency foster carers are significantly more 
expensive than our in house carers, this also represents good use of the Council’s budget.

As the majority of foster carers live within 10 miles of Merton (96%) this means that there is 
likely to have been less disruption of services for these children and young people, including 
fewer moves of education provision or changes to their health provision. It also means that 
where there are contact arrangements in place, it is likely to be easier for children and young 
people to maintain contact with their family and friends. These are all significant factors in 
supporting placement stability and help to reduce the impact of coming into care on children 
and young people.

There remain a higher percentage of our young people aged 12+ placed with agency foster 
carers (65%). This suggests the need to increase our numbers of carers who are 
experienced in caring for older children, and to equip prospective foster carers in training with 
the necessary skills and with the expectation of caring for older children. Many foster carers 
report their very positive experiences of caring for older children, but it is recognised that 
some children have complex and challenging behaviours that require additional resilience 
from their carers and additional support to their foster carers. Merton is currently exploring 
approaches to equipping sufficient foster carers with the skills and resilience to care for older 
children with challenging needs.

The needs analysis of the Sufficiency Statement has demonstrated the need for Merton to 
increase in-house fostering capacity for children and young people aged over 11 years, and 
particularly for older girls. This will lead to less reliance on private agency providers of 
fostering for this age group, and also to a decrease in the number of children placed with 
private children’s homes. The in-house fostering service is successful at caring for younger 
children and in providing placements of shorter duration as a bridge to the child returning 
home or moving to a more permanent alternative arrangement. The need now exists for the 
in-house service to acquire increased capacity in caring for older children, and for providing 
more placements of longer duration, including permanence.

Key Findings: In-House Foster Care

 163 In-House foster care placements during 
2015-16 (40% of  all placements during 
2015-16) 

 69 children in In-House foster care 
placements open at 31 March 2016

 40% of  In-House foster care placements for 
children aged over 12 years old at 
placement start date (65 out of  163 
placements) 

 53% of  In-House foster placements used 
by children eligible for Pupil Premium (87 
out of 163 placements) 

 7% of  In-House foster placements used by 
children with either a Statement of SEN or 
an EHC Plan (11 out of 163 placements)

 96% of  In-House foster care placements 
during 2015-16 located within 10 miles of 
child’s home address (136 out of  141 
placements matched) 

 Two-thirds of In-House foster care 
placements during 2015-16 located in 
Merton (103 out of 163 placements; 63%)

 41% Looked After Children placed in an In-
House foster placement as at 31 March 
2016 had been in the same placement for 1 
year or longer (28 out  of  69 children)  

 One-third of In-House foster care 
placements ceasing during 2015-16 lasted 
for less than 1 month (33 out of 94 
placements ceased; 35%) 

 12 sibling groups placed together in In-
House foster care placements during 2015-
16 

 18 (26%)children placed with in house 
carers were in permanent placements

Key Findings: Agency Foster Care

 93 Agency foster care placements during 
2015-16 (23% of  all placements during 2015-
16) 

 39 children in Agency foster care placements 
open at 31 March 2016

 Two-thirds of Agency foster care placements 
during 2015-16 for children aged over 12 years 
old at placement start date (61 out of 93 
placements; 65%)  

 Two-thirds of Agency foster placements used 
by children eligible for Pupil Premium (60 out 
of 93 placements)

 Nearly one in five Agency foster placements 
used by children with either a Statement of 
SEN or an EHC Plan (17 out of 93 placements)

 71% of Agency foster care placements during 
2015-16 located within 10 miles of child’s 
home address (60 out  of  84 placements 
matched) 

 81% Agency foster care placements during 
2015-16 located outside of LA (75 out of  93 
placements) 

 Just over half  of Looked After Children placed 
in Agency foster care placements as at 31 
March 2016 had been in the same placement 
for 1 year or longer (21 out of  39 children; 
54%) 

 41% of Agency foster care placements ceasing 
during 2015-16  lasted for less than 1 month 
(22 out of  54 placements ceased) 

 8 sibling groups placed together in Agency 
foster care placements during 2015-16 

 20 (51%)children placed with agency carers 
were in permanent placements

Page 167



12

5.4. What we will do 

 We will continue to target our recruitment of foster carers to provide more carers for teenagers 
aged 12+ of either gender to meet the increased need for in house carers for this age group. 
The recruitment target for 2016/17 target is 15 carers with at least 7 for target groups of 
teenagers. Recruiting foster carers for teenagers is a challenge as there is a competitive 
market with IFAs and other local authorities also trying to build up their own provision. 

 Although we will recruit for our target group we are also aware that we need to ensure Merton 
will have enough carers for the long term to cover all ages. This includes ensuring that we 
have carers in the younger age group to replace those who will retire in the near future. 

 Although we are confident that we are able to promote Merton as the local authority of choice 
for prospective foster carers, we will continue to benchmark this by offering:
a) quick, well managed recruitment processes and assessments 
b) good quality support to our carers 
c) regular review to ensure competitive fostering rates in relation to local neighbours 

 We will be proactive in working in consortium arrangements to consider smarter ways of 
commissioning placements

Page 168



13

6. Development of Merton’s fostering service - In House Fostering

6.1 Introduction  

There were 72 in house foster carers over the course of last year, the majority providing 
‘Task Based Care’ services. Task Based care is focused on the permanent plan for the child; 
including return home, adoption, or by another route to permanence. Eight in-house foster 
carers were Connected Persons Carers under Regulation 24 of the Children Act 1989. These 
are placements with friends or family members which the council promotes whenever 
appropriate to the child’s needs and family circumstances. A person connected to the child 
can be approved as their temporary foster carer for a maximum of 16 to enable completion of 
the fostering assessment.  

Foster carers are recruited from a wide range of personal circumstances and backgrounds, 
and they bring an equally wide range of experiences and skills to the fostering task. There is 
considerable strength and creativity to be found in this diversity to the benefit of our children, 
and Merton positively encourages and welcomes applications from any persons who are 
motivated to come forward and be assessed as a potential foster carer for a looked after 
child. There is no ‘ideal type’ of a foster carer but Merton does look for the same 
commitment, empathy and the desire to help a child grow to their fullest potential, that is to 
be found in all good foster carers.

6.2 Foster carer age and ethnicity profile

It is a fact, as demonstrated by Table 6 that 50% of Merton’s foster carers are aged 50+ 
years, and 25% are aged  60+ years. Age is not a bar to fostering, and on the contrary, some 
of our most active and skilled foster carers are our older foster carers, but the need clearly 
exists to recruit younger foster carers to provide service continuity as older carers retire.

Table 6: Demographics of In-House Foster Carers during 2015-16

Page 169



14

In-House Foster Carers 2015-16 No. %
(out of 72)

18 to 30 years 0 0%
30 to 40 years 8 11%
40 to 50 years 10 14%
50 to 60 years 36 50%

Age range (as at 31 
March 2016)

Over 60 years 18 25%
White 30 42%
Black 30 42%
Mixed 8 11%
Asian 3 4%

Ethnicity

Other 1 1%
Merton 47 65%
Sutton 10 14%
Croydon 6 8%
Wandsworth 4 6%
Lambeth 3 4%
Southwark 1 1%

Location

Kent 1 1%
Source: Fostering Register 2015-16 – Fostering Team

The ethnicity profile of Merton’s foster carers is similar to the ethnicity profile of our looked 
after children. The majority of foster carers are of White British, Black Caribbean and Black 
African ethnicities, and this may change over the next few years as the borough’s resident 
population becomes more diverse. 

 The majority of Merton’s foster carers live within the borough and the majority of placements 
are within 5 miles of the child’s home address. Merton has recruited foster carers from 
neighbouring boroughs because foster carers sometimes choose to be approved by a 
borough other than their home borough, and we have foster carers in Sutton, Croydon and 
Wandsworth. Only two of our foster carers live further afield in Southwark and Kent.

6.3 Approvals and occupancy rates

As shown by Table 7, increasing the number of fostering placements available to teenage 
children remains a priority. This is a challenge national and locally, because many foster 
carers have a preference for children aged below 12 years. This can be for reasons of their 
own family circumstances, for example, the ages of their children or grandchildren and it can 
also be for reasons of believing that caring for a teenager is more complex or demanding of 
additional skills. Some foster carers are apprehensive of caring for older children. However, it 
is often the case that foster carers who are caring for older children describe their 
experiences as deeply rewarding and personally enriching.

Table 7: Number of In-House foster carers offering task based care during 2015-16 by ages of 
looked after children approved for

Page 170



15

Age (yrs)
No. of task based foster carers 
approved for this age group 
during 2015-16

% All approved task 
based foster carers 
during 2015-16 (out of 58)

Under 1 44 76%
1 to 4 45 78%
5 to 11 49 84%
12 to 15 48 83%
16+ 46 79%
All ages (0-18) 38 66%

Source: Fostering Register 2015-16 – Fostering Team

Foster carers are approved to care for between 1 and 3 children and placement capacity 
within the fostering service is measured as 100% of all these placements. However, this is a 
hypothetical measurement in many respects, because 100% of all placements will not be 
occupied by children. The reasons for placements remaining without a child at any one point 
throughout the year can include, for example, sickness of the foster carer, a child requiring to 
be placed on their own with a carer approved for 2 or 3 children,  or the age of the children 
needing placements is not the age preference of the foster carer. Table 8 shows that 74% of 
placements were occupied by children during the year. 

Table 8: Percentage of In-House task based foster placements used by at least one child 
during 2015-16 (at month end) – trend against 2014-15

82%
69% 62% 67% 67% 64% 70% 67% 65% 71% 73% 79%

68% 67%
74% 74% 74% 72% 72% 73% 69% 71% 65% 67%

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar
0%

20%

50%

80%

100%

2014-15 2015-16
Source: Fostering Team - Fostering Register 2014-15 & 2015-16

Table 9 shows that one in five approved fostering placements was not used during 2015-16, 
meaning that 22% of placements were without children. As said, there are understandable 
reasons for this, but the fostering service is committed to keeping placement vacancy under 
scrutiny to ensure that vacancies are not the consequence of a failure to fully utilize the in-
house resources.

Table 9: Percentage occupancy of task based foster placements during 2015-16
Occupancy Rates during 2015-16 No. % Total
0% Occupancy 13 22%
1% to 50% Occupancy 7 12%
50% to 75% Occupancy 5 9%
75% to 99% Occupancy 11 19%
100% Occupancy 22 38%
Total 58 100%

Source: SSDA 903 Return – Episode CSV & Fostering Register 2015-16 – Fostering Team

6.4 Retention of foster carers

Page 171



16

Table 10 shows that foster carers for Merton remain committed and are retained by the 
service, and we know from survey feedback that a very high percentage of our foster carers 
describe their relationship with the service as good.  

Table 10: Number and percentage of In-House foster carers by length of time approved as a 
carer (as at 31 March 2016 or de-registration date)8

19

7

22

9

15

Less than 1 year 1 to 2 years 2 to 5 years 5 to 10 years More than 10 years
0
5

10
15
20
25

26%
10%

31%

13% 21%

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%

Source: Fostering Register 2015-16 – Fostering Team

Table 11 shows that Merton is successful at recruiting more foster carers each year than 
leave the service, usually for reasons of sickness or retirement. 

Table 11: Retention of In-House foster carers during 2015-16 

In-House foster carers No. of In-House foster 
carers

Permanently recruited during 2015-16 18
De-registered during 2015-16 11
Net Gain during 2015-16 7

 Source: Fostering Team - Fostering Register 2015-16

6.5 What this data tells us 

Many foster carers are aged 50+ years because, for example, they may choose fostering 
when their own children have become adults and left home, or because they may want a 
change of lifestyle from their previous careers. Merton welcomes the experience and wisdom 
they bring to the task of caring for looked after children. However, the age profile of our foster 
carers does raise challenges for the longer term continuity and growth of the fostering 
service if younger carers are not recruited. Children Services have been successful in the 
previous year in attracting younger people into fostering, and 50% of the 18 carers recruited 
are aged below 50 years. Retention of foster carers is good in Merton.  Despite the numbers 
of boroughs recruiting foster carers in London, and the many private fostering agencies also 
recruiting in London, Merton is successful at attracting foster carers to its own fostering 
service and retaining them for many years. 

A significant number of foster carers had no placements in the previous year. This is being 
scrutinized and monitored within the fostering service. However, it is also clear that Merton 
has a need for foster carers to be willing to care for older children. Too high a number of our 
children are placed with private fostering agencies for this reason. Research, feedback, and 
learning from elsewhere, shows that foster carers can be attracted to caring for older children 
and can develop resilience and skill in working with very challenging behaviours when they 
receive the package of support that works best for them. The Placement Quality and 
Improvement Plan includes actions to explore the types and resourcing of support that work 
best. 

8 Please note: One of the 19 foster carers approved for less than year was approved prior to 2015-16 – they 
were approved for less than 1 year as they were de-registered within 2015-16

Page 172



17

6.6 What we will do

 

Key Findings: Profile of In-House Foster Carers

 72 In-House foster carers were on the Merton Fostering Register for a period of time during 
2015/16

 Majority of In-House foster carers offered Task Based or Short Term Care Provision (58 out of 72 
carers; 81%)

 Three-quarters of In-House foster carers aged over 50 as at 31 March 2016 (54 out of 72 carers; 
75%)

 In-House foster carers predominately based in Merton and within 5 miles of the child’s home 
residence

 Two-thirds of In-House foster carers offering task based care are approved to take children of 
any age up to 18 (38 out of 58 task based carers; 66%).

 Between 65% and 74% of In-House foster carers offering task based placements were used by 
at least one looked after child at any given time during 2015-16

 One in five placements not used at all during 2015-16 (13 out of 58 task based foster 
placements; 22%)

 During 2015-16, a total of 18 new foster carers were approved and 11 foster carers de-
registered, resulting in a net gain of 7 foster carers. 

 Of those 18, 4 had a temporary approval as connected person’s foster carers for family members 
and 1 was approved as a Foster for Adoption foster carer.  We will continue to increase our pool of existing foster carers by recruiting 15 new carers 
this year. These new carers should reflect the need for more carers with the capacity to 
foster young people aged 12+. 

 We will increase the current capacity of our existing carers by ensuring and developing 
adequate support for them when they take a placement. This includes improving the level 
of support for carers taking on children outside of their preferred age ranges.

 In view of the age demographic of our current carers, we will recruit younger foster carers 
to future-proof the service and create a longer term workforce

 We will review the Foster Carer Payment Scheme to ensure this remains in line with the 
needs of our children, young people and foster carers and that it is appropriately 
benchmarked against other local authorities and fostering agencies. 

 We need to develop our existing pool of carers to ensure we are maximising their skills. 
This involves our Fostering Supervision Team working with carers as part of their annual 
review process to ensure they access appropriate learning and development

 We will maximise the use of our in house placements for all of our looked after children 
and young people

 As part of the annual review processes for foster carers, we will continue to ensure that 
we are have carers with as wide an approval range as possible to provide flexibility and 
opportunities when placement finding.

 We will improve the quality of referral information that the foster carer receives and 
ensure that placement plans are available in a timely manner to support carers to take on 
young people with more challenging behaviours 

Page 173



18

7. Children’s homes

7.1 Introduction

Children’s homes are usually smaller residential units for 4 or more children with team of staff 
available to the child throughout the day and with night supervision. This provision is subject 
to Children’s Homes Regulations, and is inspected by Ofsted. One member of staff will be 
the child’s keyworker, helping them to make improvement in their health, education, social, 
and behavioural development. Some homes have specialist input from psychologists and 
teachers, for example. Like private fostering agencies, many children’s homes are privately 
run for profit. The average national cost of a placement for a child is £3,250 per week. Some 
local authorities have children’s homes of their own, although in recent years many local 
authorities have closed these for reasons that can include the costs of running them, which 
are similar to those of the private sector, for safeguarding reasons in the wake of lessons 
learned from Rochdale and Rotherham among others, and because of the recognition that 
fostering provides a family environment for a child in which to build and sustain relationships. 
Merton has one home of its own to provide short breaks for disabled children only. These are 
not children in the care of Merton, they are children in the care of their families and requiring 
short breaks. Currently there are only two private children’s homes in the borough that could 
be used by Merton because they are judged by Ofsted to be good, one of which is for 
children with disabilities. 

7.2 Number, gender and ethnicity profile of children in homes 

There has been a 46% increase in the number of children placed in Children’s Homes during 
2015-16 compared with the previous financial year, and this growth in number can be 
attributed to a rise in the number of children aged 12 to 15 years placed in this type of 
provision. As Table 12 shows, nearly 75% of placements are for males but there has been an 
increase in the number of placements for females. 

Table 12: Number and Percentage of Children’s Home placements by Gender during 2015-16 
(against 2014-15 data)

Children's Homes (2014-15) Children's Homes (2015-16)
Placement Demographics No. of 

children
No. of 

placements
% of 

placements
No. of 

children
No. of 

placements
% of 

placements

Male 21 36 88% 26 33 72%
Gender

Female 5 5 12% 12 13 28%

Total 26 41 100% 38 46 100%
  Source: SSDA903 2014-15 & 2015-16

There is an increase in the number of placements for children in children’s homes from Black 
and Minority Ethnic Backgrounds (up 13 percentage points compared to 2014-15), as shown 
in Table 13.

Page 174



19

Table 13: Percentage of Children’s Home placements by ethnicity during 2015-16 (against 
2014-15 data) 

41%

0%

29%

5%

22%

2%

28%

4%
15%

9%

35%

9%

White British White Other Mixed Asian Black Other
0%

10%
20%

40%
50%

All Placements 2015-16 Children's Homes 2014-15 Children's Homes 2015-16
Source: SSDA903 2014-15 & 2015-16

Two-thirds of the Children’s Home placements used during 2015-16 were for children with a 
Statement of Special Educational Needs or Education, Health and Care Plans administered 
by the Merton SEN Team (30 out of 46 placements; 65%). In terms of the Primary SEN 
needs of these children, the majority had either Social, Emotional and Mental Health needs 
or were on the Autistic Spectrum (collectively 22 out of the 30 placements for children with a 
Statement of EHCP; 74%). 

One-third of the Children with a Statement of EHCP using Children’s Home Placements were 
BME males aged 12 to 15 years old (10 out of 30 placements; 33%). In terms of primary 
need, ten out of the 11 children identified with an Autism Spectrum Disorder were from black 
and minority ethnic backgrounds (91%) whilst the ethnicity breakdown for Social, Emotional 
and Mental Health needs was more diverse (six children from BME backgrounds and five 
children from White British backgrounds). 

Table 14: Number and percentage of Children’s Home placements by Special Educational Need 
status and Primary Need classification (2015-16)

Children's Homes (2015-16)

Placement Demographics
No. of 

children
No. of 

placements
% of 

placements

Yes - Statemented or EHC Plan 26 30 65%Statemented 
SEN or EHC 
Plan Not Statemented/ without EHC Plan 12 16 35%

Total 38 46 100%

SEMH - Social, Emotional & Mental Health 9 11 37%

ASD - Autistic Spectrum Disorder 9 11 37%

MLD - Moderate Learning Difficulty 3 3 10%

SPLD - Specific Learning Difficulty 0 0 0%

SLD - Severe Learning Difficulty 3 3 10%

VI - Visual Impairment 1 1 3%

SLCN - Speech, Language & Communication Needs 0 0 0%

Statemented 
SEN or EHC 
Plan cases - 
Primary Need

Unknown 1 1 3%

Total 26 30 100%
  Source: SEN Team – SEN list (June 2016)

Page 175



20

7.3 Children’s Homes – Placement Distance

Children’s home placements are predominately situated further away from Merton than other 
placement types, as suitable placements are harder to acquire locally for children with 
complex special educational and social needs and disabilities (Table 15). With more children 
being placed in Children’s Home placements, there has been a 16 percentage point increase 
in the proportion of placements situated more than 20 miles away from the child’s home 
address. 

Table 15: Percentage of Children’s Home placements by placement distance from home (2014-
2016)

2% 10%
15%

10% 12%

51%

0% 9% 13% 7% 4%

67%

Under 1 mile 1 to 5 miles 5 to 10 miles 10 to 15 miles 15 to 20 miles 20 miles and 
over

0%
20%
40%
60%
80%

100%

All Placements 2015-16 Children's Homes 2014-15 Children's Homes 2015-16

Source: SSDA903 2014-15 & 2015-16

Nine out of 46 (20%) placements during 2015/16 were in residential school placements for 
young people with either a SEN Statement of EHC Plan. There are no residential schools 
within Merton. Seven of 46 Children’s Home placements (15%) were placements where a 
crisis intervention approach is offered for a time limited period in order to stabilise a young 
person’s behaviour. All of these are placed in rural locations outside of Merton.

7.4 Children’s Homes – Stability of placements

One-third of open Children’s Home placements (as at 31 March 2016), had lasted for more 
than one year (10 out of 27 placements; 37%). All 10 of these placements were for children 
with a Statement of SEN. Proportionally, the percentage of open Children’s home 
placements lasting for 1 year or more is in line with All Placements. However, in terms of 
ceased placements, the proportion of Children’s Home placements lasting over 6 months is 
much higher than All Placements (58% for children’s homes compared to 34% for All 
Placements). 

Page 176



21

Table 16: Number and percentage of Children’s Home placements by placement length (open 
as 31 March 2016 and those ceased during 2015-16)

All Placements (2015-16) Children's Homes (2015-16)

Placement Demographics
No. of 

children
No. of 

placements
% of 

placements
No. of 

children
No. of 

placements
% of 

placements

Less than 1 
month 15 15 9% 1 1 4%

1 to 3 months 27 27 17% 4 4 15%

3 to 6 months 24 24 15% 2 2 7%

6 to 12 months 36 36 22% 10 10 37%

1 to 2 years 28 28 17% 6 6 22%

Placement 
length 
(Open 
placements 
as at 31 
March)

2 years or more 33 33 20% 4 4 15%

Total 163 163 100% 27 27 100%

Less than 1 
month 62 83 34% 3 4 21%

1 to 3 months 35 37 15% 0 0 0%

3 to 6 months 37 43 17% 4 4 21%

6 to 12 months 43 45 18% 8 8 42%

1 to 2 years 26 26 11% 2 2 11%

Placement 
length 
(Ceased 
placements 
during year)

2 years or more 13 13 5% 1 1 5%

Total (no duplicates) 176 247 100% 15 19 100%
  Source: SSDA903 2015-16

More stable Children’s Home placements compared to the previous financial year suggest 
that most placements being utilised by the Access to Resources Team are meeting the 
complexity of need identified by the SEN Team for our children with a Statement or EHCP. 

7.5 What this data tells us

Some children and young people can benefit from being placed within a children’s home. 
However, for most children this will be of short duration because they are transitioning to 
other placement arrangements. The data tells us that there has been a significant increase in 
the numbers of children placed in homes in the previous year. This can be explained in part, 
by a change from the Department of Education codes that ended the former distinction 
between residential schools placements and children homes placements. However, there 
has also been an incremental growth in the numbers of children placed in children’s homes, 
particularly Black males.  This is recognised in the Placement Quality and Improvement Plan, 
and actions in response to this includes establishing a panel to review all residential 
placements and establishing alternatives to placing in children’s homes, including a larger 
fostering capacity for older children and children with challenging behaviours. 

Page 177



22

7.6 What we will do

 

 We will explore the reasons for our increase in the use of Children’s Homes

 We will review all existing young people placed in Children’s Homes with a view to considering step 
down arrangements through our new Placements Panel

 With a new Children’s Home opening in Merton, we have put our plan to create a Business Case to 
progress the procurement of a Children’s Home within Merton on hold. We will work closely with this 
new provider so that we are able to meet the needs of our young people in a high quality 
commissioned service in the local area. 

 In addition, we will work with existing and new providers within 5 miles of Merton to develop closer 
commissioning relationships. 

 We will continue to work with providers to ensure quality and best value of placements though 
regular quality assurance visits and robust fee negotiations both on placement and at key points 
during changes in service delivery.

 We will be proactive in working in consortium arrangements to consider smarter ways of 
commissioning placements

 Merton is represented on the London Care Placements Fee negotiations panel and will continue to 
drive to maintain standard, costs and to identify new possible providers near to the borough.

 We will develop new consortium working arrangements with colleagues through LCP to ensure best 
practice in the field of commissioning residential children’s homes placements

Key Findings: Children’s Homes

 46 Children’s Home placements during 2015-16  (11% of all placements during 2015-16) 

 27 Children in Children’s Home placements as at 31 March 2016 

 Nearly two-thirds of Children’s Homes placements during 2015-16 for children aged 12 to 15 
years old at start of placement (27 out of 46 placements; 59%) 

 72% of Children’s Homes placements during 2015-16 for males (33 out of 46 placements) 

 Two-thirds of Children’s Home placements during 2015-16 for disabled children (31 out of 46 
placements; 67%) 

 Majority of Children’s Homes placements during 2015-16 located 20 miles or further from home 
address (31out of 46 placements; 67%) 

Page 178



23

8. 16+ years of age semi-independent accommodation (SIA)

8.1 Introduction

16+ years Semi-independent accommodation enables some young people aged 16 and 17 
years to transition to independence at age 18 years. The needs assessment of the young 
person by their social worker, and the Pathway Plan will identify if this is appropriate and 
suitable for the young person, and this will be reviewed at the statutory review, chaired by the 
young person’s Independent Reviewing Officer. This provision is not subject to Children’s 
Homes Regulations, and is not inspected by Ofsted.  Merton has few young people aged 16 
and 17 years in this provision. It can have a very valuable contribution to make to the growth 
into independence for some young people. Accommodation is usually a private house with 3 
or 4 young people resident, with key worker support from staff on-site throughout the day, 
ranging from a few hours to 24 hour support. SIA placements are usually far more costly than 
in-house fostering.

Merton is committed to the placement stability and security of the young people aged 16 and 
17 years in its care and only uses a SIA placement when this is in the best interests of the 
young person to do so. Recognising that it can be a valuable means of enabling some young 
people to transition to independence as they desire, it is important that Merton obtains the 
range and standard of accommodation needed at a reasonable cost.  

8.2 Number, gender and ethnicity of young people in SIA

There has been a five percentage point increase in the proportion of males placed in Semi-
Independent 16+ placements. Just over two-thirds of Semi-Independent placements are 
used by males (42 out of 61 placements; 69%).

Table 17: Number and percentage of Semi-Independent 16+ placements by gender during 2015-
16 (against 2014-15 data)

16+ Semi-Independent Provision 
(2014-15)

16+ Semi-Independent Provision 
(2015-16)

Placement Demographics
No. of 

children
No. of 

placements
% of 

placements
No. of 

children
No. of 

placements
% of 

placements

Male 29 34 64% 33 42 69%
Gender

Female 14 19 36% 13 19 31%

Total 43 53 100% 46 61 100%
  Source: SSDA903 2014-15 & 2015-16

A higher proportion of Semi-Independent 16+ placements are being used by young people 
from White British and Black backgrounds than the previous financial year. There has been a 
notable decrease of young people from “Other” ethnicity backgrounds (down 12 percentage 
points from 2014-15) (Table 18).

Page 179



24

Table 18: Percentage of Semi-Independent 16+ placements by ethnicity during 2015-16 (against 
2014-15 data)

26%

15%
9% 9%

21% 19%

34%

13%

2%

11%

33%

7%

White British White Other Mixed Asian Black Other
0%

10%
20%
30%
40%
50%

All Placements 2015-16 Semi-Independent 2014-15 Semi-Independent 2015-16

Source: SSDA903 2014-15 & 2015-16

8.3 Semi-Independent 16+ provision – Placement Distance

There has been a 12 percentage point decrease in the proportion of Semi-Independent 16+ 
placements situated within 10 miles of the young person’s home address (82% in 2015-16 
compared to 94% in 2014-15).

Table 19: Percentage of 16+ Semi-Independent placements by placement distance from home 
(2014-2016)

5%

54%
35%

3% 0% 3%4%

41% 37%

12%
2% 4%

Under 1 mile 1 to 5 miles 5 to 10 miles 10 to 15 miles 15 to 20 miles 20 miles and 
over

0%
20%

50%

80%
100%

All Placements 2015-16 16+ Semi- Independent 2014-15 16+ Semi-Independent 2015-16

Source: SSDA903 2014-15 & 2015-16

8.4 Semi-Independent 16+ provision – Placement Stability

Table 20: Number and percentage of Semi-Independent 16+ placements by placement length 
(Open as at 31 March and ceased during the year)

16+ Semi-Independent Provision 
(2014-15)

16+ Semi-Independent Provision 
(2015-16)

Placement Demographics
No. of 

children
No. of 

placements
% of 

placements
No. of 

children
No. of 

placements
% of 

placements

Less than 1 
month 1 1 8% 2 2 13%

1 to 3 months 1 1 8% 7 7 44%

3 to 6 months 3 3 23% 3 3 19%

6 to 12 months 8 8 62% 4 4 25%

1 to 2 years 0 0 0% 0 0 0%

Placement 
length 
(Open 
placements 
as at 31 
March)

2 years or more 0 0 0% 0 0 0%

Total 13 13 100% 16 16 100%

Page 180



25

Less than 1 
month 7 7 18% 8 12 27%

1 to 3 months 5 6 15% 11 13 29%

3 to 6 months 7 7 18% 9 9 20%

6 to 12 months 15 16 40% 8 8 18%

1 to 2 years 4 4 10% 3 3 7%

Placement 
length 
(Ceased 
placements 
during year)

2 years or more 0 0 0% 0 0 0%

Total (no duplicates) 31 40 100% 33 45 100%
  Source: SSDA903 2014-15 & 2015-16

8.5 What this data tells us 

We have had a small increase in our looked after young people using semi-independent 
provision, but a significant number of increased placements because of moves and transfers 
for a variety of reasons. Most of our young people in this accommodation live outside of 
Merton as there is limited availability from private agencies within the borough. However, 
availability is growing.  As with young people placed in Children’s Homes, looked after young 
people placed in semi-independent provision may need to be placed away from Merton or 
other areas for their own protection. Increasingly young people are identifying areas where 
they do not feel safe because of CSE or gang connections and this has led to moves into 
different areas, sometimes at some distance.  

Key Findings: 16+ Semi-Independent Provision

 61 Semi-Independent placements during 2015-16 (15% of all placements during 2015-
16) 

 16 Children in Semi-Independent placements as at 31 March 2016

 Majority of 16+ Semi-Independent placements during 2015-16 for children aged 17 years 
old at start of placement (49 out of 61 placements; 80%) 

 97% of 16+ Semi-Independent placements during 2015-16 located outside of Merton 
local authority boundary (59 out of 61 placements). Although 82%  were located within 
10 miles of their home address (40 out of 49 placements matched) 

 Three-quarters of Looked After Children in 16+ Semi-Independent Provision as at 31 
March 2016 had been in the same placement for less than six months (12 out of 16 
children; 75%) 

Page 181



26

8.6 What we will do

9. Care Leavers

9.1 Introduction

There were 150 care leavers aged 18 to 21 years old during 2015-16, 130 of whom, a very 
high number, were maintaining their contact with Merton Children’s Services. The 20 care 
leavers did not wish to stay in touch for various reasons, including no longer requiring a 
service from the council, or from personal choice; only 3 care leavers could not be contacted 
despite the attempts of Children’s Services.  

9.2 Suitability of accommodation

93% of care leavers aged 18 to 21 during 2015-16 were suitably accommodated . This figure 
is impacted by the five care leavers in custody, as this cannot be included as suitable 
accommodation.  Table 21 shows the accommodation by type. Two-thirds of In-touch care 
leavers during 2015-16 were aged either 18 or 19 years old (85 of 130 in-touch care leavers; 
65%). The majority of 18 and 19 year old care leavers were residing in semi-independent 
placements on their birthday during 2015-16, with five 18 to 19 year olds staying put with 
former foster carers. Whilst there were fewer 20 and 21 year old care leavers, a higher 
proportion of them were residing in Independent Living placements. 

Table 21: In-touch Care Leavers aged 18 to 21 years old during 2015-16 by type of provision

24 24

10 8

2

9
7

5 3

4
2

4 1

10 12

4

1

18 19 20 21
0

12

25

38

50

Semi Independent

Independent Living

With Parents or Relatives

With Former Foster Carers

All Other Accommodation Types

Age (Yrs)

Source: SSDA903 2015-16

 We will review our use of the semi-independent market for our looked after young people and 
care leavers to ensure that use of this provision is time-limited and is used as a step into 
independent living.

 We will continue to work closely with well-developed semi-independent and housing providers 
to enable them to support young people remaining within Merton including Grenfell who has 
recently (September 2016) opened a semi-independent unit in Merton for young people aged 
16+

 We will continue to embed our financial framework with providers to ensure that we are 
getting best value for placements made.

Page 182



27

Table 22 shows that 68% of care leavers aged 18 to 21 years during 2015-16 were in 
Education, Training or Employment and the  majority of these were in full time education. All 
those ‘Staying Put’ with former foster carers during 2015-16 (Five Care Leavers) were in full 
time ETE at point of contact, with the majority of those in Independent Living placements and 
those who moved back with parents or relatives also in some form of employment. There 
was a higher proportion of In-touch care leavers reported as Not in Education, Employment 
or Training for 16+ Semi-Independent placements.

Table 22: Stacked bar graph showing the activity status of In-Touch care leavers aged 18 to 21 
years old during 2015-16 by type of provision

34 11 7

5
19

2

4
3

330
3 4 5

Semi Independent Independent Living With Parents or 
Relatives

With Former 
Foster Carers

All Other 
Accommodation 

Types

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Full Time ETE
Part Time ETE
NEET

Source: SSDA903 2015-16

9.3 What this data tells us 

Merton is consistent in its offer to support young people to develop the skills needed to 
enable them to live independently, delivering independence courses for young people to 
prepare them for living on their own. This has resulted in a large number of young people 
continuing to access the semi-independent provider market. The needs of this group of 
young people needs urgent review with a view to considering alternative provision which will 
better support them towards independence and reduce the significant financial cost to the 
Council.

Most of our 20 and 21 year olds who continue to live in semi-independent accommodation 
are asylum seeking young people in the process of applying for leave to remain in the UK. 
Some have remained in this accommodation whilst awaiting a permanent housing option. 
There are times when this does cause some delay as our housing market is limited. 

Our Care leaver offer to young people is good with 87% still in touch with Merton CSF. As 
would be expected, the number of young people placed in semi-independent provision 
reduces as young people move into independent living.  The number of young people living 
independently increases as young people gets older.

We will be increasing the numbers of our care leavers remaining with their former foster 
carers as Staying Put Arrangements as these can be very successful and supportive 
arrangements for care leavers; of our current care leavers in Staying Put Arrangements all 
are in education, employment, and training.  

Page 183



28

9.4 What will we do?

10. Placements and what we do well

10.1 Demand management

Merton’s rate of children looked after per 10,000 population has remained stable over the last 
five years (between 30-34 LAC per 10,000 population). We remain within range of our 
comparable statistical neighbours and low compared to London and National benchmarks. 

Actual numbers of children in care each year has risen by 28% over the last five years from 
213 children in 2011/12 to 273 children in 2015/16. This has placed additional demands on 
our placement budget. 

Key Findings: Care Leavers 2015-16

• 150 Care Leavers aged 18 to 21 years old during 2015-16

• 66 young people are using semi-independent provision (44% 66 out of 150)

• 87% of Care Leavers aged 18 to 21 were ‘in touch’ with Merton CSF (130 out of 150 Care 
Leavers)

• 93% of ‘In-touch’ Care Leavers aged 18 to 21 residing in suitable accommodation at point of 
contact (121 out of 130 In-touch Care Leavers)

• Majority of In-touch 18 and 19 year old care leavers residing in 16+ Semi-Independent provision 
at point of contact.

 We will continue to embed our financial framework with providers to ensure that we are 
getting best value for placements made.

 We will work closely with Providers who can offer temporary housing for our young people 

 We will aim to work more closely with colleagues in C&H to access the Shared Lives 
Scheme where appropriate for our most vulnerable young people and care leavers 

 We will work to develop alternative provision for our care leavers to increase options through 
other sources to support young people towards independence and impact on the Council’s 
current expenditure.

 We will work closely with our Housing colleagues to ensure we use our quota of Housing for 
our young people in a timely way where appropriate and that our young people can step 
down into independent living when it is appropriate for them to do so.

Page 184



29

We have alleviated some of this additional demand by recruiting 46 sets of foster carers over 
the same period with 13 new fully approved in house foster carers in 2015/16.  In addition we 
had 4 sets of connected persons foster carers approved on a temporary basis in 2015/16 
and one family approved as Foster for Adoption carers, allowing them to take a baby from 
birth initially as a foster placement and eventually for permanence via adoption.

The reasons for the increase in Looked after Children are complex but include heightened 
national awareness of children’s safeguarding, an increasing birth rate and more general 
demographic changes. 

So far as practicable in all circumstances the authority is required to find a placement for 
each Looked after Child which; 

 Distance: 
- Is near the child's home; 
- Is within the local authority's area, unless that is not reasonably practicable

 Siblings: Enables the child to live with an accommodated sibling; 
 Education: Does not disrupt his/her education or training; 
 Health:  Allows children and young people to continue to access local health provision
 Equalities: Where the child is disabled, is suitable to meet the needs of that child; 

During 2015/16, Merton made 410 placements for 273 looked after children. 

Of the children that were placed in provision with an Ofsted judgement, 92% were placed in 
Good or Outstanding provision. (31st March 2016, 134 out of 145 children)

 Outstanding - 7% of children placed (10 children)
 Good – 85% of children placed (124 children)
 Requires improvement/adequate – 8% of children placed (11 children)
 Inadequate – 0% (0 children)

10.2 Distance 

There are two nationally reported measures associated to placement distance, ‘percentage 
placed in and out of borough and percentage placed over 20 miles’. 

 Of all our placements made 17% were over 20 miles away (up one percentage point 
compared to 2014/15)

 Of all our children placed 32% were placed in borough, although this seems low we 
are a small borough and this increases the challenge to provide placements within 
the borough boundary

 In fact 56% of children were placed within 5 miles of their home address and 74% 
were placed within 10 miles. 35% of our in-house foster carers are not based in 
Merton (25 out of 72)

 We recruited 13 new foster carer families in 2015/16. All are within 5 miles of Merton 
and 9 were approved to offer placements to teenagers (a key need identified in our 
last plan).

Looked after children live away from their home authority for many reasons; Some need to 
be out of area to help keep them safe from dangerous influences closer to home. Others 
need the kind of specialist support that is not available in all local authority areas. Some 
looked after children are moved out so that they can live with brothers and sisters, or be 
cared for by relatives who are approved as foster carers. Some are placed in adoptive or 
permanent fostering arrangements with the aim of enabling them to achieve stability for the 
rest of their childhood.

Page 185



30

We are committed to good placement stability, therefore where we place a child in Agency 
Foster Care Provision if the child is settled and happy we may decide not to remove them in 
spite of the cost implications to the authority. During 2015/16, 17 of our looked after children 
were placed for adoption with permanent families outside of Merton. In this instance, 
distance from Merton is not the most significant factor as adoption will enable them to 
become permanent members of a family elsewhere. Five looked after children were placed in 
hospital and seven within the criminal justice system. There are no secure units or young 
offender’s institutions within the area and NHS England has limited resources for young 
people with acute mental health difficulties.  There are also no residential schools in borough 
and we had four children placed outside of Merton in stable residential placements. 
Table 23: Placement Distance from Home for all placements during 2015-16 by type of 
placement9

27

95

14

1

4

6

33

21

6

6

12

4

6

3

2

31

2

20

18

6

1

2

3

4

5

1

4

1

43

1

2

1

2

1

1

5 1

1

4

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Under 1 mile

1 to 5 miles

5 to 10 miles

10 to 15 miles

15 to 20 miles

20 miles and over

In-House foster care

Agency foster care

Children's Homes

16+ Semi-Independent Provision

Adoption

Placed with own parents or other 
person with parental responsibility

Secure Unit

NHS/Health Trust or other 
establishment providing medical or 
nursing care

All Residential Schools, except where 
dual-registered as a school and 
children's home

Family Centre or mother and baby unit

Young Offender Institution or Prison

Residential care home

Independent Living

Source: SSDA903 2015/16

We can see from the graph above that the further away placements are the more specialist 
they tend to be and thus able to meet the needs of our most complex children.

10.3 Sibling groups 

We are required to enable children to live with their siblings where it is in the best interest of 
the children involved. We have successfully targeted previous In-house foster carer 
recruitment campaigns to attract foster carers willing to take family groups. 

 During 2015/16, of the 273 children looked after, 80 belonged to 33 siblings groups. 
 67% of the sibling groups were placed together (22 out of 33 sibling groups). 
 14 of the sibling groups were placed together within 5 miles of their home (out of 22 

sibling groups placed together; 64%)
 82% of sibling groups were placed together within 10 miles of home (18 out of 22 

sibling groups placed together)

9 Excludes 43 placements where home address was not available – cases relating to UASC and those with no 
fixed abode

Page 186



31

 43% of our In-House task based foster carers are approved to take sibling groups (25 
out of 58 task based foster carers)

10.4 Education 

Good practice also involves assessing whether placements allow a child to continue to 
attend their education or training and community contacts. 

 Our Virtual School works with all Merton looked after children placed both within and 
outside of Merton to support them with all aspects of their education.

 The ART placement team and the Virtual School continue to work effectively together 
to minimise days lost during disruption. 

 Findings from our Foster Carers Survey highlight that 92% of respondents felt the 
support delivered by Merton’s Virtual School was good or excellent. Additional 90% 
felt the child placed with them attended a school which was good or excellent.

 One in six placements is for children or young people with either Statements of 
Special Educational Needs or Education, Health and Care Plan (17% of placements; 
44 children). The majority of these have a primary need of either SEMH (Social, 
Emotional and Mental Health) or ASD (Autistic Spectrum Disorder).

10.5 Health

We know that when we move children a long way from Merton, they have more difficulty in 
accessing specialist health services.

 We have a protocol in place to ensure that our looked after children are able to 
access mental health services in a  timely way where necessary if they are placed 
outside of Merton

 Our dedicated LAC CAMHS team offers a specialist service to our looked after 
children and young people

 Our looked after children’s nurse maintains contact with all looked after children, both 
within and outside of Merton

10.6 Equalities and disabilities 

Merton’s LAC gender distributions are similar to national averages, in that we (as nationally) 
have more boys than girls in care. However, there is still an over-representation of boys in 
our care compared to nationally (63% of Merton LAC are boys compared to 56% nationally 
as at 31 March 2016). Merton also has an over representation of older children in care, 40% 
of our LAC are aged 16 and over compared to 23% nationally (as at the 31st Match 2016). 

Drilling down we are able to evidence that a significant number of the boys in our care are 
teenagers. In fact 69% of our over 16s (as at 31 March 2016) are boys, 19 of whom are 
Unaccompanied Asylum Seekers. Other reasons for supporting such a large group of 
teenagers in Merton include breakdown of family relationships and a group of young people 
who become looked after by being remanded into the criminal justice system.  

The majority of all placements made during 2015-16 were for children aged 12 or over (252 
out of 410 placements; 61%), maintaining good levels of suitable provision for teenagers 
remains a key priority. There are fewer White, Asian or Asian British children looked after 
than the “all persons” Merton population.  Mixed ethnic backgrounds, Black or Black British 
heritage and ‘other ethnic groups’ have looked after children proportions greater than the 
resident population. Nearly two-thirds of all placements during 2015-16 were for children 
from Black and Minority Ethnic Backgrounds (255 out of 410 placements; 62%).

Page 187



32

One in four placements were commissioned to care for disabled looked after children (106 
out of 410 placements; 26%). 

10.7 User Voice

Our User Voice Strategy states that we have the highest ambitions for all our children and 
young people, and that we judge our success by a range of criteria including being able to 
demonstrate that the views and ambitions of children and young people have informed and 
improved our service offer. 

Each year looked after children and care leavers are involved in a broad range of 
participation and consultation activities. This is in line with our ‘pledge’10 to LAC and care 
leavers to provide opportunities for feedback and to provide advocacy to support effective 
participation. The feedback from this activity is collated as part of the ‘sufficiency statement’ 
needs analysis because it provides insight and intelligence on providing the right placement, 
including access to education and health services, which facilitates placement stability and 
improved outcomes for children and young people. 

During 2015/16 the following ‘User voice’ activity took place:

1. Participation in LAC Reviews.
2. Independent Reviewing Officer consultation events on LAC reviews.
3. Young People’s views on placements report. 
4. LAC and Care Leavers’ ‘Pledge’ review.
5. Foster Carers’ Survey.
6. Looked after children involved in foster carer training. 
7. Young people’s feedback to the Access to Resources Team on accommodation.
8. Care Leavers’ Survey. 
9. LAC Health Needs Assessment.

Views relevant to the sufficiency assessment are detailed in Appendix E

10.8 Fostering

Research shows that children usually thrive from being part of a family group and for this 
reason, we consider fostering as a first option for our looked after children. We remain 
committed to improving our number of in house carers to ensure best choice and value to the 
Council. In 2015/16 we:

 Recruited 13 new fully approved mainstream foster carer families within 5 miles of 
Merton, 9 of whom are approved to offer placements to teenagers

 In addition we approved 4 sets of connected persons foster carers on a temporary 
basis and one family approved as Foster for Adoption carers, allowing them to take a 
baby from birth initially as a foster placement and eventually for permanence via 
adoption.

 Undertook 5 preparation training groups for prospective foster carers
 Continued to involve our looked after young people and care leavers in delivering 

preparation training for our prospective foster carers and being involved in the 
assessment process

10 LAC and Care Leavers Pledge 2016

Page 188



33

 Continued with targeted fostering recruitment campaigns to meet the needs of our 
young people based on the Sufficiency Strategy 2015/16

 Followed a good quality tracking processes to ensure we are providing suitable care 
to young people who need this

 Embedded a Staying Put policy to enable our young people to remain in their 
placements post 18, including those placed with agency foster carers.

 Embedded  our specialist CAMHS posts to offer support to looked after children
 Reviewed the approval range of our foster carers to reflect maximum use of their 

skills and experience

10.9 Children’s Homes 

There are a small number of young people for whom it will be difficult to provide stability 
through a family based placement. In 2015/16 we have:

 Worked closely with existing providers to ensure best quality and value for money
 Formed links with a new provider who has now (September 2016) opened a new 

Children’s Home in Merton
 Continued to consider options around procuring a Children’s Home in Merton
 Embedded tracking processes to ensure we are using Children’s Homes placements 

for the right young people 
 Improved planning to step young people down into fostering and semi-independent 

provision where appropriate.

10.10 Semi-Independent Provision 

For young people aged 16+, semi-independent provision offers a level of independence and 
can support young people prior to a move into independent living. We have been keen to 
develop links in this area and, as this is an unregulated market, we have a duty to ensure 
good quality as well as best value. During 2015/16 we have:

 Embedded a financial framework for providers of semi-independent accommodation
 Embedded a quality assurance framework to ensure quality of provision
 Worked with specific providers of semi-independent and housing provision (Grenfell 

Housing and Notting Hill Housing Trust) to develop new provision within Merton and 
to increase the menu of options of for care leavers

 Linked with the Shared Lives programme run in C&H to agree access to the service 
for vulnerable Care Leavers.

 Embedded tracking processes to ensure we are using the placement we commission 
to continue to meet the needs of our young people and care leavers and support 
them towards independent living.

 Worked closely with colleagues in C&H to improve the access that our care leavers 
need to a permanent tenancy for their own properties when they are ready.

 
10.11 Commissioning 

As well as direct work with providers, in 2015/16 we have:
 Continued to work with colleagues in London Care Placements to drive down costs 

for placements, establish best value and ensure good quality for placements
 Through involvement in the South London SEN commissioning consortium, set up a 

dynamic purchasing system (DPS) to ensure more efficient commissioning of 
independent school placements. 

Page 189



34

 Undertaken preliminary work within consortium arrangements to widen the DPS 
functionality to include commissioning of care placements for looked after children 
and acre leavers

11 Budget Information

Placements are procured from the private and independent sectors; residential homes; 
secure accommodation; mother and baby units and semi-independent accommodation. 
Some education costs for LAC are met from a separate education budget. In 2015-16, the 
LAC placement budget was overspent by £1,433,000. This pressure was mitigated by robust 
negotiations with providers and by contributions from the local CCG for children with medical 
needs. A detailed breakdown of expenditure is contained in Appendix F. Budget pressures 
continue in the current year and this Sufficiency Statement and the aim of the Placement 
Quality and Improvement Plan is to achieve better value for Merton and a reduction in cost 
through improved management of placement capacity both in-house and in the private sector  

Page 190



35
Page 191



36

Appendix A - All Placements during 2014-15 and 2015-16 by key 
factors

Page 192



37

Appendix B - Background information

Merton the place

Merton is an outer London borough situated in south west London, covering 14.7 square 
miles. Merton has a total population of 200,543 including 47,499 children and young people 
aged 0-19 (Census 2011). The number of 0-19 year olds is forecast to increase by 3,180 
(7%) by 2017, within which we forecast a 20% increase of children aged 5 to 9 (2,270 CYP). 
We have a younger population than the England average and have seen a 39% net increase 
of births over the last ten years (2,535 births in 2002 rising to 3,521 in 2010).  The birth rate 
reduced in 2012/13 and again slightly in 2013/14 suggesting that the rate is stabilising. 
However the last ten years alongside other demographic factors has placed additional 
demand on all children’s services.  

Predominantly suburban in character, Merton is divided into 20 wards and has three main 
town centres; Wimbledon, Mitcham and Morden. A characteristic of the borough is the 
difference between the more deprived east (Mitcham/Morden) and the more affluent west 
(Wimbledon). 

There are a number of pockets of deprivation within the borough mainly in the eastern wards 
and some smaller pockets in the central wards. These wards have multiple deprivation, with 
high scores on income deprivation, unemployment and limited educational attainment.  

Figure X: Map of Income Deprivation Affecting Children Index 
Merton (IDACI 2015) Source: IDACI 2015

Since 2011 we have seen 
an increase of 15% of 
children who are eligible for 
free school meals (2011, 
3309 FSM children, 2016, 
3817 FSM children).

Thirty five per cent of 
Merton’s total population is 
Black, Asian or Minority 
ethnic (BAME) - this is 
expected to increase further 
to 39% by 2017.  Pupils in 
Merton schools are more 
diverse still, with 67% from 
BAME communities, 44% 
with a first language which is 
not English, speaking over 
124 languages (Census 2016). 

The borough has concentrations of Urdu speaking communities, Sri Lankan, South African 
and Polish residents.  The most prominent first languages for pupils apart from English are 
Polish 6.1%, Urdu 5.7% and Tamil 5.6% (Census 2016). The number of pupils in Merton 
schools with Special Educational Needs is also increasing, with SEN statements/EHC plans 
rising from 922 in January 2011 to 1148 in January 2016 (an increase of 25%).

Page 193



38

Appendix C - Merton’s Strategic Framework and Governance

Merton’s Sufficiency Statement informs our strategic plans, commissioning, and 
procurement functions.

Our Children and Young People’s Plan11 sets out our ambitions for all our children and 
particularly those most vulnerable to poorer outcomes. The Looked After Children Strategy 
and the Care Leavers Strategy, which are both endorsed by the Children’s Trust, the Merton 
Safeguarding Children’s Board, and the Corporate Parenting Board, provide further focus for 
our collective ambitions.
Looked After Children Strategy - strategic priorities:

1. Improving the timeliness of care proceedings
2. Improving placement stability and choice 
3. Improving educational outcomes for Looked After Children 
4. Supporting good health outcomes for Looked After Children 
5. Encouraging participation and positive activities 
6. Understanding the needs of and supporting LAC in particular circumstance
7. Achieving permanency
8. Supporting our care leavers  (see below Care Leavers Strategy)

Care Leavers Strategy – key objectives:

 To motivate and assist each young person to reach their potential for education, 
training and employment so that they can achieve independence.

 To promote their good health by encouraging a healthy sexual, emotional and 
physical lifestyle.

 To facilitate and support them in suitable accommodation
 To help them to maintain positive family and social/friendship relationships
 To assist them to be financially independent, and be able to budget, and to save 

and manage their money.
 To provide them with an allocated worker to support them in their aspirations.

The Corporate Parenting Board is comprised of senior managers and officers from 
education, health, housing, social care and elected members, and is chaired by the Chief 
Executive of the London Borough Merton. The board ensures a high level of scrutiny and 
cross directorate responsibility for the delivery of our priorities.

11 Children and Young People’s Plan 2016-19; www.merton.gov.uk/cypplan 

Children Young People Plan

Looked After Children Strategy Care Leaver Strategy

MSCB

Corporate Parenting Board 

Children in Care Council

Children’s Trust Board Health & Wellbeing Board

Securing Sufficient Accommodation for Looked After Children and Care Leavers (‘Sufficiency 
Statement’)

‘S
Page 194

http://www.merton.gov.uk/cypplan


39

Appendix D - Our Corporate Parenting responsibilities 

The Children Act 1989 and the Leaving Care Act 2000 place clear statutory duties upon the 
Council to protect children from suffering significant harm and to provide continued financial 
and transition support to care leavers aged up to 21 (or 25 if in full time education).  
When a child comes into care, the council becomes the Corporate Parent. Put simply, the 
term ‘Corporate Parent’ means the collective responsibility of the council, elected members, 
employees, and partner agencies, for providing the best possible care and safeguarding for 
the children who are looked after by the council. Effective corporate parenting requires 
knowledge and awareness of the needs of children and young people who are looked after 
and the services that they receive.  This Sufficiency statement informs the Corporate 
Parenting board of the numbers, characteristics and needs of looked after children and care 
leavers and an analysis of how effectively Merton is serving it’s looked after population 
through the provision of appropriate placements. 
With these systems already in operation we are well placed to implement the new corporate 
parenting principles12 in our work to support looked after children and care leavers. 
Principles 

Merton’s services for Looked After Children form part of a comprehensive continuum of 
support for children and young people who may be facing difficulties at home. These range 
from family support, intensive community interventions, or permanent substitute care. In 
taking this approach we are committed to ensuring that the right children enter care and that 
their experiences are positive and opportunities many. 

Services for Looked After children are delivered in accordance with the following principles:

 Act in the best interests and promote the health and well-being of the child or young 
person

 To help those children and young people gain access to, and make the best use of, 
services provided by the local authority and its relevant partners;

 to promote high aspirations, and seek to secure the best outcomes, for those children 
and young people

 Safeguarding children is the paramount consideration and levels of risk are always 
thoroughly assessed.

 To take into account the views, wishes and feelings of those children and young 
people. In terms of their experience of being cared for Looked After Children are the 
best experts we have, and we value their views. At every stage of planning, service 
delivery or change we will listen to what they say and act accordingly, providing 
access to advocacy support and an Independent Reviewing Officer.

 Alternatives to care will be considered before a child becomes looked after. This 
means ensuring that Merton’s Early Intervention and Prevention processes and 
services effectively support families to prevent children from going into care.   

 Services will offer support to families where a child has been returned to their care 
after being looked after for a period.

 Where a child does have to be cared for away from their family, placement decisions 
will be made on the basis of a thorough assessment of their needs.

12 Children and Social Work Bill 2016 pp. 1&2 – Corporate Parenting Principles.

Page 195



40

 In this case, first consideration will be given to care provided through extended family 
or friends, and placement decisions will take into account the need to be near to 
family, friends and other support. 

 We aim to make available the widest range of placements within or near Merton 
borough, in order to meet the individual needs of our Looked After Children, and to 
increase the chance of continuing in the same school, and having appropriate contact 
with their family and friends.

 Placement provision and placement planning will take into account  children and 
young people’s needs in terms of the equalities ‘protected characteristics’ – age, 
disability, race, religion or belief, sex, and sexual orientation. 

 Once a decision is made to look after a child this will be for as short a period as 
possible taking into account their best interests

 Decisions to find alternative and permanent placements for the child will be made 
within the shortest possible timescales. 

 Where a child cannot go home, planning for permanence will always include 
consideration of adoption, special guardianship or child arrangement orders, thus 
reducing the role of the state in children’s lives

 Where children remain looked after long-term, the overall aim will be to replicate the 
stability and level of care that any good parent would provide to their child, so as to 
give the child every chance of success. 

Page 196



41

Appendix E - User Voice

The following is a summary of the key messages from this year’s user voice activity, under 
the themes which inform our strategy to provide sufficient accommodation to meet the needs 
of looked after children in their community: 

 Providing the right placements for looked after children.
 Supporting Merton foster carers to provide the right placement.
 Placements/accommodation, stability and finances for care leavers.
 Access to education, training and employment (ETE) for care leavers.
 Access to support for health and wellbeing.

Providing the right placements for looked after children

We are committed to supporting children and young people to give their views on their care 
plan, including placements, and to act on this feedback. This contributes to ensuring that we 
provide the right placement which meets the child’s needs. During 2015/16 we have 
gathered this feedback in a range of ways:

Participation in LAC Reviews - In 2015/16 90% of looked after children participated in their 
LAC review either through attendance, completion of consultation papers, or through an 
advocate. This has been supported by giving looked after children access to the Jigsaw 4u 
advocacy service which, case studies from the service show, have had a positive impact on 
outcomes:

Independent Reviewing Officer consultation events on LAC reviews - During a series of 
consultation sessions with the IRO Service looked after children fed back that they want to 
feel that they are at the centre of the review meeting and have a strong influence in 
shaping their care plan. In response to this the IRO Service is adopting a good practice 
model which supports this approach to reviews.

The Young People’s views on placements report gives an overview on what young people 
consider to be good quality placements: 

Carers or staff: are appropriate for the role; have access to initial and on-going training and practice 
support; listen to and empathise with the needs of looked after children including their need to feel 
safe; allow privacy, and appropriate levels of independence; can support the child’s access to positive/ 
fun activities in and outside of the home; and are aware of the importance of the child’s on-going link to 
their family, including managing contact, and cultural background.

 Young people enabled to participate in decisions that affect them and increased 
understanding of the care system and care status for young people.

 Young people self-reported ‘feeling listened to’.

 Increased contact with family members and improving family relationships including 
establishing written agreements between young people and parents/carers.

 Contribution to overall partnership care plans including maintaining access to CAMHS 
services and onward referral to other services such as Jigsaw Missing services, Young 
Carers, and Domestic Violence support services.

Page 197



42

LAC and Care Leavers’ Pledge Review - At a special event to review Merton’s ‘pledge’ to 
LAC and Care Leavers, the children and young people in attendance identified the priority 
themes and ‘pledge’ statements which are now in the new document. With reference to 
placement/ accommodation stability the new pledge now includes promises to provide 
support in the following areas: safety and support - including placement choice and 
maintaining positive relationships with family; and finances - including information on 
benefits and budgeting, as well as preparation for work and independence. A further priority 
which will be taken forward as an area for possible development includes ensuring that all 
accommodation has internet access.

Supporting foster carers to provide the right placements

We are committed to ensuring that foster carers are given appropriate support and 
information to ensure that they can provide a placement which meets the child’s needs. 
Feedback from carers on this support includes the following:

The Foster Carers’ Survey - gathered feedback from foster carers on recruitment, retention 
and support services delivered to them by our fostering service. They were very positive 
about the support of the fostering services with 100% saying that they would recommend 
fostering in Merton. The survey identified the following areas for improvement:

Looked after children involved in foster carer preparation training - This focuses on 
feeding back to foster carers the experience of being a child in care. The following is an 
example of one carer’s response to the training:

“I have a far better idea from a foster child’s perspective, of what things really help/hinder building 
trust. Good to know about setting clear boundaries initially, like setting out that anything bought into 
the house needs a receipt or adult permission. Incredibly helpful session. Learnt so much. Was great 
to get things from the young people’s perspective’.

Placements/accommodation, stability and finances for care leavers

We value feedback from young care leavers about their experience of accessing appropriate 
accommodation which offers stability, and which they can manage in terms of finances and 
independent living skills. We act on this feedback to make positive developments to services. 
During 2015/16 we have gathered feedback in a range of ways:

Young people’s feedback to the Access to Resources Team on accommodation

Young people at the Children in Care Council themed meeting on housing were able to 
feedback to the Access to Resources Team, information about their needs in terms of 
appropriate placements. They requested: more choice, more information about the types 
of placements available, and placements which are close to education. In addition a 
housing officer was able to give young people clear information about the housing 

 Carers who took children outside of their approval age range (18% of respondents) 
identified the need for an improved level of support.

 Improve the quality of referral information that the foster carer receives and ensure that 
placement plans are available in a timely manner. 

 Improve financial support especially retainer payments

Page 198



43

application process including managing expectations by giving the facts about social housing 
supply and demand.

Care Leavers’ Survey

The majority of the young people who responded to survey (67%) were living in semi-
independent placements reflecting the overall care leaver population. Ninety three per cent 
stated that they receive an appropriate level of support from children’s services in respect 
of housing needs, and only 20% stated that they lacked clarity in respect of the housing 
offer in Merton. Sixty eight per cent felt they had been offered choice in terms of 
accommodation and the majority felt very safe, and none felt unsafe, in their 
accommodation. Seventy per cent stated they were aware of their financial entitlements, 
and the majority were receiving these on time. All respondents stated they have a bank or 
savings account and 70% had seen a Benefits Maximisation Officer as part of their 
Pathway Plan review. Eighty three per cent stated that they were aware of the Independent 
Living Skills (ILS) workshops and 65% had attended the sessions including those on 
finances and cooking on a budget. 

As a result of this feedback we will develop a Housing Pathways/Accommodation offer 
document; implement an annual review of the ‘Financial Provision’ document and circulate 
to all; and ensure that information on the ILS training, and the ‘My Guide’ goes to all young 
people.

Access to education, training and employment (ETE) for care leavers

We are committed to providing support to care leavers on their education, and to access 
training and apprenticeships. This support contributes to young people being happy in their 
placement, thus promoting placement stability. Feedback from care leavers on this support 
includes the following:

Care Leavers’ Survey - Ninety five per cent of respondents to the survey stated that they 
had discussed education, employment and training as part of their pathway plan 
review.  Since November 2015 an ETE practitioner based in the in the Virtual School has 
been delivering one to one and group work with care leavers at risk of not engaging 
with ETE. Thirty per cent of respondents to the survey said that they were aware of this new 
support role, and 60% were aware of the role of the Virtual School. 

As a result of this feedback we will develop an ETE pathway and entitlements document, and 
ensure that the LAC and Care Leaver website is developed to support on-going 
communication and sharing of information.

Access to support for health and well-being

We are also committed to providing support to care leavers on their health and well-being 
including advice, information and support. This support also contributes to the young 
person’s overall level of satisfaction and promotes stability. Feedback from care leavers on 
this support includes the following:

Page 199



44

Care Leavers’ Survey - Forty six per cent of respondents to the survey said that if they had 
a health problem they would go to the GP, and all but one said they were registered with a 
GP. Only 40% said they had received a copy of their health summary, so we are now 
working to ensure that all care leavers receive this information. 

The LAC Health needs assessment gathered feedback from children and young people 
about three issues: young people’s health care needs; accessing the child and adolescent 
mental health service (CAMHS); and how young people are supported through transitions. 
While LAC and care leavers and their parents/ guardians placed within the borough reported 
being aware of how to access health services, those placed out-of-borough identified that 
they need improved support to ensure that their needs are met. In addition a number of 
young people felt that child and adolescent mental health workers do not adequately 
understand the particular needs or situation of looked after children. 

Recommendations have been made based on these issues and improvement work is being 
monitored by the Merton Clinical Commissioning Group and by the borough as corporate 
parents.

Page 200



45

Appendix F - Budget Outturn 2015-16

Description Budget (£) March Outturn (£)

ART Independent Agency Foster 1,852,520 1,602,703 

ART In-House Fostering 899,940 1,233,021 

ART Residential Placements 2,246,160 2,515,377 

ART Residential Secure accommodation 163,570 128,139 

ART Residential Secure 
accommodation/Grant

-64,720 -64,720 

ART Mother and Baby Unit 97,980 154,246 

Total 5,195,450 5,568,766 

   

Supported Lodging/Housing 749,820 1,395,229 

Supported Housing ( Housing Benefit 
Income)

-120,730 -220,183 

Supported Lodging/Housing UACS(Non 
Grant)

60,070 368,387 

Supported Lodging/Housing UACS( Grant) 194,590 94,356 

Foster Care UACS ( Grant) 91,770 397,247 

Total 975,520 2,035,036 

Grand Total 6,170,970 7,603,902

Page 201



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 6

Committee: Children and Young People Overview and 
Scrutiny Panel

Date: 21 March 2017
Agenda item:   

Wards: All wards

Subject:  Performance monitoring 2016/17 (January 2017)
Lead officer: Paul Ballatt, Assistant Director of Commissioning, Strategy and 

Performance, Children Schools and Families 

Lead member(s): Councillor Katy Neep; Councillor Caroline Cooper-Marbiah.  

Contact officer: Naheed Chaudhry, Head of Policy, Planning and Performance. 

Recommendations: That the Children and Young People’s Overview and Scrutiny Panel 
consider and discuss;

A. Appendix one: Performance Indicators – Rationale and linkages

B. Appendix two: January 2017 Performance Index

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
1.1. To provide the Children and Young People’s Overview and Scrutiny Panel with a 

regular update on the performance of the Children, Schools and Families 
Department and key partners. Data provided in appendix one is as at the end of 
January 2017. February data was not complete at the point of publication. 

2. DETAILS
2.1. At a Children and Young People Scrutiny Panel meeting in June 2007 it was agreed 

that the Children Schools and Families Department would submit a regular 
performance report on a range of key performance indicators. This performance 
report acts as a ‘health check’ for the Panel and as such is over and above the 
more detailed thematic reports scheduled to the Panel which relate to specific areas 
of activities such as the annual Schools Standards report, Corporate Parenting 
Report, MSCB annual report etc. 

2.2. The Scrutiny performance index is periodically reviewed in line with good 
performance monitoring practice, most recently in October 2016. It was agreed that 
the current basket of performance measures presented to the CYP Panel in the 
index should be retained but that it could evolve gradually if/when needed. It was 
also agreed that officers would report on other indicators, not in the index, by 
exception should they have particular concerns or if they wished to report 
particularly good performance. Officers were asked to provide ‘volumes’ as well as 
percentage outturns in order to allow members to gain a sense of scale and 
relativity, these volume figures have been added for the year to date (see Index, 
appendix one). It was agreed that measures in the index that remain green will 
continue to be reported as they continue to be worthy of scrutiny oversight and can 
refer to practice that our regulators would expect to be regularly monitored by 
elected members.

2.3. Members also requested that further description be provided in relation to each 
indicator to help members understand its rationale and purpose. It was noted that 

Page 203

Agenda Item 7



Page 2 of 6

the lead performance member is keen to understand and share with the panel the 
linkages between measures. Officers have responded to this request with detail as 
presented in appendix two. 

2.4. January 2017 Performance 
2.5. There are no new indicators reporting Red as at the end of January 2017. 

2.6. In relation to the one indicator flagged Red from the end of quarter three, indicator 
3: % of Education, Health and Care plans issued within statutory 20 week 
timescale, please see additional briefing note. 

2.7. Update on issues from last performance report December 2016:

2.8. Indicator 8:  % of quorate attendance at child protection conferences, the 
performance data reported to the last meeting has now been corrected on the 
index. The third quarter performance was incorrectly reported as 67% and is now 
corrected to 83% (228/276) quorate attendance at CP conferences.

2.9 Indicator 15: Average number of weeks taken to complete care proceedings. Data 
now published by Cafcass and data index updated, quarter three performance 
being 33 weeks. 

2.10 Indicators 29 and 30: % of reception year and year 7 surplus spaces: To date 
these two indicators have been reported as annual measures to the Scrutiny 
Panel. Having looked into the panel’s request for more timely data on surplus 
places, officers have agreed and scheduled termly updates based on the termly 
school census returns to government. 

3      APPENDICES – THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTS ARE TO BE PUBLISHED 
WITH THIS REPORT AND FORM PART OF THE REPORT
Appendix 1: Children’s Performance Indicators – Rationale and linkages  

Appendix 2: CYPP performance index 2016/17 (January 2017)

4.             BACKGROUND PAPERS 
CSF Performance Management Framework http://intranet/departments/csf-
index/csf-performance.htm

Page 204

http://intranet/departments/csf-index/csf-performance.htm
http://intranet/departments/csf-index/csf-performance.htm
http://intranet/departments/csf-index/csf-performance.htm


Page 3 of 6

Appendix 1: Childrens Performance indicators – Rational and linkages  
CYP Scrutiny Panel Performance Index

Performance 
Indicator

Rationale/Why Important

1 Number of Common 
and Shared 
Assessments 
undertaken (CASA)

This is not a target measure. Numbers of CASAs undertaken is an 
indicator of early identification of problems/issues for a child. 
These are assessments undertaken by a wide range of the 
children’s workforce in the context of Merton’s Child and Young 
Person Wellbeing Model. The measure links to a suite of other 
indicators including numbers of contacts and referrals, single 
assessments, and CiN Plans.

2 Single Assessments 
completed within the 
statutory timeframe 

Single Assessments are instigated after consideration of 
presenting issues by MASH. They are undertaken in order to 
identify whether or not statutory thresholds for children’s social 
care have been met and statutory services are required. There is 
a 45 day statutory timescale for completion. The measure links to 
CASAs; referrals; CiN Plans and Section47 safeguarding 
investigations.

3 Education, Health and 
Care Plans (EHCP) 
completed within the 
statutory timeframe 

In line with Children and Families Act 2014, EHC plans replaced 
SEN Statements. They result from a multi-dimensional 
assessment of education, health and care needs. They specify 
outcomes to be achieved for a child and identify provision to meet 
those outcomes. There is a 20 week statutory timescale for 
completion. For the next few years conversion of ‘old’ SEN 
Statements and Learning Disability Assessments (LDA 
Section 139A)   to ‘new’ EHC Plans will also be monitored 
against national targets. 

4 Child Protection Rate 
per 10,000

This is a prevalence measure which is examined by managers 
and regulators alongside other rates including CiN and LAC. 
These provide a proxy for the ‘balance’ in the child care system. 
Can also reflect events/issues nationally e.g. media coverage of 
child abuse enquiries. Rates should be broadly in line with 
benchmarks, particularly statistical neighbours.  

5 Number of Children on 
Child Protection Plans

Similarly this is not a performance measure but indicates 
prevalence of need for intensive social care intervention. Also 
volume of intensive casework and social worker capacity required 
to fulfil statutory duties. Links to Child Protection Plans for children 
subject to a CP plan for the second or subsequent time in respect 
of decisiveness and impact of child protection interventions.

6 Numbers of Family 
Groups subject of Child 
Protection Plan 

With relatively low numbers of children on Child protection plans 
the numbers of family groups are monitored as they can have a 
disproportionate impact on overall percentages etc. 

7 Allocated Social 
Workers Child 
Protection

It is a statutory requirement that all Child Protection Plan 
casework is allocated to qualified social workers. This is a proxy 
for high quality interventions undertaken by qualified practitioners 
who are subject to national professional standards.

8 Quoracy (Quorate 
attendance at child 
protection conferences)

Child protection plans almost invariably require input from a range 
of professional disciplines and agencies. This is a proxy for 
appropriate engagement of key agencies e.g. NHS; Police in 
Child protection planning and delivery.

9 Timeliness of Child 
protection reviews

There is a national framework of expectations around 
interventions with children requiring safeguarding (see also 
above). This measure is a proxy for appropriate management/IRO 
(Independent Reviewing Officer) oversight of complex casework 
and decisive social work planning. 

Page 205



Page 4 of 6

10 Child protection visits As above this demonstrates appropriate contact between a child 
and the allocated social worker and is, in effect, a minimum 
standard.

11 Percentage of Children 
subject of a Child 
protection plan for the 
second or subsequent 
time 

If a second child protection plan is required for similar reasons, 
this could indicate potential lack of impact of earlier Child 
protection interventions. Often can demonstrate multiple 
risks/challenges faced by children and families. Prompts enquiry 
into whether or not other statutory interventions should be/should 
have been considered.

12 Looked After Children 
rate per 10,000

As above this is a prevalence measure to be looked at alongside 
others including CiN/CP rates and should also be, broadly, in line 
with statistical neighbours. 

13 Number of Looked 
After Children 

As above this is compared with appropriate benchmarks and the 
measure also indicates professional social work capacity and 
placements/budgets required to fulfil statutory responsibilities.

14 Allocated Social 
Workers Looked After 
Children

It is a statutory requirement that all LAC casework is allocated to 
qualified social workers. This is a proxy for high quality 
interventions undertaken by qualified practitioners who are subject 
to national professional standards.

15 Timeliness of Care 
proceedings

It is imperative to avoid ‘drift’ in making permanency plans for 
LAC. Time taken to undertake care proceedings is a proxy for 
decisive casework and can be looked at alongside timeliness of 
achieving adoptions. Measure can be affected by issues beyond 
professional control e.g. court delays.

16 Timeliness of Looked 
After Children reviews

There are statutory requirements for reviewing the care plans for 
LAC within set timescales. This measure is a proxy for 
appropriate management/IRO (Independent Reviewing Officer) 
oversight of complex casework and decisive social work planning.

17 Percentage of Looked 
After Children 
participating in there 
reviews 

In line with best practice and Merton’s own User Voice Strategy, 
LAC of sufficient age and understanding are encouraged to 
participate in a variety of ways in their own reviews – e.g. 
attending; chairing; written submissions; use of advocate. 

18 Stability of placements, 
3+ moves 

There are two key measures for placement stability – the numbers 
of placement moves in a year and the long term stability of 
placements. Placement stability is a foundation stone for 
improving outcomes for LAC as it enables consistent relationships 
between young people and their carers; consistent school 
placements; a settled context in which young people can develop 
social networks etc. While some placement moves are ‘positive’ – 
eg move to a permanent home; move to withdraw a young person 
from a risky environment, others occur due to eg breakdown of 
relationships/behaviour issues etc and should be minimised. 

19 Stability of placements, 
length 2+ years

There are two key measures for placement stability – the numbers 
of placement moves in a year and the long term stability of 
placements. The length of placement indicator refers to children 
under the age of 16 who have been in care for 2 and half years or 
more and have been in their current placement for 2 years or 
more. Placement stability is a foundation stone for improving 
outcomes for LAC as it enables consistent relationships between 
young people and their carers; consistent school placements; a 
settled context in which young people can develop social 
networks etc. While some placement moves are ‘positive’ – eg 
move to a permanent home; move to withdraw a young person 
from a risky environment, others occur due to eg breakdown of 
relationships/behaviour issues etc and should be minimised.

Page 206



Page 5 of 6

20 Percentage of Looked 
After Children in 
Independent Fostering 
Agencies

Although placements with foster carers are, almost invariably, the 
first option to be considered for LAC, a shortage of ‘in house’ 
carers i.e. recruited and approved by LB Merton results in 
placements being commissioned from independent sector 
providers. These are often profit making organisations, carers are 
often not local and carers are not supported or managed by 
Merton services. Also, placements are typically significantly more 
expensive thus adding to pressure on placement budgets. Our 
aim is to reduce dependency on IFA placements.  This indicator 
should be reviewed with the numbers of children in care at any 
given point, the profile of these children and their likely needs and 
our progress in recruiting In-house foster carers. 

21 Number in house 
carers recruited 

In view of the above we have set ambitious targets for increasing 
the number and range of in-house foster carers.

22 Numbers of Looked 
After Children, adopted 
or subject of a Special 
Guardianship Order

The key aim for looked after children who cannot return to their 
families of origin is to find alternative permanent families. 
Numbers of adoptions and Special Guardianship arrangements 
are, therefore, closely monitored by managers. Central 
government, from time to time and including the present 
government, issues policies aimed at increasing the number of 
children adopted.     

23 Percentage of 
Children’s centres 
graded good or 
outstanding by Ofsted 
(overall effectiveness)

Like schools and other children’s services, children’s centres are 
subject to regulation from Ofsted. Our ambition is that services 
provided by LB Merton are at least good or better. This measure 
is a proxy for the quality of early years provision which is a key 
enabler of improved outcomes in later childhood.

24 Childrens Centre  
access from children 
living in deprived areas

Children’s centres are, increasingly, targeted services which aim 
to ‘reach’ more disadvantaged families, including those from more 
‘deprived’ areas of the borough. High quality early years provision 
is known to be a particularly important contributor to improved 
outcomes for disadvantaged children and to narrowing gaps in 
outcomes in line with Merton’s Community Plan.  

25 Percentage of Schools 
graded good or 
outstanding by Ofsted 
(overall effectiveness)

Schools are subject to regulation and inspection from Ofsted. Our 
ambition is that LB Merton schools are at least good or better. 
This measure, to be considered alongside eg Key Stage results, 
progress measures, attendance and exclusion data, is a proxy for 
the quality of Merton’s schools provision.

26 Primary Permanent 
Exclusions

Permanent exclusion can severely disrupt a pupil’s education and 
social networks and exclusion in the primary phase can be 
particularly damaging to education outcomes in the longer term. 
The LA has mechanisms in place to both minimise time out of 
education and to identify alternative provision for pupils who are 
permanently excluded. The measure needs monitoring even 
though Merton has not had a permanent exclusion from primary 
schools for some considerable time.  

27 Secondary permanent 
exclusions

Permanent exclusion can severely disrupt a pupil’s education and 
social networks. It can be extremely challenging to find alternative 
school/alternative education for pupils excluded in the secondary 
phase because of the nature of the factors leading to the 
exclusion. However, the LA has mechanisms in place to both 
minimise time out of education and to identify alternative provision 
for pupils who are permanently excluded.

28 Secondary persistent 
absence

The LA monitors persistent absence in primary, secondary and 
special school sectors. Persistent absence harms pupils’ 
outcomes but also triggers powers and duties the LA has to 
ensure pupils’ attendance. 

Page 207



Page 6 of 6

29 Percentage of 
Reception year surplus 
places 

The LA has a statutory duty to provide sufficient suitable school 
places for children and young people in the borough. The 
challenge is to have neither an over-supply nor an insufficiency of 
places. A reasonable level of surplus is required, however, to 
enable an element of parental choice.

30 Percentage of 
Secondary school (year 
7) surplus places

The LA has a statutory duty to provide sufficient suitable school 
places for children and young people in the borough. The 
challenge is to have neither an over-supply nor an insufficiency of 
places. A reasonable level of surplus is required, however, to 
enable an element of parental choice.

31 Youth Service 
Participation

Participation in positive activities and informal educational 
curriculum provided by or enabled by LBM youth service supports  
positive outcomes for young people, particularly those from more 
disadvantaged areas. 

32 Percentage of CYP 
who are Not in 
Education, Employment 
or Training (NEETs)

Non-participation in education, employment or training beyond 
age 16 is a major predictor of long-term unemployment and low 
income. This indicator should be reviewed alongside the ‘Not 
Known’ outturn.

33 Percentage of CYP 
who’s ‘Education, 
Employment or 
Training’(EET) status is 
“Not Known”.

The EET status of young people can be difficult to ascertain eg 
once pupils leave Merton’s schools. The aim is to have a low 
number of young people whose EET status is ‘not known’. This 
indicator should be reviewed along side the NEET outturn.

34 First Time Entrants 
(FTE) in the youth 
justice system aged 0-
17

Offending can be linked to factors such as truancy, low 
attainment, substance misuse, employability etc and the 
challenge to the council, schools and partner agencies in a local 
area is to prevent young people from entering the youth justice 
system.

35 Re-offending rate by 
young people in the 
Youth Justice system

This indicator measures the re-offending of specific cohorts of 
young people following an initial pre-court or court disposal. 

36 Number of families 
‘turned around’ by the 
local Transforming 
Families programme 
(nationally known as 
Troubled Families)

The national Troubled Families initiative aims to ‘turn around’ 
families identified with multiple issues including anti-social 
behaviour; worklessness; poor school attendance etc. Without 
effective intervention, these families are particularly likely to 
require statutory interventions and are potentially the most costly 
on the public purse. 

37 Commissioned services 
Monitoring

The CSF department commissions some services to be delivered 
by third parties inc the local community and voluntary sector. It is 
important that these services are monitored to ensure compliance 
with service specifications and value for money.

Page 208



Children and Young People Overview and Scrutiny Panel - Performance Index 2016/17

No. Performance Indicators Target
2016/17

De
vi

at
io

n

Po
la

rit
y Benchmarking and trend

BRAG rating 
Merton 2016/17 performance 

Frequency
Merton
2015/16

Merton
2014/15 

England London Apr-16 May-16
Jun-16 /

Q1
Jul-16 Aug-16

Sep-16 /
Q2

Oct-16 Nov-16
Dec-16 /

Q3
Jan-17 Feb-17

Mar-17 /
Q4 Notes

Assessments 

1
Number of Common and Shared Assessments undertaken
(CASAs) 

Quarterly Not a target
measure n/a n/a 589 443 No benchmarking

available
No benchmarking

available
Not a target

measure 144 258 342
Quarterly (Time lag in collating

CASAs from partner agencies)

YTD

2
% of Single Assessments authorised within the statutory 45 days

Monthly 85% 2.5% High 93% 91% 81%
(CIN 2014-15)

80%
(CIN 2014-15) Green

99%
(110/111)

94%
(210/224)

92%
(360/391)

94%
(503/538)

93%
(641/693)

92%
(760/828)

91%
(854/942)

89%
(945/1063)

89%
(1027/1160)

89%
(1177/1324)

Year to Date

3
% of Education, Health and Care plans issued within statutory
20 week timescale (new, including exceptions)

Monthly 85% 2.5% High 50% 58%            
(2015)

56%
(2015)

64%
(2015) Red

27%
(13/49)

23%
(25/110)

20%
(31/153)

Year to Date

Child protection

4 Child Protection Plans rate per 10,000 Monthly Not a target
measure n/a n/a 30.0 41.8 42.9

(CIN 2014-15)
40.6

(CIN 2014-15)
Not a target

measure 27.7 30.5 31.2 31.2 32.5 32.9 33.8 32.7 33.1 31.2
Monthly - as at the end

of the month

5 Number of children subject of a Child Protection Plan Monthly Not a target
measure n/a n/a 138 180

No relevant
benchmarking

available

No relevant
benchmarking

available

Not a target
measure 128 141 144 144 150 152 155 151 153 144

Monthly - as at the end
of the month

6 Number of family groups subject of Child protection plans Monthly Not a target
measure n/a n/a 72 84

No relevant
benchmarking

available

No relevant
benchmarking

available

Not a target
measure 65 74 73 70 73 74 78 72 75 74

Monthly - as at the end
of the month

7
% of Children subject of a Child Protection Plan with an
allocated Social Worker

Monthly 100% 0% High 100% 100%
No relevant

benchmarking
available

No relevant
benchmarking

available
Green

100%
(128/128)

100%
(141/141)

100%
(144/144)

100%
(144/144)

100%
(150/150)

100%
(152/152)

97%
(152/156)

100%
(151/151)

100%
(153/153)

100%
(144/144)

Monthly - as at the end
of the month

8 % of quorate attendance at child protection conferences Quarterly Not a target
measure n/a High 100% 91%

No relevant
benchmarking

available

No relevant
benchmarking

available

Not a target
measure 

89%
(80/90)

85%
(159/186)

83%
(228/276)

Quarterly 

9
% of reviews completed within timescale for Children with Child
Protection Plans 

Monthly Not a target
measure n/a High 100% 93% 94.0%

(CIN 2014-15)
95.7%

(CIN 2014-15)
Not a target

measure 
100%

(16/16)
100%

(46/46)
100%

(73/73)
100%

(81/81)
100%

(92/92)
95%

(98/103)
94%

(102/109)
93%

(92/99)
94%

(104/111)
97%

(103/106)
Year To Date (NI 67)

10
% of Children subject of a CP Plan who had a 4 weekly CP visit
within timescales in the month 

Monthly Not a target
measure n/a High 94%

No relevant
benchmarking

available

No relevant
benchmarking

available

No relevant
benchmarking

available

Not a target
measure 

95%
(116/122)

91%
(116/128)

92%
(110/120)

96%
(132/137)

86%
(119/138)

89%
(118/132)

90%
(138/154)

95%
(138/146)

94%
(137/146)

90%
(122/135)

Monthly - as at the end
of the month -

(reporting activities)

11
% of Children that became the subject of a Child Protection Plan
for the second or subsequent time 

Monthly 16% 20% Low 24% 17% 17%
(CIN 2014-15)

14%
(CIN 2014-15) Green

17%
(1/6)

14%
(3/21)

7%
(3/46)

5%
(3/64)

4%
(3/78)

11%
(11/99)

16%
(18/114)

15%
(20/132)

16%
(23/142)

15%
(23/154)

Year To Date (NI 65)

Looked After Children

12 Looked After Children rate per 10,000 Monthly Not a target
measure n/a n/a 36 34 60

(903 2014-15)
52

(903 2014-15)
Not a target

measure 34.6 34.8 36.1 36.4 33.5 32.7 33.8 34.8 35.1 33.5
End of the month

snapshot

13 Number of Looked After Children Monthly Not a target
measure n/a n/a 164 157

No relevant
benchmarking

available

No relevant
benchmarking

available

Not a target
measure 160 161 167 168 155 151 156 161 162 155

End of the month
snapshot

14 % of Looked After Children with an allocated Social Worker Monthly Not a target
measure n/a High 100% 100%

No relevant
benchmarking

available

No relevant
benchmarking

available

Not a target
measure 

100%
(160/160)

100%
(161/161)

100%
(167/167)

100%
(168/168)

100%
(155/155)

100%
(151/151)

100%
(156/156)

100%
(161/161)

100%
(162/162)

100%
(155/155)

Year to Date

15
Average number of weeks taken to complete Care proceedings
against a national target of 26 weeks

Quarterly 35 weeks 8% Low
38 weeks
(30 weeks

YTD)

24 30
No relevant

benchmarking
available

Green 18 28 33 Quarterly 

16
% of Looked After Children cases which were reviewed within
required timescales 

Monthly Not a target
measure n/a High 97% 95% Not published Not published

Not a target
measure 

100%
(30/30)

96%
(64/67)

99%
(94/95)

98%
(123/126)

96%
(130/135)

97%
(142/147)

97%
(143/148)

95%
(143/151)

93%
(142/152)

95%
(145/153)

Year To Date (NI 66)

17
% of Looked After Children participating in their reviews in
month

Monthly Not a target
measure n/a High 90% 66%

No relevant
benchmarking

available

No relevant
benchmarking

available

Not a target
measure 

100%
(26/26)

98%
(60/61)

100%
(84/84)

99%
(115/116)

100%
(123/123)

98%
(133/136)

99%
(135/137)

99%
(134/136)

98%
(134/137)

98%
(136/139)

Year to Date

18
Stability of placements of Looked After Children - number of
moves (3 moves or more in the year)

Monthly 12% n/a Low 12% 14% 11%
(903 2014-15)

No relevant
benchmarking

available
Green

0%
(0/161)

0.6%
(1/161)

1.2%
(2/167)

4.2%
(7/168)

7.1%
(11/155)

8.6%
(13/151)

10.3%
(16/156)

9.9%
(16/161)

9.9%
(16/162)

14.8%
(23/155)

Year To Date (NI 62)

19
Stability of placements of Looked After Children - length of
placement 

Monthly 68% n/a High 68% 46% 67%
(903 2014-15)

No relevant
benchmarking

available
Green

74%
(23/31)

77%
(24/31)

80%
(24/30)

80%
(24/30)

80%
(24/30)

75%
(21/28)

71%
(20/28)

76%
(25/33)

73%
(24/33)

72%
(23/32)

End of the month
snapshot (NI 63)

20 % of Looked After Children placed with agency foster carers Quarterly 42% 12% Low 37% 42% 39%
(903 2014-15)

No relevant
benchmarking

available
Green

38%
(42/111)

46%
(45/99)

43%
(46/106)

Quarterly 

21 Number of in-house foster carers recruited Quarterly 15 2 High 13 10
No relevant

benchmarking
available

No relevant
benchmarking

available
Green 4 6 11 Year to Date

22
Number of Looked After Children who were adopted and
agency Special Guardianship Orders granted 

Monthly 13
34%
1cyp

High 13 16
No relevant

benchmarking
available

No relevant
benchmarking

available
Green 3 3 3 4 5 8 8 8 9 10 Year to Date

P
age 209



Childrens Centres and Schools

23
% outcome of all Children Centre Ofsted inspections good or
outstanding (overall effectiveness)

Quarterly 100% 0% High 100% 100% 66% 72% Green
100%
(5/5)

100%
(5/5)

100%
(5/5)

Year to Date. National and
London Comparitors as at

31/08/2015.

24
% of total 0-5 year estimated Census 2011  population from
areas of deprivation (IDACI 30%) whose families have accessed
children's centre services

Quarterly
75% (19%

per
Quarter)

n/a High 72% 78%
No relevant

benchmarking
available

No relevant
benchmarking

available
Green

34%
(1813 of

5285)

48%
(2514 of

5285)

58%
(3071 of

5285)

Year to Date
Cumulates (Target 19%

per quarter)

25
% outcome of School Ofsted inspections good or outstanding
(overall effectiveness)

Quarterly 91% 2.5% High 89% 85% 85% 89% Green
91%

(48/53)
92%

(48/52)
91%

(48/53)

Year to Date. National and
London Comparitors as at

31/12/2015.

26
Number of Primary permanent exclusions  (Number YTD
Academic year)

Monthly 0 1cyp Low 0
0

(Academic Year
2013-2014)

n/a n/a Green 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
August End of Acad. Yr. YTD
(August data interim until

November).  September start of
the new Acad. Yr. 

27
Number of Secondary permanent exclusions (Number YTD
Academic year)

Monthly 19

4cyp
per

quart
er

Low 9
7

(Academic Year
2013-2014)

n/a n/a Green 12 16 17 17 17 0 0 0 2 2
August End of Acad. Yr. YTD.
September start of the new

Acad. Yr.

28 % of Secondary persistent absenteeism (15% absence) Annual Not a target
measure n/a Low

4.8%
(2015)

4.5%
(2014)

5.4%    (2015) 4.5%   (2015) Annual measure
Annual Measure

2.5 terms DfE Published SFR
maintained and academies

29 % of Reception year surplus places Annual 5.5% n/a Low 6.2% 1.1%
No relevant

benchmarking
available

No relevant
benchmarking

available
Annual measure

Su
m

m
er

 C
en

su
s

as
 a

t M
ay

 (d
at

a
av

al
ib

le
 A

ug
)

Au
tu

m
n 

Ce
ns

us
as

 a
t O

ct
 (d

at
a

av
al

ib
le

 Ja
n)

Sp
rin

g 
Ce

ns
us

as
 a

t J
an

 (d
at

a
av

al
ib

le
 A

pr
)

Agreed to report
termly from March

2017. 30 % of Secondary school (Year 7) surplus places inc. Academies Annual 5% n/a Low 5.5% 11.3%
No relevant

benchmarking
available

No relevant
benchmarking

available
Annual measure

Young People and Services 

31 Youth service participation rate Annual Not a target
measure n/a High 3,695 3,234

No relevant
benchmarking

available

No relevant
benchmarking

available
Annual measure Annual Measure

32
% of CYP (16 - 18 year olds) not in education, employment or
training (NEET)

Monthly 4.7% 20% Low 3.6% 4.3%
7%

(2015)

No relevant
benchmarking

available
Not reported 

3.6%
(210/
5969)

3.7%
(213/
5961)

3.8%
(219/
5993)

3.7%
(220/
6025)

3.9%
(231/
6009)

4.1%
(243/ 6002)

KPI no longer measured see national replacement below relating to 16 and
17 year olds

Monthly (totals are
adjusted)

33
% of CYP (16 - 18 year olds) education, employment or training
status ‘not known’

Monthly Not a target
measure n/a Low 3.6% 6.6% 9.0% 10.4% Not a target

measure 

4.4%
(260/
5969)

3.2%
(193/
5961)

3.4%
(206/
5993)

3.5%
(212/
6025)

2.8%
(171/
6009)

2.3%
(141/ 6002)

KPI no longer measured see national replacement below relating to 16 and
17 year olds

Monthly (totals are
adjusted)

32B
% of CYP (16 - 17 year olds) not in education, employment or
training (NEET) (new national replaces KPI 32)

Monthly Not a target
measure n/a Low n/a n/a

Avaliblie in
Feb

Avaliblie in
Feb

1.5%
(56/3797)

1.4%
(54/3836)

1.7%
(66/3822)

Monthly (totals are
adjusted) - reported a

month in arrears

33B
% of CYP (16 - 17 year olds) education, employment or training
status ‘not known’ (new national replaces KPI 33)

Monthly Not a target
measure n/a Low n/a n/a

Avaliblie in
Feb

Avaliblie in
Feb

7.5%
(286/3797)

5.6%
(213/3836)

2.7%
(104/3822)

Monthly (totals are
adjusted) - reported a

month in arrears

34
Number of First Time Entrants (FTEs) to the Youth Justice
System aged 10-17 

Monthly 70 1cyp Low 47 60
No relevant

benchmarking
available

No relevant
benchmarking

available
Green 12 34 49 Year to Date

35
Rate of proven re-offending by young people in the youth
justice system 

Quarterly Not a target
measure n/a Low 0.88 1.05 1.04(2013) 1.10(2013) Not a target

measure 1.54 0.83 0.71 Quarterly (NI 19)

36
TF: Number of Families engaged for year 1 of Expanded
Programme

Quarterly Not a target
measure n/a High 300

326/370
88% 

No relevant
benchmarking

available

No relevant
benchmarking

available

Not a target
measure 320 320 320 Quarterly

37
% of commissioned services for which quarterly  monitoring
was completed 

Quarterly 100% n/a High 100% 100%
No relevant

benchmarking
available

No relevant
benchmarking

available
Green 100% 100% 100%

Quarterly
 (Time lag in collating from

partner agencies) 

No. Performance Indicators Target
2016/17

De
vi

at
io

n

Po
la

rit
y Benchmarking and trend

BRAG rating 
Merton 2016/17 performance 

Frequency
Merton
2015/16

Merton
2014/15 

England London Apr-16 May-16
Jun-16 /

Q1
Jul-16 Aug-16

Sep-16 /
Q2

Oct-16 Nov-16
Dec-16 /

Q3
Jan-17 Feb-17

Mar-17 /
Q4 Notes

P
age 210



Committee:  Children and Young People Overview and 
Scrutiny Panel 
Date:   21st March 2017 
Agenda item:   
Wards: All

Subject:  Update on Developments Affecting Children, Schools and Families 
Department

Lead officer:       Yvette Stanley, Director of Children, Schools and Families Dept 
Lead members:    Cllr Katy Neep, Cllr Caroline Cooper-Marbiah 
Forward Plan reference number:   N/A 
Contact officer:  Paul Ballatt, Assistant Director, Commissioning, Strategy and 
Performance 

Recommendations: 
A.   Members of the panel note the contents of the report. 

1 PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
1.1. The report provides members of the panel with information on key 

developments affecting Children, Schools and Families Department since the 
panel’s last update in January 2017.

2 DETAILS
Education Division

2.1 Two primary schools, St Theresa’s and William Morris have had Ofsted 
inspections since the last update report. Neither report has yet been published.

2.2 Following consultation, Aragon Primary School is formalising its intention to join 
the Multi Academy Trust proposed by Glenthorne Academy in Sutton. The 
council made representations during the consultation that the proposal was not 
in the best interests of the school or its pupils and regrets the school’s decision.  

2.3 At the end of February, the council made offers to applicants for secondary 
school places for 2017. There has been a slight increase in pupils being offered 
first preference schools (65.2% against 65% in 2016) although a slight decrease 
in overall preference offers (94.6% against 95.4% in 2016). With central offers, 
however, there was no pupil with no offer of a Merton school on offer day.

2.4 In February and March, The Harris Federation has been consulting residents in 
the Wimbledon area on admissions and curriculum issues in respect of their 
planned new secondary Academy. In advance of signing a funding agreement 
for the school, the EFA expects the sponsor to provide details of proposed 
admissions arrangements and sufficient interest in the school from prospective 
pupils. The Federation is consulting on a proposal to admit pupils from three 
‘nodal points’ at Merton Abbey, and Wimbledon Chase and Park stations. To 
date over two hundred parents/carers have attended meetings and views on the 
admissions arrangements have been invited. The council will be submitting 

Page 211

Agenda Item 8



views once all meetings have been held and elected members may make their 
own representations.

2.5 From April 1st, the responsibility for the procurement of taxis for pupils with SEN 
and complex needs to travel from home to school will transfer from the 
Environment and Regeneration department to the Children, Schools and 
Families department. Two staff members will transfer departments at this point. 
This decision forms part of a wider improvement plan that has seen the council 
adopt a new Direct Purchasing System which has substantially added numbers 
of taxi providers and increased competition into this particular market. The use 
of this procurement system and the further promotion of direct payments to 
families are enabling some of the pressures in SEN transport budgets to be 
better managed.

2.6 The council has completed the procurement of a new contract for cleaning 
school and other education buildings for a three year period commencing in 
June 2017. Although the award of contract decision has, at the time of writing 
this report, not been formally made by Cabinet, officers have completed the 
tender exercise and submitted recommendations. Should Cabinet agree, the 
new contract will deliver modest annual savings to schools over the coming 
years.

2.7 Works to expand Dundonald primary school and to the neighbouring public 
playground have recently been completed. This scheme represents the last in 
the long-term primary school expansion programme the council has been 
undertaking. Officers are currently completing a tendering exercise to obtain a 
contractor for the planned expansion at Perseid upper school. This scheme will 
provide over 30 additional places to match the expansion of the lower school 
already completed.

2.8 Merton’s Early Years’ Service has carried out two phases of community 
consultation, seeking feedback from service users and stakeholders on the 
proposed plans for revision to the delivery model.  We have also carried out 
staff consultation on revised structure, which has now been confirmed. First 
phase assimilation has taken place and phase 2: internal recruitment for 
remaining vacant posts is currently underway.  We are confirming that we will 
move forward with the plans for a revised model of delivery as detailed within 
the consultation, with phased implementation from April 2017.  Key points to 
note are: 

 A move from three localities to a single children’s centre group with 
one management structure.

 Children’s centres operating a varied model of fixed opening hours 
with set annual timetable.

 Family Support and evidenced based parenting programmes 
aligned under a single management structure (0-5’s SFT, under 
social work team manager).

 Reduction in open access stay and play sessions, with increase in 
targeted courses and programmes underpinned by research / 
evidence for families with identified needs.

 Development of new programme for all first time parents of babies 
under 7 months.

Page 212



 Revised referral pathways to ensure ease of access into services 
and improve communication and information sharing.

 Improved joint working with other early years services, with clearer 
definition of roles and responsibilities. 

 
2.9 After careful consideration, the council took the difficult but appropriate decision 

in January 2017, to cancel our Children’s Home registration with Ofsted for 
Brightwell Short Break Children’s Home. The overnight provision requires a 
Children’s Home registration which has the same requirements whether the 
Children’s Home is providing 52 weeks, 24 hours a day or a few nights a week 
for a small number of children as Brightwell has done in addition to the broader 
short breaks offer. The staffing, leadership and management requirements for a 
Children’s Home are very stringent and to consistently meet the requirements at 
all times for a small provider offering a few nights a week has been challenging. 
On this basis the decision was taken that we can longer offer this provision.   
Families using the overnight provision have been fully consulted and officers 
have been reviewing the needs of individual children going forward. We remain 
committed to the continuation of our short breaks and day care services

 Children’s Social Care and Youth Inclusion Division
2.10 On 1st March the MSCB held its annual conference. Attended by 100+ 

professionals from across all the agencies working together to protect children 
and young people it had the theme of domestic violence and abuse (DVA), a 
topic which cuts across adults and children’s services and reflects our Think 
Family approach. National statistics suggest that 130,000 children live in homes 
where DVA is present and that 30% of them will also suffer another form of 
abuse.  50% of child serious case reviews (undertaken when a child is killed or 
seriously harmed and abuse is known or suspected) have DVA as a feature.

2.11 Later in March, the MSCB will be holding an awayday for Board members to 
consider how to take forward work on the three practice priorities identified by 
the Board in its current Business Plan.  Groups will work on Think Families; 
Supporting Vulnerable Adolescents and Early Help priorities to develop action 
plans.

2.12 The MSCB has revised and relaunched its Prevent guidance for practitioners 
and has a leaflet aimed at parents and carers available on its website. There is 
one high profile case involving a Merton resident which is currently sub-judice.

2.13 The MSCB has published a Serious Case Review (SCR) involving a young 
person cared for by a vulnerable adult. The report has gone to the national SCR 
panel and the MSCB will be overseeing the action plan.  The need for adults 
and children’s services to further strengthen their “Think Family” approach is 
built into the recommendations which the MSCB will monitor.

2.14 On 18th March there was a national awareness raising day in respect of child 
sexual exploitation. The council supported this day and, locally, sponsored a 
week of awareness raising activity with local partner agencies. Topics covered 
included the dangers of grooming, on-line safety, CSE and gangs, bullying and 
sexual health and relationships.

Page 213



2.15 The department has recently secured funding to support the further 
development of a Merton Practice Approach for social work with vulnerable 
families. This developing approach involves equipping social work staff with 
evidence-based practice tools designed to increase the impact of social work 
practice and improve outcomes for children and families. Funding will be used to 
support further learning and development in the ‘Signs of Safety’ model, a 
strengths based approach to working with families during child protection and 
children in need processes, motivational interviewing techniques for direct work 
with young people and in systemic social work practice.

2.16 As noted in previous update reports, Merton is working with several other 
London boroughs to adopt the Family Drugs and Alcohol Court model. For 
children subject to care proceedings because of concerns in respect of 
parental/carer substance misuse, this model provides more timely access to 
skilled assessment and intervention designed to mitigate risk sufficiently for 
children to remain or return to their families or, if intervention is not successful, 
to enable plans for alternative permanency to be made more quickly. Merton 
has recently assumed responsibility for the procurement of the specialist multi-
disciplinary team on which the model is based and we hope to have a confirmed 
provider by June 2017.

2.17 The Division has recently conducted surveys of Merton’s fostercarers and 
families of children subject to child protection plans. The survey of fostercarers 
demonstrated a very high level of satisfaction (c90%) with link social workers 
and with social workers of looked after children (c80%). These levels exceed 
national benchmarks. The survey of parents of children subject to child 
protection plans indicated that c90% of parents felt respected and listened to by 
professionals and that they were able to understand what they needed to do to 
keep their children safe. Although seemingly unrelated, these surveys together 
provide a useful indication of the clarity and quality of social work practice we 
are currently providing.

Departmental Issues 

2.18 Findings of the councilwide survey of staff were recently published which show 
that despite savings and reductions in capacity over recent years and numerous 
reorganisations of services, CSF department staff maintain high levels of 
commitment to working for the council and high levels of morale. Staff across all 
levels in the department feel that they understand the council’s direction of 
travel, feel supported by managers to achieve their personal and service work 
objectives and feel equipped by supervision and training to undertake their jobs 
well. The department’s management team are currently developing an action 
plan in response to the survey findings.

2.19 From April 2017, the CSF department will operate from two divisions with Heads 
of Service in the old Commissioning, Strategy and Performance Division 
receiving new line management from the two remaining Assistant Directors or 
from the Director. The CSF commissioning service will join an integrated 
commissioning function with CCG commissioning capacity under the 
management of the Director of Public Health. In addition to the re-organisation 

Page 214



of early years services noted above, the department is reshaping management 
of youth services in order to maintain as much investment as possible in direct 
delivery to young people. The department continues to work with colleagues 
across London on the regionalisation of various adoption service functions.

2.20 The department continues to engage partner agencies in a review of Merton’s 
Child Wellbeing Model, our well established framework for the identification of, 
and intervention with, children with additional needs. Pleasingly, this review has 
demonstrated the ongoing commitment of schools, health services, the police 
and voluntary sector to the multi-agency approach to working with vulnerable 
children. Work on re-launching the model supported by revisions to procedures 
and new training will now be undertaken.

3. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS

3.1           None for the purposes of this report. 

4. CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN OR PROPOSED

4.1           None for the purposes of this report. 

5. TIMETABLE

5.1            N/A 

6. FINANCIAL, RESOURCE AND PROPERTY IMPLICATIONS

6.1            No specific implications from this report. 

7. LEGAL AND STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS

7.1           No specific implications from this report.. 

8. HUMAN RIGHTS, EQUALITIES AND COMMUNITY COHESION 
IMPLICATIONS

8.1          No specific implications from this report.

9. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

9.1           No specific implications from this report. 

10. RISK MANAGEMENT AND HEALTH AND SAFETY IMPLICATIONS

10.1       No specific implications from this report..

11. APPENDICES – THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTS ARE TO BE 
PUBLISHED WITH THIS REPORT AND FORM PART OF THE REPORT

11.1      N/A

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Page 215



12.1      None

Page 216



Committee: Children and Young People Overview and 
Scrutiny Panel

Date: 21 March 2017
Agenda item: 
Wards: All
Subject: Planning the Panel’s 2017/18 work programme

Lead officer: Julia Regan, Head of Democracy Services
Lead member: Councillor Dennis Pearce, Chair of the Children and Young People 

Overview and Scrutiny Panel
Contact officer: Annette Wiles (annette.wiles@merton.gov.uk/020 8545 4035)

Recommendations: 
A. That the Panel reviews its 2016/17 work programme (set out in the appendix), 

identifying what worked well, what worked less well and what the Panel would like to 
do differently next year;

B. That the Panel suggests items for inclusion in the 2017/18 work programme – both 
agenda items and potential task group review topics; and

C. That the Panel advises on agenda items for its meeting on 28 June 2017.

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
1.1 To enable the Panel to plan its work programme for the forthcoming municipal year 

and, in particular, to agree agenda items for the first meeting of the municipal year. 

2. DETAILS
Identifying issues for the 2017/18 work programme

2.1 At the beginning of each municipal year, each Overview and Scrutiny body 
determines the issues it wishes to build into its work programme for the forthcoming 
year. The Overview and Scrutiny bodies have specific roles relating to budget and 
business plan scrutiny and performance monitoring, and these should automatically 
be built into the work programme.

2.2 In addition to this, Overview and Scrutiny bodies may choose to build a work 
programme which involves scrutinising a range of issues through a combination of 
pre-decision scrutiny items, policy development reviews carried out by task groups, 
performance monitoring, on-going monitoring items and follow up to previous scrutiny 
work.

2.3 The remit of the Children and Young People Overview and Scrutiny Panel is as 
follows:

2.3.1. Children’s social care, including child protection;
2.3.2. Education, including school standards, special educational needs, the extended 

schools programme and the healthy schools initiative;

Page 217

Agenda Item 10



2.3.3. Youth services and youth engagement, including the Youth Parliament, young people 
‘Not in Education, Employment or Training’ (NEET), and the Connexions Service;

2.3.4. Youth offending;
2.3.5. Children’s Centres; and
2.3.6. The Children’s Trust.
2.4 The scrutiny officers are currently gathering suggestions for issues to scrutinise, 

either as Panel agenda items or task group reviews. Suggestions are being sought 
from members of the public, councillors and partner organisations including the 
police, NHS and Merton Voluntary Service Council.  The council’s departmental 
management teams have been consulted in order to identify forthcoming issues on 
which the Panel could contribute to the policymaking process.

2.5 The Panel is therefore invited to suggest items for inclusion in the 2017/18 work 
programme – both agenda items and potential task group review topics.

2.6 All the suggestions received will be discussed at the Panel’s topic workshop on 23 
May 2017. As in previous years, participants will be asked to prioritise the 
suggestions using criteria so that the issues chosen relate to:

 The Council’s strategic priorities;

 Services that are underperforming;

 Issues of public interest or concern; and

 Issues where scrutiny could make a difference

Planning the first meeting of the 2017/18 municipal year
2.7 A note of the workshop discussion and draft work programme will be reported to the 

first meeting of the Panel in the new municipal year. The Panel will be requested to 
discuss this draft and agree any changes that it wishes to make.

2.8 The Panel is asked to advise on any other items that it would be helpful to include on 
the agenda for its 28 June 2017 meeting.

3. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS
3.1 The Panel can select topics for scrutiny review and for other scrutiny work as it sees 

fit, taking into account views and suggestions from officers, partner organisations and 
the public.

4. CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN OR PROPOSED
4.1 To assist Members to identify and prioritise a work programme for 2017/18, the 

Scrutiny Team will undertake a consultation programme with Panel Members, co-
opted members, members of the public, LB Merton Officers and Voluntary and 
Community Sector organisations to determine other issues/items for Members’ 
consideration for inclusion in the Panel’s 2017/18 work programme.

5. FINANCIAL, RESOURCE AND PROPERTY IMPLICATIONS
5.1 There are none specific to this report. Scrutiny work involves consideration of the 

financial, resource and property issues relating to the topic being scrutinised.  
Furthermore, scrutiny work will also need to assess the implications of any 
recommendations made to Cabinet, including specific financial, resource and property 
implications.

Page 218



6. LEGAL AND STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS
6.1 Scrutiny work involves consideration of the legal and statutory issues relating to the 

topic being scrutinised. Furthermore, scrutiny work will also need to assess the 
implications of any recommendations made to Cabinet, including specific legal and 
statutory implications.

7. HUMAN RIGHTS, EQUALITIES AND COMMUNITY COHESION IMPLICATIONS
7.1 It is a fundamental aim of the scrutiny process to ensure that there is full and equal 

access to the democratic process through public involvement and engaging with local 
partners in scrutiny reviews.  Furthermore, the outcomes of reviews are intended to 
benefit all sections of the local community.  

7.2 Scrutiny work involves consideration of the human rights, equalities and community 
cohesion issues relating to the topic being scrutinised.  Furthermore, scrutiny work will 
also need to assess the implications of any recommendations made to Cabinet, 
including specific human rights, equalities and community cohesion implications.

8. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS
8.1 Scrutiny work involves consideration of the crime and disorder issues relating to the 

topic being scrutinised.

9. RISK MANAGEMENT AND HEALTH AND SAFETY IMPLICATIONS
9.1 There are none specific to this report. Scrutiny work involves consideration of the risk 

management and health and safety issues relating to the topic being scrutinised. 
Furthermore, scrutiny work will also need to assess the implications of any 
recommendations made to Cabinet, including specific risk management and health 
and safety implications.

10. APPENDICES – THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTS ARE TO BE PUBLISHED WITH 
THIS REPORT AND FORM PART OF THE REPORT

10.1 2016/17 work programme

11. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
11.1 None 

Page 219



This page is intentionally left blank



Children and Young People Work Programme 
2016/17
This table sets out the Children and Young People Overview and Scrutiny Panel work programme for 2016/17; the items listed 
were agreed by the Panel at its meeting on 29 June 2016. This work programme will be considered at every meeting of the 
Panel to enable it to respond to issues of concern and incorporate reviews or to comment on pre-decision items ahead of their 
consideration by Cabinet/Council.

The work programme table shows items on a meeting-by-meeting basis, identifying the issue under review, the nature of the 
scrutiny (pre-decision, policy development, issue specific, performance monitoring, partnership related) and the intended 
outcomes.

Chair: Cllr Dennis Pearce
Vice-chair: Cllr Linda Taylor

Scrutiny Support

For further information on the work programme of the Sustainable Communities Scrutiny Panel please contact: - 
Annette Wiles, Scrutiny Officer
Tel: 020 8545 4035; Email: annette.wiles@merton.gov.uk

For more information about overview and scrutiny at LB Merton, please visit www.merton.gov.uk/scrutiny

P
age 221



Meeting date: 29 June 2016 (Deadline for papers: 12pm 21 June 2016)
Theme: setting the work programme 
Item Purpose/intended outcome Responsible 

officer/Member topic 
lead

External 
witnesses/representative 
in attendance

Elected Member 
and departmental 
portfolio priorities

Outlining the portfolio priorities of Cabinet Members 
and officers’ service priorities for 2016/17 to inform 
discussion of the Panel’s work programme

Yvette Stanley, 
Director of Education, 
Schools and Families 
(CSF)
Cabinet Members for 
Children’s Services 
(Cllr Katy Neep) and 
Education (Cllr 
Caroline Cooper-
Marbiah)

Performance 
monitoring

 Discussion of the existing basket of performance 
indicators for on-going monitoring; and

 Selection of a Panel Member to act as a lead on 
performance monitoring

Paul Ballatt, Assistant 
Director 
Commissioning, 
Strategy and 
Performance, CSF

Agreeing the 
Panel’s work 
programme

To agree the Panel’s work programme and consider:
 a thematic approach to the work programme;
 appointing topic leads;
 getting the best from performance monitoring;
 the Panel’s use of task groups;
 opportunities for pre-decision scrutiny; and
 monitoring task group recommendations

Cllr Dennis Pearce, 
Panel chair, and 
Annette Wiles, Scrutiny 
Officer

Task group 
update: routes 
into employment 
for vulnerable 

Review the progress of the task group Annette Wiles, Scrutiny 
Officer

P
age 222



cohorts
School provision: 
new secondary 
school required 
site approvals

Pre-decision scrutiny prior to the required site 
approvals from Cabinet

Paul Ballatt, Assistant 
Director 
Commissioning, 
Strategy and 
Performance, CSF 
Cabinet Members for 
Children’s Services 
(Cllr Katy Neep) and 
Education (Cllr 
Caroline Cooper-
Marbiah)

Meeting date: 11 October 2016 (Deadline for papers: 12pm 3 October 2016)
Theme: schools 
Item Purpose/intended outcome Responsible 

officer/Member topic 
lead

External 
witnesses/representative 
in attendance

Matters arising Report back on the reference to Cabinet and call-in 
meeting on the site approval for Harris Wimbledon

Cllr Dennis Pearce

Responsible 
Cabinet Member 
review

Update from the responsible Cabinet Members(s).  
Questions from the Panel

Cabinet Members for 
Children’s Services 
(Cllr Katy Neep) and 
Education (Cllr 
Caroline Cooper-
Marbiah)

School provision Provision of Sufficient School Places in Merton
Following the recent decision in respect of Harris 
Wimbledon, a review of sufficiency of school places in 
the borough across primary, secondary and special 
school provision.

Paul Ballatt, Assistant 
Director 
Commissioning, 
Strategy and 
Performance, CSF

P
age 223



The Changing National Landscape for Education and 
Merton’s Work with Schools in the Borough
Merton’s work with schools in the context of national 
Government’s developing policy on education, 
including academisation and grammar schools 

Performance 
monitoring

Report back from the lead Member for Performance 
monitoring on the plan for 2016/17.  

Cllr Mike Brunt and 
Paul Ballatt, Assistant 
Director 
Commissioning, 
Strategy and 
Performance, CSF

Update report Update on developments affecting the Children, 
Schools and Families Department since the last 
scrutiny Panel meeting.  Questions will be taken from 
Panel members.  As agreed at the June meeting, this 
will include a particular focus on policy changes 
affecting social workers.

Yvette Stanley, 
Director of Education, 
Schools and Families

Task group 
update – online 
strategies in 
schools task 
group

 To enable the Panel to performance manage 
delivery of the task group’s recommendations

 To appoint a topic lead to champion the work

Paul Ballatt, Assistant 
Director 
Commissioning, 
Strategy and 
Performance, CSF

Task group 
update: routes 
into employment 
for vulnerable 
cohorts

Verbal update Annette Wiles, Scrutiny 
Officer

Glossary A glossary of acronyms will be provided to support 

P
age 224



members (especially those new to CYP). 

Setting the work 
programme

To amend/agree the Panel’s work programme and 
accommodate any pre-decision or other items that the 
Panel may wish to consider

Annette Wiles, Scrutiny 
Officer

Meeting date: 9 November 2016 (Deadline for papers: 12pm 1 November 2016)
Theme: safeguarding 
Item Purpose/intended outcome Responsible 

officer/Member topic 
lead

External 
witnesses/representative 
in attendance

Responsible 
Cabinet Member 
review

Update from the responsible Cabinet Members(s).  
Questions from the Panel

Cabinet Members for 
Children’s Services 
(Cllr Katy Neep) and 
Education (Cllr 
Caroline Cooper-
Marbiah)

Children, Schools 
and Families 
Department 
budget proposals 
(Round 1)

To enable the Panel to comment on the budget 
proposals and any new or revised savings as part of 
the first round of the process for agreeing the council’s 
budget and business plan

The current budget required cost savings to the CSF 
department.  This agenda item also provides the 
opportunity to understand if this objective is being 
realised and what impact this is having in terms of 
service provision

Yvette Stanley, 
Director of Education, 
Schools and Families 
and Zoe Church, Head 
of Business Planning

Safeguarding An in-depth focus on safeguarding for children and 
young people including the impact of any financial 
issues, budget cuts and/or deprivation.  The report will 
contain a specific focus on Child Sexual Exploitation, 
Female Genital Mutilation and Radicalisation.

Cabinet Member for 
Children’s Services 
(Cllr Katy Neep)

Keith Makin, Merton 
Safeguarding Children 
Board Chair
Borough Commander

P
age 225



To help Panel members, the Local Government 
Association has provided a practical guide for 
overview and scrutiny councillors on safeguarding 
children.  (Gloucester provides an interesting case 
study/framework.)

Performance 
monitoring

Presentation of any changes to the basket of 
indicators.  Discussion of the CSF Dept’s performance 
based on the indicators.  In-depth exploration of one 
set of indicators.

Cllr Mike Brunt and 
Paul Ballatt, Assistant 
Director 
Commissioning, 
Strategy and 
Performance, CSF

Update report Update on developments affecting the Children, 
Schools and Families Department since the last 
scrutiny Panel meeting.  Questions will be taken from 
Panel members.  

Yvette Stanley, 
Director of Education, 
Schools and Families

Setting the work 
programme

To amend/agree the Panel’s work programme and 
accommodate any pre-decision or other items that the 
Panel may wish to consider

Annette Wiles, Scrutiny 
Officer

Meeting date: 11 January 2017 (Deadline for papers: 12pm 3 January 2017)
Theme: budget/health and wellbeing strategies for children and families 
Item Purpose/intended outcome Responsible 

officer/Member topic 
lead

External 
witnesses/representative 
in attendance

Responsible 
Cabinet Member 
review

Update from the responsible Cabinet Members(s).  
Questions from the Panel

Cabinet Member for 
Education (Cllr 
Caroline Cooper-
Marbiah)

Children’s Services 
(Cllr Katy Neep) 
unavailable

P
age 226

http://www.cfps.org.uk/domains/cfps.org.uk/local/media/downloads/May_2015_CfPS_Safeguarding_Children_Web.pdf
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s24235/CF%20Overview%20Scrutiny%20Committee%20Safeguarding%20Framework%202015_16%202.pdf
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s24235/CF%20Overview%20Scrutiny%20Committee%20Safeguarding%20Framework%202015_16%202.pdf


Children, Schools 
and Families 
Department 
budget proposals 
(Round 2)

To enable the Panel to consider the Council’s budget 
and business plan proposals and forward any 
comments/recommendations to the Overview and 
Scrutiny Commission to compile a scrutiny response 
on the Budget/Business Plan to Cabinet

To include discussion of major projects identified in the 
CSF draft service plans

Yvette Stanley, 
Director of Education, 
Schools and Families 
and Zoe Church, Head 
of Business Planning

Performance 
monitoring

Discussion of the CSF Dept’s performance based on 
the indicators.  In-depth exploration of one set of 
indicators

Cllr Mike Brunt and 
Paul Ballatt, Assistant 
Director 
Commissioning, 
Strategy and 
Performance, CSF

Update report Update on developments affecting the Children, 
Schools and Families Department since the last 
scrutiny Panel meeting.  Questions will be taken from 
Panel members.  

Yvette Stanley, 
Director of Education, 
Schools and Families

Update on health 
and wellbeing 
strategies for 
children and 
families

In partnership with public health service, look broadly 
at strategies to support the health and wellbeing of 
children and young people.  Additionally, focus on 
identified key issues such as childhood obesity.  The 
health and wellbeing of more vulnerable cohorts will 
also be considered (ie: LAC, care leavers, children 
with SEND)

Dagmar  Zeuner, 
Director of Public 
Health

Task group 
update: routes 
into employment 
for vulnerable 
cohorts

Verbal update Annette Wiles, Scrutiny 
Officer

Rapporteur 
scrutiny review

User voice – scope and terms of reference Councillor Jerome Neil

P
age 227



Setting the work 
programme

To amend/agree the Panel’s work programme and 
accommodate any pre-decision or other items that the 
Panel may wish to consider

Annette Wiles, Scrutiny 
Officer

Meeting date: 8 February 2017 (Deadline for papers: 12pm 31 January 2017)
Theme: schools annual report 
Item Purpose/intended outcome Responsible 

officer/Member topic 
lead

External 
witnesses/representative 
in attendance

Responsible 
Cabinet Member 
review

Update from the responsible Cabinet Members(s).  
Questions from the Panel

Cabinet Members for 
Children’s Services 
(Cllr Katy Neep) and 
Education (Cllr 
Caroline Cooper-
Marbiah)

Performance 
monitoring

Discussion of the CSF Dept’s performance based on 
the indicators.  In-depth exploration of one set of 
indicators

Cllr Mike Brunt and 
Paul Ballatt, Assistant 
Director 
Commissioning, 
Strategy and 
Performance, CSF

Schools annual 
report

Annual report on attainment and progress of pupils in 
Merton schools.  This will include issues around the 
shortage of teachers.

During the last municipal year, the Panel agreed to 
focus on specific cohorts (children with SEND, LAC 
and Black and Black Caribbean children).  Again, the 
Local Government Association and the Centre for 
Public Scrutiny have provided guidance on how 

Jane McSherry, 
Assistant Director for 
Schools

P
age 228

http://www.cfps.org.uk/domains/cfps.org.uk/local/media/downloads/L13_718_CfPs_LGA_Education_v5.pdf


scrutiny can influence local education and support 
school leaders to improve results

Task group 
update: routes 
into employment 
for vulnerable 
cohorts

Presentation of draft report and recommendations Annette Wiles, Scrutiny 
Officer

Setting the work 
programme

To amend/agree the Panel’s work programme and 
accommodate any pre-decision or other items that the 
Panel may wish to consider

Annette Wiles, Scrutiny 
Officer

Meeting date: 21 March 2017 (Deadline for papers: 12pm 13 March 2017)
Theme: corporate parenting 
Item Purpose/intended outcome Responsible 

officer/Member topic 
lead

External 
witnesses/representative 
in attendance

Responsible 
Cabinet Member 
review

Update from the responsible Cabinet Members(s).  
Questions from the Panel

Cabinet Members for 
Children’s Services 
(Cllr Katy Neep) and 
Education (Cllr 
Caroline Cooper-
Marbiah)

Performance 
monitoring

Discussion of the CSF Dept’s performance based on 
the indicators.  In-depth exploration of one set of 
indicators

Cllr Mike Brunt and 
Paul Ballatt, Assistant 
Director 
Commissioning, 
Strategy and 
Performance, CSF

Update report Update on developments affecting the Children, 
Schools and Families Department since the last 

Yvette Stanley, 
Director of Education, 

P
age 229



scrutiny Panel meeting.  Questions will be taken from 
Panel members.  There will be a focus on a key policy 
area as agreed by the Panel at its previous meeting

Schools and Families

Corporate 
parenting

During the last municipal year, the Panel highlighted 
several areas on which it wanted to focus during its on-
going scrutiny of Merton’s corporate parenting:
 The percentage of children in and leaving care that 

are NEET;
 The changing profile of the LAC population in 

Merton and the needs for service provision to 
reflect these changes;

 The stability of placements;
 Retention of Merton’s high quality LAC team;
 Increasing recruitment of foster carers that are 

resident in Merton (especially in the West of the 
borough) and those willing/able to care for 
adolescents;

 Ensuring the right mix of placements are provided 
including within a children’s home in borough;

 Supporting foster carers so they understand the 
vulnerability and complexity of the children they are 
looking ; and

 Looking in detail at the responses from children 
who identified themselves as dissatisfied

Guidance is provided by the Local Government 
Association and the Centre for Public Scrutiny. This 
has already been recommended to and used by Panel 
members

Paul Angeli, Assistant 
Director, Children's 
Social Care and Youth 
Inclusion

Input from Community 
and Housing

Rapporteur 
scrutiny review

User voice – presentation of findings Councillor Jerome Neil

P
age 230

http://www.cfps.org.uk/domains/cfps.org.uk/local/media/downloads/CfPS_10Questions_web_version.pdf


Setting the work 
programme

To amend/agree the Panel’s work programme and 
accommodate any pre-decision or other items that the 
Panel may wish to consider

Annette Wiles, Scrutiny 
Officer

Forward plan items relating to the remit of the Panel

School Cleaning Contract 2017-20
Award of new school cleaning contract or extension of existing contract

Decision due: 20 March 2017 by Cabinet.

P
age 231



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	5 Update report: corporate parenting
	Agenda item 5 - App 1 - Corporate Parenting Report 16 appendix for CP scrutiny report
	Agenda item 5 - App 2 - Virtual School Annual Report 15-16 FINAL for scrutiny (ii)
	Agenda item 5 - App 3 - Care Leaver Strategy Update Oct 16 with RAG
	Agenda item 5 - App 4 - Merton Council LAC Strategy 2014v8_FINAL_16032015

	6 Update report: looked after children and care leavers sufficiency strategy
	Agenda item 6 - App1 - LAC Sufficiency Strategy1718  Final LB

	7 Performance monitoring
	Agenda item 7 - App 1 - 2016_17_CYPPS_dataset Mar 17

	8 Department update report
	10 Scrutiny topic suggestions
	CYP work programme 2016 - 17 (updated Mar 2017)


